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·1· ·RENO, NEVADA -- SEPTEMBER 21, 2023 -- 8:36 A.M.

·2· · · · · · · · · · · · -o0o-

·3

·4

·5· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I'm going to

·6 call the case.· We're on the record In the Matter of

·7 Charges and Complaint Against Jason Howard Lasry,

·8 M.D., case number 23-29251-1.

·9· · · · · ·I'm Patricia Halstead.· I'm the hearing

10 officer.· I'm a licensed attorney.· I've been doing

11 these hearings for a few years now.

12· · · · · ·We're doing via Zoom, which is a little

13 unusual compared to how we've done in past.· So

14 you'll note that I am staring at the sky because my

15 camera on my laptop happens to be at the bottom of

16 the screen and not the top.· I am looking at you, it

17 just doesn't like I'm looking at you.

18· · · · · ·Then we also have appearances from the

19 Las Vegas office and the Reno office, and the court

20 reporter is also remote.· We were scheduled to start

21 today at 8:30, but we are scheduling a little late

22 because of some issues we had with everyone getting

23 into Zoom and different appearance locations.

24 Everyone has indicated they are settled in.

25· · · · · ·If there's nothing further with regard to
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·1 setup, I've called the case, and I'll go ahead and

·2 have counsel state their appearances and identify

·3 their clients.

·4· · · · · ·Anything further before we do that?

·5· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No, nothing further on my

·6 end.

·7· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Nothing from me.

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Go

·9 ahead.· We'll start with you, Mr. Shogren.

10· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Good morning.· This is

11 William Shogren, Deputy General Counsel on behalf of

12 the Investigative Committee of the Nevada State

13 Board of Medical Examiners.

14· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Good morning.· This is Chelsea

15 Hueth, bar number 10904, and with me is Dr. Jason

16 Lasry.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

18· · · · · ·Okay.· So I'll note that I have all the

19 filings in front of me.· In addition, I have all the

20 exhibits.· I'll be looking to the bottom side

21 periodically because the camera doesn't catch that

22 I'm looking at them, but that's where they are.

23· · · · · ·We will go ahead and start with opening

24 statements.

25· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, do you have an opening
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·1 statement you would like to give?

·2· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I do.

·3· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· If not, that's

·4 okay.· You can go straight to your case.

·5· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Well, there is a preliminary

·6 matter I forgot to mention.· I don't know if the

·7 parties would want to stipulate to any of the

·8 exhibits for admission at this point?· Such as -- I

·9 mean, both parties -- primarily, there's Exhibit 1

10 for the IC, the formal Complaint, Proof of Service,

11 allegation letter, etc., just to expedite things,

12 and see if we could possibly stipulate to admission?

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Hueth?

14· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I am comfortable stipulating

15 to the admission of the Investigative Committee's

16 exhibits, with the exception of number 9.

17· · · · · ·And would, likewise, request admission of

18 Dr. Lasry's proposed exhibits.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren?

20· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Just to be clear, the only

21 one that is being objected to is number 9, so

22 numbers 10 through 15 are being stipulated to as

23 well.

24· · · · · ·And I have no objection to stipulating to

25 the admission respondent's exhibits.
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·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Based

·2 upon the agreement of parties, I will admit IC

·3 Exhibits 1 through 8, and IC Exhibits 10 through 15.

·4 Respondent's Exhibits 1 through 8.

·5· · · · · ·(Investigative Committees' Exhibits 1

·6· · · · · ·through 8 and 10 through 15 were

·7· · · · · ·admitted.)

·8· · · · · ·(Respondent's Exhibits 1 through 8

·9· · · · · ·were admitted.)

10· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Any other

11 preliminary matters?

12· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No other preliminary

13 matters.

14· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· None from us, Your Honor.

15 Thank you.

16· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

17· · · · · ·Go ahead, Mr. Shogren.

18· · · · · · · · · OPENING STATEMENT

19· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I'd like to say first, good

20 morning.· This is William Shogren.· I would like to

21 thank everyone here for participating in today's

22 hearing.

23· · · · · ·This hearing is to hear -- we're here to

24 present evidence to determine if Dr. Lasry, the

25 respondent in this case, violated three separate
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·1 provisions of Medical Practice Act as alleged in

·2 Counts I through III in the complaint filed on

·3 March 8, 2023, by the Investigative Committee of the

·4 Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners.

·5· · · · · ·First, Count I, alleging that Dr. Lasry

·6 committed malpractice in violation of NRS 630.301,

·7 subsection 4.

·8· · · · · ·Count II alleges that Dr. Lasry failed to

·9 seek consultation with another provider, in

10 violation of NRS 630.306 (1)(b)(2).

11· · · · · ·And finally, Count III alleging that

12 Dr. Lasry failed to maintain appropriate medical

13 records in violation of NRS 630.3062 (1)(a).

14· · · · · ·Throughout this hearing, you'll -- the

15 parties will hear testimony from various witnesses,

16 and the evidence will show that a three-year-old

17 patient presented to Dr. Lasry in the emergency

18 department of Humboldt General Hospital on May 9th,

19 2020, after being bitten by a rattlesnake.

20· · · · · ·The evidence will also show that Dr. Lasry

21 failed to recognize serious signs of envenomization

22 in the patient, such as hypotension and tachycardia,

23 and failed to treat the patient's diminishing

24 condition.· Most importantly, Dr. Lasry failed to

25 administer antivenom, despite clear signs of severe



Page 10
·1 envenomization.

·2· · · · · ·The evidence will also show that, although

·3 Dr. Lasry did speak with an emergency room doctor

·4 over the phone regarding the patient, he did not

·5 properly seek consultation regarding the patient's

·6 condition and treatment.

·7· · · · · ·And lastly, evidence will show that

·8 Dr. Lasry did not keep accurate medical records of

·9 patient when he -- primarily when he failed to note

10 a recognition of the patient's continued

11 tachycardia, and when he completely failed to note

12 the patient's low blood pressure or hypotension.

13· · · · · ·In summation, the testimony and evidence

14 that will be presented today will establish by a

15 preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Lasry

16 committed malpractice by his failure to address and

17 manage a patient who had been bitten by -- who had

18 been bitten by a venomous snake.· This represents a

19 failure to meet the standard of care.

20· · · · · ·The evidence will also show that Dr. Lasry

21 failed to seek proper consultation with another

22 provider regarding the patient's condition, and that

23 he failed to maintain appropriate medical records

24 concerning the patient's vital signs.

25· · · · · ·All three counts, if established, are
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·1 violations of the Medical Practice Act.

·2· · · · · ·On behalf of the Investigative Committee,

·3 we ask the Board to consider the record that will be

·4 presented here and render the appropriate findings

·5 and discipline.

·6· · · · · ·Once again, thank you, and I want to thank

·7 everyone here today for being here.

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you,

·9 Mr. Shogren.

10· · · · · ·Ms. Hueth?

11· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

12· · · · · · · · · OPENING STATEMENT

13· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I have the privilege of

14 representing Jason Lasry, a board-certificated

15 emergency medicine physician who has been

16 board-certified for almost 25 years.

17· · · · · ·The evidence will show that on May 9th,

18 2020, at approximately 2:30 P.M., three-year-old

19 Patient A was bit on the anterior left knee by a

20 snake.· Her parents reported to paramedics that at

21 first she vomited, but by the time she's evaluated

22 by paramedics who ultimately transferred Patient A

23 to the emergency department at Humboldt General

24 Hospital, she was alert and acting and talking

25 normally for a child of her age.
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·1· · · · · ·Once she arrived to the emergency

·2 department at Humboldt General Hospital, the

·3 evidence will show that a nurse assessed Patient A,

·4 took her vitals, which were appropriate for her age

·5 and the situation, her skin was normal temperature,

·6 normal color, and her breathing was unlabored.

·7· · · · · ·Throughout the two and a half hours that

·8 Patient A remained at the emergency department at

·9 Humboldt General Hospital, she remained stable.· Her

10 vital signs were stabled, her breathing was

11 unlabored, she only received Tylenol for minimal

12 discomfort, she was alert and acting normally for

13 her age throughout to entirety of her stay at the

14 emergency department.

15· · · · · ·There was swelling around the bite, and

16 Dr. Lasry will testify that that is not unusual,

17 that you would expect to see some swelling as result

18 of a snakebite.· The evidence will also show that

19 there was some progression of the swelling.· That

20 also was expected.

21· · · · · ·However, the evidence will ultimately show

22 that whether or not to administer antivenom is based

23 upon the medical judgment of the physician

24 evaluating the patient.· It may be warranted in

25 patients that show signs or symptoms of systemic
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·1 envenomization, but the evidence will demonstrate

·2 that while Patient A was in the emergency

·3 department, she did not show signs of system

·4 envenomization that warranted administration of the

·5 antivenom at that time.

·6· · · · · ·While in the emergency department,

·7 Dr. Lasry appropriately ordered labs, and those labs

·8 that would be expected to show signs of systemic

·9 envenomization, such as the INR, the fibrinogen, and

10 platelets, they were all normal.· Just because

11 Dr. Lasry did not think antivenom was warranted at

12 that time, the evidence will show that that didn't

13 mean it may not be warranted in the future.

14· · · · · ·What the evidence will show is that

15 Dr. Lasry contacted the pediatrician, Dr. Thorp, and

16 requested that Dr. Thorp accept admission of Patient

17 A.

18· · · · · ·The evidence will further demonstrate that

19 Dr. Thorp did not feel comfortable accepting Patient

20 A's admission because she had never cared for a

21 patient with a snakebite before.· Accordingly,

22 Dr. Thorp would not accept admission of Patient A,

23 and requested that she be transfer to a different

24 facility that could provide a higher level of care.

25· · · · · ·So, Dr. Lasry contacted the emergency
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·1 department physician at Renown, in Reno, a level II

·2 trama center.· He spoke with that emergency

·3 department physician and gave him the history of how

·4 Patient A presented to the emergency department, his

·5 evaluation of Patient A, the current findings,

·6 including the lab results, as a result the fact that

·7 Dr. Lasry did not feel antivenom was needed at that

·8 time before transferring Patient A to Renown.

·9· · · · · ·The evidence will further demonstrate that

10 emergency department physician at Renown did not

11 express any concern with respect to the fact that

12 Patient A had not received antivenom or would not

13 receive antivenom prior to being transferred.

14· · · · · ·The evidence throughout this hearing will

15 further demonstrate that initially the plan was to

16 transfer Patient A via air ambulance.· However, in

17 consultation with Patient A's mother, it was

18 determined that Patient A's mother would not consent

19 to air ambulance because she wouldn't be able to

20 ride with Patient A to Renown.· Because Patient A

21 remained stable, and we are now three-plus hours

22 after the snakebite, Dr. Lasry determined that it

23 was appropriate and acceptable to transfer Patient A

24 via ground ambulance.

25· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Sorry.· I really hate to
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·1 interrupt here.· I forgot to mention -- this is

·2 partially my fault -- but for the furtherance of the

·3 hearing, could we refer to the patient as

·4 "Patient A" just for confidentiality reasons, rather

·5 than by her name?· I'm sorry.· I should have

·6 mentioned this.· I hate to interrupt you at this

·7 point.· I don't want to derail your opening

·8 statement.· I just want to mention that.

·9· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Sure.· I will try to do that.

10 Thank you for jumping in, though.

11· · · · · ·So the evidence will further demonstrate

12 that even if Dr. Lasry felt that antivenom was

13 indicated at the time, he did not have the resources

14 to do so safely at Humboldt General Hospital.· The

15 evidence will demonstrate that antivenom

16 administration requires close monitoring over an

17 extended period of time, of at least 20 hours, and

18 in May of 2020, Humboldt General Hospital could not

19 have kept the patient in the emergency department

20 for that amount of time with the close monitoring

21 that would be needed for the administration of

22 antivenom.

23· · · · · ·So based upon his education, training, and

24 experience, Dr. Lasry appropriately used his medical

25 judgment and determined that it would be better to



Page 16
·1 transfer the patient to Renown for admission and

·2 further monitoring and potentially the

·3 administration of antivenom if the situation

·4 warranted.

·5· · · · · ·Dr. Lasry could not have reasonably

·6 predicted that the patient would have the

·7 precipitous decline that she ultimately suffered

·8 about 30 minutes prior her arrival to Renown.· While

·9 she was in the emergency department Humboldt, the

10 patient never needed supplemental oxygen, her vital

11 signs remained stable, her swelling increased

12 minimally and was not unexpected, and by the time

13 the patient left Humboldt General Hospital, it had

14 four hours at least since the bite, and there was

15 sill to signs of systemic envenomization to warrant

16 keeping the patient and administering antivenom at

17 that time.

18· · · · · ·The evidence will further demonstrate that

19 if Dr. Lasry had any indication that the patient's

20 condition was instable or showed signs of systemic

21 envenomization, he would have made sure she did not

22 get in the ambulance, and would have made sure that

23 she was safely transferred to Renown or made her --

24 attempts to administer antivenom in Humboldt.

25· · · · · ·However, the evidence will show that the
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·1 standard of care is determined prospectively, not

·2 with the benefit of hindsight, but is based upon

·3 what a reasonable physician would you do in similar

·4 circumstances.

·5· · · · · ·And ultimately in this case, the evidence

·6 will show that Dr. Lasry appropriately exercised his

·7 medical judgment in evaluating the patient and

·8 determining antivenom should not be administered at

·9 the time, and transferring the patient to Renown, a

10 level II trauma center.

11· · · · · ·Thank you.

12· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

13· · · · · ·Ms. Smith, is it possible to, wherever the

14 name of the patient has been eluded to, to replace

15 that with Patient A in the transcript?

16· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· If I have your permission

17 to do so, I can certainly do that.

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yes, please do

19 so.

20· · · · · ·All right.· Anything further before

21 Mr. Shogren calls his first witness?

22· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Nothing further at this

23 time.

24· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Nothing from me.· Thank you.

25· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.
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·1 Mr. Shogren, who is your first witness?

·2· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· The first witness I am

·3 calling is Kristi Barbieri, investigator for the

·4 Board.

·5· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Go

·6 ahead and call her.

·7· · · · · ·Ms. Barbieri, normally if we were sitting

·8 in the room all together, Mr. Shogren would say

·9 something to the effect of "I call my first witness,

10 Kristi Barbieri."· He did that.· I don't know if you

11 were on when he did that.

12· · · · · ·If you could please state your name and

13 spell your name for the record, and then I will have

14 you sworn in.

15· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Sure.· My name is Kristi

16 Barbieri, first name is K-R-I-S-T-I, last name is

17 B-A-R-B-I-E-R-I.

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And

19 could you please raise your right hand to be sworn

20 in.

21· · · · · ·(The oath was administered.)

22· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I do.

23· · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

24 BY MR. SHOGREN:

25· · · Q.· ·Good morning, Ms. Barbieri.
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·1· · · A.· ·Good morning.

·2· · · Q.· ·First of all, who is your employer?

·3· · · A.· ·Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners.

·4· · · Q.· ·What is your job title?

·5· · · A.· ·Investigator.

·6· · · Q.· ·How long have you had this position?

·7· · · A.· ·Since February of 2022.

·8· · · Q.· ·And as an investigator for the Nevada

·9 State Board of Medical Examiners, what are your

10 duties?

11· · · A.· ·My duties are assign cases, complaints

12 that are filed from the public and to investigate

13 those, get all the facts together, and then pass it

14 along the chain for decisions.

15· · · Q.· ·So, specifically, when a complaint comes

16 in, what happens?

17· · · A.· ·A complaint comes in, it's assigned to an

18 investigator, the complaint is reviewed.· If there's

19 additional questions, we reach out to the

20 complainant.

21· · · · · ·And then an allegation letter goes out to

22 the licensee with a Board order for records.· Once

23 we get a response, if there's anybody else we need

24 records from, we sent out a subpoena or a letter.

25· · · · · ·And when that's all -- when that comes
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·1 back, it's reviewed by an investigator, and then

·2 it's passed on for medical review.

·3· · · Q.· ·Just to be clear, when an investigation is

·4 opened, does the Board create a file for that

·5 matter?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And we're here today for a hearing

·8 to present evidence so that the Board can determine

·9 if Dr. Lasry violated the Medical Practice Act.

10· · · · · ·And are you familiar with investigation

11 number 21-20403, regarding Dr. Lasry?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Is that this case we're here today for?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·And just for the record, were you the

16 original investigator on this case?

17· · · A.· ·No.

18· · · Q.· ·Do you know who was?

19· · · A.· ·Kim Friedman.

20· · · Q.· ·Did you take over for this case?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·When did you take over?

23· · · A.· ·I took over February 17th of 2022.

24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Have you reviewed the file for this

25 case?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Based on your review, does this case

·3 appear to be similar to other investigations handled

·4 by the Board?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Now, for the record I'm going to ask you

·7 about the Board's exhibits in this case.

·8· · · A.· ·Okay.

·9· · · Q.· ·And as part of your investigation for this

10 case, were you required to obtain medical records?

11· · · A.· ·Medical records were obtained prior to

12 when the case was assigned to me.

13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· I'm going to ask you questions

14 directed toward each exhibit.· If you could open the

15 binder in front of you and have that.· Can you

16 please turn to what's been premarked as Board's

17 Exhibit 1?

18· · · A.· ·Okay.

19· · · Q.· ·Do you recognize this document?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.· It's a Complaint issued by the

21 Board.

22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And who's named as a respondent

23 here?

24· · · A.· ·Jason Howard Lasry, M.D.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.
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·1· · · · · ·I'd like to now move to what's been

·2 premarked as the Board's Exhibit 2.· Quickly, do you

·3 recognize this document?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·And what is it?

·6· · · A.· ·A proof of Service.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·8· · · · · ·Now I'd like you to turn to what's been

·9 premarked as the Board's Exhibit 3.· It's been

10 previously admitted.· And what is this document?

11· · · A.· ·This would be the initial allegation

12 letter sent to the respondent.

13· · · Q.· ·Do you recognize this document?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·What is the date of this letter?

16· · · A.· ·July 19th, 2021.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And what were the allegations in

18 this allegation letter?

19· · · A.· ·The first one was the patient presented to

20 Dr. Lasry on or around May 9th, 2020, at Humboldt

21 General Hospital, by ambulance, after being bitten

22 by a rattlesnake on her left knee.

23· · · · · ·The second is he failed to administer

24 antivenom to the patient instead of agreeing to

25 transfer the patient to Renown Regional Medical
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·1 Center without first stabilizing the patient.

·2· · · · · ·Number three is Life Flight was canceled,

·3 and a decision was made to transport the patient via

·4 ambulance in Renown Regional Medical Center in Reno,

·5 even though the patient was in poor condition and

·6 near death.

·7· · · · · ·It is further alleged on or around

·8 May 13th, 2020, the patient succumbed as a result of

·9 the rattlesnake bite.

10· · · · · ·And there is a further allegation that

11 Dr. Lasry may have been deceptive with the Nevada

12 State Board of Medical Examiners on his renewal for

13 failing to answer "yes" to being named a defendant,

14 respond to legal action regarding Washoe County

15 Second Judicial Court case CV21 00866, filed

16 May 7th, 2021.

17· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

18· · · · · ·Now if we can move to what's been

19 premarked as the Board's Exhibit 4, previously

20 admitted.· Do you recognize this document?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·And what is it?

23· · · A.· ·It's the response from Dr. Lasry to the

24 allegation letter.

25· · · Q.· ·What is the date of this letter?
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·1· · · A.· ·August 18th, 2021.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now if we can move to exhibit --

·3 what's been premarked as the Board's Exhibit 5,

·4 previously admitted.· Do you recognize these

·5 documents?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·And what are they?

·8· · · A.· ·This is the standard letter to goes out to

·9 a medical facility, requesting records for a certain

10 time period, signed by the previous investigator.

11· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren,

12 you mentioned earlier concern about that patient's

13 name being part of the record, and it's in the

14 record in your Exhibit 4, it hasn't been redacted.

15· · · · · ·I don't know if you're concerned about

16 that, but I'm pointing that out to you if you want

17 the opportunity to redact that, I will grant that.

18 But the name is listed in there, so it's part of the

19 record.

20· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Okay.· Thank you for

21 bringing that up.· I don't think we need to redact

22 it at this time.

23 BY MR. SHOGREN:

24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Ms. Barbieri, for Exhibit 5, who is

25 the letter addressed to?
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·1· · · A.· ·It's address to Humboldt General Hospital,

·2 attention health care records.

·3· · · Q.· ·And then the third page of Exhibit 5,

·4 which is Bates stamp 20 here, what is this document?

·5· · · A.· ·That is the certificate of custodian of

·6 records that is sent out with the request, that

·7 comes back with the record that needs to be

·8 notarized by the facility.

·9· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

10· · · · · ·Now if we can move to what's been

11 premarked as Exhibit 6.· Do you recognize these

12 documents?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·What are they?

15· · · A.· ·Records from Humboldt General Hospital in

16 response to the letter.

17· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

18· · · · · ·If you could move to Exhibit 7.· Do you

19 recognize this document?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·And what is it?

22· · · A.· ·It is a letter to Renown Regional Medical

23 Center, attention health records, requesting records

24 for a certain time period for the patient.

25· · · Q.· ·And what else does this exhibit contain?
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·1· · · A.· ·The exhibit also has a notarized

·2 certificate of custodian of records.

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·4· · · · · ·If -- moving to what's been premarked as

·5 Exhibit 8, what is this document?

·6· · · A.· ·These are records from Renown Health -- or

·7 Renown.· Sorry.

·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·9· · · · · ·Moving to Exhibit 9, that's been premarked

10 as Exhibit 9, do you recognize this document?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·What is this document?

13· · · A.· ·Certificate of Death from vital

14 statistics.

15· · · Q.· ·What how was this document obtained?

16· · · A.· ·An investigator will send a letter with a

17 check for $25 to vital statistics to get a certified

18 copy returned to us.

19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

20· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I know that

21 Exhibit 9 hasn't been admitted.· Do you want to seek

22 to admit it at this time, or are you going to wait

23 to do that?

24· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I'll seek to admit it at

25 this time.
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·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Hueth, you

·2 had an objection to that exhibit?

·3· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yes, I have a couple of

·4 objections.

·5· · · · · ·One is being relevance that the Death

·6 Certificate is not relevant to establishing whether

·7 or not Dr. Lasry complied with the Nevada

·8 Malpractice Act, or whether he complied with the

·9 standard of care.

10· · · · · ·Further object to foundation and

11 authenticity, as Ms. Barbieri just testified that

12 typically a letter would be sent requesting this

13 document, and there's no such letter contained

14 within the file.

15· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

16· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, do you have a response?

17· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Well, I'd say, first, we

18 would argue that it is relevant, showing the

19 patient's condition at the time.

20· · · · · ·As far as foundation, I acknowledge that

21 there isn't a letter, but I would argue that

22 Ms. Barbieri still established how this letter was

23 obtained through her testimony.

24· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So as

25 you both know, the rules of evidence formally don't
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·1 apply, so it's within my discretion.

·2· · · · · ·I do find that is it relevant, and it is a

·3 public record.· So even if the rules did apply, it

·4 would come in under public record exception.

·5· · · · · ·Exhibit 9 is admitted.

·6· · · · · ·(Investigative Committee's Exhibit 9

·7· · · · · ·was admitted.)

·8· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Thank you.

·9 BY MR. SHOGREN:

10· · · Q.· ·And lastly, Ms. Barbieri, I'd would like

11 you to briefly turn to -- these are exhibit that are

12 premarked as 10 through 13.· I'm just going to treat

13 these Exhibit s together here.· What are they?

14· · · A.· ·Those are the articles that were returned

15 with the peer reviewer's report.

16· · · Q.· ·Is it unusual for the Board to receive

17 articles when there's a peer review?

18· · · A.· ·No.

19· · · Q.· ·And do these appear to be true and correct

20 copies?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

23· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No further questions for

24 Ms. Barbieri.

25· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Heuth?
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·1· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

·2· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION

·3 BY MS. HUETH:

·4· · · Q.· ·Good morning, Ms. Barbieri.

·5· · · A.· ·Good morning.

·6· · · Q.· ·Are you a medical doctor?

·7· · · A.· ·I am not.

·8· · · Q.· ·Have you attended medical school?

·9· · · A.· ·I have not.

10· · · Q.· ·And I believe you testified -- please

11 correct me if I'm wrong -- you were not the original

12 investigator on this file; is that right?

13· · · A.· ·Correct.

14· · · Q.· ·And that you were assigned to this file

15 February 17th, 2022; is that right?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so you were not the person who

18 requested records from Humboldt General Hospital; is

19 that correct?

20· · · A.· ·Correct.

21· · · Q.· ·You were not the person who requested

22 records from Renown; is that right?

23· · · A.· ·Correct.

24· · · Q.· ·In your experience, do to investigators

25 primarily take the allegations that are written in
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·1 underlying consumer complaint and use them as the

·2 allegations in the letter of inquiry that is sent by

·3 the Board?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·If you could turn to, what's already been

·6 admitted, Exhibit 3 of the Investigative Committee's

·7 Exhibit s?

·8· · · A.· ·Okay.

·9· · · Q.· ·Is this the July 19th, 2021, letter of

10 inquiry that was sent to Dr. Lasry?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And this is before you were

13 assigned to the case; right?

14· · · A.· ·Correct.

15· · · Q.· ·And you did not write this letter?

16· · · A.· ·Correct.

17· · · Q.· ·Number 5, which you read into the record,

18 regarding the allegation that Dr. Lasry may have

19 been deceptive with the Nevada State Board of

20 Medical Examiners on his license renewal?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·That's not contained within the formal

23 complaint that's been filed in this matter, that

24 allegation; true?

25· · · A.· ·I would have to go look at the complaint.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Well, if you could turn to

·2 Exhibit 1, which is the formal complaint.· And on

·3 what's Bates stamped NSBME 3, Count I is for

·4 malpractice; true?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Count II is for violation of standards of

·7 practice established by regulation, failure to

·8 consult; correct?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.

10· · · Q.· ·Count III, failure to maintain appropriate

11 medical records; correct?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·There's no count regarding fraud or

14 deception in obtaining a license renewal; true?

15· · · A.· ·Correct.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· If you can turn to what's already

17 been admitted, Exhibit 5, please.· Specifically

18 Bates stamped NSBME 20.

19· · · A.· ·Okay.

20· · · Q.· ·And this is the Certificate of Custodian

21 of Records that says "for Humboldt General

22 Hospital," but I'm guessing that means to be "of

23 Humboldt General Hospital"; is that fair?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And the Certificate of Records for
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·1 Humboldt General Hospital was signed by Kathy

·2 Patterson; is that right?

·3· · · A.· ·Yes.

·4· · · Q.· ·It was not signed by Jason Lasry, was it?

·5· · · A.· ·No.

·6· · · Q.· ·And if you can turn to what's already been

·7 admitted, Exhibit 4, please.· And exhibit 4 is

·8 Dr. Lasry's response letter; correct?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.

10· · · Q.· ·And in the first paragraph, Dr. Lasry

11 indicates:· I am not the custodian of records, as

12 Humboldt General Hospital maintains the patient's

13 records.

14· · · · · ·Did I read that correctly?

15· · · A.· ·Yes.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· If you can please turn to

17 Exhibit 7?

18· · · A.· ·Okay.

19· · · Q.· ·And this is the request for Patient A's

20 medical records from Renown Regional Medical Center;

21 correct?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·And this letter requests all of Patient

24 A's medical records, beginning May 9, 2020, through

25 present; true?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And if you turn to Bates stamp

·3 NSBME 90.· Do you have that in front of you?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And is this the Certificate of

·6 Custodian of Record for Renown?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·And to your knowledge, does this

·9 certificate verify that all of Patient A's medical

10 records from Renown Regional were provided to the

11 Nevada Board?

12· · · A.· ·I'm checking.· One moment.· All of

13 patient's records?· No.· Patient's record for

14 specific set period of time, yes.

15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And that period of time was?

16· · · A.· ·May 9th, 2020, to October 12th, 2021.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· At least for that time period, this

18 is certifying that a complete copy of those records

19 were provided to the Board?

20· · · A.· ·Correct.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· If you can turn to Exhibit 8,

22 please.

23· · · · · ·It looks like this is approximately 21

24 pages of Patient A's medical records from Renown; is

25 that right?
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·1· · · A.· ·Let's see, 91 to 111, so, yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Is it your understanding that Patient A's

·3 medical chart from Renown is only 21 pages?

·4· · · A.· ·According to this, yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Well, Patient A -- do you have an

·6 understanding that Patient A was admitted to Renown

·7 on May 9, 2020?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes -- no.· I'm sorry.· May 9th was to

·9 Humboldt.

10· · · Q.· ·Sure.· But if you turn to Bates stamp, so

11 still in Exhibit 8, which has already been admitted,

12 NSBME 91.· Let me know when you have that in front

13 of you.

14· · · A.· ·Okay.

15· · · Q.· ·And if you go down about half way, under

16 "events."

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·It says "admission at 5/9/2020."· Do you

19 see that?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And if you go to the next, NSBME

22 92, half way down above "allergies."

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·It says "discharge at 5/13/2020."· Do you

25 see that?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Would that indicate to you that she

·3 was admitted on May 9, 2020, and discharged May 13,

·4 2020?

·5· · · A.· ·According to these documents, yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·In your experience, having been an

·7 investigator, would it be unusual for a patient who

·8 had been admitted to the hospital for four days to

·9 only have 21 pages of medical records?

10· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I'd object, one, just for

11 relevance.· I don't see where we're going with this.

12· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· The relevance is that

13 Ms. Barbieri testified that this is the entirety of

14 the Renown Health medical records, and I'm trying to

15 establish that that may not be correct, given the

16 length of patient's stay it.· That it would be a

17 mischaracterization to suggest that this is the

18 entirety of the patient's chart from Renown.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Barbieri,

20 there hasn't been an objection as to your

21 qualifications to testify to that.· She did

22 establish that you were a Board investigator and

23 asked if it was in your experience.

24· · · · · ·So given that qualification, I'll allow

25 her to proceed with this line of questioning.
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·1· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Okay.· It depends on what

·2 the patient has gone for.· It can be something as

·3 little as 21 records or something as voluminous as

·4 300.

·5 BY MS. HUETH:

·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· On NSBME 92, do you still have that

·7 page in front of you?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·And toward the bottom, under ED notes, it

10 says "patient transferred with PICU, RN, on monitor

11 up to four."· Do you see that?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Does that suggest to you, given your

14 experience, that this patient was admitted to the

15 pediatric ICU on May 9, 2020?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And she remained at Renown until

18 May 13th, 2020; correct?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So given that, in this case,

21 specifically, does it seem unusual to you, given

22 your experience as an investigator, that this

23 patient's four-day stay, part of it being in the

24 PICU, would only be 21 pages?

25· · · A.· ·I would assume there would be more.
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·1· · · Q.· ·If you can turn now to Exhibit 9, which

·2 has been admitted, do you know when this Certificate

·3 of Death was requested?

·4· · · A.· ·I do not.

·5· · · Q.· ·And you testified earlier that typically a

·6 letter would be sent with the request for a

·7 certificate of death; is that right?

·8· · · A.· ·Correct.

·9· · · Q.· ·And when Mr. Shogren going through these

10 Exhibit s with you, did you see any such letter

11 requesting the certificate?

12· · · A.· ·In the Exhibit s, no.

13· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Those are all my questions.

14 Thank you.

15· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Any redirect,

16 Mr. Shogren?

17· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.· Thank you.· Just a

18 couple question for Ms. Barbieri.

19· · · · · · · · ·REDIRECT EXAMINATION

20 BY MR. SHOGREN:

21· · · Q.· ·Is it common that you received files --

22 investigative files that were previously worked on

23 by other investigators?

24· · · A.· ·It is common?· It's happened once since

25 I've been here.· I replaced Ms. Friedman, so I
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·1 assumed most, if not all, of her files.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And -- okay.· I'm just going to

·3 Exhibit number -- what's been premarked as

·4 Exhibit 7, Bates stamp number 88, just to be clear,

·5 this is requesting records from a certain period of

·6 time, all records; correct?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·Is that typical, you request all records

·9 when you send out such a letter to a facility or a

10 provider?

11· · · A.· ·It depends.· If they've gone -- if it's an

12 ER visit, and they go to the ER quite frequently and

13 we're looking at a specific case, then we set a

14 date, time set.· Otherwise, we go back, typically,

15 two or three years.

16· · · · · ·But if you're looking for specific, we try

17 and narrow it down.

18· · · Q.· ·And to your knowledge, the records that

19 were provided by Renown, were those complete as your

20 predecessor requested?

21· · · A.· ·According to notes from the predecessor,

22 it was complete.· Otherwise, another request would

23 have been sent.

24· · · Q.· ·If you could turn to what's been premarked

25 as Exhibit 8?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·As an investigator, do you have say in

·3 what's prepared for in Exhibit s to be used at a

·4 hearing?

·5· · · A.· ·No.

·6· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No further questions.

·7· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Do

·8 you have witness after Ms. Barbieri?

·9· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes, I do.· The next witness

10 I would like to call is Eric Glissmeyer, M.D.

11· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Would you like

12 to excuse Ms. Barbieri?

13· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.· No further questions.

14· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Barbieri,

15 you are excused.· Thank you for your time and your

16 testimony today.

17· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren,

19 please state name of your next witness again.

20· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.· We would like to call

21 Eric Glissmeyer, M.D.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

23· · · · · ·Good morning, Dr. Glissmeyer.· I'm

24 Patrician Halstead.· I'm the hearing officer for

25 this matter.· I don't know if you've been attending
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·1 up this point, but I'll have you please state your

·2 name and spell your name for the record and then

·3 I'll have you raise your right hand to be sworn.

·4· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.· And have been on

·5 the Zoom, but just let in the meeting now.

·6· · · · · ·My name is Eric Wallace Glissmeyer,

·7 physician, and thank you.

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can you spell

·9 your name, please?

10· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Eric, E-R-I-C, W.

11 Glissmeyer, G-L-I-S-S-M-E-Y-E-R.

12· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Go

13 ahead and raise your right hand.

14· · · · · ·(The oath was administered.)

15· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I do.

16· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Go ahead,

17 Mr. Shogren.

18· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Thank you.

19· · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

20 BY MR. SHOGREN:

21· · · Q.· ·Good morning, Dr. Glissmeyer.

22· · · A.· ·Good morning.

23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Let's start off, what is your

24 profession?

25· · · A.· ·I am a pediatric emergency physician.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And where are you located?

·2· · · A.· ·I work in Salt Lake City, Utah, for the

·3 University of Utah, and Primary Children's Hospital

·4 is my practice location.

·5· · · Q.· ·And are you licensed in Nevada to practice

·6 medicine?

·7· · · A.· ·Not to practice in person, but to provide

·8 Telehealth consultation if requested.

·9· · · Q.· ·And where else are you licensed?

10· · · A.· ·Just to practice in the State of Utah, and

11 Telehealth consultation licensed other

12 inter-mountain west states, like Idaho, Montana,

13 Colorado, Wyoming.

14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

15· · · · · ·How long have you been licensed?

16· · · A.· ·Since 2014, as an attending physician, and

17 for the six years prior to that during residency and

18 fellowship.

19· · · Q.· ·Where did you go to medical school?

20· · · A.· ·The University of Utah.

21· · · Q.· ·And what was your residency in?

22· · · A.· ·Pediatrics.

23· · · Q.· ·And did you do any fellowships?

24· · · A.· ·Yes, fellowship in pediatric emergency

25 medicine.
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·1· · · Q.· ·What board certifications do you have?

·2· · · A.· ·I am board-certified with the American

·3 Board of Pediatrics, in pediatrics.· I'm

·4 board-certified with the American Board of

·5 Pediatrics in pediatric emergency medicine.· And

·6 with the American Board of Preventative Medicine in

·7 clinical informatics.

·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· What licenses do you hold?

·9· · · A.· ·I hold a physician and surgeon license

10 with the State of Utah, as well as a controlled

11 substances prescription license.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And do you hold any other positions

13 currently?

14· · · A.· ·I'm sorry, any other positions?

15· · · Q.· ·Yes.

16· · · A.· ·No.

17· · · Q.· ·Can you briefly describe your training and

18 experience, specifically with emergency pediatric

19 medicine?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.· I spent about seven months in my

21 residency between 2008 and 2011, in the emergency

22 department.· I spent three years in fellowship in

23 the emergency department and in pediatric critical

24 care rotations with that fellowship.· And then since

25 2014, I am full-time faculty in the pediatric
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·1 emergency department, seeing patients in that

·2 emergency setting.

·3· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·4· · · · · ·I'd like to turn your attention to what's

·5 been premarked as Board's Exhibit 15.· Do you have

·6 that in front of you?· Have you seen this document

·7 before?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.· This is my curriculum vitae that I

·9 personally prepared.

10· · · Q.· ·Does this document accurately summarize

11 your experience and education?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Did you prepare this document?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·Did you provide this document to the

16 Board?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Is there anything else you would

19 like to add, or is this document complete?

20· · · A.· ·I'll just add that this doesn't include

21 all of the continuing medical education or other

22 lectures or trainings that I've attended, as that

23 would make this document excessively long.

24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

25· · · · · ·Have you served as a peer reviewer for the
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·1 Board before?

·2· · · A.· ·I have.

·3· · · Q.· ·Do you recall how many cases you may have

·4 reviewed for the Board?

·5· · · A.· ·For the Nevada Board, three.

·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And how long have you been

·7 reviewing cases for the Nevada Board?

·8· · · A.· ·Since 2020.

·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Are you familiar with investigation

10 number 21-20403, regarding Dr. Jason Lasry?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·Based on your training and experience, do

13 you feel you are familiar with standards of care to

14 which medical practitioners are held regarding the

15 facts in this case?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·And do you have experience in the subject

18 matter you've asked to review regarding the facts of

19 this case?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Can you describe your training and

22 experience specifically with treating patients with

23 envenomization?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.· Envenomization is a complaint that

25 we see in the emergency department.· Over the course
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·1 of my career, which I described earlier, I have

·2 treated approximately seven patients with

·3 snakebites.

·4· · · · · ·And my experiences in managing them as

·5 patients that we hear about, often, before they come

·6 to our referral center as a major pediatric

·7 specialty hospital, and in speaking -- so in

·8 speaking with referring providers and arranging

·9 their transport and managing their care once they

10 arrive and caring for them emergency department and

11 dispositioning them to an appropriate location

12 thereafter.

13· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

14· · · · · ·You mentioned you've treated approximately

15 seven patients?

16· · · A.· ·That's right.· Approximately seven

17 patients with snakebite injuries.

18· · · Q.· ·And what was the most-recent patient?

19· · · A.· ·Most-recent patient as about 18 months

20 ago.

21· · · Q.· ·What was the age range of your patients?

22· · · A.· ·Those range from about one year old, I

23 think it was one and a half year old, specifically,

24 the youngest, to teenagers.

25· · · Q.· ·For your patients, did you administer
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·1 antivenom?

·2· · · A.· ·I did, yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·To your knowledge, what was the outcome

·4 after administering antivenom?

·5· · · A.· ·All patients survived, and their wounds

·6 around the site of the bite, some required some

·7 local wound specialty care.· I believe one of them

·8 required a wound graft.· All survived.

·9· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren, I

10 just want to clarify for the record because it

11 wasn't exactly clear to me.· You asked if he

12 administered antivenom to his patients.· I want to

13 clarify that your question meant to convey whether

14 he administered antivenom to each of those seven

15 patients, so all of patients.

16· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Correct.· Yes.· I should

17 have specified.· I'm talking about the seven

18 patients that Dr. Glissmeyer mentioned.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Dr. Glissmeyer,

20 was my understanding correct, that it was all the

21 patients that administer to?

22· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you for that

23 clarification.

24· · · · · ·Yes, these seven patients all received

25 antivenom.
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·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

·2· · · · · ·I'm sorry, Mr. Shogren.· Go ahead.

·3· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No problem.

·4 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·5· · · Q.· ·Moving on here, were you provided with

·6 materials by the Board in your review of this

·7 matter?

·8· · · A.· ·Materials from the case, case records,

·9 yes.

10· · · Q.· ·Do you remember what was included in those

11 materials?

12· · · A.· ·Yeah.· Generally, they included

13 information from the Emergency Medical Services

14 transferring the patient to Humboldt General

15 Hospital.· Records from Humboldt General Hospital,

16 and records from the hospital to which the patient

17 was transferred from Humboldt.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And were you asked at the time the

19 materials were provided to review them and make an

20 objective determination whether, in your

21 professional opinion, there was any departure from

22 the proper standards of medical care by Dr. Lasry?

23· · · A.· ·Yes, that was what I was asked to do.

24· · · Q.· ·Did you come to a determination?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And what was your opinion?

·2· · · A.· ·My opinion was that the care of the

·3 patient by Dr. Lasry did not meet appropriate

·4 medical standards, and per the Nevada Board

·5 definition, met the definition of malpractice.

·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·7· · · · · ·And now I'd like to discuss how you

·8 arrived as this determination.· And might be easiest

·9 to go through the records that you've previously

10 been provided.· I'm going to ask you some more

11 specific questions regarding the facts of this case.

12· · · · · ·So, if you could, could you turn to what's

13 been premarked as Board's Exhibit 6?

14· · · A.· ·I'm there.

15· · · Q.· ·And do you recognize this document?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Are these the records from Humboldt

18 General Hospital that you were asked to review?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Also just as a sort of a

21 preliminary or an aside matter, I'm going to refer

22 to the patient as "Patient A," or otherwise as the

23 "patient," and I would ask that you do so as well,

24 so we can keep the transcript free of confidential

25 information about the patient.
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·1· · · · · ·First, I just wanted to establish a

·2 timeline here.· If you can turn to what's been --

·3 the Bates stamp number s pages 21 through --

·4 actually not 21 -- 83 through -- I'm sorry.  I

·5 apologize.· I was correct the first time.· I was

·6 looking at the wrong ones.· I apologize for any

·7 confusion.

·8· · · · · ·Pages starting at Bates number 21.

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.

10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so pages 21 through 24, what is

11 this document here?

12· · · A.· ·This is a patient care record of the -- of

13 Patient A, that is from Emergency Medical Services,

14 responded to the patient in the field or out in the

15 community, and transported them to the hospital.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· I have a couple of questions here.

17 We're going to jump back to this at a later point,

18 but just for right now, what is date of this

19 document?

20· · · A.· ·It is dated May 9, 2020.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And when did Emergency Medical

22 Services arrive on the scene?

23· · · A.· ·They documented that -- give me just a

24 moment.· I want to make sure that I state it

25 correctly.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.

·2· · · A.· ·They -- I'm sorry.· Can you restate your

·3 question, Mr. Shogren?

·4· · · Q.· ·I asked:· When did EMS arrive on the scene

·5 on May 9th?

·6· · · A.· ·That's documented on page 23, that they

·7 arrived on scene at 15:56 hours on May 9.

·8· · · Q.· ·When did they depart the scene?

·9· · · A.· ·At 16:07 hours.

10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And just quickly here, what --

11 based on these records for the EMS, what was the

12 impression of the patient?

13· · · A.· ·The impression was that the patient was

14 bitten by a rattlesnake on the left knee, about an

15 hour before EMS arrived.· And that the patient had

16 vomited, had been incontinent of urine.· And that

17 was calm and talking normally, and they drew around

18 the wound to monitor for changes around the wound.

19· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

20· · · · · ·Now if you could turn to page number --

21 starting at page 30 of Exhibit 6?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·And what is this document titled here?

24· · · A.· ·This is the Humboldt General Hospital

25 emergency documentation or ED clinical summary.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And who was the attending physician at

·2 Humboldt for the patient?

·3· · · A.· ·Jason Lasry.

·4· · · Q.· ·What was the admit date?

·5· · · A.· ·May 9, 2020.

·6· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·7· · · · · ·When did the patient arrive at Humboldt

·8 General Hospital?

·9· · · A.· ·Arrived May 9, 2020, at 16:16 hours.

10· · · Q.· ·If you turn to page number 32, when was

11 Dr. Lasry assigned to this patient?

12· · · A.· ·At 16:24 hours on May 9.

13· · · Q.· ·Now turning to pages 34 and 35 of

14 Exhibit 6.· If you could read, what is Dr. Lasry's

15 assessment at the bottom of page 34?

16· · · A.· ·That the patient is a three year old with

17 rattlesnake envenomization, or bites, to the left

18 knee.· That the patient had increasing edema and

19 swelling.· And there's about 25 percent more

20 swelling in the radius of the circle and swelling

21 has increased in size from when she first presented.

22 She's noted as doing well, watching a movie, awake

23 and talking.· And no abnormalities in the

24 coagulation tests.

25· · · Q.· ·And based on this record, what medication
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·1 was administered to the patient?

·2· · · A.· ·The patient received IV fluid, along with

·3 potassium chloride.

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, towards the bottom of page 34,

·5 there's that section entitled "Procedure," what does

·6 this section state?

·7· · · A.· ·This is states that Dr. Lasry delivered

·8 critical care to this patient for 35 minutes or

·9 more, for multiple reassessments, medical

10 decision-making, and consultation.

11· · · Q.· ·Just based off your experience and

12 knowledge, what is critical care time?

13· · · A.· ·It is a documentation attestation that

14 emergency physicians and others make in their notes

15 to indicate the severity of a patient's illness

16 and/or the complexity of the care provided.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now if you could turn to page 27.

18 What is this document?

19· · · A.· ·This is the Authorization of Transfer for

20 the patient from Humboldt General Hospital to the

21 Renown Hospital.

22· · · Q.· ·When was the transfer approved?

23· · · A.· ·Let's see.· It's documented here that on

24 May 9, the Renown Hospital accepted the patient for

25 transfer at 17:56 hours.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And according to this document, on page

·2 27, what was the discharge time?

·3· · · A.· ·Patient was discharged at 18:24 hours.

·4 Rather -- sorry -- discharged vital signs timed at

·5 18:24.· Discharge time was 18:32.

·6· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·7· · · · · ·Can we just quickly -- we're going to come

·8 back to this, but if you could turn to

·9 pages starting at 83, what's been Bates stamped as

10 83, Board's Exhibit 6?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·What is this document?

13· · · A.· ·This is, again, an Emergency Medical

14 Services' documentation of the patient's care and

15 assessment by them when they picked up the patient

16 from Humboldt to transfer them to Renown.

17· · · Q.· ·If you could turn to page 86 specifically

18 here.· When did the EMS depart Humboldt?

19· · · A.· ·They departed Humboldt at 18:52 hours.

20· · · Q.· ·When did they arrive at Renown Hospital in

21 Reno?

22· · · A.· ·At 21:29 hours.

23· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

24· · · · · ·For now, if you could go to what's been

25 premarked and admitted as Exhibit 8.· Do you
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·1 recognize these records?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·Are these records from Renown that you

·4 were asked to review?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· I just want to focus on when the

·7 patient arrived at Renown, was she given antivenom?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·And do you know when she was given

10 antivenom?

11· · · A.· ·It was that same evening of arrival.  I

12 need a moment to look for the exact place that the

13 time is documented.

14· · · Q.· ·I think that answers my question.· We can

15 move on to the next one.

16· · · · · ·Could you turn to pages that's been

17 premarked as 98 and 99?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Specifically on what's marked as -- of

20 what's labeled as "Death Certification Note."

21· · · A.· ·Um-hum.

22· · · Q.· ·And according to this, on pages 98 and 99,

23 when was the patient pronounced dead?

24· · · A.· ·May 13, 5:27 P.M.

25· · · Q.· ·And what's listed as the cause of death?
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·1· · · A.· ·Permanent cessation of cardiac function,

·2 secondary to MODS, secondary to cardiac arrest,

·3 secondary to rattlesnake bite.

·4· · · Q.· ·And what does MODS stand for?

·5· · · A.· ·In my experience, it stands for multiple

·6 organ dysfunction syndrome.

·7· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·8· · · · · ·Okay.· Now we're going to step back a

·9 little bit.· I'm going to ask you about treatment of

10 snakebites in general, now that we've established a

11 timeline here for the patient's care.

12· · · · · ·In your experience, you to your knowledge,

13 how are snakebite patients initially assessed?

14· · · A.· ·The initial assessment includes

15 measurement of patient's vital signs, examination of

16 the bite area, and then ensuing, a period of

17 observation to determine if the patient's clinical

18 status, as measured by vital signs and symptoms, is

19 remaining stable or changing or any abnormalities,

20 and monitoring the bite site for any progression of

21 swelling, development of or progression of swelling.

22· · · Q.· ·And when you say "vital signs," what vital

23 signs are typically measured?

24· · · A.· ·Vital signs measured in this situation and

25 in any emergency situation include temperature,
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·1 heart rate, respiratory rate, blood pressure

·2 measurement, oxygen saturation measurement.

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And based on your experience and

·4 knowledge, and you said you've seven patient that

·5 have been bitten by snakes, what are typical signs

·6 of envenomization from a snakebite?

·7· · · A.· ·Early, typical signs include swelling at

·8 the bite site and pain.· After time begins to go by

·9 and about an hour or two hours goes by from the time

10 of injury, if there was venom injected, swelling

11 tends to continue to increase around the bite site.

12· · · · · ·Changes -- visible changes, other than

13 swelling, such as redness or bruising are really

14 variable, and may take multiple hours to develop.

15· · · · · ·Monitoring of those vital signs, I

16 described, is critical also determine if the patient

17 is experiencing systemic or whole body affects from

18 venom.

19· · · Q.· ·And what are common systemic symptoms?

20· · · A.· ·Fast heart rate.· And as the body

21 initially starts to respond to venom, and if there

22 is a significant amount of venom injected, the body

23 may enter various stages of shock, including a

24 persistence of an elevated heart rate, and/or low

25 blood pressure.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Based on your experience and knowledge,

·2 when should patients receive antivenom?

·3· · · A.· ·Once they're is any criteria met to

·4 receive antivenom, and that would include that the

·5 patient's vital signs are out of range and persist

·6 out of range.· That would include that the patient

·7 has development of progression of swelling at a bite

·8 site.· That would also include signs of laboratory

·9 abnormalities that could occur over time.

10· · · Q.· ·And in what setting should antivenom

11 usually be administered?

12· · · A.· ·As soon as possible.· So that could

13 include settings -- if the patient is far from

14 medical care, and it's something, even outside of a

15 hospital, can be directed by a physician.· Certainly

16 in emergency departments, emergency centers, as well

17 as within hospitals.

18· · · Q.· ·In your experience, how are emergency

19 departments typically equipped to deal with any

20 adverse affects to antivenom?

21· · · A.· ·They are probably to best place for a

22 patient to be treated for adverse affects of

23 antivenom that could occur.· They're well equipped

24 to handle that by immediate physician and nurse

25 presence caring for the patients.· And with the
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·1 immediate availability of medications to be -- to

·2 include, but not limited to, IV fluids, agents to

·3 increase blood pressure or epinephrine medications

·4 if an allergic reaction were to occur.

·5· · · Q.· ·What are the contraindications for using

·6 antivenom on a patient?

·7· · · A.· ·There are no absolute contraindications to

·8 using antivenom on a patient.

·9· · · · · ·The relative contraindications or things

10 that could be considered to not use antivenom, but

11 are not an absolute no, are that if a patient has

12 received antivenom before and had a severe allergic

13 reaction.

14· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

15· · · · · ·And what resources are there, to your

16 knowledge, for consultation in snakebite cases?

17· · · A.· ·There is generally available resources to

18 physicians in various articles and clinical practice

19 statements available online.· But what's most

20 immediately available to emergency physicians, and

21 really any physician, is contact with a poison

22 control center.· The same phone number is available

23 anywhere in the United States.

24· · · Q.· ·And in snakebite cases, how are pediatric

25 patients different than adult patients?
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·1· · · A.· ·They are not.

·2· · · Q.· ·And how is the patient's weight considered

·3 in treating snakebite cases?

·4· · · A.· ·As with most medications in children,

·5 there is a weight-based dosing to give a smaller

·6 human an appropriate amount of medication.· After a

·7 certain weight, that is irrelevant, and they receive

·8 the adult dose.

·9· · · Q.· ·And then, to your knowledge, what --

10 dealing with snakebites, what's the possibility that

11 the snake delivered a dry bite?

12· · · A.· ·That's a possibility.· It's been reported

13 through the literature that a certain number of

14 snakebites are dry bites or where venom is not

15 injected.

16· · · · · ·And either systemic, whole body changes I

17 described in vital signs or changes in the skin,

18 such as swelling at site or the laboratory changes I

19 mentioned, don't occur, where none of those occur

20 under a period of observation, and that's what could

21 constitute a dry bite.· Yeah.

22· · · · · ·There's a variability in reporting of how

23 many snakebites are dry.· Numbers that I have seen

24 reported in the literature are anywhere between

25 15 percent and 25 percent of bites that are not
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·1 venom injected.· I, personally, never seen such a

·2 one where there was no venom injected.

·3· · · Q.· ·And backing up here, I'm moving back to a

·4 previous topic here, but I forgot to ask here.· What

·5 are the risks of antivenom usage?

·6· · · A.· ·They're small.· Really, any medication has

·7 the risk of allergic reaction.· There are multiple

·8 different types of antivenom available to hospitals,

·9 and they generally stock one or the other; one

10 called "CroFab," and one called "ANAVIP," are two

11 common types.

12· · · · · ·And from my recollection, they have,

13 maybe, somewhere between a ten percent and a less

14 than five percent, respectively, rate of severe

15 allergic reaction when administered.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

17· · · · · ·Now, just addressing what's been premarked

18 as Board's Exhibit 10, starting there.· Actually,

19 I'm just going to address Exhibits 10 through 13,

20 which have all been previously admitted.· Have you

21 seen these documents before?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·And what are these documents?

24· · · A.· ·They are literature documents I provided

25 in review of this case.
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·1· · · · · ·Document 10 is a study of what normal

·2 vital signs ranges are in children.

·3· · · · · ·Document 11 is from the Journal of

·4 Emergency Medicine, statement on managing pit viper

·5 or crotalid envenomization in emergency departments.

·6· · · · · ·Document 12 is another clinical practice

·7 statement from Wilderness Medical Society on

·8 treatment of pit viper envenomizations.

·9· · · · · ·And document 13 is a summary document from

10 the UpToDate organization on management --

11 evaluation and management of patients with

12 Crotalinae pit viper bites.

13· · · Q.· ·In your opinion, do these articles

14 articulate that standard of care that would have

15 been in effect as of May 9th, 2020, when Dr. Lasry

16 saw the patient in this case?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·And noticed -- so Exhibit 10 was published

19 in 2011.· Exhibit 11 was published in 2020 and

20 updated in 2021.· Exhibit 12 was published in 2015.

21 And Exhibit 13 was published in 2022.

22· · · · · ·So, some of those were published after

23 May 9th, 2020, but are the standards identified in

24 these articles different than what they would have

25 been on May 9th, 2020?
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·1· · · A.· ·No.· The last document -- no.· No, they're

·2 not.· No substantive change in the standard of care

·3 in that time.

·4· · · Q.· ·And were these articles peer reviewed, all

·5 of them?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes, these are all peer-reviewed articles.

·7· · · Q.· ·And why did you rely on these articles?

·8· · · A.· ·These articles are from the kind of places

·9 that might look when looking for guidance in

10 managing snakebite envenomizations.

11· · · Q.· ·Okay.

12· · · A.· ·And I guess to be more clear, Exhibit 10,

13 it just established what normal vital sign ranges

14 are for children.

15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Just briefly, if we could turn to

16 Exhibit -- what's been premarked as Exhibit 12,

17 starting on page 132.· Specifically, what is this

18 document?

19· · · A.· ·This is from the Wilderness Medical

20 Society on practice guidelines for treatment of pit

21 viper bites in the United States and Canada.

22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And this is a document relied on

23 -- correct? -- in forming your opinion.

24· · · A.· ·One of them.

25· · · Q.· ·If you could just turn to page 138 here.
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·1 If you could just, perhaps, briefly summarize what's

·2 titled "Section 4," subsection "initial patient

·3 assessment."

·4· · · A.· ·This is just details routine assessment

·5 that should occur of the patient, including vital

·6 signs, specifically included blood pressure, as

·7 initial assessment of the patient.

·8· · · · · ·And then history of the circumstances of

·9 the bite, and then removing anything that swelling

10 could then lead to problem with, such as jewelry or

11 clothing on the body.

12· · · · · ·It talks about monitoring the patient

13 repeatedly.

14· · · Q.· ·What is recommendation for after a patient

15 is placed on initial assessment and vital signs?

16· · · A.· ·Repeat it every 15 to 30 minutes until

17 local tissue effects have stabilized, which means

18 until there's no further progression of the

19 patient's local tissue affects.

20· · · Q.· ·And if you could turn to page 140.· If you

21 could just read the first sentence of the first

22 paragraph there?

23· · · A.· ·This is indication for antivenom section,

24 and it says "Patients with progressive local tissue

25 finings or any systemic toxicity, such as signs,
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·1 symptoms, or acute laboratory abnormalities, should

·2 receive antivenom."

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· In this section, what is described

·4 as common systemic symptoms.

·5· · · A.· ·Hypotension or low blood pressure,

·6 systemic bleeding or neurotoxicity.

·7· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sorry.· Can you

·9 repeat that for me, please?· You said "low blood

10 pressure, neurotoxicity."

11· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Hypotension, systemic

12 bleeding, or neurotoxicity.

13 BY MR. SHOGREN:

14· · · Q.· ·In your experience and knowledge, what is

15 defined as neurotoxicity?

16· · · A.· ·So that can be any number of signs or

17 symptoms of weakness, particularly.· It could also

18 include abnormal muscle functions, such as something

19 termed as "muscle fasciculation," which is kind of

20 uncontrollable writhing movements of muscles as

21 driven by nerves that aren't working right.

22· · · · · ·But the one in any sort of envenomization

23 from any venom-containing animal of neurotoxicity

24 that is most concerning is -- or that one of the

25 most concerning things is weakness in your breathing
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·1 and ability to effectively breathe.

·2· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·3· · · · · ·Now if we can turn to exhibit -- what's

·4 been premarked as Exhibit 13, previously admitted.

·5 Dr. Glissmeyer, what is this Exhibit?

·6· · · A.· ·This is the UpToDate article on snakebite

·7 envenomizations.

·8· · · Q.· ·Just to be clear, what are Crotalinae

·9 snakes?

10· · · A.· ·Crotalinae snakes are pit vipers, which

11 are venomous snakes.

12· · · Q.· ·And rattlesnakes fall under this category?

13· · · A.· ·Correct.

14· · · Q.· ·If you could turn to page 149 of this

15 article of this exhibit.· If you could just describe

16 here at bottom, antivenom therapy, what's the

17 recommended initial treatment?

18· · · A.· ·Consultation with a medical toxicologist

19 or other physician with expertise or prior

20 experience treating venomous snakebites is

21 encouraged before giving antivenom.

22· · · · · ·And describes this phone number that's the

23 same throughout the United States, that has been

24 for -- I know for a fact it's been that case at

25 least since 2014 -- I'm sorry -- since 2011, there
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·1 were emergency consultation with a medical

·2 toxicologist is always available.

·3· · · Q.· ·And then going on to the next page,

·4 page 150, what does the top paragraph there

·5 describe?

·6· · · A.· ·Recommends when antivenom therapy should

·7 be given, and says "For patients with Crotalinae

·8 snakebites and progressive swelling or signs of

·9 systemic toxicity."

10· · · Q.· ·And what's recommended for those patients?

11· · · A.· ·That if there is progressive swelling or

12 signs of systemic toxicity, that antivenom should be

13 administered as soon as possible once any of those

14 manifestations are evident.· And that is done both

15 to treat the effects that are already happening, and

16 to prevent progression of venom affects.

17· · · Q.· ·And if you go down to the section entitled

18 "Dose and Administration," on page 150, the second

19 paragraph, what does that state?

20· · · A.· ·That antivenom therapy can be associated

21 with potentially severe allergic reactions, but it

22 appears -- the risk appears to be low, less than

23 one percent.

24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And to your knowledge, what are --

25 what is FabAV?
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·1· · · A.· ·The FabAV is the CroFab, and Fab2AV is the

·2 ANAVIP.· Both of those are pit viper antivenom.

·3· · · Q.· ·And if you go down to the next section

·4 titled "Treatment of Acute Antivenom Reactions," on

·5 page 150, what does the first sentence state there?

·6· · · A.· ·That on -- based on a comparative trial

·7 between FabAV and Fab2AV, the rate of acute serum

·8 reaction and serum sickness for patients receiving

·9 either of those is approximately two to

10 three percent.

11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And moving on to page 153, on the

12 last section of page 153, which is titled

13 "Supportive Care," what does that state?

14· · · A.· ·That antivenom administration is the

15 mainstay or the most important piece of treatment

16 for envenomization by North American Crotalidae

17 snakes.· And other treatments, such as pain control

18 and monitoring for hypotension or low blood

19 pressure, bleeding, rhabdomyolysis, elevated tissue

20 or other compartment pressures, and, rarely,

21 respiratory failure could occur after administration

22 of antivenom.

23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now we're going to move on to

24 Patient A's medical records.· We kind of touched

25 upon them initially, but now we're going to back to



Page 68
·1 them in more detail.

·2· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Excuse me.· I'm sorry to

·3 interrupt, but when it's convenient for everybody,

·4 could be take a comfort break?

·5· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yeah.

·6· · · · · ·I was going to ask, Mr. Shogren, how much

·7 longer do you think you have to go?

·8· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Probably another

·9 thirty minutes or so.· We can take break now,

10 though.

11· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· It's

12 10:21.· Do you all want to -- let's be back by

13 10:35.· Is that going to work for everyone?

14· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yes.· Thank you.

15· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank

16 you, everyone.

17· · · · · ·(Recess from 10:21 A.M. to 10:35 A.M.)

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're on the

19 record and remain on the record in matter number

20 23-29251-1, In the Matter of the Charges and

21 Complaint Against Jason Howard Lasry, M.D.· We took

22 a break amongst the direct of Dr. Glissmeyer, who is

23 testifying on behalf of the IC.

24· · · · · ·Dr. Glissmeyer, I remind you that you're

25 under oath.
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·1· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, you may continue with your

·2 direction examination.

·3· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Thank you.

·4 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·5· · · Q.· ·Dr. Glissmeyer, I was now going to focus

·6 of Patient A's medical records.· If you could turn

·7 back to Exhibit 6, and let's start with page 34 of

·8 Exhibit 6.· Dr. Glissmeyer, again, what is this

·9 section?

10· · · A.· ·This is the Dr. Lasry's emergency record

11 of the patient.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And we went over this a little bit

13 before, but just to refresh here, what is the

14 initial assessment?

15· · · A.· ·That since the patient was bit on the left

16 knee, has developed increasing edema and swelling at

17 the site, and about 25 percent more swelling in the

18 circle drawn and the swelling has increased in size

19 from when she first presented.· That the patient was

20 doing well.· Noted no coagulation abnormalities.

21· · · Q.· ·What do these notes say about the

22 patient's heart rate?

23· · · A.· ·I don't think the note says anything about

24 the patient's heart rate, other than the number.

25· · · Q.· ·And what is the heart rate number listed?
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·1· · · A.· ·149.

·2· · · Q.· ·And what's the normal heart rate range for

·3 a three year old?

·4· · · A.· ·Less than 140.

·5· · · Q.· ·So what does a heart rate of 149 indicate?

·6· · · A.· ·In this situation, it indicates to me

·7 concern for significant envenomization and systemic

·8 toxicity.

·9· · · Q.· ·And from what you can see here, how did

10 Dr. Lasry address the heart rate?

11· · · A.· ·He did not.

12· · · Q.· ·And I'd like to turn now to page --

13 starting at page 171 -- sorry -- 71 one Exhibit 6.

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·Under the section starting -- actually,

16 it's on 171 and 172, starting under the section

17 "Vital Signs," and what is this section here?

18· · · A.· ·These are vital signs recorded zeroly or

19 repeatedly at Humboldt General Hospital.

20· · · Q.· ·And what vital signs are recorded here?

21· · · A.· ·The patient's temperature, pulse rate or

22 heart rate, and respiratory rate.

23· · · Q.· ·And what's the time range of these vital

24 signs?

25· · · A.· ·From 18:24 hours -- I guess they move



Page 71
·1 backward here, so from 16:30 hours to 18:24 hours.

·2· · · Q.· ·And what are the heart rate measurements,

·3 what's the range recorded here?

·4· · · A.· ·Between 149 and 155.

·5· · · Q.· ·If you go on page 72.

·6· · · A.· ·Thank you.· So, yeah, there's two columns

·7 of data here.· And the earliest is from 16:17, the

·8 latest 18:24, the range being 146 to 156.

·9· · · Q.· ·And I notice all of these heart rate

10 measurements have a little "h" next to them.· What

11 was that "h" stand for?

12· · · A.· ·That's a marker from the electronic

13 medical record recognizing that these are out of

14 range for the patient's age, rather elevated or

15 high.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

17· · · · · ·And what does this section, the vitals

18 signs section, state about the patient's blood

19 pressure?

20· · · A.· ·Nothing.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now going back to Dr. Lasry's notes

22 starting on page 34.· I notice there's a section

23 titled "Physical Exam," what does it say about the

24 patient's cardiac status?

25· · · A.· ·Heart has regular rate on rhythm.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And is a heart rate of 149, is that a

·2 regular rate?

·3· · · A.· ·No.· That's tachycardic, or fast.

·4· · · Q.· ·In this section, what does Dr. Lasry state

·5 about the patient's blood pressure?

·6· · · A.· ·He doesn't state anything about it.

·7· · · Q.· ·Actually, if we could quickly go back to

·8 page 27.· What is this document again?

·9· · · A.· ·This is the certification of transfer

10 form, with the parent of the patient signing

11 permission, and document ing the patient's

12 acceptance of the Renown Hospital for transfer from

13 Humboldt Hospital.

14· · · Q.· ·And what are the discharge vital signs?

15· · · A.· ·Document ed at 18:24 hours, no blood

16 pressure document ed.· Pulse 150.· Respiratory rate

17 24.· Temperature 36.6.· Oxygen saturation

18 96 percent.

19· · · Q.· ·One second.· Now jumping back -- I

20 apologize for jumping back and forth here, but going

21 back to page 34 and 35, what does Dr. Lasry state --

22 I may have brought this up before, but just to

23 refresh, what does Dr. Lasry note about the

24 swelling?

25· · · A.· ·In the physical exam section, he notes no
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·1 significant edema, which is another word for

·2 swelling.· And then in the assessment on page 35,

·3 document s increasing edema and swelling.

·4· · · Q.· ·Um-hum.· If you could go to -- now to

·5 page 79 of Exhibit 6, under the section titled

·6 "Emergency document ation," what is this section?

·7· · · A.· ·This is the document ation by the patient

·8 care nurse and Humboldt General Hospital.

·9· · · Q.· ·What do the textual results state?

10· · · A.· ·On May 9 at 18:24, the nurse document ed

11 that Emergency Medical Services here with the

12 patient.· Patient care turned over to them.· Noted

13 left knee swelling continues to increase, and noted

14 mottling, which are color changes, around left knee

15 radiating up and down from the left knee.· M.D. or

16 physician aware.

17· · · Q.· ·What time was this note entered?

18· · · A.· ·18:24 hours.

19· · · Q.· ·Could you read the next note?

20· · · A.· ·So, that's going on backward in time at

21 17:29 hours, "Noted swelling to left knee increasing

22 more.· M.D. notified."

23· · · Q.· ·And then can you just read the last note

24 there?

25· · · A.· ·That's at 17:08 hours, "Noted left knee
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·1 swelling increased.· Also noted by M.D."

·2· · · Q.· ·And you can stop there.

·3· · · · · ·Okay.· I want to shift your attention now

·4 to page 83 starting there, of Exhibit 6, paged 83

·5 through 87.· We briefly touched on this section of

·6 Exhibit 6 before, but just to refresh, what is this

·7 section?

·8· · · A.· ·Is the Emergency Medical Services' record,

·9 who came to pick up the patient from Humboldt and

10 transfer them to Renown.

11· · · Q.· ·Could you briefly describe under "Vital

12 Signs," what this all this states?

13· · · A.· ·So, this vital signs section is a table of

14 vital signs taken from before they departed the

15 Humboldt General Hospital until they arrived at the

16 Renown Hospital.

17· · · Q.· ·What does it state under column labeled

18 "BP"?

19· · · A.· ·This is the blood pressure repeated

20 measurements.· At 18:49 hours, the blood pressure

21 was measured at 59 over 40.

22· · · Q.· ·And what's the time range for the blood

23 pressure measurements?

24· · · A.· ·Beginning at 18:49 hours until 21:28.

25· · · Q.· ·What does the blood pressure reading of 59
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·1 over 40, what does that indicate?

·2· · · A.· ·Hypotension, or low blood pressure.

·3· · · Q.· ·And what -- when does hypotension start?

·4 Under what range?

·5· · · A.· ·So blood pressure is normalized by age of

·6 patient.· A -- the systolic number, or the first

·7 number, is the most reliable and most important to

·8 use decision-making, as to whether a patient needs

·9 treatment for low blood pressure or high blood

10 pressure.

11· · · · · ·That is considered to be low for a

12 three- year-old child, because we use the algorithm

13 of 70 plus two times the age.· So a number less than

14 76 in that first number would be considered low.

15· · · Q.· ·What time range was the blood pressure

16 less than 76?

17· · · A.· ·The time range between 18:49 and 19:38.

18 So I guess between 18:49 and 19:23.· Then, again,

19 just before arrival at the Renown Hospital.

20· · · Q.· ·In your opinion in the context of these

21 facts, what would this hypotension indicate for the

22 patient?

23· · · A.· ·Systemic symptoms of envenomization and

24 severe toxicity from that.

25· · · Q.· ·Based on your review of all the records
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·1 here provided, is blood pressure mentioned anywhere

·2 else?

·3· · · A.· ·It is -- not outside of this record from

·4 Humboldt General Hospital until arrival at Renown.

·5· · · Q.· ·If we could just go now to page 84.

·6 Actually, I apologize.· Backing up.· Going back to

·7 page 83, under the section titled "ECG," what does

·8 this section indicate?

·9· · · A.· ·This is an interpretation of the

10 electrocardiogram electrode leads they had on the

11 patient's chest.· And it indicates that from before

12 they left Humboldt General Hospital until just

13 before arriving at Renown, the patient had sinus

14 tachycardia, which means a fast heart rate, with a

15 normal electrographic tracing.

16· · · Q.· ·Given, in your opinion and the context of

17 the facts here, what does the tachycardia indicates?

18· · · A.· ·It indicates systemic toxicity from

19 envenomization.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now moving to page 84, under

21 "Initial Assessment," can you read the section

22 titled "Extremities"?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · · · · · ·"Patient had two puncture marks on

25· · · · · · · ·the anterior left know.· A circle
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·1· · · · · · · ·was drawn on the area indicating

·2· · · · · · · ·initial swelling ecchymosis, or

·3· · · · · · · ·bruising, upon arrival to the ER.

·4· · · · · · · ·There was a small amount of

·5· · · · · · · ·ecchymosis around the wound, as

·6· · · · · · · ·well as extending past the circle

·7· · · · · · · ·approximately one inch.· Her

·8· · · · · · · ·swelling was extended to the

·9· · · · · · · ·entire extremity.· The patient's

10· · · · · · · ·upper leg was approximately three

11· · · · · · · ·times the size of the opposite

12· · · · · · · ·leg.· The knee had swollen to the

13· · · · · · · ·same extent.· Streaking was noted

14· · · · · · · ·on the medial thigh.· CMS was

15· · · · · · · ·noted on all extremities, although

16· · · · · · · ·the patient's left leg was weak,

17· · · · · · · ·and she was unable to move it

18· · · · · · · ·without assistance.· Providers

19· · · · · · · ·limited the movement of the

20· · · · · · · ·extremity."

21· · · Q.· ·In your opinion, what does the patient's

22 inability to move her leg, what does that indicate?

23· · · A.· ·That indicates a weakness.· It also could

24 indicate a pain from the swelling and the bite, but

25 it also could indicate a neuromuscular weakness.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Then moving to page 85, under the

·2 section "Narrative," can you just describe what this

·3 narrative states about the swelling of the leg?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.· One moment.

·5· · · · · ·I notes in the third paragraph ER RN noted

·6 the patient's leg had swollen to three times the

·7 size while in the ER.· The EMS asked about the

·8 administration of the antivenom and was informed

·9 that Dr. Lasry advised against the administration.

10· · · · · ·That's it.

11· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I don't know if it's just

12 me, but I can't hear Mr. Shogren now.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I think they

14 are working on it.· We'll give them a minute.

15· · · · · ·Okay.· It's eleven o'clock right now.

16 I'll check back in at -- well, I guess we will just

17 go until 11:10, and then we will reconvene.

18· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

19· · · · · ·(Recess 11:00 A.M. TO 11:11 A.M.)

20· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on

21 the record in case 23-29251-1, In the Matter of

22 Charges and Complaint Against Jason Howard Lasry,

23 M.D.· We stopped for some technical difficulties,

24 but we seem to back on track now.

25· · · · · ·We were still within the direct of
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·1 Dr. Glissmeyer, who remains under oath.

·2· · · · · ·Go ahead, Mr. Shogren.

·3 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Dr. Glissmeyer, in your opinion,

·5 what does the combination of the tachycardia and

·6 hypotension, what could that possibly indicate?

·7· · · A.· ·That indicates systemic toxicity from the

·8 venom.

·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Based on your reviews of records

10 here, what were the contraindications for using

11 antivenom in this case?

12· · · A.· ·None.

13· · · Q.· ·Would the patient's weight have had any

14 sort of consideration?· Would that have changed

15 anything?

16· · · A.· ·No.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Next, I want to go back to page 85.

18 Could you read that last entry there, the last

19 paragraph on page 35?

20· · · A.· ·Page 35; is that correct?

21· · · Q.· ·Yes, 35.

22· · · A.· ·Last entry here at 5:45 P.M.:

23· · · · · · · ·"I discussed the full history and

24· · · · · · · ·physical examination with

25· · · · · · · ·Dr. Gassen from the emergency room
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·1· · · · · · · ·at Renown Hospital, and he agrees

·2· · · · · · · ·to accept the patient to transfer

·3· · · · · · · ·to his facility and agrees that

·4· · · · · · · ·antivenom is not required or

·5· · · · · · · ·indicated at this time.· Patient

·6· · · · · · · ·will be transferred for a higher

·7· · · · · · · ·level of care and for close

·8· · · · · · · ·observation and possible later ICU

·9· · · · · · · ·admission, depending on

10· · · · · · · ·condition."

11· · · Q.· ·Next I wanted to play -- this is

12 respondent's exhibit, and this is Exhibit 7, which

13 is audio of transfer center call number two.· And

14 I'm going play this right now.

15· · · · · ·(Audio played.)

16 BY MR. SHOGREN:

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Just to make sure, Dr. Glissmeyer

18 did you hear that recording?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·And in preparation for this hearing, did

21 you previously hear that recording?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·Can you briefly summarize what Dr. Lasry

24 stated about the patient's condition?

25· · · A.· ·That the patient was bitten by a snake,
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·1 had some swelling on the left leg, that it was

·2 increasing, that he didn't think antivenom should be

·3 administered.

·4· · · Q.· ·And in your opinion, if you were given

·5 that call, what would you convey to the other

·6 doctor?

·7· · · A.· ·I would convey the patient's vital signs.

·8· · · Q.· ·Is there anything else you would convey?

·9· · · A.· ·Probably a little bit more about how the

10 patient was doing, how they had vomited.· But

11 that's, really, the critical things.

12· · · Q.· ·Based off what you heard here, can you

13 summarized what the other provider, Dr. Gassen, what

14 he said about the use of antivenom?

15· · · A.· ·I don't recall him saying anything about

16 it.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I have a

18 question:· Has this call been transcribed?

19· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Not to my knowledge.

20· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Hueth, have

21 you had the call transcribed?

22· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· No, I have not.

23 BY MR. SHOGREN:

24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Dr. Glissmeyer, I wanted to wrap up

25 here.
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·1· · · · · ·In your reasoned professional opinion,

·2 after reviewing all of the facts in this case, the

·3 medical records, in your own experience at the very

·4 last, what should Dr. Lasry have done after the

·5 patient presented to Humboldt General Hospital with

·6 a snakebite?

·7· · · A.· ·Obtain full vital signs, including blood

·8 pressure, recognize the elevated heart rate,

·9 recognize the progression of swelling.· And

10 because -- and for reason of either of those being

11 true, administer antivenom before transferring the

12 patient.

13· · · Q.· ·Also in your opinion, how should the

14 patient have been transferred?

15· · · A.· ·I think that -- I think that's less

16 important in this case in the care of the patient.

17· · · · · ·Any patient should be transferred using

18 the fastest mode possible, especially in a setting

19 of the patient's systemic symptoms of illness with

20 tachycardia that were not addressed and fixed.

21 That's my answer.

22· · · Q.· ·In your opinion, when should have the

23 antivenom been administered?

24· · · A.· ·I believe that the presentation -- so, in

25 short, at the Humboldt Hospital.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·2· · · · · ·And would you opine that Dr. Lasry

·3 committed malpractice?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·And what's your opinion about Dr. Lasry,

·6 his maintaining records regarding the patient's

·7 condition?

·8· · · A.· ·I have concerns about the accuracy of the

·9 physical exam stating a regular rate with the

10 patient having tachycardia.· And concern with not

11 measuring the blood pressure in the patient during

12 the entirety of their stay.

13· · · Q.· ·Would you opine that Dr. Lasry failed to

14 properly consult with another physician regarding

15 the patient's condition?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Thank you, Dr. Glissmeyer.· No further

18 questions.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

20· · · · · ·So I'll pass to Ms. Hueth, but I have a

21 couple follow-up questions, and I don't want to step

22 on anybody's toes, but there are things we covered,

23 and I don't them to get skipped.

24· · · · · ·Since the call is not transcribed and I

25 had trouble hearing parts of it and we're asking
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·1 Dr. Glissmeyer about it, I thought I heard that

·2 transport was addressed.· I didn't hear if the mode

·3 of transport was addressed.

·4· · · · · ·Can someone clarify that for me?

·5· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· It says -- I think Dr. Gassen

·6 says, "How is she going to be transferred?"

·7· · · · · ·And Dr. Lasry says, "Via ground."

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank

·9 you.

10· · · · · ·And then what was the basis for concluding

11 that there was a failure to consult regarding the

12 patient's condition?· There was a conclusion, but

13 there was no basis stated for that.

14· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Well, I had elicited through

15 Dr. Glissmeyer's testimony that based on records,

16 the audio call, there's no mention of patient's

17 vital signs.

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· I would

19 like Dr. Glissmeyer to respond.

20· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I apologize.

21· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you, Ms. Halstead.

22 Can you repeat the question?

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· There was a

24 conclusion that Dr. Lasry failed to properly consult

25 regarding the patient's condition, and I wanted to
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·1 know what your basis for that conclusion was.

·2· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· The basis is failure to

·3 provide the vital signs of the patient.· As in the

·4 transcript, there is mention of this increasing

·5 swelling.· But no -- and a declaration that he

·6 didn't think that antivenom should be administered.

·7· · · · · ·But I didn't think that the phone call to

·8 the Renown Hospital physician, through their

·9 transfer center, was really one of consulting and a

10 back and forth discussion about should we administer

11 antivenom to this patient, but rather a handoff or

12 statement of what was done.

13· · · · · ·And I don't think that the referring

14 physician was really specifically asked the

15 question:· Would you recommend administering

16 antivenom to this patient?

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

18· · · · · ·Go ahead, Ms. Hueth, you can commence your

19 cross-examination.

20· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

21· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION

22 BY MS. HUETH:

23· · · Q.· ·Good morning, Dr. Glissmeyer.

24· · · A.· ·Good morning.

25· · · Q.· ·I have in my notes -- please correct me if
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·1 I'm wrong -- that you currently practice at Primary

·2 Children's Hospital in Salt Lake City?

·3· · · A.· ·Correct.

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And is that a rural critical access

·5 hospital?

·6· · · A.· ·Could you define what you mean by "rural

·7 critical access hospital"?

·8· · · Q.· ·Are you familiar with the JCo definition

·9 for accreditation of a rural critical access

10 hospital?

11· · · A.· ·Not specifically, no.

12· · · Q.· ·Where is Primary Children's Hospital

13 located?

14· · · A.· ·In Salt Lake City.

15· · · Q.· ·How many beds is your emergency

16 department?

17· · · A.· ·It's 33.

18· · · Q.· ·Just in the ED?

19· · · A.· ·Correct.

20· · · Q.· ·And do you know how many beds there are in

21 total at Primary Children's Hospital?

22· · · A.· ·I believe over 300.· In the low 300s.

23· · · Q.· ·At Primary Children's Hospital, as an ER

24 provider, do you have on-call specialists?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And typically what sorts of on-call

·2 specialists do you have?

·3· · · A.· ·We have the full array of medical and

·4 surgical specialties.

·5· · · Q.· ·Were you working at Primary Children's

·6 Hospital in Salt Lake City in May of 2020?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·And according to your CV, from 2021 to

·9 2023, you were also working on your MBA; is that

10 right?

11· · · A.· ·Correct.

12· · · Q.· ·In October of 2020, you became

13 board-certified in preventive medicine?

14· · · A.· ·No.· That's in clinical informatics

15 through the board of -- the American Board of

16 Preventive Medicine.

17· · · Q.· ·Did you have to take an exam to receive

18 that certification?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·When did you take that exam?

21· · · A.· ·I took that exam in the fall of 2020.

22· · · Q.· ·You testified earlier that the most-recent

23 patient that you treated as a result of a snakebite

24 was 18 months ago; is that right?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·So prior to May 9, 2020, how many patients

·2 had you personally administered antivenom to?

·3· · · A.· ·Approximately six before that patient.

·4· · · Q.· ·The patients that you administered

·5 antivenom to, were they ultimately admitted to the

·6 hospital?

·7· · · A.· ·All of them, yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·To what department in the hospital?

·9· · · A.· ·Some to the inpatient, regular medical

10 surgical floor.· And I believe at least one of those

11 total seven was admitted to the intensive care unit.

12· · · Q.· ·One of those patients, you testified,

13 required a skin graft; is that right?

14· · · A.· ·That's right.

15· · · Q.· ·Were there any other of those seven

16 patients that required, whether surgery or

17 additional intervention beyond the antivenom?

18· · · A.· ·Not surgery, no.

19· · · Q.· ·But some other intervention?

20· · · A.· ·Additional doses of antivenom after the

21 initial ones were required by most of the patients.

22· · · Q.· ·Those additional doses, did you provide

23 those in the ER?

24· · · A.· ·No.

25· · · Q.· ·They were provided to the patient after
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·1 the patient's admitted either to the ICU or the

·2 general medicine floor?

·3· · · A.· ·Correct.

·4· · · Q.· ·Earlier you were testifying regarding the

·5 two types of antivenom, and you testify that most

·6 hospitals will stock one of two antivenoms, either

·7 CroFab or ANAVIP; is that right?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·And when you were explaining that, were

10 you talking generally, or were you taking

11 specifically about Humboldt General Hospital?

12· · · A.· ·I was talking generally.· Yet in my review

13 of the records for this case, I requested

14 information as whether on the date of patient's

15 presentation, antivenom was available in the

16 hospital.

17· · · Q.· ·And did you see that information contained

18 within the Exhibit s presented by the Investigative

19 Committee?

20· · · A.· ·I would need reread all of them to be

21 absolutely sure.· I don't know.

22· · · Q.· ·Do you recall Mr. Shogren bringing that

23 information to your attention when he was asking you

24 questions?

25· · · A.· ·Not today, no.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· When you received the materials for

·2 this case, did you receive the records from Humboldt

·3 and the records from Renown?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·When you initially received the materials

·6 for this case, what else did you get?

·7· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I object to that.· I believe

·8 that's confidential.

·9· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Hueth, do

10 you have a response?

11· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I'll rephrase it.

12 BY MS. HUETH:

13· · · Q.· ·When you initially received materials

14 related to this case, you received records from

15 Humboldt General Hospital; is that right?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Renown?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Did you receive the death certificate?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· When you first received the

22 materials, you knew that this is patient passed;

23 true?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·When hindsight bias?
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·1· · · A.· ·It is the outcome after an event changing

·2 the -- one's perception of the circumstances of an

·3 event.

·4· · · Q.· ·If you can turn, please, to Exhibit 9,

·5 which are the medical records from Humboldt General

·6 Hospital, and specifically page -- Bates stamp page

·7 23?

·8· · · A.· ·Which Exhibit number?

·9· · · Q.· ·Nine.· Do you have that in front of you?

10· · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· What do I have in front of me?

11· · · Q.· ·Exhibit 6, page 23?

12· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And just to be

13 clear, there's two Exhibit 6 because one is

14 respondent's and is the IC's, and so the reference

15 is to the IC's Exhibit 6.

16· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Okay.· And for, I think, all

17 of my questions, but if not, they're from the

18 Investigative Committee's Exhibit s.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

20· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.· I should have

21 clarified.

22· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I have Exhibit 6.· Which

23 page?

24 BY MS. HUETH:

25· · · Q.· ·Bates stamp NSBME 023?
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·1· · · A.· ·I have it.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And according to this document, the

·3 paramedics got to the patient at 15:57; correct?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·That's 3:57?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·And the parents -- the patient's parents

·8 reported that the patient was bit about an hour ago;

·9 true?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·So around 2:57?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·The paramedics also document that the

14 patient's vitals were obtained and monitored during

15 transport to Humboldt General Hospital; correct?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Is there any document ation of the blood

18 pressure taken by the paramedics on route to

19 Humboldt General Hospital?

20· · · A.· ·No.

21· · · Q.· ·However, the paramedics do document that

22 the patient's condition upon arrival to the

23 emergency department was improved; correct?

24· · · A.· ·I'm reading.

25· · · Q.· ·Sure.· And it's in the middle -- still on
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·1 page 23, in the middle of the page, there's a box

·2 entitled "Condition at Destination."

·3· · · A.· ·Yes, I see that.

·4· · · Q.· ·And it says "improved"?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·If you can turn to page 76, please, still

·7 within that same Exhibit?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·The nurse's triage assessment, which, by

10 the way, what is a triage?

11· · · A.· ·That's an initial assessment of the

12 patient upon arrival to a setting of care, intended

13 to identify problems and address them in a fashion

14 expedited appropriate for the patient's illness.

15· · · Q.· ·And the nurse's triage assessment states

16 that the patient's skin color is normal for

17 ethnicity; true?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·It says that the temperature is warm;

20 correct?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·If you go to page 78.· There's the a

23 pediatric coma assessment, do you see that?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·And then above that, there's a
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·1 neurological assessment, do you see that?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·The patient is noted to be alert?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Earlier, you testified that you

·6 provided a number of articles to the Investigative

·7 Committee in support of your opinions in this case;

·8 is that true?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.

10· · · Q.· ·And if you turn to Exhibit 11, is this one

11 of those article that you provided?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·And you testified earlier, did you not,

14 that this article establishes the standard of care?

15· · · A.· ·It is an article that addresses the

16 standard of care, not the only.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And this article was published

18 September 14, 2020; is that right?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· But you testified earlier, did you

21 not, that it's your belief that earlier versions

22 were essentially identical to this one?

23· · · A.· ·In the major ways that affects this

24 patient's treatment, yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Then why didn't you provide a copy
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·1 of the article that would have been applicable at

·2 the time of this patient's treatment?

·3· · · A.· ·I did through the Wilderness Medical

·4 Society article published in 2015.

·5· · · Q.· ·We're not taking about that article,

·6 Doctor.· We're on Exhibit 11, which is a clinical

·7 practice statement.

·8· · · A.· ·I don't have an article -- I don't have a

·9 previous version of this article, nor do I know if a

10 previous version of this article was published prior

11 to the -- May 9 of 2020.

12· · · Q.· ·Well, do you know if a previous version

13 was published before September 14, 2020?

14· · · A.· ·I don't know that.

15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Then how do you know that -- wait,

16 let me take a step back.

17· · · · · ·You don't even know if there was a prior

18 version; true?

19· · · A.· ·That's correct.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· But in any event, number one, under

21 the executive summary entitled "How should patients

22 with potential snake envenomation be assessed?"· Do

23 you see that?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·And it goes on to say "All patients with
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·1 possible snakebite envenomization should have the

·2 following laboratory tests performed."· Do you see

·3 that?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·The first one is a complete blood count;

·6 is that right?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry ordered a complete blood count,

·9 didn't he?

10· · · A.· ·I'm going to look back at his notes and

11 make sure I answer your question accurately.

12· · · · · ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· It also says "A basic metabolic

14 profile," and on page 55, Dr. Lasry actually ordered

15 a comprehensive metabolic panel; true?

16· · · A.· ·True.

17· · · Q.· ·So just more tests than would be done in a

18 base metabolic profile; is that right?

19· · · A.· ·That's right.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· The next test that should be

21 ordered is the PT, the prothrombin time, and

22 Dr. Lasry ordered that, did he not?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·The next one fibrinogen.· Dr. Lasry

25 ordered a fibrinogen; true?



Page 97
·1· · · A.· ·I don't see it document ed in his note.

·2 I'm looking through other records right now to see

·3 if it's was drawn but just not document ed in his

·4 physician note.

·5· · · Q.· ·Sure.· Why don't you turn to page 53,

·6 which is the orders.

·7· · · A.· ·Yeah, that was drawn.

·8· · · Q.· ·So a fibrinogen was ordered and drawn;

·9 true?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·And then creatin kinase, CK --

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·-- that was also ordered and drawn; true?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·So Dr. Lasry ordered the appropriate labs,

16 at least according to this article; correct?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Another article that you produced, and

19 it's in Exhibit 10, and you talked a little bit

20 about this earlier, entitled "Normal Ranges of Heart

21 Rate and Respiratory Rate in Children from Birth to

22 18 years.· A Systemic Review of Observational

23 Studies"; true?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And at least according to this
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·1 article, the mean respiratory rate of a child of the

·2 same age Patient A, so three years old, the mean

·3 respiratory rate is about 26; is that right?

·4· · · A.· ·I'm looking.

·5· · · · · ·Yes, that's right.

·6· · · Q.· ·And --

·7· · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· "Median" not the "mean."

·8· · · Q.· ·Thank you.· The median.· I apologize.

·9· · · · · ·Median being the middle, the fiftieth

10 percentile?

11· · · A.· ·Correct.

12· · · Q.· ·And there's a number of vital signs

13 document ed within the patient's medical records, in

14 which her respiratory rate is between 24 to 26;

15 true?

16· · · A.· ·I believe that's true, but I'm not looking

17 at that Exhibit we were looking at earlier right now

18 that had the various respiratory rates document ed,

19 but I believe that is accurate.

20· · · Q.· ·Sounds about right.

21· · · · · ·It still with this article, a heart rate

22 of 150 in a patient that is three years old would be

23 in what percentile?

24· · · A.· ·Greater than the ninety-ninth percentile.

25· · · Q.· ·Do you have the table in front of you?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yeah.· That's referencing -- let's see

·2 here, figure 4 on page 127 of Exhibit 10.

·3· · · Q.· ·When you provided this article to the

·4 Investigative Committee, was it your goal -- or did

·5 you feel like the article was helpful in

·6 establishing a normal range of heart rate,

·7 respiratory rate and other vitals of a patient of

·8 three years old?

·9· · · A.· ·My intent was to establish what is normal

10 and what is outside normal range for heart rate in

11 proving this article.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· For a patient such as the patient

13 we're talking about in this case, Patient A?

14· · · A.· ·Correct.

15· · · Q.· ·On page -- the same article, if you can

16 turn to page 122?

17· · · A.· ·Um-hum.

18· · · Q.· ·And excluded from this study, though, were

19 measurements taken at elevation greater than 1,000

20 meters above sea level; true?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·How many meters above sea level is

23 Winnemucca where Humboldt General Hospital is

24 located?

25· · · A.· ·I don't know.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Would you have any reason to dispute that

·2 it's over 1,300 meters above sea level?

·3· · · A.· ·No.

·4· · · Q.· ·And at least based upon this criteria, if

·5 I'm correct that Winnemucca is situated at more than

·6 1,300 meters above sea level, a patient would be

·7 excluded, at least under this study?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·Do you find it to be surprising that a

10 child who is in the emergency department after a

11 stressful event has an elevated heart rate?

12· · · A.· ·No.

13· · · Q.· ·Am I understanding your criticisms

14 correctly that one of your criticism is that

15 Dr. Lasry did not document that the heart rate was

16 tachycardic?

17· · · A.· ·One of them.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· But it is documented -- is it not?

19 -- in the medical records that the heart rate was

20 tachycardic.

21· · · A.· ·Not in his physician note.

22· · · Q.· ·That wasn't my question.

23· · · · · ·My question was:· Is it document ed in

24 patient's medical records from Humboldt General

25 Hospital emergency department that the heart rate
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·1 was tachycardic?

·2· · · A.· ·I would have to review them entirely to

·3 see if there is a Humboldt nurse or other assessment

·4 that made such a distinction.

·5· · · Q.· ·Sure.· Turn to page 74.

·6· · · A.· ·Page 74.· Tachycardia under the general

·7 subjective vital signs, document ed by Cristal

·8 Fimbre Espinosa.

·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So you see that it's document ed in

10 tachycardia?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·If you can turn back to page 72, which you

13 were discussing with Mr. Shogren?· Let me know when

14 you're at that page.

15· · · A.· ·I'm at that page.

16· · · Q.· ·Next to the peripheral pulse rate and the

17 BPM, there's a reference range.· Do you see that?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·The reference range is 70 to 100.· Do you

20 see that?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sorry.· Can you

23 redirect to that page again, please.

24· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yep.· 72.

25· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.
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·1 BY MS. HUETH:

·2· · · Q.· ·And the reference range is 70 to 100.· Do

·3 you see that?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·But, based upon your testimony for a

·6 three year old, the, I guess, reference range goes

·7 up to 140; is that true?

·8· · · A.· ·Reference range and percentiles are not

·9 the same thing.

10· · · Q.· ·Do you have any information to indicate

11 that this reference range if for a pediatric patient

12 and not an adult patient?

13· · · A.· ·I don't have any information on that

14 either way.

15· · · Q.· ·When you told Mr. Shogren that the little

16 h was indicating that this pulse rate was high for a

17 patient of this age, do you have any information to

18 indicate that high is actually adjusted for a

19 pediatric patient?

20· · · A.· ·No.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.

22· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· Ma'am.· I'm so sorry to

23 interrupt.· I just got a prompt that says I am now

24 the host.· And I -- yeah.· I'm not sure if something

25 -- I didn't touch anything, but apparently I'm the
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·1 host now.· And the investigator wants to be let in.

·2· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· You better let

·3 her in and see what happens.

·4· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· Okay.

·5· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Maybe she'll

·6 take it back from you.· We may have to log out and

·7 log back in.

·8· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, just let us know when that's

·9 resolved, please.

10· · · · · ·While we're waiting, Ms. Hueth, I'll just

11 note that it's your cross-examination, and so I will

12 let you direct the flow that works for you.· It's

13 nearly lunchtime, and I don't want to direct that on

14 your behalf, so you let us know when a good time

15 would be to break.

16· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I mean, I'm happy to break any

17 time.· The only thing is -- I don't know if the

18 doctor has time limitations that he needs to be done

19 by a certain time.· Otherwise, I'm happy to defer to

20 the group about when to take a break.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well, and

22 Mr. Shogren, I don't know if you're planning to

23 retain Dr. Glissmeyer for potential rebuttal and not

24 release him.· I don't know what all your

25 considerations are.
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·1· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I can just speak for myself

·2 and say that I do not any obligations on the rest of

·3 this working day today.

·4· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.· And I just want to say

·5 it looks like the technical difficult is fixed.

·6· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So,

·7 Ms. Hueth, again, I'm going to defer you because I

·8 don't want you to stop in a spot that works for you,

·9 given you're in the middle of your cross.

10· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· We've had a brief break, and

11 this is good as a time as any, if everyone is ready

12 for a lunch break, I'm happy to do so now.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· If you had to

14 go to another break point, how long do you think you

15 would be?

16· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Maybe 30 minutes.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Dr. Glissmeyer,

18 would you be fine going another 30 minutes.

19· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.

20· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And

21 Ms. Court Reporter?

22· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· Yes.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· I just

24 want to get as much under our belt as possible.

25 It's still -- it's not quite noon.· And then we
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·1 didn't start at 8:30, and we started later than

·2 that.

·3· · · · · ·So with that, Ms. Court Reporter, could

·4 you please read the last question and answer and we

·5 will go from there.

·6· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· I was afraid you were going

·7 to ask me that.· I was distracted by all the

·8 prompts.· So what I am going to do is play them for

·9 you.· If you could just stand by one second.

10· · · · · ·(Audio played.)

11· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Go ahead, Ms.

12 Hueth.

13· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

14 BY MS. HUETH:

15· · · Q.· ·Dr. Glissmeyer, turning now to Dr. Lasry's

16 documented physician exam, which is on Bates stamp

17 NSBME 034.

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry did perform a physician exam of

20 the patient; true?

21· · · A.· ·It's document ed.

22· · · Q.· ·And at least according to his

23 document ation of time of his examination, the

24 patient did not appear to be in distress, and she

25 was asking for juice?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry also documented his examination

·3 of left knee; true?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·And it was noted that there was no

·6 significant edema, no streaking, no skin necrosis,

·7 no peripheral edema, and then goes on to describe

·8 other negative findings; true?

·9· · · A.· ·At that time, yes.

10· · · Q.· ·Did you see anything in the medical

11 records to indicate that upon arrival to the

12 emergency department at Humboldt General Hospital

13 that the patient had muscle weakness?

14· · · A.· ·No.

15· · · Q.· ·Did you see anything in the medical

16 records to indicate that upon arrival to Humboldt

17 General Hospital that the patient was unable to move

18 her left leg?

19· · · A.· ·No.

20· · · Q.· ·Do you feel like the records were legible?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·At any time while the patient was in the

23 emergency department at Humboldt General Hospital is

24 it documented that she had muscle weakness?

25· · · A.· ·No.
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·1· · · · · ·It's also not document ed that did not,

·2 such as any measurement of her negative inspiratory

·3 force or assessment of her strength.

·4· · · Q.· ·And that's true of the documentation by

·5 the nurses as well?

·6· · · A.· ·I don't -- I'm looking right now.· I don't

·7 recall if the document ation about the patient's leg

·8 movement was by nurses or by other providers, such

·9 as the EMS providers later or someone else.

10· · · Q.· ·While the patient was in the emergency

11 department at Humboldt General Hospital, did you see

12 any document ation by anyone that the patient was

13 unable to move the leg?

14· · · A.· ·I don't think so, no.

15· · · Q.· ·In a patient with systemic envenomization,

16 would you expect to see low platelets?

17· · · A.· ·It is all depends when the labs were

18 drawn.· It's a time-dependent thing.

19· · · Q.· ·Can we please turn to Exhibit 11, which is

20 another one of the articles you provided.

21 Specifically, Bates stamp page 130?

22· · · A.· ·I'm there.

23· · · Q.· ·And under --

24· · · A.· ·-- clarifying question?

25· · · Q.· ·Excuse me?
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·1· · · A.· ·Can I just ask a clarifying question?

·2· · · Q.· ·Sure.

·3· · · A.· ·You're referring to this exhibit, yet

·4 earlier, you pointed out that document was written

·5 after the evaluation by Dr. Lasry.

·6· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I imagine she

·7 will put that in context in her question.

·8 Otherwise, can be an argument as to weight that

·9 Mr. Shogren can raise.

10· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Okay.· Thank you.

11· · · · · ·Go ahead.

12 BY MS. HUETH:

13· · · Q.· ·And, Doctor, let me try and ask a

14 clarifying question:· Was this an article that you

15 found and you provided to the Investigative

16 Committee?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·And why did you do that?

19· · · A.· ·To support my recommendation

20 that antivenom should have been administered.

21· · · Q.· ·All right.· So you felt like this article

22 and the opinions contained therein support your

23 opinions with respect to this patient's care; true?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so it's says "Administer
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·1 antivenom for any of the following," and then the

·2 third bullet point says "Significant or progressive

·3 hematologic toxicity, abnormalities that are

·4 particularly worrisome, include fibrinogen of less

·5 than 50 milligrams or platelets less than 50,000."

·6 Did I read that correctly?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·And this patient's platelets were normal;

·9 true?

10· · · A.· ·True.

11· · · Q.· ·Her creatinine level was also normal?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·And her CK, which was another one of the

14 labs, the creatin kinase, that was also normal?

15· · · A.· ·Yes.

16· · · Q.· ·There was no evidence rhabdomyolysis?

17· · · A.· ·Not at that time of the lab, no.

18· · · Q.· ·When it has the lab sample collected?

19· · · A.· ·Let's see.· The creatin kinase was

20 collected -- I know it was ordered at 16:31 hours on

21 May 9.· It's not entirely clear to me exactly when

22 it was collected, but sometime after that order.

23· · · Q.· ·If you turn to Exhibit 6, page 68, Bates

24 stamp page 68.

25· · · A.· ·Thank you.
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·1· · · · · ·So, yeah, so all these labs, the CBC, the

·2 comprehensive metabolic panel, the coagulation test,

·3 PTINR, PTT, collected at 17:00.

·4· · · Q.· ·So five o'clock?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Several hours after the snakebite; true?

·7· · · A.· ·I wouldn't say several.· The snakebite --

·8 let's see.· 3:56 was when the EMS providers arrived

·9 on the scene.· 2:56 was the time estimated the

10 patient was bit.· So between 2:56 and 5:00 P.M., so

11 two hours and four minutes.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And going back to Exhibit 11, the

13 article that you provided because you felt it

14 supported you opinions, on page 130.· If you can let

15 me know when you have that in front of you.

16· · · A.· ·I have it.

17· · · Q.· ·Under what I just read, it goes on to say

18 "Minimal hematologic" -- excuse me.· "Lab

19 abnormalities, e.g., isolated fibrinogen levels

20 between 100 and 150, in an otherwise well-appearing

21 patient, warrant serial testing, but not treatment

22 with antivenom."· Did I read that correctly?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·If we can turn, please, to Exhibit 12?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Is that an article that you also provided

·2 to the Investigative Committee?

·3· · · A.· ·Yes.

·4· · · Q.· ·Did you provide this article because you

·5 felt like it supported your opinions in this case?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·The Wilderness Medical Society practice

·8 guidelines, do they establish the standard of care

·9 for an emergency medicine doctor, in your opinion?

10· · · A.· ·They are one of the resources that

11 establish the standard of care.

12· · · Q.· ·Within this document, on page 139, there

13 is the table, table 3 is entitled "Laboratory and

14 Diagnostic Testing for Snakebite Evaluation."· Do

15 you see that?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·And it says "Fibrinogen most specific for

18 coagulopathy.· Important to obtain measured, but not

19 calculated level."· Did I read that correctly?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·What's coagulopathy?

22· · · A.· ·That's the blood either not clotting or

23 clotting too readily.

24· · · Q.· ·And what is the significance of that when

25 evaluating a patient after a snakebite?
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·1· · · A.· ·Oh, it's one of many ways in which their

·2 body systems can be deranged?

·3· · · Q.· ·And what significance, if any, does

·4 whether or not a patient has signs of coagulopathy

·5 have after a snakebite?

·6· · · A.· ·Whether they have it or not doesn't mean

·7 they were bitten or not bitten.

·8· · · Q.· ·Does it give you any information as to

·9 whether there's systemic envenomization occurring?

10· · · A.· ·Could be one of the indications, but it's

11 not the only indication of systemic envenomization?

12· · · Q.· ·Sure.· Did you think I was asking if it

13 was the only indication of systemic envenomization?

14· · · A.· ·I wanted to be clear of what my answer

15 was.

16· · · Q.· ·This patient's fibrinogen level was

17 normal; was it not?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Right above that, with respect to

20 the PTINR, PTT is says "Evaluate for coagulopathy

21 (INR is most useful)."· Did I read that correctly?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·And this patient's INR was also normal;

24 true?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Just before, maybe, we break for lunch, if

·2 you turn to the next page, which is NSBME 140, and

·3 on the right side of that page, the right column,

·4 maybe about half way down in this article that you

·5 provided because you felt it was helpful, it says

·6 "All patients receiving antivenom should be admitted

·7 to the hospital for further observation, maintenance

·8 antivenom dosing, and repeat laboratory testing

·9 until abnormalities resolved"; true?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·"Manufacturer recommended maintenance

12 dosing includes two vials of antivenom every

13 six hours for three consecutive doses"; true?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·So that would be over the course of

16 18 hours; true?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.

19· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· For me, this is a good time to

20 break.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Is

22 everyone fine with that?

23· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.

24· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And how

25 long would everyone like to break?· At least an
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·1 hour?· Do you need more?

·2· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I don't need more, but I was

·3 going to request that I can -- my client and I can

·4 rejoin the Zoom, but from my office.· I'm just

·5 having a little trouble hearing with the laptop here

·6 that the Board generously set up for us.

·7· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I want to make

·8 sure that you get lunch, that you get refreshed, and

·9 that you have travel time.· So what works for you

10 for a time to reconvene?

11· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· No more than an hour and a

12 half would be needed more me.· And I could even do

13 less, if that's everyone's preference.

14· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So right now

15 an hour would be -- a little more than an hour would

16 be 1:15.· Would 1:30 be more helpful?

17· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· It would for me, as long as

18 it's okay with everybody.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· I see

20 it's good with Dr. Glissmeyer.

21· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren?

22· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· That's fine.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

24· · · · · ·Ms. Smith?

25· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· Just tell me when to be
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·1 back, and I'll be here.

·2· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· We'll

·3 back at 1:30, everyone.· Thank you.

·4· · · · · ·(Lunch recess from 12:08 P.M. to 1:30

·5· · · · · ·P.M.)

·6· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're going

·7 back on the record.· This is case number 23-29251-1,

·8 In the Matter of Charges and Complaint Against Jason

·9 Howard Lasry, M.D.· We have left off with the

10 cross-examination of Dr. Glissmeyer, who is present

11 and remains under oath.· All parties are present.

12 We've had a lunch break.· It is now 1:31, and we

13 will the proceedings.

14· · · · · ·Ms. Heuth, you may continue.

15· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

16 BY MS. HUETH:

17· · · Q.· ·Doctor, over the lunch break, did you have

18 an opportunity to speak with Mr. Shogren regarding

19 your testimony?

20· · · A.· ·I have not had any communication with him.

21· · · Q.· ·If we can turn back to Exhibit 6, which is

22 the Humboldt General Hospital medical records, and

23 specifically page 35, please.· Let me know when

24 you're there.

25· · · A.· ·I'm there.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry, you would agree, assessed the

·2 patient on multiple occasions, at least as far as

·3 his document ation; true?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·And when he reassessed the patient, he

·6 noted that there was increasing edema and swelling

·7 at the site of her envenomization, and there's

·8 approximately 25 percent more edema in the radius of

·9 circle of swelling; true?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·The patient remained -- excuse me.· Let me

12 take a step back.

13· · · · · ·Dr. Lasry notes that the patient is doing

14 well, she's watching a movie, she is awake and

15 talking; true?

16· · · A.· ·That's what's stated.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You're not aware of any information

18 to suggestion that that's false, are you?

19· · · A.· ·No.

20· · · Q.· ·On the same page, it's document ed that

21 Dr. Lasry had a conversation with Dr. Thorp

22 regarding admitting the patient; true?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·And that Dr. Thorp was not comfortable

25 accepting admission and preferred that the patient
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·1 be transferred to a facility with a higher level of

·2 care; true?

·3· · · A.· ·Yes.

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You're not of the opinion -- are

·5 you? -- that Dr. Lasry didn't think this patient

·6 would ever need antivenom.

·7· · · A.· ·No.

·8· · · Q.· ·Because Dr. Lasry document that, while he

·9 did not think antivenom indicated at that time, it

10 may be required or indicated at a future time;

11 correct?

12· · · A.· ·Correct.

13· · · Q.· ·Ultimately, it's Dr. Thorp's decision

14 whether or not to accept admission of this patient;

15 true?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Once Dr. Thorp declines the admission,

18 Dr. Lasry then calls the emergency department

19 physician a Renown; correct?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·And we heard the recording earlier, and

22 Dr. Lasry told the ER physician at Renown that he

23 was on the fence regarding the administration of

24 antivenom.· Do you recall that?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·But that he did not think the

·2 administration of antivenom was an emergency at that

·3 time; true?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·And during that conversation between what

·6 we heard via the audio recording and what's

·7 document ed at least, the ER physician at Renown did

·8 not battery express any concern or suggest that

·9 antivenom be started before the patient's transfer;

10 true?

11· · · A.· ·With the information that physician was

12 presented, true.

13· · · Q.· ·Well, did you hear in that recording the

14 physician ask for more information?

15· · · A.· ·No.

16· · · Q.· ·Did the ER physician at Renown ask for the

17 patient's vital signs?

18· · · A.· ·No.

19· · · Q.· ·Did the ER physician at Renown express

20 concern about transferring the patient via ground

21 ambulance as opposed to air?

22· · · A.· ·No.

23· · · Q.· ·So, at least based upon the document ation

24 as well as what we've heard, there's evidence that

25 Dr. Lasry spoke with two other physicians regarding
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·1 this patient while she was in the emergency

·2 department at Humboldt General Hospital; true?

·3· · · A.· ·True.

·4· · · Q.· ·Ultimately, consent to transfer the

·5 patient via air belonged to the patient's mother,

·6 given her age; is that true?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·If you can please turn to page 27.· Let me

·9 know when you're there.

10· · · A.· ·Yes, I'm there.

11· · · Q.· ·This is the Physician's Certification and

12 Patient Transfer Form; correct?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·And on the left side, maybe a third of the

15 way down, do you see the box where it says "Family

16 notified"?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·And then below that, it says "Family

19 going," and "Y" is circled.· Do you see that?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Does that indicate to you that the family

22 was going to go in the ambulance with the patient

23 during transfer?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·The box underneath, that the first line is
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·1 "allergies."· Do you see that?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·And then at the bottom of the box, it's

·4 signed by a nurse; true?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Would this indicate to you that the nurse

·7 fills out at least this portion of the form?

·8· · · A.· ·I don't know about filling it out.

·9 Responsible for its content, I would say yes.

10· · · Q.· ·That the nurse is responsible for the

11 content of this box of the form?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And there's no blood pressure

14 noted?

15· · · A.· ·Yes, there's not.

16· · · Q.· ·Temperature, 36.6, is that normal?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Her oxygen saturation of 96 percent,

19 normal?

20· · · A.· ·Yes, normal.

21· · · Q.· ·And what was that patient's pain scale?

22· · · A.· ·Zero.

23· · · Q.· ·On a scale of zero to ten, ten being the

24 highest?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·If you can turn to Exhibit 12, page 139,

·2 and let me when you're there.

·3· · · A.· ·I am there.

·4· · · Q.· ·On the left column of that page at the

·5 bottom, the last sentence in the paragraph states

·6 "From minor envenomization, patients should be

·7 observed for 12 to 24 hours, and have repeat

·8 laboratory studies every four to six hours."· Did I

·9 read that correctly?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·Then it goes on to state "Patients with

12 moderate to severe envenomization should receive

13 antivenom, be admitted to the hospital, and have

14 repeat laboratory studies within four hours hours of

15 the initial set."· Did I read that correctly?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·But at the time -- and the reason that the

18 patient had to be transferred, in part at least, was

19 because Dr. Thorp did not accept admission of

20 patient; true?

21· · · A.· ·I think that's part of the reason, yes.

22· · · Q.· ·Well, and at least according to what we

23 just read, even if Dr. Lasry felt antivenom was

24 indicated, the patient would need to be admitted;

25 true?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Do you have an understanding or any

·3 information to suggest that Humboldt General

·4 Hospital had the capability or the resources to keep

·5 this patient in the emergency department for

·6 24 hours to monitor her and re-dose antivenom, if

·7 necessary?

·8· · · A.· ·No.

·9· · · Q.· ·And, Doctor, you're not offering the

10 opinion that if a toxicologist was consulted, it

11 would have led to a different result in this case,

12 are you?

13· · · A.· ·I am offering that opinion.

14· · · Q.· ·And what do you base that on?

15· · · A.· ·Based on the criteria to give antivenom in

16 patients with evidence of systemic toxicity and

17 local swelling.

18· · · Q.· ·And earlier you, in answering questions by

19 Mr. Shogren, testified that the evidence of systemic

20 envenomization in this case was the tachycardia; is

21 that right?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·The hypotension?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·And the progression of the swelling?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· While the patient was in the

·3 emergency department at Humboldt General Hospital,

·4 there's no evidence of airway swelling, was there?

·5· · · A.· ·No.

·6· · · Q.· ·No evidence of respiratory depression?

·7· · · A.· ·No.

·8· · · Q.· ·No evidence of respiratory compromise?

·9· · · A.· ·No.

10· · · Q.· ·No evidence of weakness in breathing?

11· · · A.· ·It was not tested.

12· · · Q.· ·And the test for that was called what,

13 again?

14· · · A.· ·Negative inspiratory force.

15· · · Q.· ·And how's that tested?

16· · · A.· ·With a simple hand-held device that you

17 suck in while putting your mouth around.· And if you

18 can suck in about 20 centimeters of water, you have

19 normal strength of inspiration.

20· · · Q.· ·Do you have any information to suggest

21 whether or not in the emergency department at

22 Humboldt General Hospital on May 9th, 2020, that

23 they had the device to test the negative inspiratory

24 force?

25· · · A.· ·No.
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·1· · · Q.· ·No document ation that the patient was

·2 having to use her accessory muscles to breathe, is

·3 there?

·4· · · A.· ·No.

·5· · · · · ·I will point out that patients with

·6 respiratory weakness don't have evidence of working

·7 hard to breathe.

·8· · · Q.· ·In the medical records from the emergency

·9 department at Humboldt General Hospital, there's no

10 evidence that the swelling progressed past the

11 patient's ankle, is there?

12· · · A.· ·So it progressed on to the thigh and lower

13 leg.· I'm not sure what you mean by past their

14 ankle.· Do you mean on to their foot?

15· · · Q.· ·Going down past that ankle?

16· · · A.· ·No.· No, I don't think there is.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Earlier you testified -- correct me

18 if I'm wrong -- that the development of redness or

19 bruising can vary among patients?

20· · · A.· ·Correct.

21· · · Q.· ·And it can take hours after a snakebite

22 for that bruising to develop?

23· · · A.· ·Correct.

24· · · Q.· ·And earlier you testified that mottling is

25 color changes to the skin; true?
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·1· · · A.· ·Correct.

·2· · · Q.· ·Turning back to the medical records

·3 contained within Exhibit 6, and specifically

·4 page 79.

·5· · · A.· ·Okay.

·6· · · Q.· ·According to this note, the patient's care

·7 was turned over to paramedics at 18:24; true?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·And if you go to page 84.· Are you there?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

12· · · · · ·The paramedics document that the patient

13 was alert and acting normal for her age; correct?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·That she was speed to her mother with

16 clear sentences, with no signs of respiratory

17 distress; true?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·The skin assessment, it says "skin," and

20 there's a negative sign.· Do you see that?

21· · · A.· ·Yes, I see that.

22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you understand that to mean that

23 there was no signs, with respect to the skin

24 assessment, that it was cold or cyanotic?

25· · · A.· ·So, that indicates to me that, except for
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·1 what is document ed in the extremities, that is

·2 true.

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Well, the subcategory specifically

·4 relates to skin; true?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·And then there's a negative sign, and then

·7 it goes on to say "negative, hot, jaundice,

·8 lividity, mottled, pale"; correct?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes, that's what it says.

10· · · Q.· ·Earlier you testified that hypotension in

11 a patient of this age, three years old, looking at

12 top number is when the top number is below 70; is

13 that right?

14· · · A.· ·In a child this age, below 76.

15· · · Q.· ·Below 76.

16· · · · · ·At least according to paramedics, the

17 potassium was discontinued due to hypotension; true?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·And then on page 83,three we see in the

20 blood pressure goes up at 19:38.· Do you see that?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·Now the top number is above 76, so it's no

23 longer hypotensive; true?

24· · · A.· ·That's right.

25· · · Q.· ·And remains above 76 for almost two hours
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·1 until 21:17; true?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You mentioned that your

·4 interpretation at least of the paramedics' skin

·5 assessment is it's negative, except for what's

·6 document ed in the extremities portion; is that

·7 right?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you read this into the record

10 earlier, but in the extremities, it starts with

11 "Patient had two puncture marks on the anterior left

12 knee."· Do you see that?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then it goes on, skipping a few

15 sentences ahead, to say "Currently, swelling was

16 extended to the entire extremity.· The patient's

17 upper leg was approximately three times the size of

18 opposite leg."· Did I read that correctly?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·The fact that the upper leg was

21 document ed as being three times the size of the

22 opposite leg by the paramedics, did you see anything

23 document ed by the nurses at Humboldt General

24 Hospital that reflected that?

25· · · A.· ·I saw it document ed by the nurses --
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·1 well, increasing swelling.· Nothing specifically by

·2 the nurses as three times the size of the opposite

·3 leg, but increasing swelling is document ed by the

·4 nurses.· As also by Dr. Lasry's note.

·5· · · Q.· ·On the next page, page 85, you were asked

·6 to read into the record, in the third paragraph

·7 under the narrative, "ER RN noted that the patient's

·8 leg had swollen to three times the size while in the

·9 ER."· Do you recall reading that into the record?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.· This is from the EMS note.

11· · · Q.· ·Right.· And as we just discussed, there's

12 nowhere where an ER nurse document s that leg had

13 swollen to three times the size; true?

14· · · A.· ·In those words, true.

15· · · Q.· ·Would you agree that the standard of care

16 is what a reasonable physician would do in similar

17 circumstances?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Would you agree that whether or not a

20 doctor complied with the standard of care is

21 determined prospectively, not retrospectively?

22· · · A.· ·That question doesn't make sense to me

23 because you can't determine what someone's actions

24 were before those actions happen.

25· · · Q.· ·That's fair enough.
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·1· · · · · ·Would you right agree that the standard of

·2 care should be determined without using hindsight?

·3· · · A.· ·I think that the actions of a physician

·4 should be judged independent of the final outcome.

·5· · · Q.· ·And the actions of the physician should be

·6 judged based upon the information that the physician

·7 had available to him or her at the time of their

·8 care?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.· Yes, with a caveat, if I could add

10 that caveat, that you actually obtain the

11 information you should on a patient you care for.

12· · · Q.· ·Sure.· My point, though, is that the fact

13 that this patient had a terrible result, that the

14 patient -- it was devastating, we'd all agree, that

15 the patient died, that the fact that the patient

16 died, alone, does establish that Dr. Lasry breached

17 the standard of care; would you agree with that?

18· · · A.· ·Absolutely.

19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· If you could turn to Exhibit 12?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·This is the article you provided from

22 Wilderness Medical Society; correct?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·And this was published in 2015; correct?

25· · · A.· ·Correct.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Has there been any updates or revisions to

·2 this since 2015?

·3· · · A.· ·There wasn't at the time that I looked

·4 when reviewing this case.· I don't know about since

·5 then.· So, not at least through 2021, I think, or

·6 2022.

·7· · · Q.· ·Had you ever seen this article before you

·8 were working on this case?

·9· · · A.· ·I had, yeah.· This is one of the articles

10 reviewed in some teaching that I did, just informal

11 teaching with our fellows about pit viper

12 envenomization in our emergency department.

13· · · Q.· ·Are you member of the Wilderness Medical

14 Society?

15· · · A.· ·No.

16· · · Q.· ·On page 132, under the introduction, about

17 half way through, it states "These guidelines should

18 assist in clinical decision-making, but a cookbook

19 approach is often insufficient, as each patient is

20 unique and may respond differently to therapeutics."

21 Do you agree with that?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·It goes on to say "Physicians must use

24 their experience and frequently clinical assessments

25 to apply these recommendations to their individual
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·1 patients."· Did I read that correctly?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·If you can please turn to Exhibit 8, and

·4 specifically page 100.· Let me know when you're

·5 there.

·6· · · A.· ·I'm there.

·7· · · Q.· ·The second to last full paragraph on that

·8 page states: "In the ambulance, her mental status

·9 worsened.· She became obtended and was snoring,

10 which is unusual for her."· Did I read that

11 correctly?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Did you see anywhere in the paramedics'

14 records reflecting that the patient was snoring?

15· · · A.· ·Not in those words, specifically, but in

16 patients who are snoring when there's a possibility

17 of them having ineffective breathing, ineffective

18 breathing is an example of snoring breathing, or

19 rather snoring breathing is an example of

20 ineffective breathing.

21· · · · · ·And that's document ed on page 85 of

22 Exhibit 6, in the EMS records.· So the exact same

23 word isn't used, but I think that's an immaterial

24 differentiator.· Yeah.

25· · · Q.· ·So -- do I understand you correctly? --
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·1 what you're saying is that snoring is a type of

·2 effect ineffective breathing.

·3· · · A.· ·Yes.

·4· · · Q.· ·And --

·5· · · A.· ·-- talking about -- to be really clear,

·6 almost everyone snores -- right? -- and they snore

·7 when they sleep.

·8· · · · · ·That's -- when you're talking about a

·9 patient become obtended and was snoring, that's not

10 talking about a sleeping patient that can be

11 aroused.· Obtended is unarousable, not any level of

12 restorable consciousness through stimulation.

13· · · · · ·So, it's imprecise language here, but this

14 is not referring to normal sleeping snoring.· And,

15 therefore, that's why I'm concluding that.· But I --

16 yeah.· Enough said.

17· · · Q.· ·The next sentence "Transport team

18 initiated bag-mask ventilation for the last few

19 minutes" -- which is in quotation marks -- "of

20 transport."· Do you see that?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·Do you have any reason to dispute that?

23· · · A.· ·No.

24· · · Q.· ·You were asked a bit about Exhibit 9,

25 which is the Certificate of Death?
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·1· · · A.· ·When we referred to it earlier, we weren't

·2 referring to Exhibit 9; we were referring to the

·3 transcript of it in the Renown record in Exhibit 8,

·4 but go ahead.

·5· · · Q.· ·Well, did I understand you correctly when

·6 you testified earlier that this was one of the

·7 documents that you reviewed when you received

·8 materials for this case?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.

10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And on the bottom right, box

11 number 26, do you see that?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·It says "autopsy, yes"; correct?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·And then the next box "Was case referred

16 to coroner," it says "yes"; correct?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· The autopsy report, that is not

19 contained within any of the Exhibit s in front of

20 you, is it?

21· · · A.· ·No.

22· · · Q.· ·Can you please turn the Exhibit 13, page

23 153, and let me know when you're there?

24· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can you repeat

25 that again, please.
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·1· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Sure.· Exhibit 13, page 153.

·2· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

·3· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I am there now.

·4 BY MS. HUETH:

·5· · · Q.· ·And this is another one of the articles

·6 that you provided because you felt like it supported

·7 your opinions?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·This particular article by UpToDate

10 indicates the literature review was current through

11 October of 2022; is that right?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·And this topic was last updated August 1,

14 2022; true?

15· · · A.· ·Yes.

16· · · Q.· ·So it was updated two years after

17 Patient A's care; correct?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·But on page 153, it maybe the second to

20 last full paragraph, starts with "Additional

21 observation experience suggests that untreated

22 Crotalinae envenomization is rarely fatal in regions

23 where cooperhead bites predominate, but can be life

24 or limb threatening," and this it goes on to say

25 "For example, an observational study of 81 adult and
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·1 pediatric patients who were managed without

·2 antivenom therapy after snakebite, 45 copperhead, 12

·3 water moccasin, 10 rattlesnake, and 14 unknown,

·4 reported no fatalities or long term morbidity";

·5 correct?

·6· · · A.· ·I -- that is what it says.

·7· · · Q.· ·And, again, this was an article that you

·8 provided because you felt like it was helpful and

·9 supported you opinions?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.· The region where this occurred is

11 not a region where copperhead snakebites

12 predominate.

13· · · Q.· ·Sure.· And I wasn't trying to suggest that

14 it was, but that observational study at least

15 included ten rattlesnake bits, and the patient's

16 were managed without antivenom and none of them

17 died; correct?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.· In that study, that's representing

19 about 15 percent or so percent of all the snakes,

20 but yes.

21· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Just one moment.· Those are

22 all the questions I have for now.· Thank you.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren,

24 redirect?

25· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes, just a couple follow-up
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·1 questions.

·2· · · · · · · · ·REDIRECT EXAMINATION

·3 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·4· · · Q.· ·Dr. Glissmeyer, your experience and

·5 knowledge, when should antivenom be administered to

·6 snakebite victims?

·7· · · A.· ·As early as the patient demonstrates one

·8 of three things: evidence of systemic toxicity as

·9 defined by abnormalities in vital signs that

10 persist, evidence of --

11· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Just go slowly

12 because I want to -- it's hard for me to write all

13 these medical terms quickly.

14· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I can stop and wait.

15· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So,

16 you're saying antivenom should be administered --

17· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· As soon as possible.

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· As soon

19 as possible when there are signs of?

20· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Of one of three things.· The

21 first being signs of systemic toxicity as evidence

22 by vital -- persistent vital sign abnormalities.

23 Number two -- this is any one of these three.

24 Number two, signs of progressive swelling as it

25 monitored progressively in the patient or over time.
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·1· · · · · ·Four, the laboratory abnormalities that

·2 we've discussed, particularly the things like the

·3 low platelets, elevated INR, abnormal fibrinogen

·4 level.· There's others too.

·5 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·6· · · Q.· ·And why should antivenom be administered

·7 as soon as possible if one of those three things

·8 presents itself?

·9· · · A.· ·To prevent local tissue damage and

10 mortality.

11· · · Q.· ·And just to be clear, could you turn to

12 page 153, which is Exhibit 13 of the Board's

13 Exhibit s here?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·First, could you read the very last

16 sentence of -- on page 153?· This is the article

17 that you relied on; correct?

18· · · A.· ·One of them.

19· · · Q.· ·Yes.

20· · · A.· ·In addition, the clinician should provide

21 pain control and monitor for and be ready to manage

22 hypotension, bleeding, rhabdomyolysis, elevated

23 tissue, and/or compartment pressures, and, rarely,

24 respiratory failure.

25· · · Q.· ·In your opinion, why should the clinician
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·1 monitor for hypotension?

·2· · · A.· ·It's one of the cardinal vital signs that

·3 all patients should have monitored in the emergency

·4 department, measured at least once.· Low blood

·5 pressure, especially in this setting, is a sign of

·6 shock and a sign of systemic toxicity.

·7· · · Q.· ·Just in general, in your experience, what

·8 are some signs of shock or symptoms of shock?

·9· · · A.· ·So the earliest and most sensitive or the

10 ones that appear most early are elevated heart rate.

11 A later vital sign that becomes abnormal more later

12 is a low blood pressure.

13· · · · · ·Other clinical signs or examination

14 finding signs of shock include poor profusion, which

15 is measured multiple ways, including by how strong a

16 patient's pulses are.· If they're weak, that's

17 concerning for poor profusion.· Or their capillary

18 refill, which is a physical exam measurement of how

19 quickly the normal skin color returns after using

20 the examiner's finger or thumb to push on the skin,

21 have it turn a little lighter color because you're

22 pushing the blood out of the skin, and then watching

23 that come back.· If that is prolonged longer than

24 three or so seconds, that's concerning for poor

25 profusion.
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·1· · · · · ·And then other findings, such as -- would

·2 be caused by poor blood flow through the body, such

·3 as a patient being confused or sleepy.· Such as a

·4 patient having poor urine output and other findings

·5 that would be found later on over monitoring of a

·6 longer period of time than is usually done in the

·7 emergency department.

·8· · · · · ·And then other laboratory findings too

·9 that are not usually abnormal at first, but become

10 more abnormal with time in settings of shock, like

11 the ones we reviewed in this case, like signs of

12 liver damage with liver enzyme elevations and many

13 other laboratory abnormalities that can only really

14 present over time.

15· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

16· · · · · ·During the cross-examination there, there

17 was mention of -- I think it was called "hindsight

18 bias," which was discussed.· In your own personal

19 experience, your had mentioned previously during the

20 direct examination you had administered antivenom to

21 to multiple patients.· When did you administer it --

22 or how soon after from being bitten did you

23 administer it?

24· · · A.· ·That's fairly variable because some of

25 these patients came to me within an hour of being
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·1 bit, some it was multiple hours, but it was always

·2 within about an hour of the arrival at the emergency

·3 department in my care.

·4· · · Q.· ·And in your own experience, to what extent

·5 do, I guess, the setup of the emergency department,

·6 how does that play into your consideration to

·7 administer antivenom?

·8· · · A.· ·Antivenom can be administered in the most

·9 rural critical access hospital, as well as it can in

10 a cursorary referral or botany referral medical

11 center like the one I practice in.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And just to be clear, based on your

13 review of the records, while at Humboldt, who was

14 the patient's physician?

15· · · A.· ·Jason Lasry.

16· · · Q.· ·Is there any mention of any other

17 attending physicians?

18· · · A.· ·I don't believe so.

19· · · Q.· ·And what -- in your view of the records

20 here, what mention is there of the availability of

21 antivenom?

22· · · A.· ·I don't believe that's mentioned in these

23 records here.

24· · · Q.· ·Based on your review of the records, how

25 is that -- sorry.· I take that back, the question.
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·1· · · · · ·And just to be clear, you touched on this

·2 before, but if you turn to page 79 of the Board's

·3 exhibits.

·4· · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· Which exhibit?

·5· · · Q.· ·Page 79.

·6· · · A.· ·In which exhibit number?· Sorry?

·7· · · Q.· ·I'm sorry.· This is Exhibit 6.

·8· · · A.· ·Thank you.

·9· · · · · ·I'm there.

10· · · Q.· ·Just in general, what are these notes

11 here?· These are --

12· · · A.· ·These are notes of the patient from the

13 emergency department at Humboldt General Hospital,

14 on the date of visit May 9, that were document ed on

15 this page here by the nurse.

16· · · Q.· ·What do these notes say about the

17 swelling?

18· · · A.· ·That it was increasing more and the

19 physician was notified of that.· On three occasions.

20· · · Q.· ·Um-hum.· And -- give me one second here.

21· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I have no further questions.

22· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I just have a few follow-up.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Go ahead,

24 Ms. Heuth.

25· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.
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·1· · · · · · · · ·RECROSS-EXAMINATION

·2 BY MS. HUETH:

·3· · · Q.· ·Doctor, you testified a few moments ago

·4 that a couple of the signs of shock or a sign of

·5 shock is poor profusion as demonstrated by how

·6 strong that pulses are as well as capillary refill;

·7 is that right?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.· Other ways profusion can be

·9 measured.

10· · · Q.· ·And with respect capillary refill, you

11 said "If it takes longer than three seconds, that

12 could suggest poor profusion"; is that right?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·And if you can turn to page 84?

15· · · A.· ·Um-hum.

16· · · Q.· ·And the capillary refill of left lower

17 extremity is document as less than two seconds;

18 correct?

19· · · A.· ·That's what's document ed in EMS notes,

20 yes.

21· · · Q.· ·And where and pulse is document ed as

22 brachial two plus normal, and brachial is where?

23· · · A.· ·I'm just looking to see where that's

24 document ed.· Is that on that same page?

25· · · Q.· ·Yep, right above it.
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·1· · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· Is that in the chest row, or

·2 what row is that in?

·3· · · Q.· ·Right above to capillary refill we were

·4 just looking at.

·5· · · A.· ·Thank you.

·6· · · · · ·Yeah, brachial the upper arm.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay "pedal" refers to where?

·8· · · A.· ·The foot.

·9· · · Q.· ·And that pulse, it's documented "pedal,

10 two plus normal"; is that right?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·Would you agree that the standard of care

13 is objective not subjective?

14· · · A.· ·For signs of systemic toxicity for vital

15 signs abnormalities, it's objective.

16· · · Q.· ·When you were testifying in response to

17 Mr. Shogren's questions about what you've done at

18 your facility, were you intending to suggest that

19 what you do establishes the standard of care?

20· · · A.· ·I do my best to follow published standards

21 of care.· I don't think that my testimony of what I

22 individually do is the standard of care.

23· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· That's all I have.· Thank you.

24· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

25· · · · · ·I have some follow-up questions.
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·1· · · · · EXAMINATION BY THE HEARING OFFICER

·2 BY HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:

·3· · · Q.· ·Of the three things you mentioned for the

·4 basis for the administration of the antivenom -- and

·5 I just want to clear what your testimony is -- are

·6 you relying on persistent vital signs abnormalities?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·And are you relying on signs of

·9 progressive swelling as monitored?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·And are you replying upon laboratory

12 abnormalities?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·And then who -- you touched upon this

15 earlier.· I believe Ms. Heuth asked you this, and

16 you said that it was the parent's decision, ultimate

17 decision about transport?

18· · · A.· ·It's what was document ed in the transfer

19 form signing release -- or rather, parental consent

20 for transfer.

21· · · · · ·How the patient is transferred regardless

22 of what parents want is what -- is in the

23 decision-making ability of the physician.· So

24 whether the patient transferred by ambulance or

25 ground ambulance or air is not the parents'
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·1 decision, but rather the physician's ultimate

·2 responsibility to determine what's best for the

·3 patient.

·4· · · · · ·All physicians, including myself, do take

·5 into account parent wishes, yet we must, and are

·6 obligated to, do what's best for the patient,

·7 regardless of what parents' wishes are about mode of

·8 transport to another facility.

·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And I don't know that this was

10 specifically touched upon, but can you expand to me

11 on the timing of administration of antivenom?

12· · · · · ·I know there's a window and heard -- it

13 eluded to that the administration was not precluded,

14 but obviously it was not given sooner rather than

15 potentially later.

16· · · · · ·And what is the impact of waiting to

17 administer antivenom?

18· · · A.· ·The longer venom in the body and is not

19 neutralized by antivenom, the more damage it does.

20 And so once there are one of criteria met, systemic

21 symptoms, progress swelling, laboratory

22 abnormalities, antivenom should be administered as

23 soon as one of three criteria are met.

24· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Did my

25 questions prompt any questions from counsel?
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·1· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, I'll start with you?

·2· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No questions.

·3· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Heuth, do

·4 you want to follow-up.

·5· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yeah.

·6· · · · · · · · FOLLOW-UP EXAMINATION

·7 BY MS. HUETH:

·8· · · Q.· ·I just wanted to clarify, Doctor, are you

·9 saying that a physician can transfer a minor without

10 the patient consent?

11· · · A.· ·Absolutely.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I do have

14 another question.· I'm sorry.· I wanted to follow-up

15 on this too.· I think I was -- and it was, perhaps,

16 the questioning and not so much the answers that --

17 I'm sure it will get flushed out.

18· · · · · ·It's implied that there was antivenom

19 available, although no one seems to have said that

20 specifically.· Correct me if I'm wrong.

21· · · · · ·And then also I don't hear -- I heard that

22 a patient would have to be admitted to administer

23 the antivenom, but then I heard that the antivenom

24 could be administered in any rural facility

25 without -- I mean, do you see what I'm getting at?



Page 147
·1 Can you clarify that for me, please.

·2· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I think the first question

·3 is not one I should be speaking to.

·4· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Fair

·5 enough.· But that is a concern, so I'm hoping that

·6 will get flushed out.

·7· · · · · ·And then what about the location of

·8 administration and the need to be admitted into a

·9 hospital setting for administration of the

10 antivenom?

11· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· The emergency department is

12 a perfectly appropriate place to administer

13 antivenom.· Patients should be observed and

14 admitted.· That can happen in a variety of settings.

15 Perfectly appropriate to admit them into the

16 hospital, to the regular floor for continued

17 monitoring, but they should be continued to be

18 monitored in some setting after administration of

19 antivenom.

20· · · · · ·But they should not wait to receive

21 antivenom until they are admitted to a hospital.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Does anyone

23 want to follow-up on that?

24· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No questions on my end.

25· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Nothing from me.
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·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

·2 Mr. Shogren, do you want to dismiss Dr. Glissmeyer,

·3 or do you want to have him remain for potential

·4 rebuttal?

·5· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I'm okay with having him

·6 dismissed now.· Well, actually, I believe

·7 Dr. Glissmeyer stated he's set aside today, so he

·8 can, I guess, remain still, just in case to reserve

·9 him.

10· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I would much rather remain

11 available this evening -- this afternoon and early

12 evening here than be called back for some reason

13 tomorrow.

14· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· As a practical matter, I'm not

15 going to be able to finish mine today.· My expert is

16 planning on appearing first thing tomorrow morning.

17 Not that I anticipate that we even get to him today.

18 That's all I would have to, I guess, add, but,

19 obviously, it's up to Mr. Shogren Dr. Glissmeyer

20 whether he wants to stick around on the Zoom.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· All right.

22 Dr. Glissmeyer, you have not been released, so

23 you're subject to being recalled.· You can either

24 stay and continue to watch the proceedings, or you

25 can choose not to.· We will leave that Mr. Shogren
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·1 as to how he wishes to direct you, because I don't

·2 know if he wants you to hear the other testimony so

·3 that you can respond appropriately to it.

·4· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'll do what I'm asked to

·5 do.

·6· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you,

·7 Dr. Glissmeyer.· We appreciate your time.

·8· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, do you have another witness?

·9· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No further witnesses.

10· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Are you resting

11 you case?

12· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So,

14 Ms. Hueth, it's your turn to present your case.· Do

15 you have a witness you can call or a certain order

16 you were going to do it and it's disrupted by the IC

17 resting?

18· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· No disruption.· I am happy to

19 call Dr. Lasry.· Would it be possible to take

20 five minutes to get organize and then proceed?

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yes.· It is

22 2:22 right now, we'll come back at 2:30.

23· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

24· · · · · ·(Recess from 2:22 P.M. to 2:31 P.M.)

25· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on
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·1 the record in case number 23-29251-1, In the Matter

·2 of the Charges and Complaint Against Jason Howard

·3 Lasry, M.D.

·4· · · · · ·We ended with Mr. Shogren closing his case

·5 on behalf of IC, subject to rebuttal, and so it's

·6 respondent's opportunity to put his case.· And when

·7 we went off the record, Ms. Hueth said she was going

·8 to call Dr. Lasry.

·9· · · · · ·So if that remain it is case, Dr. Lasry,

10 I'll have you raise your right hand to be sworn.

11· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Ms. Halstead, sorry to

12 interrupt.· There is one housekeeping matter I want

13 to address.· I apologize for interjecting now.

14· · · · · ·After further review, we could dismiss

15 Dr. Glissmeyer.· I don't think he needs to be here

16 for the remainder of today.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank

18 you.

19· · · · · ·Dr. Glissmeyer, you are excused.· Thank

20 you, again, for time your time and your testimony.

21· · · · · ·DR. GLISSMEYER:· Thank you.

22· · · · · ·Can someone tell me what time the

23 proceedings start in the morning, and if I should be

24 on, and, I guess, essentially, what time I should be

25 on?
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·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well,

·2 Mr. Shogren, my understanding was you're releasing

·3 him.· Are you just releasing him for the day, or are

·4 you releasing him as a witness?

·5· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I'm releasing him as a

·6 witness.

·7· · · · · ·So, Dr. Glissmeyer, you don't have to

·8 appear tomorrow.

·9· · · · · ·DR. GLISSMEYER:· Okay.· That's fine.

10 Thank you.· If that were to change, you know how to

11 reach me.

12· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Thank you.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

14· · · · · ·Okay are we good to go back to Ms. Hueth

15 and Dr. Lasry?

16· · · · · ·DR. LASRY:· Yes.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

18 Dr. Lasry, please raise your right hand.

19· · · · · ·(The oath was administered.)

20· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, I do.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I didn't have

22 him state his name and spell his name for the

23 record, but because he's the respondent, I believe

24 we have that information.

25· · · · · ·With that, go ahead, Ms. Hueth.
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·1· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

·2· · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

·3 BY MS. HUETH:

·4· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry, when did you decide that you

·5 wanted to go to medical school?

·6· · · A.· ·I think that was 1993 or so, around that

·7 time.

·8· · · Q.· ·And why did you want to go to medical

·9 school?

10· · · A.· ·I enjoyed the art of helping people.  I

11 have a younger brother who had entered medical

12 school before me, and he told me about his

13 experiences and how much he was enjoying it, and

14 that also helped prompt me to go medical school.

15 Lastly, I was always most interested in the

16 biological sciences, that was my specialty for my

17 undergraduate.

18· · · · · ·So, those are the things that motivated me

19 to go to medical school.

20· · · Q.· ·Where did you medical school?

21· · · A.· ·Sackler School of Medicine, in Tel Aviv

22 University.

23· · · Q.· ·When tell you graduate?

24· · · A.· ·2000.· May 2000.

25· · · Q.· ·After medical school, what did you do next
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·1 in terms of medical education or training?

·2· · · A.· ·I did my undergraduate, or my residency in

·3 emergency medicine at the Orlando Regional Medical

·4 Center in Orlando.

·5· · · Q.· ·And how long was the emergency medicine

·6 residency?

·7· · · A.· ·Three years.

·8· · · Q.· ·Are you board-certified?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes, I am.

10· · · Q.· ·When did you first become board-certified?

11· · · A.· ·2004.

12· · · Q.· ·Have you had to recertify since then?

13· · · A.· ·Yes, I have.

14· · · Q.· ·How frequently do you have to recertify?

15· · · A.· ·It was every ten years.· I believe now

16 it's every five years.

17· · · Q.· ·When did you first become licensed to

18 practice medicine in Nevada?

19· · · A.· ·I believe I originally got my license at

20 the end of 2004.

21· · · Q.· ·And what brought you to Nevada?

22· · · A.· ·I had been living in California, in

23 Pasadena.· I was just -- I had just graduated

24 residency, and the cost of living there was

25 extremely expensive and traffic was a big pain, and
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·1 I heard about an opportunity in Las Vegas.· We came

·2 up for an interview, we visited the city, we enjoyed

·3 it, and we decided to give it a try.

·4· · · Q.· ·When you say "we" --

·5· · · A.· ·Oh, me and my wife.

·6· · · Q.· ·If your wife in the medical field?

·7· · · A.· ·She is.

·8· · · Q.· ·Are you member of any professional

·9 organizations?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·Which ones?

12· · · A.· ·The American Academy of Emergency

13 Medicine, and Physicians for Human Rights.

14· · · Q.· ·What is the American Academy of Emergency

15 Medicine?

16· · · A.· ·It is an organization that works for

17 supporting the rights of emergency physicians, as

18 well as supporting outreach programs to improve the

19 care of emergency patients.

20· · · Q.· ·In May of 2020, were you working at

21 Humboldt General Hospital?

22· · · A.· ·Yes, I was.

23· · · Q.· ·And what type of hospital is Humboldt

24 General?

25· · · A.· ·It's considered a critical access
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·1 hospital.

·2· · · Q.· ·Humboldt General Hospital, where is that

·3 located?

·4· · · A.· ·In the town of Winnemucca.

·5· · · Q.· ·And in your experience, is Humboldt

·6 General Hospital a rural hospital?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes, it is.

·8· · · Q.· ·Prior to May of 2020, had you had occasion

·9 to treat a patient who suffered a snakebite?

10· · · A.· ·Yes, I had.

11· · · Q.· ·Can you estimate on how many occasions

12 prior to May 9, 2020, you had treated a patient

13 after a snakebite?

14· · · A.· ·Approximately 20, 15 to 20 patients.

15· · · Q.· ·Prior to May 9, 2020, of the patients you

16 treated after a snakebite, had you had occasion to

17 administer antivenom?

18· · · A.· ·Yes, I have.

19· · · Q.· ·And on approximately how many occasions?

20· · · A.· ·The majority of them, perhaps two-thirds.

21· · · Q.· ·Do you believe that your care of Patient A

22 complied with the standard of care?

23· · · A.· ·Yes, I do.

24· · · Q.· ·Do you believe that your care was

25 reasonable?
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·1· · · A.· ·Absolutely.

·2· · · Q.· ·Now, I want to talk specifically about

·3 your care of Patient A.· And if you need to refer to

·4 the records, please do.· It's contained within

·5 Exhibit 6.

·6· · · · · ·Turning to Exhibit 6, page 34.

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·Is this your document ation?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes, it is.

10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· When you first evaluated the

11 patient, did you get a history or what brought her

12 emergency department?

13· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

14· · · Q.· ·And from whom?

15· · · A.· ·I think the history was obtained from

16 multiple sources.· There was likely an EMS call that

17 announced that the patient was coming to the ER.

18 There was the reports that I would have obtained

19 from the EMS providers, who gave us additional

20 history.· There's the history that I obtained from

21 the mother.

22· · · · · ·And so I, most likely, gathered the

23 history from multiple sources, whatever was

24 available.

25· · · Q.· ·And on May 9th, 2020, 9th, 2020, was there
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·1 any limitation at Humboldt General Hospital

·2 emergency department of how many people could be in

·3 the ER with a patient?

·4· · · A.· ·So this was COVID time, I believe.· This

·5 was the beginning of COVID, and so we had to -- we

·6 did have limitations on visitors being allowed into

·7 the patient rooms.

·8· · · Q.· ·What were where you told about the history

·9 prior to your evaluation of the patient?

10· · · A.· ·A --

11· · · Q.· ·And I think -- let me back up.· That did

12 not come out articulately.

13· · · · · ·What were you told about the events that

14 took place leading up to the patient's presentation

15 to the emergency department?

16· · · A.· ·That the father had taken Patient A out to

17 somewhere in the wilderness or the desert for an

18 outing.· He had -- he was carrying the patient, he

19 had tried or attempted to put down his daughter, the

20 daughter was bitten on her left knee by the snake.

21 Following that, the father tried to suck out some

22 venom from the wound on his own.· And then I imagine

23 he tried to reach a medical facility.

24· · · · · ·But we were told there was an hour up to

25 an hour and a half between the time of the bite and
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·1 the time of EMS arrival.

·2· · · Q.· ·The History Of Present Illness section of

·3 your document ation, is that a correct recitation of

·4 the information that you obtained from EMS and from

·5 the mom?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·Did you, at the time of your initial

·8 evaluation of the patient, either obtain yourself or

·9 review the patient's vital signs?

10· · · A.· ·Of course.

11· · · Q.· ·Typically in the emergency department, who

12 obtains the patient's vital signs?

13· · · A.· ·The nurses obtain the vital signs.

14 Always.

15· · · Q.· ·At Humboldt General Hospital in the

16 emergency department, were patients put on

17 continuous monitoring?

18· · · A.· ·While often, they were.· In patients that

19 are potentially critically ill, they would usually

20 continuously be monitored throughout the stay.· The

21 majority of patients do get continuous monitoring

22 once we figure out their stay.· Not always because

23 they're critical, but sometimes just for the ease of

24 document ing.

25· · · · · ·For example, if the nurse needs to
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·1 document vital signs every hour, it's easier for her

·2 to just leave a patient on the monitor, and just

·3 look at the monitor to see what the vital signs,

·4 rather than removing all of the leads to determine

·5 the vital signs, rather than replying the leads

·6 every hour to repeat the vital signs.

·7· · · Q.· ·The continuous monitoring, what exactly

·8 would it be monitoring?

·9· · · A.· ·So continuous monitoring would include

10 heart rates, blood pressure, respirations, and

11 oxygen saturation.

12· · · Q.· ·Do you believe that Patient A was on a

13 continuous monitor when she was in the emergency

14 department at Humboldt General?

15· · · A.· ·Yes, I do.· I know she was.

16· · · Q.· ·When you first evaluated the patient, was

17 she tachycardic?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·And what was her heart rate at the time of

20 your initial evaluation?

21· · · A.· ·In my note, it's 149 beats per minute.

22· · · Q.· ·Now did you, on page 34 in your note,

23 document specifically the word "tachycardia" or

24 "tachycardic"?

25· · · A.· ·I don't believe so.



Page 160
·1· · · Q.· ·Why not?

·2· · · A.· ·It's obvious.· I mean, if the heart rate's

·3 fast, it's tachycardic.· It's not some special

·4 interpretation that needs to be made.· It's

·5 something that's just simple and obvious at its

·6 face.

·7· · · Q.· ·In your experience, what is a normal heart

·8 rate for a three year old?

·9· · · A.· ·Oh, in the range of about 110 to 130, or

10 as Dr. Glissmeyer said, 140 beats per minute.

11· · · Q.· ·Does this page 34 also contain your

12 Physician Exam of the patient?

13· · · A.· ·Yes, it does.

14· · · Q.· ·Under the Cardiac section, you documented:

15 Heart has a regular rate and rhythm.

16· · · · · ·Why did you document that the heart has a

17 regular rate if she was tachycardic?

18· · · A.· ·Because tachycardia does not talk about if

19 the rate is regular or irregular.

20· · · · · ·Regular means that there's regular

21 intervals.· It does not mean that it's below 100 or

22 below 140.· It just means that there's regular

23 intervals, and it's not irregular.

24· · · Q.· ·Intervals of what?

25· · · A.· ·Intervals, beat-to-beat intervals, from
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·1 one beat to another.

·2· · · · · ·If it -- do you want me to explain?

·3· · · Q.· ·Sure.

·4· · · A.· ·If you have an irregular heartbeat, the

·5 beat-to-beat variation varies.· Meaning there may

·6 be -- for example, somebody with an irregular

·7 heartbeat may have a beat and then a three-second

·8 pause, and then a beat and then a one-second pause,

·9 and then a beat and then a five-second pause, and

10 then a beat.

11· · · · · ·Whereas somebody with a regular rate will

12 have a regular -- or will have the same interval

13 between each beat.· So, every one second or every

14 two seconds, they'll have a beat.

15· · · Q.· ·Regardless of how fast the beat is?

16· · · A.· ·Regardless of how fast.

17· · · Q.· ·The fact that the patient's heart rate was

18 149, was that surprising to you?

19· · · A.· ·Not in this setting.

20· · · Q.· ·What do you mean by that?

21· · · A.· ·Well, there's a lot of things that can

22 cause a heart rate to be artificially evaluated.

23 And conditions like pain or fear or worry or anxiety

24 are all things that can make you fearful or worried

25 to make the heart rate elevated.
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·1· · · · · ·Other things that I can think of would be,

·2 you know, she's a three-year-old girl, she's being

·3 put in an ambulance, she was just bitten by a snake,

·4 she had a painful and fearful experience, and now

·5 she's in an ambulance and there's all these adults

·6 around and they're drawing blood and taking her

·7 vital signs, then she's brought to the ER with

·8 unpleasant lighting and no privacy and a bunch of

·9 nurses approaching her to get her vital signs.

10· · · · · ·So I can understand why a three year old

11 would be fearful or tachycardic in this situation.

12· · · Q.· ·Did you see anywhere in the document ation

13 where the patient's blood pressure was noted?

14· · · A.· ·No.

15· · · Q.· ·But did you obtain the patient's blood

16 work?

17· · · A.· ·The nurses did.

18· · · Q.· ·Why this not recorded?

19· · · A.· ·I can't speak that.· The nurses are

20 responsible for obtaining the vital signs and

21 document ing them.

22· · · Q.· ·Was knowing the patient's blood pressure

23 important to you?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Why is that?
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·1· · · A.· ·It's a cardio vital sign, just as

·2 Dr. Glissmeyer said.· It's something that is

·3 important and can reveal if a patient -- or how ill

·4 a patient is.

·5· · · Q.· ·Was the patient hypotensive while she was

·6 in the emergency department at Humboldt General?

·7· · · A.· ·No, she was not.

·8· · · Q.· ·How do you know that?

·9· · · A.· ·Because we would have addressed it, and we

10 would have documented it, and it would have changed

11 our management.

12· · · Q.· ·In what way?

13· · · A.· ·If we thought or if she was hypotensive,

14 it would change our calculation.· And we talked

15 about earlier, there are several factors that we

16 look at when deciding to treat a rattlesnake

17 envenomization patient.· Like, we look at the vital

18 signs, and we look at the coagulation studies, and

19 we look at the progression of the swelling of the

20 wound.

21· · · · · ·And so --

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I'm, Doctor.

23 You look at the vital signs, and the what?

24· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Coagulation factors.

25· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And what was
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·1 the third one?

·2· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Progression of wound

·3 swelling.

·4· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

·5 BY MS. HUETH:

·6· · · Q.· ·At the time that you evaluated the

·7 patient, was her respiratory rate normal?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·And for a patient of this age, three years

10 old, what is generally considered to a normal

11 respiratory rate?

12· · · A.· ·Somewhere between 18 and 26 or 28.

13· · · Q.· ·And what was her oxygen saturation?

14· · · A.· ·There was normal.· The exact number was

15 96 percent.

16· · · Q.· ·Was that on -- was she receiving any

17 supplemental oxygen?

18· · · A.· ·She didn't need any, but the nurses

19 applied it anyway.

20· · · Q.· ·When you first evaluated the patient, what

21 was her demeanor?

22· · · A.· ·So, she was well-appearing, in general.

23 She had good color.· She had good profusion.· She

24 did not seem like she was in any pain or distress or

25 discomfort.· She was not sweaty, she was not
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·1 restless, and she did not appear to be suffering in

·2 any way.· She actually was quite calm and well

·3 appearing, especially with all the drama that was

·4 going on around her.

·5· · · · · ·And I say that because when a potentially

·6 critically patient arrives, they get, in a way,

·7 attacked by the staff.· Everybody jumps on her

·8 remove her clothing, put them in a gown, start an

·9 IV, get the leads put on, take vital signs, obtain a

10 history.· So there's a lot going when a person first

11 arrives in the emergency department, and it could be

12 daunting and scary.

13· · · Q.· ·Did you perform a physical examination of

14 the patient?

15· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

16· · · Q.· ·Earlier you testify that the patient came

17 in with a snakebite to the knee, can you describe

18 for us where on the knee the bite was?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·And where was that?

21· · · A.· ·Directly over the left patella.

22· · · Q.· ·Is that the front of the knee?

23· · · A.· ·That's the front of the knee.

24· · · Q.· ·Is it sometimes referred to as the

25 kneecap?
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·1· · · A.· ·Exactly right.

·2· · · Q.· ·Can you describe your examination findings

·3 of the patient's left knee?

·4· · · A.· ·Absolutely.· From -- would you prefer that

·5 I read from the record or give my own description of

·6 it?

·7· · · Q.· ·Well, and specifically I'm asking about

·8 your first evaluation of the patient.· And you're

·9 welcome to either read from the record, although we

10 all have it, or just describe your first evaluation

11 of the patient's left knee.

12· · · A.· ·Yeah.· Let me read what I wrote so I can

13 expand upon it.

14· · · · · ·"On the anterior left knee, there were two

15 puncture wounds, which are likely the site of

16 envenomization, and there is just a small amount" --

17· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· I'm so sorry once again,

18 Ms. Hearing Officer.

19· · · · · ·I'm having a really hard time keep up with

20 you, Doctor.· Could you slow down just a little bit.

21 Thank you so much.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yeah.· Just as

23 a point of procedure, always, usually when you read

24 on a record, you tend to read fast.

25· · · · · ·So just when you read, make sure you slow
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·1 it down.· It's common.· It's just what happens when

·2 you're recording testimony when people read it.

·3· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· No problem.

·4· · · · · ·"On the anterior left knee, there are two

·5 puncture wounds, which are likely the sites of

·6 envenomization, and there is just a small amount of

·7 ecchymosis noted in that generalized area.· No

·8 significant edema, no streaking, no skin necrosis,

·9 no peripheral edema, no petechiae, no vesicles,

10 ulcers or pustules."

11· · · Q.· ·And what is ecchymosis?

12· · · A.· ·Bruising.· The swelling that you would see

13 when a bruise develops.

14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

15· · · · · ·Was there a swelling at the time of your

16 initial evaluation?

17· · · A.· ·Yes, there was.

18· · · Q.· ·Were you surprised to see some swelling at

19 that time?

20· · · A.· ·No.

21· · · Q.· ·And why not?

22· · · A.· ·Any injury, if it was a puncture wound

23 from a pen or if you got stabbed with a knife, or if

24 you got smashed really hard with a first, you would

25 develop a bruise in the area of the injury.· That's
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·1 a normal body reaction.· That's how to body

·2 responds, and that's how the body repairs itself.

·3· · · · · ·The reason why you get swelling is the

·4 blood vessels become leaky in that area, and that

·5 allows the white blood cells to migrate to the area

·6 of injury, and it allows them to do the repair.

·7· · · · · ·So swelling, localized swelling right at

·8 the site of the injury is common, normal, and

·9 expected.

10· · · Q.· ·Can you describe -- because this will

11 ultimately be transferred to a written form, can you

12 describe the size of the swelling or quantify it in

13 any way as it existed at the time of your initial

14 evaluation?

15· · · A.· ·Sure.· The way I described it in my note

16 is it increased in size from -- about 25 percent.

17 And that 25 percent, I'm not sure how lay people see

18 that, but that's a really minuscule amount of

19 increase of swelling.

20· · · · · ·The way I've told people previously, and I

21 believe in deposition that I did before, was

22 swelling increased in size from the size of a

23 quarter to the size of a silver dollar.· And so that

24 is the amount of increase of swelling that we're

25 discussing.· Well circumscribed, circular, directly
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·1 over the kneecap.· If I could just demonstrate,

·2 other my kneecap, going to the size of a quarter to

·3 the size silver dollar (indicating.)· That is the

·4 edema that we're talking about in this particular

·5 case.

·6· · · Q.· ·And sticking with your initial exam --

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I'm sorry.

·9 Over what period of time from the quarter to the

10 silver dollar?

11· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· From the time of arrival

12 until she departed the emergency department.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

14 BY MS. HUETH:

15· · · Q.· ·At the time of your initial exam, was the

16 patient having any muscle weakness in the left leg?

17· · · A.· ·Not at all.

18· · · Q.· ·Was she unable to move the left leg?

19· · · A.· ·No.

20· · · Q.· ·At any point while she was in the

21 emergency department did she develop muscle weakness

22 in the left leg?

23· · · A.· ·No.

24· · · Q.· ·At any point while the patient was in the

25 emergency department did she become unable to move
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·1 her left leg?

·2· · · A.· ·No.

·3· · · Q.· ·Did you order any labs for this patient?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

·5· · · Q.· ·Why?

·6· · · A.· ·It's part of the workup of this snakebite

·7 envenomization.

·8· · · Q.· ·I want to go through those lab results

·9 with you.· And specifically if you can turn to

10 page 67.

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·The prothrombin time, my first question is

13 what is prothrombin time?

14· · · A.· ·Prothrombin time is a laboratory value

15 that we obtain to look at the clotting cascade.

16 When the body forms a clot, it goes through numerous

17 chemical reactions in order for the clot to form.

18 And so we require multiple factors and proteins that

19 help that clot form.

20· · · · · ·When we check for PT and PTT, we're

21 looking at two different clotting cascades to see if

22 there's a problem with them; either a problem where

23 they clot too easily or they don't clot well enough.

24· · · Q.· ·What is INR?

25· · · A.· ·The prothrombin time, the PT, is always
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·1 converted into an INR.· The reason that is done is

·2 so -- the INR is a number that will be consistent

·3 throughout different laboratories.· Because if they

·4 draw prothrombin time, the laboratory value in one

·5 hospital may not be the exact same in another

·6 hospital.

·7· · · · · ·So, universally, everyone uses the INR

·8 because that value will remain the same regardless

·9 of the laboratory where it's being drawn, and that's

10 the number that's actually use to determine whether

11 or not there is coagulopathy, or whether or not the

12 patient requires any kind of treatment.

13· · · Q.· ·And was her INR normal?

14· · · A.· ·It was normal.

15· · · Q.· ·And you mentioned coagulopathy, what is

16 that?

17· · · A.· ·That's a problem of the clotting cascade.

18 It can go either way.· It can either cause a problem

19 where the body forms too many clots, or it can be a

20 problem where the body does not form clots, and this

21 causes you to bleed more than you should.

22· · · Q.· ·Was there any indication at any time the

23 patient was in the emergency department Humboldt

24 General that she was having ongoing bleeding?

25· · · A.· ·Not at all.
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·1· · · Q.· ·The fact that the patient's INR was

·2 normal, was did that signify to you, if anything?

·3· · · A.· ·It's a laboratory value that was done at

·4 one moment in time.· At the moment, it was

·5 reassuring that the patient had a less serious

·6 envenomization.· With a more serious envenomization,

·7 you would expect more laboratory abnormalities, such

·8 elevation of the INR, elevation of the PTT, a drop

·9 in platelets or a drop of fibrinogen.· She didn't

10 have any of those changes.

11· · · · · ·So, it doesn't give us the whole story.

12 It doesn't -- you can't just decide the entire

13 management of the patient based on the one

14 laboratory value.· But taken in combination with the

15 other factors, it was reassuring that it was a minor

16 type of an issue.

17· · · Q.· ·In a patient who has been bitten by a

18 snake and your concern for systemic envenomization,

19 would you expect to see decreased or evaluated

20 platelets?

21· · · A.· ·Decreased platelets.

22· · · Q.· ·And what were this patient's platelets?

23· · · A.· ·240,000.

24· · · Q.· ·And is that normal?

25· · · A.· ·That is totally normal.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Is the platelets part of -- this is my

·2 term, not yours, but one piece of the puzzle that

·3 you were just describing?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.· They are important for clotting or

·5 essential for clotting.

·6· · · Q.· ·Did the patient have any significant lab

·7 abnormalities?

·8· · · A.· ·Not really.· The only thing that was

·9 significantly abnormal was the potassium level of

10 2.7.

11· · · Q.· ·What did you do in response to that

12 abnormal potassium level?

13· · · A.· ·We replaced it intravenously.

14· · · Q.· ·And why did you order a fibrinogen level?

15· · · A.· ·That is also a factor that we look at to

16 determine their ability to form clots.· If the

17 number was very low, it would indicate that she was

18 prone to bleeding, and that could indicate a more

19 systemic envenomization.

20· · · · · ·Her value was normal.

21· · · Q.· ·Well, if you can turn to page 42?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·Does this appear to be the fibrinogen

24 result?

25· · · A.· ·Yes, it does.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now it's says it was collected

·2 May 9, 2020 9, 2020, do you see that?

·3· · · A.· ·I do.

·4· · · Q.· ·But not reported until May 12, 2020.· Do

·5 you understand that to mean that's when the

·6 fibrinogen lab results were available?

·7· · · A.· ·Correct.

·8· · · Q.· ·So this lab wasn't available to you while

·9 the patient was in the emergency department?

10· · · A.· ·Correct.

11· · · Q.· ·However, after the fact, you have had an

12 opportunity the look at this, and do you say her

13 fibrinogen level was normal?

14· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

15· · · Q.· ·The fact that the patient's INR was normal

16 and platelets were normal, did that give you any

17 clue as to whether you would expect a normal

18 fibrinogen?

19· · · A.· ·Not necessarily.· We just -- I check all.

20 I don't know -- I don't necessarily expect one or

21 the other.· We test to see if there are any

22 coagulation defects, and then we decide what to do

23 from there.

24· · · · · ·I didn't have -- I don't recall having any

25 expectations of there being normal or high.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Did you assess the patient on more than

·2 one occasion?

·3· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· After your initial assessment --

·5 you've already described for us a little bit about

·6 the change in swelling, where there any other

·7 changes to your evaluation after your initial

·8 assessment?

·9· · · A.· ·No.· The only change that is the change

10 that we talked about with the limited, localized,

11 circular swelling that was limited to the kneecap

12 area only.· Otherwise, her condition was really

13 good.· She was awake, she was alert, she was

14 talking.· She didn't seem to be in any distress.

15 She didn't seem like she was suffering or in agony

16 or complaining, and she appeared well.

17· · · Q.· ·If you turn to page 35.

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·And it says "assessment," do you see that?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Does this document ation contain

22 information regarding your reassessment of the

23 patient?

24· · · A.· ·Yes, it does.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And upon you reassessment, was the
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·1 patient awake?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.· Absolutely.

·3· · · Q.· ·Was she alert?

·4· · · A.· ·She was.

·5· · · Q.· ·And how was she acting?

·6· · · A.· ·She seemed very comfortable.· She seemed

·7 well appearing.· She did not seem to be in any

·8 distress.

·9· · · Q.· ·Did you have a conversation with the

10 patient's mother regarding the potassium level?

11· · · A.· ·I certainly did.

12· · · Q.· ·And what do you recall about that

13 discussion?

14· · · A.· ·That conversation actually came up in the

15 telephone call I had with Dr. Gassen.  I

16 mentioned -- well, on one of my reevaluations of the

17 patient, I -- whenever I went for a reevaluation, I

18 spoke to mother because mother was with her, with

19 Patient A at the bedside.· And so I was always

20 updating the mother as to what was happening, what

21 the findings were, what our plan of action was going

22 to be.

23· · · · · ·When I informed Patient A's mother about

24 the low potassium level, she informed me that there

25 was a strong family history of hypokalemia, which is
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·1 a low potassium level, where mother had that problem

·2 and other family members in her family suffered from

·3 that problem.

·4· · · · · ·And so I gathered that it's likely a

·5 genetic abnormality that causes her family to suffer

·6 low potassium levels.

·7· · · Q.· ·And did the low potassium level cause any

·8 alarm to you that the patient was having a systemic

·9 envenomization?

10· · · A.· ·No, not at all.· That potassium -- the

11 potassium -- you wouldn't expect the potassium to

12 change as a result of the envenomization.

13· · · Q.· ·Did you discuss this patient with any

14 other physicians?

15· · · A.· ·I discussed the patient with Dr. Thorp and

16 with Dr. Gassen.

17· · · Q.· ·Why did you contact Dr. Thorp?

18· · · A.· ·Being a critical access hospital, our

19 resources were limited, and so the hospital -- the

20 hospital recommended or preferred that I consult

21 with the hospital in-patient doctors prior to

22 transferring any patients to be sure that we were

23 not able to care for them at our -- at that

24 facility.· The facility's desire was to keep as many

25 of the patients as possible.
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·1· · · · · ·And so I contacted Dr. Thorp, going

·2 through the process, and to see if she was

·3 comfortable with taking care of the rattlesnake

·4 patient.

·5· · · Q.· ·From a medical standpoint, why did you

·6 contact Dr. Thorp as opposed to discharging the

·7 patient?

·8· · · A.· ·Well, it was clear that the patient should

·9 not be discharged.· It was clear and obvious to me

10 that the patient needed a longer period of

11 monitoring and needed to have a period of

12 observation to look at all the parameters we spoke

13 of: the swelling, coagulation defects, and vital

14 sign abnormalities.

15· · · · · ·And so hospital admission was indicated,

16 regardless of our decision to give antivenom or not.

17· · · Q.· ·The closer monitoring that you just

18 described, is that something that you thought could

19 be performed in the emergency department over a

20 prolonged period of time?

21· · · A.· ·No.· That's not the function of the

22 emergency department.

23· · · Q.· ·And what do you mean by that?

24· · · A.· ·The emergency department isn't designed to

25 take care of patients for longer terms.· We're
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·1 designed to take care of patients that are acutely

·2 ill, stabilize them, and then transfer them out or

·3 admit them for the appropriate level of care.

·4· · · · · ·We're not designed to provide meals and to

·5 provide regular medicine intervals and to do some of

·6 the regular things that a floor nurse or ICU nurse

·7 would do.· Our nurses are limited in that they're

·8 able to care emergency patients, and they're not

·9 very good at taking care of in patient.

10· · · · · ·The other thing is that we limited

11 resources.· We can't afford -- usually I'll work,

12 like there will one doctor and two nurses working.

13 And one nurse has to do triage, and other nurse has

14 to monitor all the other patients.· If there was a

15 critical patient that stayed with us for 24 hours,

16 that would really take up that nurse, and it would

17 be incredibly difficult to run the emergency

18 department with the additional needs to care for

19 that critical patient.

20· · · Q.· ·So when you said "we can't afford," were

21 you referring to money or resources?

22· · · A.· ·I'm talking about resources.· It has

23 nothing to do with actual dollars.· We have limited

24 resources at the hospital.· I am the only -- or

25 there is only one emergency doctor that is working
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·1 at a time, and there is only two nurses that are on

·2 during at time.

·3· · · · · ·And one nurse needs to be available to

·4 take care of whoever walks through the door.· And

·5 the other nurse is there to help or to provide

·6 medications or to give the other patients the care

·7 they need.

·8· · · Q.· ·Approximately how many beds did the

·9 Humboldt General Hospital ER have on May 9, 2020?

10· · · A.· ·Five.

11· · · Q.· ·And you were present for Dr. Glissmeyer's

12 testimony.· Did you hear when he described how many

13 beds were in the ER that he works at?

14· · · A.· ·I believe he counted about 34.

15· · · Q.· ·And did Dr. Glissmeyer's ER, as he

16 described it, sound comparable as far as resources

17 go as Humboldt General Hospital ER?

18· · · A.· ·They sounds like very different

19 facilities.· His facility is way bigger than ours.

20 I think he said there was 350 beds at his facility,

21 whereas ours probably had ten to 15 beds.

22· · · · · ·We don't have consultants for every

23 specialty for vascular or for a lot of specialties

24 such as nephralgy, neurology, urology.· We would

25 have one surgeon one, one orthopaedic doctor, and



Page 181
·1 one -- either a pediatrician or a nurse-practitioner

·2 that took care of pediatric patients.· And then

·3 there was usually also a gynecologist for

·4 obstetrical emergencies.

·5· · · Q.· ·Was Dr. Thorp willing to accept admission

·6 of this patient?

·7· · · A.· ·No, she was not.

·8· · · Q.· ·What was your understanding of why not?

·9· · · A.· ·She wasn't comfortable with it, and she

10 didn't have experience with taking care of snakebite

11 patients.

12· · · Q.· ·And did you document in the medical

13 records a summary of your conversation with

14 Dr. Thorp?

15· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

16· · · Q.· ·Can you please read that into the record?

17· · · A.· ·Sure.

18· · · · · · · ·"At 5:30 P.M., I discussed the

19· · · · · · · ·full history and physical exam

20· · · · · · · ·with Dr. Thorp, and she explains

21· · · · · · · ·that she has never cared for a

22· · · · · · · ·patient with a rattlesnake

23· · · · · · · ·envenomization, and thus would not

24· · · · · · · ·be comfortable with this patient

25· · · · · · · ·being admitted at this facility.
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·1· · · · · · · ·And prefers that we transfer this

·2· · · · · · · ·patient to another facility with a

·3· · · · · · · ·higher level of care."

·4· · · Q.· ·At Humboldt General Hospital in May of

·5 2020, did you have admitting privileges?

·6· · · A.· ·No.

·7· · · Q.· ·Does that mean you couldn't admit the

·8 patient, it had to be another doctor who accepts

·9 admission?

10· · · A.· ·That is correct.

11· · · Q.· ·Once Dr. Thorp indicated she was not

12 comfortable accepting admission, did you contact any

13 other doctors?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·And who did you contact?

16· · · A.· ·Dr. Gassen at the Renown emergency

17 department.

18· · · Q.· ·Did you hear earlier Dr. Glissmeyer's

19 testimony wherein he said your conversation with

20 Dr. Gassen was just a handoff?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·And do you agree with that?

23· · · A.· ·No.

24· · · Q.· ·And what -- and why not?

25· · · A.· ·Well, having worked in rural ERs, I have
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·1 had to transfer many patients.· Since Dr. Glissmeyer

·2 works at a tertiary or quaternary higher-level

·3 facility where he has all the resources available,

·4 he doesn't commonly transfer patients.· So I am very

·5 familiar with the calls that we make to receiving

·6 hospitals.

·7· · · · · ·Oftentimes when I transfer a patient, the

·8 receiving physician will ask me questions, and

·9 sometimes ask me to do additional tests or

10 additional imaging prior to transferring the patient

11 to satisfy what they think is necessary.

12· · · · · ·Dr. Gassen -- I had a conversation with

13 Dr. Gassen, where believe I gave him a good and

14 complete report of the patient's presentation,

15 laboratory results, evaluation of the wound, and

16 progress through her ER stay.· And he agree that

17 antivenom wasn't indicated at this moment, but we

18 were considering it.

19· · · Q.· ·Well, and let me clarify, because we all

20 heard the audio recording, and at no time did

21 Dr. Gassen say the words "I agree, antivenom is not

22 indicated at this time"; right?

23· · · A.· ·Correct.· But he had the opportunity and

24 he knows it's within his rights or ability to ask me

25 to do something if he thinks it's indicated.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Did you take his silence with respect to

·2 not administering antivenom to be an agreement with

·3 that?

·4· · · A.· ·My understanding was that he was in

·5 agreement with our care, because he was happy to

·6 receive the patient, given the story that I provided

·7 him with.

·8· · · Q.· ·Did you call Poison Control at any time

·9 while the patient was in the ER?

10· · · A.· ·I did not.

11· · · Q.· ·Why?

12· · · A.· ·I did not think it would affect the care

13 of the patient.· I -- I am experienced in treating

14 rattlesnake victims.· I've been educated.· I've

15 followed up.· I've done CME units.· I think I'm

16 knowledgeable about treating rattlesnake patients,

17 and I didn't think it was going impact our care of

18 the patient.

19· · · Q.· ·Did Humboldt General Hospital have an

20 on-call toxicologist?

21· · · A.· ·No.

22· · · Q.· ·Did you initially consider transferring

23 the patient via air ambulance?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.· We originally made plans to go via

25 helicopter.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And earlier, did you hear Dr. Glissmeyer

·2 testify that you don't need a minor patient's

·3 parents' consent to transfer a patient?

·4· · · A.· ·I heard what he said, yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·Do you agree with that?

·6· · · A.· ·I totally disagree.· I cannot understand

·7 how anybody can take a child away from a parent and

·8 send them wherever they want without the parents'

·9 consent.· That makes no sense to me whatsoever.

10· · · Q.· ·Now, did you have a discussion with the

11 patient's mom about transferring the patient via air

12 ambulance versus ground ambulance?

13· · · A.· ·I did.· And I -- I mean, I regret that

14 it's not in medical records.· I didn't think at the

15 time this was important to document.· But we

16 originally -- let me go back a step.

17· · · · · ·From Huntington or HGH has its own

18 ambulance helicopter.· So there is usually a crew

19 available to help us with transfers most of the time

20 when weather permitted.

21· · · · · ·We did originally make plans for patient

22 to be flown by helicopter.· Mother, turns out, she

23 is morbidly obese.· I'm talking in the ballpark of

24 300 pounds.· The helicopter could not accommodate

25 her weight.· When mother was told that she would not
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·1 be able to fly with her daughter to go to the

·2 receiving hospital, she refused transport by

·3 helicopter.

·4· · · · · ·And for that reason, we decided to go by

·5 ground because of mother's insistence that she

·6 needed to be transported with her daughter.

·7· · · Q.· ·Well, did you think it was, from a medical

·8 standpoint, safe to send the patient via ground

·9 transport?

10· · · A.· ·I thought it was okay.· She was stable.

11 She -- vital signs did not change.· There was

12 minimal progression of the wound.· She was not in

13 pain.· She had excellent color and excellent

14 profusion.· She looked really well.· I thought that

15 she was stable, and I didn't think it was a big deal

16 that she would go by ground in that moment.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So you're not trying to suggest

18 that the patient's mother was dictating or forcing

19 you to make unsafe medical decisions?

20· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Objection.· I believe that's

21 a leading question.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Hueth, do

23 you want to respond?

24· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Sure.· I'm just happy to

25 rephrase it.



Page 187
·1 BY MS. HUETH:

·2· · · Q.· ·Did you -- was your medical

·3 decision-making -- let me take a step back.

·4· · · · · ·Who was making the medical decisions for

·5 the patient, you or the patient's mom?

·6· · · A.· ·Me.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· If you had felt it unsafe for the

·8 patient to be transferred via ground ambulance,

·9 would you have discussed that with the patient's

10 mother?

11· · · A.· ·Absolutely.· If it was -- if I thought

12 that that decision between helicopter or ambulance

13 was going to make a critical difference in the

14 patient's outcome, I would have insisted that she go

15 by helicopter with or without the mother, and we

16 would have had a different conversation about it.

17 And I would have tried to convince her more

18 forcefully that transfer by air ambulance was

19 important rather than going by ground.

20· · · · · ·But I really did think that difference in

21 time savings wouldn't make much of a difference in

22 her care, especially given how stable she was for

23 the last four hours that she was -- last four hours

24 since the envenomization.

25· · · Q.· ·Can you turn, please, to Exhibit 11.
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·1 We've been discussing this document over the course

·2 of today.

·3· · · · · ·My question is, on this document, it

·4 indicates the initial dosing of CroFab is four to 12

·5 vials.· Is that consist with your understanding?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes, it is.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you have an estimate of how long

·8 it would take for that initial dose to be

·9 administered?

10· · · A.· ·So, the actual medication, I think it

11 comes frozen.· It needs to be thawed, and it's

12 extremely viscous, meaning it's a very thick, thick

13 substance.· So it takes awhile to prepare it, it

14 takes awhile to thaw, it takes awhile to mix it with

15 saline before it can be administered in the patient

16 intravenously.· And then it's given in over about a

17 period of about an hour or two hours, depending on

18 the patient and if they're having any reactions to

19 it.

20· · · · · ·So it's typically hours.

21· · · Q.· ·And are you familiar with maintenance

22 dosing?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·What is that?

25· · · A.· ·Sometimes if the patient still has signs
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·1 of systemic toxicity or laboratory abnormalities

·2 after the initial dose of antivenom was provided,

·3 then we can re-dose the antivenom to further address

·4 the patient's needs.

·5· · · Q.· ·This document that Dr. Glissmeyer provided

·6 indicates that maintenance dosing consisting of two

·7 vials of every six hours for three doses is

·8 recommended starting six hours after the initial

·9 dose.· Is that consistent with your understanding?

10· · · A.· ·That sounds about right, yes.

11· · · Q.· ·So at least according to this and your

12 experience, the first dose of a maintenance dose is

13 given how long after you start antivenom?

14· · · A.· ·You know, so with this one, it's really

15 going to depend.· Every patient is going to depend

16 because even with the vial dosing, some patients

17 will end up just receiving four vials.· Some

18 patients may end up receiving 20 vials.· It really

19 just depends on their response to treatment and how

20 bad or how toxic they are from the envenomization.

21 And everyone is different.

22· · · · · ·And so it's hard to say because there's no

23 set protocol where it has to be one way or another,

24 just like we discussed earlier, it's not a cookbook

25 practice or approach that we're taking to treatment
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·1 of a patient.· We're tailoring each patient's

·2 treatment to their toxicity or the signs that they

·3 develop, and deciding to give additional doses

·4 whether or not they need it based on if they are

·5 still appearing toxic, if they're still having

·6 worsening edema, or if they still are developing

·7 coagulopathy.

·8· · · Q.· ·And in deciding not to give the antivenom

·9 before the patient left the ER, was part of your

10 decision-making process the length of time in which

11 the patient needs to be monitored or receive

12 maintenance dosing?

13· · · A.· ·Absolutely.· It would be safer for the

14 patient to receive the antivenom while in the

15 hospital setting.· I don't think this has come up

16 yet, but there is a significant risk of adverse

17 reactions with antivenom envenomization.

18· · · · · ·I read in one of the articles -- should I

19 find the page?

20· · · Q.· ·Well, --

21· · · A.· ·Well, I read there could be as high as

22 20 percent adverse reactions.· Some serum sickness,

23 some hypersensitivity reactions, and these are not

24 mild or benign reactions; these are potentially

25 life-threatening anaphylactic reactions that have to
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·1 be treated with adrenaline, Benadryl, steroids, and

·2 fluids.

·3· · · · · ·And we have to balance the risks

·4 associated with giving the medicine as well as the

·5 risks of not treating the patient.· And we have to

·6 balance.· And each patient is going different, and

·7 each patient will have different needs based on a

·8 whole variety of factors: their presentation, how

·9 sick they appear, their coagulation studies, how old

10 they are, their comorbidity.

11· · · · · ·So, there are numerous factors that we

12 take into account.

13· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I apologize.· I know it's only

14 been about an hour since our last break, but I have

15 been drinking way too much water.· Would it be okay

16 if we took a very quick confront bake?

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yeah.· Why

18 don't we come back at 3:30.

19· · · · · ·(Recess from 3:22 P.M to 3:30 P.M.)

20· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on

21 the record in case number 23-29251-1, In the Matter

22 of the Charges and Complaint Against Jason Howard

23 Lasry, M.D.· We were proceeding with Dr. Lasry's

24 testimony, he remains under oath, and we're on the

25 direct by his counsel, Ms. Hueth.
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·1· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

·2 BY MS. HUETH:

·3· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry, did you make a determination as

·4 to whether or not the patient needed antivenom while

·5 she was at Humboldt?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·And what was your determination?

·8· · · A.· ·It was my determination that this was a

·9 minor envenomization on the scale of

10 envenomizations, and that, for the time being, the

11 envenomization was mild enough that we could

12 withhold antivenom.

13· · · · · ·However, she still needed to be admitted

14 so that she could be watched in case her condition

15 deteriorated, and there was anticipation that she

16 may require antivenom in the future.

17· · · Q.· ·While the patient --

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Before you're

19 asking that -- just hold on before ask another one.

20· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Of course.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

22· · · · · ·Okay.· Thank you.

23 BY MS. HUETH:

24· · · Q.· ·You mentioned that you wanted her admitted

25 for close monitoring in case she deteriorated.· Did
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·1 you anticipate, or did you expect that patient was

·2 going to deteriorate?

·3· · · A.· ·I don't think I had an expectation that

·4 she was going to deteriorate, but it was a

·5 possibility.

·6· · · Q.· ·While the patient was in the emergency

·7 department at Humboldt General, did you observe her

·8 to have mottling to the left leg?

·9· · · A.· ·No.· Never.

10· · · Q.· ·What is mottling?

11· · · A.· ·Mottling is a marble-like appearance of

12 the skin that gives the skin a bluish/purplish

13 discoloration pattern.

14· · · Q.· ·While the patient was in the emergency

15 department at Humboldt General, did her swelling

16 from the snakebite ever extend past her ankle?

17· · · A.· ·It never extended past her knee.· It never

18 extended beyond the size of a silver dollar.

19· · · Q.· ·Was her left leg, while she was in the

20 emergency department at Humboldt General, swollen to

21 three times the size of the other leg?

22· · · A.· ·Absolutely not.

23· · · Q.· ·And the swelling on the knee although it

24 increased; is that fair?

25· · · A.· ·The knee swelling increased, there's no
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·1 doubt about it, I do agree with that, but by a

·2 minuscule amount.

·3· · · · · ·Typically, when we see envenomizations, we

·4 can watch the edema progressing in front of our eyes

·5 as it slowly creeps up the leg.· It will start

·6 usually in the feet or in the tips of the extremity,

·7 and the edema will develop centrally, it will come

·8 towards the core, and we mark it at different

·9 intervals to show the progression of the swelling.

10· · · · · ·In this case, the swelling was circular,

11 it was not circumferential around the extremity, and

12 it was minimal increase in the few hours or so that

13 she was in our care.

14· · · Q.· ·Was her left knee ever swollen to

15 three times the size of her right knee?

16· · · A.· ·Absolutely not.

17· · · Q.· ·While the patient in the emergency at

18 Humboldt, was she ever hypotensive?

19· · · A.· ·No.

20· · · Q.· ·And we've talked about the fact that there

21 is no blood pressure document ed, are there other

22 clinical signs to suggest whether or not a patient

23 is hypotensive?

24· · · A.· ·Certainly.

25· · · Q.· ·And can give us an example of some of
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·1 those?

·2· · · A.· ·Certainly.· Hypotensive patients are

·3 typically -- the patients that we would see in the

·4 ER that sometimes pass out or have syncope.· So, the

·5 symptoms would be weakness, being lightheaded, being

·6 dizzy, having trouble staying awake, and, perhaps,

·7 looking ill or pale.

·8· · · Q.· ·And did Patient A, while she was in the

·9 emergency department at Humboldt General, ever show

10 any of those signs or symptoms of hypotension?

11· · · A.· ·Not at all.

12· · · Q.· ·At the time of the patient's transfer when

13 she's leaving Humboldt to go to Renown, did you feel

14 like she was stable?

15· · · A.· ·Yes.

16· · · Q.· ·And what do you base that on?

17· · · A.· ·On multiple factors.· She looked really

18 well.· She didn't complain of pain.· She had minimal

19 swelling of her bite site.· She had a pulse that was

20 a little bit elevated, but it was stable, it was

21 staying between 150 and, let's say, 160 beats

22 per minute, and that's how I gauge stability.· There

23 was no coagulation abnormalities.

24· · · · · ·And we did the medical screening exam

25 sufficiently to determine the antivenom wasn't
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·1 indicated at this time.

·2· · · Q.· ·If the patient appeared to you unstable,

·3 would you have transferred her?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes, I still would have transferred her.

·5 She still needed to be admitted to a fatality with a

·6 higher level of care where she could be admitted and

·7 closely monitored.· That wouldn't change.

·8· · · Q.· ·Would it potentially change the method of

·9 transport, assuming mom agreed?

10· · · A.· ·If it was a more severe envenomization,

11 that we would categorize as moderate or severe, yes,

12 then I would insist that she go by a faster means of

13 transport.

14· · · Q.· ·Did you see anything in the medical

15 records that document ed that the patient was stable

16 at the time of transfer?

17· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

18· · · Q.· ·What did you see?

19· · · A.· ·Nurse's notes.· I will have to flip

20 through.· But the nurse's note at the time of

21 transfer, she document ed the patient's condition,

22 and let's see, on page 81, one there's a shape

23 that's title "Admit Transfer Discharge Information,"

24 at 18:32, Nurse Espinosa, she documents:· "Patient's

25 condition for transfer, stable."
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·1· · · · · ·And that is about in the first paragraph

·2 of the page .

·3· · · Q.· ·While the patient was at the emergency

·4 department at Humboldt General, do you believe that

·5 she showed signs or symptoms of systemic

·6 envenomization?

·7· · · A.· ·No.

·8· · · Q.· ·And why not?

·9· · · A.· ·She was stable from the vital signs

10 standpoint, she did not have any coagulation defects

11 on her laboratory testing, and the progression of

12 wound swelling was quite minimal.

13· · · Q.· ·We've talked throughout the day regarding

14 various articles that Dr. Glissmeyer provided to the

15 Investigative Committee.· My question is is there

16 any one article that establishes the standard of

17 care for an emergency medicine physician?

18· · · A.· ·No, there is not.

19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· In making the decision to not give

20 the patient antivenom, did you use your medical

21 judgment?

22· · · A.· ·Absolutely.

23· · · Q.· ·As we were looking through these articles

24 over to course of day, did you see indication in any

25 of them where, if the swelling progresses minimally,
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·1 you should still give antivenom?

·2· · · A.· ·No, I did not see it.

·3· · · Q.· ·Did you see anything to the converse of

·4 that, that if the swelling progressed minimally, you

·5 don't need to necessarily give antivenom?

·6· · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· There's too many negatives.

·7 Can you please --

·8· · · Q.· ·Yeah. I'm sorry.· It's becoming late in

·9 the day and my questions are deteriorating.

10· · · · · ·In the articles that have been provided by

11 Dr. Glissmeyer, did you see anything that supported

12 your opinion that minimal progression of swelling

13 does not necessarily warrant antivenom?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·And are there any examples you can give

16 us?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Just tell us what exhibit you're looking

19 at.

20· · · A.· ·On Exhibit 12, page 132, the first column,

21 about half way through, it starts with "these

22 guidelines."· Should I read it out loud?

23· · · Q.· ·Is this the section that was read when I

24 was talking to Dr. Glissmeyer?

25· · · A.· ·Yes, it is.· And there are other ones.· Do
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·1 you want me to read that?

·2· · · Q.· ·It's okay.· I think we read into the

·3 record.

·4· · · A.· ·The other one, this one is also section

·5 12, page 139.· Let's see.· At bottom of the second

·6 column, in the last paragraph, where it starts with

·7 "Patients with dry bite or who have not been bitten

·8 by a pit viper should not receive antivenom."

·9· · · · · ·And then it reads "Patients with minor

10 envenomization, defined as swelling and localized

11 pain at the envenomization site, should be closely

12 observed and not be given antivenom unless local

13 tissue affects progress."

14· · · Q.· ·Did this patient at any time while she was

15 in the emergency department at Humboldt General have

16 hemorrhagic bleb?

17· · · A.· ·No.

18· · · Q.· ·And what is that?

19· · · A.· ·It's a blood-filled blister.

20· · · Q.· ·While patient was in the emergency

21 department at Humboldt General, did she demonstrate

22 any airway swelling?

23· · · A.· ·Not at all.

24· · · Q.· ·Did she demonstrate anything to suggest to

25 you that she was having difficulty breathing?
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·1· · · A.· ·Not at all.

·2· · · Q.· ·Earlier, Dr. Glissmeyer described a test,

·3 the negative inspiratory force.· Do you recall that

·4 testimony?

·5· · · A.· ·I do.

·6· · · Q.· ·Is that a test that you routinely perform

·7 in the emergency department?

·8· · · A.· ·I have never performed it in the emergency

·9 department.· It is not a common ER procedure.

10· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can you repeat

11 the name of that procedure, please?

12· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· The negative inspiratory,

13 I-N-S-P-I-R-A-T-O-R-Y, force.

14· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

15· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I would also add something,

16 just that I wouldn't see a good reason to do that

17 test if there was no breathing abnormalities.· She

18 wasn't hypoxic, she wasn't in respiratory distress,

19 she wasn't -- her breathing wasn't labored, and she

20 was speaking freely.· So, it just didn't seem like

21 there was any indication to do such a test.

22 BY MS. HUETH:

23· · · Q.· ·We also have talked about today the

24 patient's vitals while she was on route to Renown.

25 And if you can turn to page 83.
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·And is there a period of time during which

·3 the patient was not hypotensive while she's on route

·4 to Renown?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·And approximately how long?

·7· · · A.· ·Between 19:38 and to 21:17, so that's

·8 about an hour and a half.· So, an hour and

·9 45 minutes that she was normal tensive, not

10 hypotensive.

11· · · Q.· ·And, Doctor, do you have an opinion, to a

12 reasonable degree medical probability, whether you

13 complied with the applicable standard of care of

14 while you were taking care of this patient?

15· · · A.· ·I definitely feel that I met the standard

16 of care.

17· · · Q.· ·The patient's ultimate outcome, you're

18 aware that the patient ultimately passed; is that

19 right?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Do you have opinion of whether that

22 outcome was predictable?

23· · · A.· ·On my side, it was completely unexpected.

24 I expected that she had been stable during her ER

25 stay, she seemed quite well, she had zero pain, she
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·1 had minimal swelling, she had no coagulation

·2 deficits, and she had been stable for the three or

·3 four hours since the envenomization had occurred.

·4· · · · · ·So, I believed that she would be perfectly

·5 safe for the one- or two- hour trip that it would

·6 take to get to Renown.· I really didn't expect her

·7 to decline or deteriorate as quickly as she did.

·8· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Those are all my questions.

·9 Thank you.

10· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

11· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren?

12· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.· Thank you.

13· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION

14 BY MR. SHOGREN:

15· · · Q.· ·Good afternoon, Dr. Lasry.

16· · · A.· ·Good afternoon.

17· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

18· · · · · ·First off, you had mentioned that you had

19 treated previous snakebite patients.· Did you treat

20 any at Humboldt General Hospital with snakebites?

21· · · A.· ·I don't believe so.· Other patients, other

22 than Patient A, no, I can't recall.

23· · · Q.· ·How long did you work at Humboldt General

24 Hospital for?

25· · · A.· ·One or two years.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you mentioned that you had

·2 administered antivenom in with two-thirds of

·3 patients that you treated with that issue.· When --

·4 at what point after the snakebite did you normally

·5 administer the antivenom?

·6· · · A.· ·So as we discussed, it's going to vary.

·7 Some people, they come in so systemically ill,

·8 they'll present with low blood pressure or massive

·9 swelling of their extremities or some other

10 abnormality that we decide, from the time that they

11 stepped through the ER doors, that patient warrants

12 antivenom.

13· · · · · ·Other patients, we need a workup.· We need

14 to watch them period of time, we need to see how the

15 swelling is progressing, we need to monitor their

16 vital signs, we need to check for coagulation

17 deficits, and then we decide.

18· · · · · ·So, it's really a case-by-case.· It is not

19 cookbook treatment of patients, just as described in

20 the article.

21· · · Q.· ·But did you administer antivenom there in

22 the emergency department?

23· · · A.· ·In Humboldt General, I don't recall if I

24 did.· I don't think I did.

25· · · Q.· ·How about in other hospitals settings?
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·1· · · A.· ·Other hospitals, yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·And do you recall, what's the youngest

·3 patient you've treated with an envenomization?

·4· · · A.· ·I think it was a five year old.

·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So mentioned that Patient A's blood

·6 pressure was monitored while at Humboldt on May 9th?

·7· · · A.· ·Correct.

·8· · · Q.· ·And is there any reference of it in any of

·9 the Humboldt General Hospital records we've

10 reviewed?

11· · · A.· ·No.

12· · · Q.· ·So how do you know that it was measured?

13· · · A.· ·I know this because it's our normal

14 practice that we do with every patient that comes to

15 through the emergency doors.· New patients has leads

16 put on them, every patient has a pulse oximeter put

17 on them, every patient has EKG leads put on them,

18 every patient has a blood pressure cuff put on them.

19· · · · · ·All off of those recording devices are

20 connected to the bedside monitor, which can

21 interpret and show those vital signs to us.

22· · · Q.· ·So why wasn't it included in, like say,

23 the vitals section?

24· · · A.· ·I can't speak to that.· It's the nurses

25 who obtain the vital signs and document the vital



Page 205
·1 signs.· And I don't have control over that part of

·2 the patient care.

·3· · · Q.· ·And why wasn't it mentioned on your notes

·4 regarding the patient?

·5· · · A.· ·Because the blood pressure was normal, so

·6 it didn't need to be addressed.

·7· · · Q.· ·And moving on to page 83 of Exhibit 6.

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·So the vital signs are listed here.· What

10 are the first three blood pressure readings?

11· · · A.· ·There are recorded -- you're talking about

12 where it starts at time 18:49?

13· · · Q.· ·Yes.

14· · · A.· ·Yes.· The first three readings are 59 over

15 40, and then 58 over 42, and then 59 over 41.

16· · · Q.· ·Does that indicate hypotension?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.· Those numbers are slightly low.

18· · · Q.· ·What is the threshold for a young child, a

19 three year old, for hypotension?

20· · · A.· ·So there's a formula that we use to

21 determine what makes that normal blood pressure to

22 be for a certain age when we're talking about

23 pediatrics.· The formula is two times the patient's

24 age, plus the number 65.

25· · · · · ·And so for her, an expected blood pressure
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·1 would be about 70.· And so, you know, 60 is not too

·2 far from 72, but it is lower.· So she does --

·3 according to these values, she does demonstrate

·4 hypotension on the first three reads.

·5· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Dr. Lasry, can

·6 you correct me if I'm wrong, I'm just trying to keep

·7 everyone's testimony, compare apples to apples.

·8· · · · · ·I think you said two times the patient's

·9 age, plus 65.· Is that what Dr. Glissmeyer said, or

10 did he say plus 70, I thought?

11· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· He said plus 70.· But my

12 Google search showed plus 65.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank

14 you.· I just wanted to make sure I understood that

15 correctly.

16· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Sure.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sorry,

18 Mr. Shogren.

19· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· That's fine.· Thank you.

20 BY MR. SHOGREN:

21· · · Q.· ·And there on page 83, when was the

22 patient's blood pressure first measured?

23· · · A.· ·At 18:49.· That's when they first

24 documented it.

25· · · Q.· ·And when did the patient depart Humboldt?
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·1· · · A.· ·I would have to check specifically.  I

·2 would say it's hard to tell.· Somewhere between

·3 18:30 and 18:50.

·4· · · Q.· ·So you said the patient did not exhibit --

·5 or did not have hypotension during her stay at

·6 Humboldt?

·7· · · A.· ·Correct.

·8· · · Q.· ·How would you explain that dip in the

·9 blood pressure there at --

10· · · A.· ·These are -- I don't know how to explain

11 it.· These are numbers that the EMS crew obtained.

12 They did not inform me about these about

13 abnormalities, because I only saw normal blood

14 pressures while the patient was in the ER.

15· · · · · ·And so I do not know why those numbers are

16 low.· As we can clearly see, they normalized soon

17 afterwards.

18· · · Q.· ·And you mentioned the blood pressure for

19 patients is normally document ed in the patient

20 records?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·Do you look at the patient records, such

23 as vital signs, before seeing a patient or during?

24· · · A.· ·Well, the care in the ER is really --

25 we'll go in and out.· Sometimes I'll see the patient
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·1 before they have vital signs taken.· Sometimes I'll

·2 see them a half hour after they've been there, and

·3 the vital signs are already available.

·4· · · · · ·It just varies depending on how sick an

·5 individual patient is or how busy we are.

·6· · · Q.· ·You looked at this patient's vital signs

·7 during her stay there; correct?

·8· · · A.· ·Correct.

·9· · · Q.· ·And did you note the lack of any record of

10 blood pressure?

11· · · A.· ·So, when I look at the vital signs, I look

12 at the monitor.· I don't have to flip through a

13 chart to see what the vital signs are.· They're just

14 available visually for me on the monitor.

15· · · · · ·So if I see the results or if I see the

16 vital signs on the monitor, I'm not really flipping

17 through the nurse's note to see what she document ed

18 or whether or not she document ed it.· In fact, I

19 leave that alone.· It's -- the nurse's

20 document ation is separate from the physician's

21 document ation.

22· · · Q.· ·So you're going off the signs you saw

23 there at the time.· How do you remember what her

24 signs -- this was -- what? -- three years ago.  I

25 mean, is this how --
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·1· · · A.· ·This was a critically ill patient.  I

·2 don't see hundreds of snakebite patients.· This one

·3 was a young child, and this one died.· So my memory

·4 of this patient's case has stayed with me.

·5· · · Q.· ·So despite the lack of any record of the

·6 blood pressure in the notes provided from Humboldt,

·7 you remember what her blood pressure was from

·8 three years ago?

·9· · · A.· ·I don't remember an exact number, but I

10 remember her blood pressure was in the normal range.

11· · · Q.· ·And you mentioned that there is record of

12 the patient having tachycardia; correct?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·And I believe you said in your direct that

15 it possibly was because the patient was fearful or

16 excited, given the circumstances.· That is your

17 reason why the patient's heart rate was elevated?

18· · · A.· ·I gave that as a possible reason.· It's

19 not really meant to be the sole reason.· A lot of

20 times, I don't know why a patient's vital signs are

21 abnormal, but those are contributing factors that

22 could have possible contributed to her having

23 tachycardia.

24· · · Q.· ·So, the vital signs are abnormal, you

25 said?
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·1· · · A.· ·The heart rate was elevated, yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·What is another -- what could be another

·3 realistic reason for the tachycardia?

·4· · · A.· ·Dehydration, low volume, the

·5 envenomization, of course.

·6· · · Q.· ·The envenomization.· Okay.

·7· · · · · ·And in your experiences, is the

·8 combination of low blood pressure and heart rate,

·9 high elevated heart rate is that cause for concern?

10· · · A.· ·Absolutely.

11· · · Q.· ·And that combination, what could be the

12 reason for that?

13· · · A.· ·Again, there is many possible causes, but

14 during the ER stay, the patient had mildly elevated

15 heart rate and had a normal blood pressure.

16· · · Q.· ·And during your testimony, you said

17 hypotension or low blood pressure, that is one of

18 the cardinal signs of severe envenomization?

19· · · A.· ·Yes, it could be.

20· · · Q.· ·Is that, in itself, a serious sign?

21· · · A.· ·We take the whole picture.· Low blood

22 pressure is a serious sign, for sure.

23· · · · · ·So, we look whole picture of the patient's

24 presentation, and how they appear and other vital

25 signs and other parameters.
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·1· · · Q.· ·But you don't need multiple signs to

·2 determine if there's been severe envenomization?

·3· · · A.· ·So, I think my answer goes back to what we

·4 talked about earlier.· It's not cookbook medicine.

·5 It's not whereas we have one vital signs that's

·6 abnormal, and we decide that person needs to be

·7 treated.· It's not like we have one lab abnormality

·8 and for sure that patient has to be treated.

·9· · · · · ·We look at the patient as a whole.· It's

10 can't be a cookbook.· We're going to take into

11 account their age, their comorbidity, the event,

12 where the envenomization occurred, the progression

13 of the swelling, the coagulation deficits that

14 occur, how the patient appears, and the vital signs.

15· · · · · ·So I'm sorry, but it's not just one simple

16 parameter that you could look at where you make the

17 decision to treat or not treat.· We look at the

18 whole picture.

19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so you talked about in your

20 testimony about swelling of the patient's knee area.

21 Just to be clear, there was increased swelling?

22· · · A.· ·No doubt, there was increased swelling.

23· · · Q.· ·Was there any mottling around the left

24 knee?

25· · · A.· ·I did not see any mottling.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Can you turn to page 79?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·Can you focus on the section titled

·4 "Emergency document ation" here?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·There's these textual results listed.

·7 What are these?

·8· · · A.· ·These are the nurse's progress notes, is

·9 what they look like.

10· · · Q.· ·So on the note dated May 9th, 2020, it's

11 6:24 P.M., does it say that there was noted mottling

12 around left knee?

13· · · A.· ·It sure does.· Yes, it does.

14· · · Q.· ·And does it say M.D. and where?

15· · · A.· ·Yes, it does.

16· · · Q.· ·And is that M.D., is that referring to

17 you?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·So just to be clear, you were the

20 admitting physician?

21· · · A.· ·I was the treating physician.

22· · · Q.· ·The treating physician.· Was the

23 responsibility of the patient's care in your hands?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Was it any other physician's
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·1 responsibility to take of the patient at Humboldt?

·2· · · A.· ·No.

·3· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·4· · · · · ·Did you -- so you mentioned that you

·5 talked to a Dr. Thorp at Humboldt?

·6· · · A.· ·Correct.

·7· · · Q.· ·What was Dr. Thorp's position?

·8· · · A.· ·She is a pediatrician.

·9· · · Q.· ·And was she responsible for the care of

10 the patient here?

11· · · A.· ·She was not responsible for Patient A.

12 She would be responsible for patients that I

13 admitted to her service.

14· · · Q.· ·Would she be the one to determine if

15 antivenom was necessary?

16· · · A.· ·She couldn't be because she wasn't

17 comfortable with it and wasn't experienced with it.

18· · · Q.· ·But you were ultimately the one that

19 decided whether or not to administer antivenom?

20· · · A.· ·That's right.

21· · · Q.· ·Did you make that determination before you

22 spoke with Dr. Thorp?

23· · · A.· ·I can't recall for sure.· I believe so.  I

24 can't be sure, but I believe so.· I believe that I

25 spoke to the consulting physicians once I had most
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·1 of the results back from testing.

·2· · · Q.· ·And then you note, and you've testified,

·3 it says in your notes at 5:45 P.M. you spoke with a

·4 Dr. Gaffen, it says here in the notes.· And just for

·5 the record, was it Gassen or Gaffen?

·6· · · A.· ·Gassen.· SS like Sam.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· When you spoke with Dr. Gassen, was

·8 he responsible for the care of the patient at that

·9 time?

10· · · A.· ·No.· I was responsible care of the patient

11 while she was in our emergency department.

12· · · Q.· ·And when you spoke with him -- well, first

13 of all, were you present when there was -- we played

14 respondent's Exhibit number 7, which was an audio

15 recording?

16· · · A.· ·What's the question?

17· · · Q.· ·Were you present and did you hear the

18 audio recording that was played earlier?

19· · · A.· ·Yes, I was.

20· · · Q.· ·Do you recall the contents of that

21 conversation?

22· · · A.· ·Yes, I do.

23· · · Q.· ·And that was a conversation between you

24 and Dr. Gassen?

25· · · A.· ·Correct.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Did you convey to Dr. Gassen the

·2 patient's vital signs?

·3· · · A.· ·I believe I told him the vital signs were

·4 stable.

·5· · · Q.· ·Did you convey to him the patient's blood

·6 pressure?

·7· · · A.· ·The blood pressure was normal, so I did

·8 not convey --

·9· · · Q.· ·So you didn't convey that to him?

10· · · A.· ·I didn't relay that specifically, no.

11· · · Q.· ·And did you convey the patient's heart

12 rate?

13· · · A.· ·I did not hear it on the conversation.

14· · · Q.· ·But you said the patient's heart rate was

15 abnormal?

16· · · A.· ·The patient's heart rate was fast, a

17 little bit fast, but it was also stable, meaning it

18 wasn't fluctuating, it wasn't going up and down.· So

19 there was stability with the heart rate.

20· · · Q.· ·You didn't think it was necessary to

21 explain to this Dr. Gassen the tachycardia of the

22 patient?

23· · · A.· ·You know, when I give a report, I gave the

24 information that I thought was most relevant at the

25 time.· If I forgot to give the exact number of the
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·1 heart rate, it's my mistake, but I try to convey as

·2 well as possible the correct and -- the correct

·3 story of how the patient presented, how she

·4 appeared, how her workup went, and how she

·5 progressed during the ER stay.

·6· · · · · ·And if I left out some exact number, it's

·7 on me.· I apologize.· But I thought I have a very

·8 fair representation of the patient's ER evaluation

·9 and assessment on that date.

10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so do you believe that Humboldt

11 was not equipped to deal with adverse reactions to,

12 you know, if you were to administer antivenom?

13· · · A.· ·No.· We -- Humboldt General Hospital, I

14 believe, had the medications necessary to treat

15 severe allergic reactions.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You got in -- do you recall, did

17 Humboldt have antivenom on hand on about May 9th,

18 2020?

19· · · A.· ·I cannot say for sure.

20· · · Q.· ·Do you recall, does Humboldt typically

21 have antivenom available?

22· · · A.· ·I don't know.· I'm not at all involved in

23 what the pharmacy stocks or what they keep or what's

24 available, so I really don't know.

25· · · Q.· ·Is it typical, in your experience, for
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·1 emergency departments to have antivenom on hand?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.· A majority of emergency departments

·3 will have.· However, some of the smaller, more rural

·4 hospitals won't because they can't afford it, and

·5 it's very expensive medication.

·6· · · Q.· ·Was the availability antivenom, was that a

·7 consideration into whether or not to administer it

·8 here?

·9· · · A.· ·Not really.· My main consideration was to

10 treat or not to treat.· To give the antivenom or not

11 to give the antivenom.

12· · · Q.· ·So you mentioned that antivenom has --

13 that administration of antivenom may have adverse

14 affects?

15· · · A.· ·Correct.

16· · · Q.· ·What would those adverse affects be,

17 typically?

18· · · A.· ·Well, the common and serious ones that we

19 typically see in about 20 percent of patients given

20 antivenom would be either hypersensitivity reaction

21 or serum sickness.· And both of those are allergic

22 type of reactions.

23· · · Q.· ·Could you turn to Exhibit 13, and page on

24 150.

25· · · A.· ·I'm there.
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·1· · · Q.· ·So if you go to the section titled "Dose

·2 and Administration," could you read the beginning of

·3 the second paragraph of that section, the first

·4 sentence?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.· It starts with "Antivenom Therapy"?

·6· · · Q.· ·Yes.

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · · · · · ·"Antivenom therapy with FabAV or

·9· · · · · · · ·Fab2AV, can be associated with

10· · · · · · · ·potentially severe allergic

11· · · · · · · ·reactions, but the risk appears to

12· · · · · · · ·low.· Less than one percent.

13· · · · · · · ·Nevertheless, antivenom should

14· · · · · · · ·only be administered in a

15· · · · · · · ·continuously monitored emergency

16· · · · · · · ·or intensitive care unit setting."

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.· Just the beginning

18 there.· Thank you.

19· · · · · ·And what is the second section here,

20 "Treatment of acute antivenom reactions."· What does

21 this section, the first paragraph, say about the

22 rate of acute serum reaction and sickness?

23· · · A.· ·I don't know.· Where do you want me to

24 read from?

25· · · Q.· ·Well, does this section say that patients
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·1 receiving either FabAV or Fab2AV is approximately

·2 two to three percent of the rate of acute serum

·3 reaction in sickness?

·4· · · A.· ·If you don't mind, I'll read it myself, if

·5 you want my interpretation.

·6· · · Q.· ·Yeah.· That makes it clear.

·7· · · A.· ·Yes, I see it says that the rate of

·8 reaction is two or three percent in previously

·9 treated patients.· Meaning patients that received

10 antivenom before, have a two to three percent.

11· · · · · ·However, there's another article that

12 shows completely different numbers.

13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· That was just my question just on

14 this here.

15· · · · · ·And you mentioned HGH at the time was

16 equipped to deal with reactions to antivenom?

17· · · A.· ·As we read in the paragraph you had me

18 read, the patient needs to be either in an ER or ICU

19 setting.

20· · · · · ·And the patient needed to be transferred

21 to a higher level of care.· It wasn't something we

22 want the patient to have while being transported

23 with EMS with limited resources, with limited

24 ability to care for adverse reactions.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so what was the risk, then, of
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·1 not administering antivenom in this situation?

·2· · · A.· ·The risk was of a severe life-threatening

·3 hypersensitivity reaction, to which could be as high

·4 as 20 percent.

·5· · · · · ·So, yes, if antivenom is indicated, we

·6 should give it and I would give it and I have given

·7 it.· But if it's a questionable case or if it's

·8 strongly indicated, then you have make the decision:

·9 Is the risk of severe hypersensitivity or allergic

10 reaction worth the chance taking?

11· · · · · ·And my first oath as a doctor was to cause

12 no harm.· So, if it was indicated, if it was

13 strongly indicated, I would give it.· If she was

14 more ill or ill appearing or had other parameters

15 that indicated that she needed to have antivenom, I

16 would give it.

17· · · · · ·But short of that, it is not a benign

18 medicine that you can just freely to anybody.· It's

19 not like tap water.· It is something that has --

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.

21· · · A.· ·-- a significant risk associated with it.

22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· But according to this article, I

23 decided the risk appears to be low for potentially

24 severe allergic reactions?

25· · · A.· ·That's true.· But another article that
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·1 Dr. Glissmeyer provided said that it was as high as

·2 20 percent.

·3· · · Q.· ·I'm referring to this article, and it

·4 appears to be a peer-reviewed article; correct?

·5· · · A.· ·Okay.

·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.

·7· · · A.· ·I thought they were all peer-reviewed

·8 articles.

·9· · · Q.· ·Correct.

10· · · · · ·And I just wanted to move here -- the

11 transfer -- the mode of transportation, whose

12 decision was that?

13· · · A.· ·Ultimately, it was mother's choice to go

14 by ground.

15· · · Q.· ·So you had no say in this?

16· · · A.· ·Again, mother has to consent to me

17 transferring the patient anywhere.· I cannot simply

18 take a child away from a parent and send them to

19 another hospital where the parent isn't allowing me

20 to send.

21· · · · · ·So your question is hard so answer because

22 I can't send a child anywhere without the mother's

23 consent.

24· · · · · ·And so since as the mother refused, yes, I

25 would prefer to go by air ambulance, yes, I would
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·1 have preferred the fastest means possible, but if

·2 she refused, I have to negotiate with mother.· And

·3 if mother was adamant that she wasn't willing to go

·4 as she was by -- to allow the child to go by

·5 helicopter, then I gave into her request.· And I

·6 thought it was okay to go by ground transport

·7 because I thought we had a period of time of safety

·8 and because the patient has been stable in our ER

·9 for the last three to four hours.· And all the other

10 issues I've already discussed.

11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And roughly how long did it take

12 for the patient to get from Humboldt General

13 Hospital to Renown in Reno?

14· · · A.· ·I think it's about two and a half hours.

15· · · Q.· ·Two and a half hours.

16· · · · · ·Would that time have been shorter if she

17 were to take air transport?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Do you know roughly how much shorter or

20 how much longer it would have taken?

21· · · A.· ·Oh, I think -- I think it would have been

22 just an hour by helicopter.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Do you know or

24 are you guessing?

25· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm approximating.· I'm
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·1 guessing.· I don't know the exact times.

·2 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Can you -- actually, going back to

·4 page 34, this is Exhibit 6.

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Under the section "Procedure."

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·Was this patient listed under critical

·9 care?

10· · · A.· ·I document ed that I provided critical

11 care for this patient.

12· · · Q.· ·Did you bill for critical care of the

13 patient?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.· I don't actually billing myself.  I

15 just document my care.· So I didn't -- I don't get

16 any remuneration from any particular patient I've

17 seen.

18· · · Q.· ·Sure.

19· · · · · ·To your knowledge, was this patient billed

20 for critical care?

21· · · A.· ·It depends on the billing companies,

22 whether or not they billed for it.

23· · · Q.· ·And why was this critical care in this

24 instance?

25· · · A.· ·Snakebite envenomization are classified as
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·1 critical care cases.· And then there's also the care

·2 that I provided, multiple reassessments, the

·3 multiple reevaluations of the patient, the

·4 discussion with the consulting physicians, the

·5 medical decision-making time, all of those

·6 categories count towards critical care time.

·7· · · Q.· ·And despite this being critical care, you

·8 didn't think antivenom was necessary?

·9· · · A.· ·Critical -- you could have critical care

10 without a patient being critical.· So, patients can

11 be potentially critical care, critically ill, and we

12 could bill for critical care for them.· And they may

13 be able to walk home without having any critical

14 abnormalities.

15· · · · · ·So, critical care does not mean that the

16 patient was critically ill; it means they were

17 potentially critical.

18· · · Q.· ·You also mentioned in your testimony there

19 was a possibility of deterioration for the patient?

20· · · A.· ·Correct.

21· · · Q.· ·Can you elaborate on that?· What do you

22 mean by that?

23· · · A.· ·Well, with snake envenomizations, the

24 reason why we need to monitor and admit those

25 patients is to watch for signs of toxicity that
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·1 could develop over time.· Even if she didn't have

·2 signs of toxicity at the onset or after the first

·3 few hours, she, or any snakebite patient, may

·4 develop signs of toxicity 12, 24, even 72 hours

·5 after the envenomization.

·6· · · · · ·So that's why I could not predict -- I

·7 don't see the future, I wasn't certain if need meet,

·8 but that possibility did exist.· And the only way to

·9 know would be to continuously monitor her, watch the

10 progression of the swelling, repeat the coagulation

11 studies and the laboratory tests, and based on those

12 findings, you would determine if antivenom is

13 indicated at that time.

14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So do you believe you did

15 everything you could do at that time for the

16 patient?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.· I believe that I gave her very good

18 care, and I believe I treated her well and

19 appropriately and I followed the standard of care.

20 And I did my best to give her the best care

21 possible.

22· · · Q.· ·So why do you think she needed to be

23 transferred?

24· · · A.· ·Because we didn't have a physician that

25 could care for a rattlesnake patient at our
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·1 hospital.· I had to transfer her to a facility where

·2 they did have such specialists.

·3· · · Q.· ·And you mentioned that you've treated how

·4 many patients with --

·5· · · A.· ·Twenty.

·6· · · Q.· ·Twenty?

·7· · · A.· ·Fifteen to 20.

·8· · · Q.· ·So just to sum, what did you do for the

·9 patient?· What -- how did you benefit the patient?

10· · · A.· ·We did multiple things to help stabilize

11 this patient.· We started off with a medical

12 screening examination.· We obtained a history.  I

13 performed a physical exam.· I ordered laboratory

14 testing.· I provided her with IV fluids for

15 additional hydration.· I provided her with pain

16 medications.· I provided her with potassium

17 replacement because her potassium was extremely low.

18· · · · · ·I updated the mother with what was

19 happening, with our decision-making, our decision

20 not to treat now, but the fact that we may need to

21 treat in future.

22· · · · · ·And I consulted with admitting physicians

23 in order to get the patient to the appropriate level

24 of care where she could be watched and where

25 antivenom could be administered, if it was needed in
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·1 the future.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And just to be clear, is it

·3 possible to give the patient antivenom and then

·4 transfer her to another facility?

·5· · · A.· ·Everything is possible.· I mean, sure,

·6 that is within the realm of possibility.· Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·But you didn't think that was necessary to

·8 give the antivenom and transfer her?

·9· · · A.· ·Well, there is a couple of points I'd like

10 to make.

11· · · · · ·One is I thought that we could withhold,

12 and I thought that we had some time before making

13 the decision to give antivenom.· The patient had a

14 period of being stable, she had no lab

15 abnormalities, she had minimal progression of the

16 swelling of the wound, she had no pain, and

17 everybody document ed that she was well profused and

18 had good color and looked well and was comfortable.

19· · · · · ·On top of that, I did not want the patient

20 receiving antivenom while being transported by EMS.

21 EMS is not very well suited to severe anaphylactic

22 reactions or to intubate a pediatric child.· If she

23 had lost her airway, if she had developed swelling

24 of airway over time or of her mouth or lips and she

25 needed a tube put in her airway, EMS wouldn't be
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·1 able to do for her.· So it wouldn't a safe transfer.

·2· · · · · ·Yes, it's within the realm of possibility,

·3 but it wasn't something I deemed to be safe.

·4· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I have no further questions

·5 right now.· Thank you.

·6· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I just have a brief follow-up.

·7· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sure.

·8· · · · · · · · ·REDIRECT EXAMINATION

·9 BY MS. HUETH:

10· · · Q.· ·Can you turn, please, to Exhibit 1,

11 specifically page 3.

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Paragraph 16, the one that starts with

14 "NAC 630.040 defines malpractice."· Can you read

15 what is in quotation marks as the definition of

16 malpractice?

17· · · A.· ·Certainly.

18· · · · · · · ·"The failure of a physician in

19· · · · · · · ·treating a patient to use the

20· · · · · · · ·reasonable care, skill, or

21· · · · · · · ·knowledge ordinarily used under

22· · · · · · · ·similar circumstances."

23· · · Q.· ·Does it define malpractice as not doing

24 everything you could?

25· · · A.· ·No, it does not.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.

·2· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· That's all I have.

·3· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Do

·4 you guys all mind if I ask a few questions?

·5· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Of course not.

·6· · · · · EXAMINATION BY THE HEARING OFFICER

·7 BY HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:

·8· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry, is it possible for a physician

·9 to go on the transfer with the patient?

10· · · A.· ·No, that's not possible.· There's only one

11 ER physician.· I work -- in those shifts, we did

12 24 hours.· There is no other physician that could

13 cover the emergency department.· There's no other

14 physician in the hospital that's skilled or trained

15 or credentialed or certified to do that duty.

16· · · · · ·So, no, it was not possible for me to

17 travel with the patient.

18· · · Q.· ·Based on staffing only?

19· · · A.· ·I think the answer is yes, based -- yes,

20 because there's nobody to -- there's nobody to cover

21 it.· There's nobody to cover the ER.· It would be

22 illegal for me to leave the ER without medical

23 coverage.

24· · · Q.· ·I guess -- I'm not asking -- I guess I'm

25 asking if there had been other coverage, is it ever
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·1 a situation where physicians travel with patients on

·2 transport?

·3· · · A.· ·They -- not in this country.· I've seen it

·4 happen in France, that's commonly done.· In some

·5 countries, it's common that the EMS system has

·6 physicians, but not in this country.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·8· · · · · ·I appreciate your indulgence because I'm a

·9 lawyer, I'm not a physician, so I might ask some

10 questions that you might find strange, but it's just

11 so I can understand.

12· · · A.· ·I'm happy to answer them.

13· · · Q.· ·Thank you.· I appreciate that.

14· · · · · ·How much lead time did you have to know

15 that you had a patient coming in with a snakebite?

16· · · A.· ·I can't recall exactly.· Maybe 15 or

17 30 minutes.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And did you think to check if there

19 was any --

20· · · A.· ·That's a guess.

21· · · Q.· ·You said maybe 15 or 20 minutes?

22· · · A.· ·Fifteen or 30 minutes, correct.

23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And did you think to check if there

24 was any antivenom available within that time,

25 knowing that there was someone coming in and you
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·1 wouldn't know their condition until they got there

·2 and there was preparation needed for the serum if it

·3 needed to be administered?

·4· · · A.· ·I didn't think in those terms.· In my mind

·5 at the time, I just assumed that we had it.· I did

·6 not check beforehand.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So you weren't worried about it not

·8 being available?

·9· · · A.· ·No.· And if it wasn't available, then we

10 would send the ambulance to go find some from

11 another ER.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· How -- okay.

13· · · · · ·Okay.· And then the other snakebites

14 you've treated, were those in this area, this area

15 being Northern Nevada, or were those in different

16 locations?

17· · · A.· ·Different locations.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So have you ever dealt with a

19 rattlesnake bite in particular?

20· · · A.· ·Of course, yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And how many of the bites that you

22 dealt with previously were rattlesnake bites?

23· · · A.· ·So, you know, we're talking about

24 Crotalidae, it's a genius of snakes.· And so I think

25 it encompasses rattlesnakes and water moccasins and
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·1 pit vipers, they're all of the same category.· And

·2 the antivenom is made from a combination of those

·3 snakes.

·4· · · · · ·Oftentimes, a person who is bitten by the

·5 snake doesn't know exactly what type of snake bit

·6 them.· They are not knowledgeable about the

·7 different types of snakes.· Sometimes they give us a

·8 description, sometimes not.

·9· · · · · ·So in reality, we don't worry too much

10 about the exact description of the type of snake

11 that bit the patient, but it seemed like it was of

12 the rattlesnake family, then we'll give the

13 antivenom that usually has the venom of a whole host

14 of the snakes.

15· · · Q.· ·That was helpful.· Thank you.

16· · · · · ·Where there any other medical

17 professionals there, nurses or physicians assistants

18 or anybody who tried to encourage you to give the

19 antivenom?

20· · · A.· ·They didn't encourage me.· They asked if

21 we should give it.· I wouldn't say they encouraged

22 me.

23· · · · · ·There was just the two nurses there I was

24 working with.· So, Cristal was one.· I don't recall

25 the name of the other nurse.· But it was just me and
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·1 two nurses that were caring for all of the patients

·2 coming through the emergency department.

·3· · · Q.· ·And when you said that they talked to you

·4 about that antivenom, what was the nature of their

·5 inquiry to you?

·6· · · A.· ·They asked if they thought we should give

·7 it.· They asked if we thought it was indicated.· And

·8 I was the one making the medical decision-making,

·9 and I had come to the judgment that I didn't believe

10 that it was indicated at this time.

11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Did both nurses inquire of you or

12 just one?

13· · · A.· ·I only recall one asking.

14· · · Q.· ·And which one was that?

15· · · A.· ·Cristal.

16· · · Q.· ·And then just because I'm not familiar

17 with how -- I've heard talk about how you checked

18 the vital and why and the indication of the vitals,

19 but I don't have an understanding of how a snakebite

20 impacts a person's system, and so what you would

21 look for to see that bite.

22· · · · · ·Can you explain that to me, please?

23· · · A.· ·For sure.· So we talked about the swelling

24 that develops.· What happens is -- maybe I'll just

25 give you just a brief rundown of snakebites, of what
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·1 they are.

·2· · · · · ·Basically, when you get bitten by a snake

·3 or envenomated by a snake, you're getting a soup of

·4 different toxins, lots of different proteins and

·5 peptides, it's organic materials, some metals, but

·6 it's a whole soup.· It's a concoction of different

·7 things that are toxic to us.

·8· · · · · ·The effects on the body are various

·9 because there's so many different toxins within the

10 venom.· There are toxins that make the blood vessels

11 leaky, and by making them leaky, that can make the

12 blood pressure drop, and that's what causes the

13 swelling to develop.· So when you have swelling,

14 it's because the blood vessels are leaky, and the

15 fluid or blood within them is leaking out of the

16 blood vessels causing the edema to form.

17· · · · · ·There are other symptoms that develop like

18 metallic taste in the mouth, or we talked about

19 abnormal muscle movement or muscle weakness or

20 respiratory failure or changes in mental status or

21 pain, you know, shooting pains, pains, pain is

22 usually one of the hallmark symptoms of a snakebite.

23· · · · · ·Usually when patients comes with a snake

24 envenomization, usually they're in severe pain.

25 Usually they're suffering.· Usually they're crying
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·1 and screaming and complaining of pain, and usually

·2 we're giving them morphine or some kind of narcotic

·3 to treat the pain.

·4· · · · · ·If you don't mind, can you go back and ask

·5 me again.· I know I was talking about the

·6 snakebites, but you wanted to know details about why

·7 or why --

·8· · · Q.· ·I'm trying -- and you were answering me.

·9· · · · · ·I was just wondering -- no one's explained

10 to me how the venom -- I know what you look for, but

11 I don't know why you look for it because I don't

12 know how the venom works.

13· · · · · ·So when you were explaining it to me with

14 regard to the leaky vessels, that's sort of the

15 inquiry I was looking at.

16· · · A.· ·And that's just one of the factors.

17 Because it also will effect the coagulation profile

18 that makes you bleed more easily.· And then it

19 depends -- of course, if you imagine that your blood

20 vessels are very leaky and you're developing a lot

21 of swelling or edema in your leg, that's fluid that

22 was in your vascular system that's not no longer in

23 the vascular system, and that's what will make you

24 tachycardic, hypotensive, or having signs of shock,

25 which Patient A did not demonstrate.
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·1· · · Q.· ·So, for instance, her death certificate

·2 says she died by a snakebite.· And I believe it's,

·3 you know, it says "rattlesnake bite."· And then it

·4 says "complications of toxic envenomization."

·5· · · · · ·And I guess what I'm hearing from you is

·6 that could be various things.· I guess -- I guess

·7 I'm wondering:· How does it get to you?· Does it get

·8 to respiratory failure, does it get organ shutdown,

·9 or could it be a combination of things because of

10 all the different toxins?

11· · · A.· ·It's more of a combination.· And you can't

12 predict what a single envenomization is going to do

13 to a particular person.· We don't know if it's going

14 to cause airway problems.· We don't know if it's

15 going to cause fistulation.· We don't know -- it

16 could be any combination of them because every

17 patient is different.

18· · · · · ·Different snakes have different soups in

19 their venom or soups of toxins in their venom.· We

20 don't know how much venom the patient received.· We

21 don't know if the venom was injected, let's say,

22 into a blood vessel, which would make it extremely

23 toxic and much more fatal or much more critical.

24 There's a lot of parameters we don't know.· We don't

25 know if it's a dry bite.· We don't know if it's a
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·1 toxic bite.

·2· · · · · ·So we can't know much about the bite,

·3 other than there's been a bite.· And that's why we

·4 have to look at all those other parameters to help

·5 us figure out whether or not we thought this was a

·6 toxic bite, indicating antivenom, or if it's a minor

·7 or a more-minor envenomization or a dry bite that

·8 doesn't require any antivenom.

·9· · · Q.· ·And did you read from the report from when

10 she was brought into EMS how the father had reported

11 that he set her down, and then the mother screamed

12 when he picked her back up that the snake was still

13 attached to her leg, and that they then got it off?

14· · · A.· ·I read that.

15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so was it impactful for you --

16 I mean, I obviously haven't seen this child, but I

17 know she was three and I know that's little -- if

18 you have a snake, and I don't know how old the snake

19 was or how big the snake was, but was the impactful

20 that she was a tiny child and she had a snake

21 latching on to her for, you know, not just a strike,

22 but based on the snake attaching and the size of

23 child, I guess is what I'm getting at, if that was a

24 factor to you?

25· · · A.· ·All those things are factors.· Yes, I
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·1 would take that into consideration.

·2· · · · · ·However, there's a couple of things that I

·3 would say regarding that.· Just as we talked about

·4 earlier, when it comes to dosing the antivenom, we

·5 don't chose different doses for pediatric patients

·6 or for small patients because we have no way of

·7 knowing exactly how much venom the patient was

·8 envenomated with.· That's why we give the standard

·9 dose to everybody, adults or pediatric.

10· · · · · ·On top of that, this particular

11 envenomization was right over her kneecap.· What is

12 right under the skin of her kneecap?· It's bone.

13· · · · · ·Furthermore, the swelling that she had was

14 perfectly circular.· It was limited to a very small

15 area, the size of a coin.· This was not a big, fat

16 edema that was progressing quickly.· This was not

17 circumferential swelling of the leg.· There was none

18 of the blebs, blisters, that were formed.

19· · · · · ·So there was a lot of features of her

20 presentation that told us that this was a more minor

21 envenomization, rather than a more serious

22 envenomization.

23· · · · · ·Could the fact that the snake hung on for

24 a period of time mean that she got more venom?· For

25 sure.· It's possible.· There's no way for me to know
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·1 this.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·3· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I just want to

·4 make sure that I got all my questions answered, and

·5 then I'll turn it back over counsel to follow up on

·6 what I asked.

·7· · · · · ·I think that's all that I had.

·8· · · · · ·Ms. Hueth, did you want to follow up on

·9 any of my questions or ask questions to clarify

10 anything I may have asked?

11· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· No.· I don't have anything

12 further.· Thank you.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren?

14· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Nothing further.

15· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

16 Ms. Hueth, do you have other witnesses that you're

17 able to call today?

18· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Not today, no.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And who

20 are your witnesses for tomorrow?

21· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Tomorrow, I have my expert,

22 Dr. Levin.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Any other

24 witnesses?

25· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Nope.· That's it.



Page 240
·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And how

·2 long do you anticipate that testimony will last?

·3· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Obviously I can only speak for

·4 my questioning, so I anticipate an hour and a

·5 half-ish.

·6· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· All right.· Any

·7 other housekeeping matters that we need to address

·8 today?

·9· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Actually there is one.  I

10 forgot to mention, I don't know if it's too late,

11 but earlier in the hearing today, there was an audio

12 recording played, respondent's Exhibit 7, and as I

13 recall, there was mention in that audio record of

14 the patient's name, specifically.· I don't know if

15 there's a way that that could be redacted.

16· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well, I mean,

17 the patient's name is all over the medical records.

18 Her name hasn't been redacted from any of them.

19· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Right.· But I'm just talking

20 specifically about the transcript that it would

21 generally appear.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well, I don't

23 think that that that was transcribed.· That call has

24 not been transcribed.· So the court reporter didn't

25 transcribe that call.· That would have to be
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·1 separately transcribed and submitted as an exhibit

·2 as a transcription of the call.

·3· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Okay.· I just wanted to make

·4 sure that the patient's name wouldn't be in the

·5 transcription.· That does not seem to be the case,

·6 so okay.

·7· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Anything else

·8 anyone would like to address today before we

·9 adjourn?

10· · · · · ·Ms. Hueth, will your expert be available

11 by 8:30, the start time tomorrow?

12· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yep.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And

14 everyone will be appearing from the locations

15 they're appearing from this afternoon?

16· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yes.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

18· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Well, obviously, except my

19 expert will be appearing remotely from a different

20 location.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank

22 you.· If there's nothing further, we'll adjourn for

23 the day, and we will reconvene tomorrow at 8:30 in

24 the morning.

25· · · · · ·(Hearing adjourned at 4:40 P.M.)
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·1· ·RENO, NEVADA -- SEPTEMBER 21, 2023 -- 8:36 A.M.

·2· · · · · · · · · · · · -o0o-

·3

·4

·5· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I'm going to

·6 call the case.· We're on the record In the Matter of

·7 Charges and Complaint Against Jason Howard Lasry,

·8 M.D., case number 23-29251-1.

·9· · · · · ·I'm Patricia Halstead.· I'm the hearing

10 officer.· I'm a licensed attorney.· I've been doing

11 these hearings for a few years now.

12· · · · · ·We're doing via Zoom, which is a little

13 unusual compared to how we've done in past.· So

14 you'll note that I am staring at the sky because my

15 camera on my laptop happens to be at the bottom of

16 the screen and not the top.· I am looking at you, it

17 just doesn't like I'm looking at you.

18· · · · · ·Then we also have appearances from the

19 Las Vegas office and the Reno office, and the court

20 reporter is also remote.· We were scheduled to start

21 today at 8:30, but we are scheduling a little late

22 because of some issues we had with everyone getting

23 into Zoom and different appearance locations.

24 Everyone has indicated they are settled in.

25· · · · · ·If there's nothing further with regard to
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·1 setup, I've called the case, and I'll go ahead and

·2 have counsel state their appearances and identify

·3 their clients.

·4· · · · · ·Anything further before we do that?

·5· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No, nothing further on my

·6 end.

·7· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Nothing from me.

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Go

·9 ahead.· We'll start with you, Mr. Shogren.

10· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Good morning.· This is

11 William Shogren, Deputy General Counsel on behalf of

12 the Investigative Committee of the Nevada State

13 Board of Medical Examiners.

14· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Good morning.· This is Chelsea

15 Hueth, bar number 10904, and with me is Dr. Jason

16 Lasry.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

18· · · · · ·Okay.· So I'll note that I have all the

19 filings in front of me.· In addition, I have all the

20 exhibits.· I'll be looking to the bottom side

21 periodically because the camera doesn't catch that

22 I'm looking at them, but that's where they are.

23· · · · · ·We will go ahead and start with opening

24 statements.

25· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, do you have an opening
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·1 statement you would like to give?

·2· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I do.

·3· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· If not, that's

·4 okay.· You can go straight to your case.

·5· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Well, there is a preliminary

·6 matter I forgot to mention.· I don't know if the

·7 parties would want to stipulate to any of the

·8 exhibits for admission at this point?· Such as -- I

·9 mean, both parties -- primarily, there's Exhibit 1

10 for the IC, the formal Complaint, Proof of Service,

11 allegation letter, etc., just to expedite things,

12 and see if we could possibly stipulate to admission?

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Hueth?

14· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I am comfortable stipulating

15 to the admission of the Investigative Committee's

16 exhibits, with the exception of number 9.

17· · · · · ·And would, likewise, request admission of

18 Dr. Lasry's proposed exhibits.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren?

20· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Just to be clear, the only

21 one that is being objected to is number 9, so

22 numbers 10 through 15 are being stipulated to as

23 well.

24· · · · · ·And I have no objection to stipulating to

25 the admission respondent's exhibits.
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·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Based

·2 upon the agreement of parties, I will admit IC

·3 Exhibits 1 through 8, and IC Exhibits 10 through 15.

·4 Respondent's Exhibits 1 through 8.

·5· · · · · ·(Investigative Committees' Exhibits 1

·6· · · · · ·through 8 and 10 through 15 were

·7· · · · · ·admitted.)

·8· · · · · ·(Respondent's Exhibits 1 through 8

·9· · · · · ·were admitted.)

10· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Any other

11 preliminary matters?

12· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No other preliminary

13 matters.

14· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· None from us, Your Honor.

15 Thank you.

16· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

17· · · · · ·Go ahead, Mr. Shogren.

18· · · · · · · · · OPENING STATEMENT

19· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I'd like to say first, good

20 morning.· This is William Shogren.· I would like to

21 thank everyone here for participating in today's

22 hearing.

23· · · · · ·This hearing is to hear -- we're here to

24 present evidence to determine if Dr. Lasry, the

25 respondent in this case, violated three separate
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·1 provisions of Medical Practice Act as alleged in

·2 Counts I through III in the complaint filed on

·3 March 8, 2023, by the Investigative Committee of the

·4 Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners.

·5· · · · · ·First, Count I, alleging that Dr. Lasry

·6 committed malpractice in violation of NRS 630.301,

·7 subsection 4.

·8· · · · · ·Count II alleges that Dr. Lasry failed to

·9 seek consultation with another provider, in

10 violation of NRS 630.306 (1)(b)(2).

11· · · · · ·And finally, Count III alleging that

12 Dr. Lasry failed to maintain appropriate medical

13 records in violation of NRS 630.3062 (1)(a).

14· · · · · ·Throughout this hearing, you'll -- the

15 parties will hear testimony from various witnesses,

16 and the evidence will show that a three-year-old

17 patient presented to Dr. Lasry in the emergency

18 department of Humboldt General Hospital on May 9th,

19 2020, after being bitten by a rattlesnake.

20· · · · · ·The evidence will also show that Dr. Lasry

21 failed to recognize serious signs of envenomization

22 in the patient, such as hypotension and tachycardia,

23 and failed to treat the patient's diminishing

24 condition.· Most importantly, Dr. Lasry failed to

25 administer antivenom, despite clear signs of severe
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·1 envenomization.

·2· · · · · ·The evidence will also show that, although

·3 Dr. Lasry did speak with an emergency room doctor

·4 over the phone regarding the patient, he did not

·5 properly seek consultation regarding the patient's

·6 condition and treatment.

·7· · · · · ·And lastly, evidence will show that

·8 Dr. Lasry did not keep accurate medical records of

·9 patient when he -- primarily when he failed to note

10 a recognition of the patient's continued

11 tachycardia, and when he completely failed to note

12 the patient's low blood pressure or hypotension.

13· · · · · ·In summation, the testimony and evidence

14 that will be presented today will establish by a

15 preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Lasry

16 committed malpractice by his failure to address and

17 manage a patient who had been bitten by -- who had

18 been bitten by a venomous snake.· This represents a

19 failure to meet the standard of care.

20· · · · · ·The evidence will also show that Dr. Lasry

21 failed to seek proper consultation with another

22 provider regarding the patient's condition, and that

23 he failed to maintain appropriate medical records

24 concerning the patient's vital signs.

25· · · · · ·All three counts, if established, are
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·1 violations of the Medical Practice Act.

·2· · · · · ·On behalf of the Investigative Committee,

·3 we ask the Board to consider the record that will be

·4 presented here and render the appropriate findings

·5 and discipline.

·6· · · · · ·Once again, thank you, and I want to thank

·7 everyone here today for being here.

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you,

·9 Mr. Shogren.

10· · · · · ·Ms. Hueth?

11· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

12· · · · · · · · · OPENING STATEMENT

13· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I have the privilege of

14 representing Jason Lasry, a board-certificated

15 emergency medicine physician who has been

16 board-certified for almost 25 years.

17· · · · · ·The evidence will show that on May 9th,

18 2020, at approximately 2:30 P.M., three-year-old

19 Patient A was bit on the anterior left knee by a

20 snake.· Her parents reported to paramedics that at

21 first she vomited, but by the time she's evaluated

22 by paramedics who ultimately transferred Patient A

23 to the emergency department at Humboldt General

24 Hospital, she was alert and acting and talking

25 normally for a child of her age.
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·1· · · · · ·Once she arrived to the emergency

·2 department at Humboldt General Hospital, the

·3 evidence will show that a nurse assessed Patient A,

·4 took her vitals, which were appropriate for her age

·5 and the situation, her skin was normal temperature,

·6 normal color, and her breathing was unlabored.

·7· · · · · ·Throughout the two and a half hours that

·8 Patient A remained at the emergency department at

·9 Humboldt General Hospital, she remained stable.· Her

10 vital signs were stabled, her breathing was

11 unlabored, she only received Tylenol for minimal

12 discomfort, she was alert and acting normally for

13 her age throughout to entirety of her stay at the

14 emergency department.

15· · · · · ·There was swelling around the bite, and

16 Dr. Lasry will testify that that is not unusual,

17 that you would expect to see some swelling as result

18 of a snakebite.· The evidence will also show that

19 there was some progression of the swelling.· That

20 also was expected.

21· · · · · ·However, the evidence will ultimately show

22 that whether or not to administer antivenom is based

23 upon the medical judgment of the physician

24 evaluating the patient.· It may be warranted in

25 patients that show signs or symptoms of systemic
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·1 envenomization, but the evidence will demonstrate

·2 that while Patient A was in the emergency

·3 department, she did not show signs of system

·4 envenomization that warranted administration of the

·5 antivenom at that time.

·6· · · · · ·While in the emergency department,

·7 Dr. Lasry appropriately ordered labs, and those labs

·8 that would be expected to show signs of systemic

·9 envenomization, such as the INR, the fibrinogen, and

10 platelets, they were all normal.· Just because

11 Dr. Lasry did not think antivenom was warranted at

12 that time, the evidence will show that that didn't

13 mean it may not be warranted in the future.

14· · · · · ·What the evidence will show is that

15 Dr. Lasry contacted the pediatrician, Dr. Thorp, and

16 requested that Dr. Thorp accept admission of Patient

17 A.

18· · · · · ·The evidence will further demonstrate that

19 Dr. Thorp did not feel comfortable accepting Patient

20 A's admission because she had never cared for a

21 patient with a snakebite before.· Accordingly,

22 Dr. Thorp would not accept admission of Patient A,

23 and requested that she be transfer to a different

24 facility that could provide a higher level of care.

25· · · · · ·So, Dr. Lasry contacted the emergency
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·1 department physician at Renown, in Reno, a level II

·2 trama center.· He spoke with that emergency

·3 department physician and gave him the history of how

·4 Patient A presented to the emergency department, his

·5 evaluation of Patient A, the current findings,

·6 including the lab results, as a result the fact that

·7 Dr. Lasry did not feel antivenom was needed at that

·8 time before transferring Patient A to Renown.

·9· · · · · ·The evidence will further demonstrate that

10 emergency department physician at Renown did not

11 express any concern with respect to the fact that

12 Patient A had not received antivenom or would not

13 receive antivenom prior to being transferred.

14· · · · · ·The evidence throughout this hearing will

15 further demonstrate that initially the plan was to

16 transfer Patient A via air ambulance.· However, in

17 consultation with Patient A's mother, it was

18 determined that Patient A's mother would not consent

19 to air ambulance because she wouldn't be able to

20 ride with Patient A to Renown.· Because Patient A

21 remained stable, and we are now three-plus hours

22 after the snakebite, Dr. Lasry determined that it

23 was appropriate and acceptable to transfer Patient A

24 via ground ambulance.

25· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Sorry.· I really hate to
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·1 interrupt here.· I forgot to mention -- this is

·2 partially my fault -- but for the furtherance of the

·3 hearing, could we refer to the patient as

·4 "Patient A" just for confidentiality reasons, rather

·5 than by her name?· I'm sorry.· I should have

·6 mentioned this.· I hate to interrupt you at this

·7 point.· I don't want to derail your opening

·8 statement.· I just want to mention that.

·9· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Sure.· I will try to do that.

10 Thank you for jumping in, though.

11· · · · · ·So the evidence will further demonstrate

12 that even if Dr. Lasry felt that antivenom was

13 indicated at the time, he did not have the resources

14 to do so safely at Humboldt General Hospital.· The

15 evidence will demonstrate that antivenom

16 administration requires close monitoring over an

17 extended period of time, of at least 20 hours, and

18 in May of 2020, Humboldt General Hospital could not

19 have kept the patient in the emergency department

20 for that amount of time with the close monitoring

21 that would be needed for the administration of

22 antivenom.

23· · · · · ·So based upon his education, training, and

24 experience, Dr. Lasry appropriately used his medical

25 judgment and determined that it would be better to
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·1 transfer the patient to Renown for admission and

·2 further monitoring and potentially the

·3 administration of antivenom if the situation

·4 warranted.

·5· · · · · ·Dr. Lasry could not have reasonably

·6 predicted that the patient would have the

·7 precipitous decline that she ultimately suffered

·8 about 30 minutes prior her arrival to Renown.· While

·9 she was in the emergency department Humboldt, the

10 patient never needed supplemental oxygen, her vital

11 signs remained stable, her swelling increased

12 minimally and was not unexpected, and by the time

13 the patient left Humboldt General Hospital, it had

14 four hours at least since the bite, and there was

15 sill to signs of systemic envenomization to warrant

16 keeping the patient and administering antivenom at

17 that time.

18· · · · · ·The evidence will further demonstrate that

19 if Dr. Lasry had any indication that the patient's

20 condition was instable or showed signs of systemic

21 envenomization, he would have made sure she did not

22 get in the ambulance, and would have made sure that

23 she was safely transferred to Renown or made her --

24 attempts to administer antivenom in Humboldt.

25· · · · · ·However, the evidence will show that the
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·1 standard of care is determined prospectively, not

·2 with the benefit of hindsight, but is based upon

·3 what a reasonable physician would you do in similar

·4 circumstances.

·5· · · · · ·And ultimately in this case, the evidence

·6 will show that Dr. Lasry appropriately exercised his

·7 medical judgment in evaluating the patient and

·8 determining antivenom should not be administered at

·9 the time, and transferring the patient to Renown, a

10 level II trauma center.

11· · · · · ·Thank you.

12· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

13· · · · · ·Ms. Smith, is it possible to, wherever the

14 name of the patient has been eluded to, to replace

15 that with Patient A in the transcript?

16· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· If I have your permission

17 to do so, I can certainly do that.

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yes, please do

19 so.

20· · · · · ·All right.· Anything further before

21 Mr. Shogren calls his first witness?

22· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Nothing further at this

23 time.

24· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Nothing from me.· Thank you.

25· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.
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·1 Mr. Shogren, who is your first witness?

·2· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· The first witness I am

·3 calling is Kristi Barbieri, investigator for the

·4 Board.

·5· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Go

·6 ahead and call her.

·7· · · · · ·Ms. Barbieri, normally if we were sitting

·8 in the room all together, Mr. Shogren would say

·9 something to the effect of "I call my first witness,

10 Kristi Barbieri."· He did that.· I don't know if you

11 were on when he did that.

12· · · · · ·If you could please state your name and

13 spell your name for the record, and then I will have

14 you sworn in.

15· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Sure.· My name is Kristi

16 Barbieri, first name is K-R-I-S-T-I, last name is

17 B-A-R-B-I-E-R-I.

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And

19 could you please raise your right hand to be sworn

20 in.

21· · · · · ·(The oath was administered.)

22· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I do.

23· · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

24 BY MR. SHOGREN:

25· · · Q.· ·Good morning, Ms. Barbieri.
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·1· · · A.· ·Good morning.

·2· · · Q.· ·First of all, who is your employer?

·3· · · A.· ·Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners.

·4· · · Q.· ·What is your job title?

·5· · · A.· ·Investigator.

·6· · · Q.· ·How long have you had this position?

·7· · · A.· ·Since February of 2022.

·8· · · Q.· ·And as an investigator for the Nevada

·9 State Board of Medical Examiners, what are your

10 duties?

11· · · A.· ·My duties are assign cases, complaints

12 that are filed from the public and to investigate

13 those, get all the facts together, and then pass it

14 along the chain for decisions.

15· · · Q.· ·So, specifically, when a complaint comes

16 in, what happens?

17· · · A.· ·A complaint comes in, it's assigned to an

18 investigator, the complaint is reviewed.· If there's

19 additional questions, we reach out to the

20 complainant.

21· · · · · ·And then an allegation letter goes out to

22 the licensee with a Board order for records.· Once

23 we get a response, if there's anybody else we need

24 records from, we sent out a subpoena or a letter.

25· · · · · ·And when that's all -- when that comes
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·1 back, it's reviewed by an investigator, and then

·2 it's passed on for medical review.

·3· · · Q.· ·Just to be clear, when an investigation is

·4 opened, does the Board create a file for that

·5 matter?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And we're here today for a hearing

·8 to present evidence so that the Board can determine

·9 if Dr. Lasry violated the Medical Practice Act.

10· · · · · ·And are you familiar with investigation

11 number 21-20403, regarding Dr. Lasry?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Is that this case we're here today for?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·And just for the record, were you the

16 original investigator on this case?

17· · · A.· ·No.

18· · · Q.· ·Do you know who was?

19· · · A.· ·Kim Friedman.

20· · · Q.· ·Did you take over for this case?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·When did you take over?

23· · · A.· ·I took over February 17th of 2022.

24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Have you reviewed the file for this

25 case?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Based on your review, does this case

·3 appear to be similar to other investigations handled

·4 by the Board?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Now, for the record I'm going to ask you

·7 about the Board's exhibits in this case.

·8· · · A.· ·Okay.

·9· · · Q.· ·And as part of your investigation for this

10 case, were you required to obtain medical records?

11· · · A.· ·Medical records were obtained prior to

12 when the case was assigned to me.

13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· I'm going to ask you questions

14 directed toward each exhibit.· If you could open the

15 binder in front of you and have that.· Can you

16 please turn to what's been premarked as Board's

17 Exhibit 1?

18· · · A.· ·Okay.

19· · · Q.· ·Do you recognize this document?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.· It's a Complaint issued by the

21 Board.

22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And who's named as a respondent

23 here?

24· · · A.· ·Jason Howard Lasry, M.D.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.
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·1· · · · · ·I'd like to now move to what's been

·2 premarked as the Board's Exhibit 2.· Quickly, do you

·3 recognize this document?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·And what is it?

·6· · · A.· ·A proof of Service.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·8· · · · · ·Now I'd like you to turn to what's been

·9 premarked as the Board's Exhibit 3.· It's been

10 previously admitted.· And what is this document?

11· · · A.· ·This would be the initial allegation

12 letter sent to the respondent.

13· · · Q.· ·Do you recognize this document?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·What is the date of this letter?

16· · · A.· ·July 19th, 2021.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And what were the allegations in

18 this allegation letter?

19· · · A.· ·The first one was the patient presented to

20 Dr. Lasry on or around May 9th, 2020, at Humboldt

21 General Hospital, by ambulance, after being bitten

22 by a rattlesnake on her left knee.

23· · · · · ·The second is he failed to administer

24 antivenom to the patient instead of agreeing to

25 transfer the patient to Renown Regional Medical
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·1 Center without first stabilizing the patient.

·2· · · · · ·Number three is Life Flight was canceled,

·3 and a decision was made to transport the patient via

·4 ambulance in Renown Regional Medical Center in Reno,

·5 even though the patient was in poor condition and

·6 near death.

·7· · · · · ·It is further alleged on or around

·8 May 13th, 2020, the patient succumbed as a result of

·9 the rattlesnake bite.

10· · · · · ·And there is a further allegation that

11 Dr. Lasry may have been deceptive with the Nevada

12 State Board of Medical Examiners on his renewal for

13 failing to answer "yes" to being named a defendant,

14 respond to legal action regarding Washoe County

15 Second Judicial Court case CV21 00866, filed

16 May 7th, 2021.

17· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

18· · · · · ·Now if we can move to what's been

19 premarked as the Board's Exhibit 4, previously

20 admitted.· Do you recognize this document?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·And what is it?

23· · · A.· ·It's the response from Dr. Lasry to the

24 allegation letter.

25· · · Q.· ·What is the date of this letter?
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·1· · · A.· ·August 18th, 2021.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now if we can move to exhibit --

·3 what's been premarked as the Board's Exhibit 5,

·4 previously admitted.· Do you recognize these

·5 documents?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·And what are they?

·8· · · A.· ·This is the standard letter to goes out to

·9 a medical facility, requesting records for a certain

10 time period, signed by the previous investigator.

11· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren,

12 you mentioned earlier concern about that patient's

13 name being part of the record, and it's in the

14 record in your Exhibit 4, it hasn't been redacted.

15· · · · · ·I don't know if you're concerned about

16 that, but I'm pointing that out to you if you want

17 the opportunity to redact that, I will grant that.

18 But the name is listed in there, so it's part of the

19 record.

20· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Okay.· Thank you for

21 bringing that up.· I don't think we need to redact

22 it at this time.

23 BY MR. SHOGREN:

24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Ms. Barbieri, for Exhibit 5, who is

25 the letter addressed to?
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·1· · · A.· ·It's address to Humboldt General Hospital,

·2 attention health care records.

·3· · · Q.· ·And then the third page of Exhibit 5,

·4 which is Bates stamp 20 here, what is this document?

·5· · · A.· ·That is the certificate of custodian of

·6 records that is sent out with the request, that

·7 comes back with the record that needs to be

·8 notarized by the facility.

·9· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

10· · · · · ·Now if we can move to what's been

11 premarked as Exhibit 6.· Do you recognize these

12 documents?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·What are they?

15· · · A.· ·Records from Humboldt General Hospital in

16 response to the letter.

17· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

18· · · · · ·If you could move to Exhibit 7.· Do you

19 recognize this document?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·And what is it?

22· · · A.· ·It is a letter to Renown Regional Medical

23 Center, attention health records, requesting records

24 for a certain time period for the patient.

25· · · Q.· ·And what else does this exhibit contain?
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·1· · · A.· ·The exhibit also has a notarized

·2 certificate of custodian of records.

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·4· · · · · ·If -- moving to what's been premarked as

·5 Exhibit 8, what is this document?

·6· · · A.· ·These are records from Renown Health -- or

·7 Renown.· Sorry.

·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·9· · · · · ·Moving to Exhibit 9, that's been premarked

10 as Exhibit 9, do you recognize this document?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·What is this document?

13· · · A.· ·Certificate of Death from vital

14 statistics.

15· · · Q.· ·What how was this document obtained?

16· · · A.· ·An investigator will send a letter with a

17 check for $25 to vital statistics to get a certified

18 copy returned to us.

19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

20· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I know that

21 Exhibit 9 hasn't been admitted.· Do you want to seek

22 to admit it at this time, or are you going to wait

23 to do that?

24· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I'll seek to admit it at

25 this time.
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·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Hueth, you

·2 had an objection to that exhibit?

·3· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yes, I have a couple of

·4 objections.

·5· · · · · ·One is being relevance that the Death

·6 Certificate is not relevant to establishing whether

·7 or not Dr. Lasry complied with the Nevada

·8 Malpractice Act, or whether he complied with the

·9 standard of care.

10· · · · · ·Further object to foundation and

11 authenticity, as Ms. Barbieri just testified that

12 typically a letter would be sent requesting this

13 document, and there's no such letter contained

14 within the file.

15· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

16· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, do you have a response?

17· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Well, I'd say, first, we

18 would argue that it is relevant, showing the

19 patient's condition at the time.

20· · · · · ·As far as foundation, I acknowledge that

21 there isn't a letter, but I would argue that

22 Ms. Barbieri still established how this letter was

23 obtained through her testimony.

24· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So as

25 you both know, the rules of evidence formally don't
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·1 apply, so it's within my discretion.

·2· · · · · ·I do find that is it relevant, and it is a

·3 public record.· So even if the rules did apply, it

·4 would come in under public record exception.

·5· · · · · ·Exhibit 9 is admitted.

·6· · · · · ·(Investigative Committee's Exhibit 9

·7· · · · · ·was admitted.)

·8· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Thank you.

·9 BY MR. SHOGREN:

10· · · Q.· ·And lastly, Ms. Barbieri, I'd would like

11 you to briefly turn to -- these are exhibit that are

12 premarked as 10 through 13.· I'm just going to treat

13 these Exhibit s together here.· What are they?

14· · · A.· ·Those are the articles that were returned

15 with the peer reviewer's report.

16· · · Q.· ·Is it unusual for the Board to receive

17 articles when there's a peer review?

18· · · A.· ·No.

19· · · Q.· ·And do these appear to be true and correct

20 copies?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

23· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No further questions for

24 Ms. Barbieri.

25· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Heuth?
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·1· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

·2· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION

·3 BY MS. HUETH:

·4· · · Q.· ·Good morning, Ms. Barbieri.

·5· · · A.· ·Good morning.

·6· · · Q.· ·Are you a medical doctor?

·7· · · A.· ·I am not.

·8· · · Q.· ·Have you attended medical school?

·9· · · A.· ·I have not.

10· · · Q.· ·And I believe you testified -- please

11 correct me if I'm wrong -- you were not the original

12 investigator on this file; is that right?

13· · · A.· ·Correct.

14· · · Q.· ·And that you were assigned to this file

15 February 17th, 2022; is that right?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so you were not the person who

18 requested records from Humboldt General Hospital; is

19 that correct?

20· · · A.· ·Correct.

21· · · Q.· ·You were not the person who requested

22 records from Renown; is that right?

23· · · A.· ·Correct.

24· · · Q.· ·In your experience, do to investigators

25 primarily take the allegations that are written in
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·1 underlying consumer complaint and use them as the

·2 allegations in the letter of inquiry that is sent by

·3 the Board?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·If you could turn to, what's already been

·6 admitted, Exhibit 3 of the Investigative Committee's

·7 Exhibit s?

·8· · · A.· ·Okay.

·9· · · Q.· ·Is this the July 19th, 2021, letter of

10 inquiry that was sent to Dr. Lasry?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And this is before you were

13 assigned to the case; right?

14· · · A.· ·Correct.

15· · · Q.· ·And you did not write this letter?

16· · · A.· ·Correct.

17· · · Q.· ·Number 5, which you read into the record,

18 regarding the allegation that Dr. Lasry may have

19 been deceptive with the Nevada State Board of

20 Medical Examiners on his license renewal?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·That's not contained within the formal

23 complaint that's been filed in this matter, that

24 allegation; true?

25· · · A.· ·I would have to go look at the complaint.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Well, if you could turn to

·2 Exhibit 1, which is the formal complaint.· And on

·3 what's Bates stamped NSBME 3, Count I is for

·4 malpractice; true?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Count II is for violation of standards of

·7 practice established by regulation, failure to

·8 consult; correct?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.

10· · · Q.· ·Count III, failure to maintain appropriate

11 medical records; correct?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·There's no count regarding fraud or

14 deception in obtaining a license renewal; true?

15· · · A.· ·Correct.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· If you can turn to what's already

17 been admitted, Exhibit 5, please.· Specifically

18 Bates stamped NSBME 20.

19· · · A.· ·Okay.

20· · · Q.· ·And this is the Certificate of Custodian

21 of Records that says "for Humboldt General

22 Hospital," but I'm guessing that means to be "of

23 Humboldt General Hospital"; is that fair?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And the Certificate of Records for
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·1 Humboldt General Hospital was signed by Kathy

·2 Patterson; is that right?

·3· · · A.· ·Yes.

·4· · · Q.· ·It was not signed by Jason Lasry, was it?

·5· · · A.· ·No.

·6· · · Q.· ·And if you can turn to what's already been

·7 admitted, Exhibit 4, please.· And exhibit 4 is

·8 Dr. Lasry's response letter; correct?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.

10· · · Q.· ·And in the first paragraph, Dr. Lasry

11 indicates:· I am not the custodian of records, as

12 Humboldt General Hospital maintains the patient's

13 records.

14· · · · · ·Did I read that correctly?

15· · · A.· ·Yes.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· If you can please turn to

17 Exhibit 7?

18· · · A.· ·Okay.

19· · · Q.· ·And this is the request for Patient A's

20 medical records from Renown Regional Medical Center;

21 correct?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·And this letter requests all of Patient

24 A's medical records, beginning May 9, 2020, through

25 present; true?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And if you turn to Bates stamp

·3 NSBME 90.· Do you have that in front of you?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And is this the Certificate of

·6 Custodian of Record for Renown?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·And to your knowledge, does this

·9 certificate verify that all of Patient A's medical

10 records from Renown Regional were provided to the

11 Nevada Board?

12· · · A.· ·I'm checking.· One moment.· All of

13 patient's records?· No.· Patient's record for

14 specific set period of time, yes.

15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And that period of time was?

16· · · A.· ·May 9th, 2020, to October 12th, 2021.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· At least for that time period, this

18 is certifying that a complete copy of those records

19 were provided to the Board?

20· · · A.· ·Correct.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· If you can turn to Exhibit 8,

22 please.

23· · · · · ·It looks like this is approximately 21

24 pages of Patient A's medical records from Renown; is

25 that right?
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·1· · · A.· ·Let's see, 91 to 111, so, yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Is it your understanding that Patient A's

·3 medical chart from Renown is only 21 pages?

·4· · · A.· ·According to this, yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Well, Patient A -- do you have an

·6 understanding that Patient A was admitted to Renown

·7 on May 9, 2020?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes -- no.· I'm sorry.· May 9th was to

·9 Humboldt.

10· · · Q.· ·Sure.· But if you turn to Bates stamp, so

11 still in Exhibit 8, which has already been admitted,

12 NSBME 91.· Let me know when you have that in front

13 of you.

14· · · A.· ·Okay.

15· · · Q.· ·And if you go down about half way, under

16 "events."

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·It says "admission at 5/9/2020."· Do you

19 see that?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And if you go to the next, NSBME

22 92, half way down above "allergies."

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·It says "discharge at 5/13/2020."· Do you

25 see that?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Would that indicate to you that she

·3 was admitted on May 9, 2020, and discharged May 13,

·4 2020?

·5· · · A.· ·According to these documents, yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·In your experience, having been an

·7 investigator, would it be unusual for a patient who

·8 had been admitted to the hospital for four days to

·9 only have 21 pages of medical records?

10· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I'd object, one, just for

11 relevance.· I don't see where we're going with this.

12· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· The relevance is that

13 Ms. Barbieri testified that this is the entirety of

14 the Renown Health medical records, and I'm trying to

15 establish that that may not be correct, given the

16 length of patient's stay it.· That it would be a

17 mischaracterization to suggest that this is the

18 entirety of the patient's chart from Renown.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Barbieri,

20 there hasn't been an objection as to your

21 qualifications to testify to that.· She did

22 establish that you were a Board investigator and

23 asked if it was in your experience.

24· · · · · ·So given that qualification, I'll allow

25 her to proceed with this line of questioning.
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·1· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Okay.· It depends on what

·2 the patient has gone for.· It can be something as

·3 little as 21 records or something as voluminous as

·4 300.

·5 BY MS. HUETH:

·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· On NSBME 92, do you still have that

·7 page in front of you?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·And toward the bottom, under ED notes, it

10 says "patient transferred with PICU, RN, on monitor

11 up to four."· Do you see that?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Does that suggest to you, given your

14 experience, that this patient was admitted to the

15 pediatric ICU on May 9, 2020?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And she remained at Renown until

18 May 13th, 2020; correct?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So given that, in this case,

21 specifically, does it seem unusual to you, given

22 your experience as an investigator, that this

23 patient's four-day stay, part of it being in the

24 PICU, would only be 21 pages?

25· · · A.· ·I would assume there would be more.
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·1· · · Q.· ·If you can turn now to Exhibit 9, which

·2 has been admitted, do you know when this Certificate

·3 of Death was requested?

·4· · · A.· ·I do not.

·5· · · Q.· ·And you testified earlier that typically a

·6 letter would be sent with the request for a

·7 certificate of death; is that right?

·8· · · A.· ·Correct.

·9· · · Q.· ·And when Mr. Shogren going through these

10 Exhibit s with you, did you see any such letter

11 requesting the certificate?

12· · · A.· ·In the Exhibit s, no.

13· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Those are all my questions.

14 Thank you.

15· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Any redirect,

16 Mr. Shogren?

17· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.· Thank you.· Just a

18 couple question for Ms. Barbieri.

19· · · · · · · · ·REDIRECT EXAMINATION

20 BY MR. SHOGREN:

21· · · Q.· ·Is it common that you received files --

22 investigative files that were previously worked on

23 by other investigators?

24· · · A.· ·It is common?· It's happened once since

25 I've been here.· I replaced Ms. Friedman, so I
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·1 assumed most, if not all, of her files.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And -- okay.· I'm just going to

·3 Exhibit number -- what's been premarked as

·4 Exhibit 7, Bates stamp number 88, just to be clear,

·5 this is requesting records from a certain period of

·6 time, all records; correct?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·Is that typical, you request all records

·9 when you send out such a letter to a facility or a

10 provider?

11· · · A.· ·It depends.· If they've gone -- if it's an

12 ER visit, and they go to the ER quite frequently and

13 we're looking at a specific case, then we set a

14 date, time set.· Otherwise, we go back, typically,

15 two or three years.

16· · · · · ·But if you're looking for specific, we try

17 and narrow it down.

18· · · Q.· ·And to your knowledge, the records that

19 were provided by Renown, were those complete as your

20 predecessor requested?

21· · · A.· ·According to notes from the predecessor,

22 it was complete.· Otherwise, another request would

23 have been sent.

24· · · Q.· ·If you could turn to what's been premarked

25 as Exhibit 8?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·As an investigator, do you have say in

·3 what's prepared for in Exhibit s to be used at a

·4 hearing?

·5· · · A.· ·No.

·6· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No further questions.

·7· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Do

·8 you have witness after Ms. Barbieri?

·9· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes, I do.· The next witness

10 I would like to call is Eric Glissmeyer, M.D.

11· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Would you like

12 to excuse Ms. Barbieri?

13· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.· No further questions.

14· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Barbieri,

15 you are excused.· Thank you for your time and your

16 testimony today.

17· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren,

19 please state name of your next witness again.

20· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.· We would like to call

21 Eric Glissmeyer, M.D.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

23· · · · · ·Good morning, Dr. Glissmeyer.· I'm

24 Patrician Halstead.· I'm the hearing officer for

25 this matter.· I don't know if you've been attending
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·1 up this point, but I'll have you please state your

·2 name and spell your name for the record and then

·3 I'll have you raise your right hand to be sworn.

·4· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.· And have been on

·5 the Zoom, but just let in the meeting now.

·6· · · · · ·My name is Eric Wallace Glissmeyer,

·7 physician, and thank you.

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can you spell

·9 your name, please?

10· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Eric, E-R-I-C, W.

11 Glissmeyer, G-L-I-S-S-M-E-Y-E-R.

12· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Go

13 ahead and raise your right hand.

14· · · · · ·(The oath was administered.)

15· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I do.

16· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Go ahead,

17 Mr. Shogren.

18· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Thank you.

19· · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

20 BY MR. SHOGREN:

21· · · Q.· ·Good morning, Dr. Glissmeyer.

22· · · A.· ·Good morning.

23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Let's start off, what is your

24 profession?

25· · · A.· ·I am a pediatric emergency physician.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And where are you located?

·2· · · A.· ·I work in Salt Lake City, Utah, for the

·3 University of Utah, and Primary Children's Hospital

·4 is my practice location.

·5· · · Q.· ·And are you licensed in Nevada to practice

·6 medicine?

·7· · · A.· ·Not to practice in person, but to provide

·8 Telehealth consultation if requested.

·9· · · Q.· ·And where else are you licensed?

10· · · A.· ·Just to practice in the State of Utah, and

11 Telehealth consultation licensed other

12 inter-mountain west states, like Idaho, Montana,

13 Colorado, Wyoming.

14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

15· · · · · ·How long have you been licensed?

16· · · A.· ·Since 2014, as an attending physician, and

17 for the six years prior to that during residency and

18 fellowship.

19· · · Q.· ·Where did you go to medical school?

20· · · A.· ·The University of Utah.

21· · · Q.· ·And what was your residency in?

22· · · A.· ·Pediatrics.

23· · · Q.· ·And did you do any fellowships?

24· · · A.· ·Yes, fellowship in pediatric emergency

25 medicine.
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·1· · · Q.· ·What board certifications do you have?

·2· · · A.· ·I am board-certified with the American

·3 Board of Pediatrics, in pediatrics.· I'm

·4 board-certified with the American Board of

·5 Pediatrics in pediatric emergency medicine.· And

·6 with the American Board of Preventative Medicine in

·7 clinical informatics.

·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· What licenses do you hold?

·9· · · A.· ·I hold a physician and surgeon license

10 with the State of Utah, as well as a controlled

11 substances prescription license.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And do you hold any other positions

13 currently?

14· · · A.· ·I'm sorry, any other positions?

15· · · Q.· ·Yes.

16· · · A.· ·No.

17· · · Q.· ·Can you briefly describe your training and

18 experience, specifically with emergency pediatric

19 medicine?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.· I spent about seven months in my

21 residency between 2008 and 2011, in the emergency

22 department.· I spent three years in fellowship in

23 the emergency department and in pediatric critical

24 care rotations with that fellowship.· And then since

25 2014, I am full-time faculty in the pediatric
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·1 emergency department, seeing patients in that

·2 emergency setting.

·3· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·4· · · · · ·I'd like to turn your attention to what's

·5 been premarked as Board's Exhibit 15.· Do you have

·6 that in front of you?· Have you seen this document

·7 before?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.· This is my curriculum vitae that I

·9 personally prepared.

10· · · Q.· ·Does this document accurately summarize

11 your experience and education?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Did you prepare this document?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·Did you provide this document to the

16 Board?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Is there anything else you would

19 like to add, or is this document complete?

20· · · A.· ·I'll just add that this doesn't include

21 all of the continuing medical education or other

22 lectures or trainings that I've attended, as that

23 would make this document excessively long.

24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

25· · · · · ·Have you served as a peer reviewer for the
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·1 Board before?

·2· · · A.· ·I have.

·3· · · Q.· ·Do you recall how many cases you may have

·4 reviewed for the Board?

·5· · · A.· ·For the Nevada Board, three.

·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And how long have you been

·7 reviewing cases for the Nevada Board?

·8· · · A.· ·Since 2020.

·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Are you familiar with investigation

10 number 21-20403, regarding Dr. Jason Lasry?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·Based on your training and experience, do

13 you feel you are familiar with standards of care to

14 which medical practitioners are held regarding the

15 facts in this case?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·And do you have experience in the subject

18 matter you've asked to review regarding the facts of

19 this case?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Can you describe your training and

22 experience specifically with treating patients with

23 envenomization?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.· Envenomization is a complaint that

25 we see in the emergency department.· Over the course
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·1 of my career, which I described earlier, I have

·2 treated approximately seven patients with

·3 snakebites.

·4· · · · · ·And my experiences in managing them as

·5 patients that we hear about, often, before they come

·6 to our referral center as a major pediatric

·7 specialty hospital, and in speaking -- so in

·8 speaking with referring providers and arranging

·9 their transport and managing their care once they

10 arrive and caring for them emergency department and

11 dispositioning them to an appropriate location

12 thereafter.

13· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

14· · · · · ·You mentioned you've treated approximately

15 seven patients?

16· · · A.· ·That's right.· Approximately seven

17 patients with snakebite injuries.

18· · · Q.· ·And what was the most-recent patient?

19· · · A.· ·Most-recent patient as about 18 months

20 ago.

21· · · Q.· ·What was the age range of your patients?

22· · · A.· ·Those range from about one year old, I

23 think it was one and a half year old, specifically,

24 the youngest, to teenagers.

25· · · Q.· ·For your patients, did you administer
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·1 antivenom?

·2· · · A.· ·I did, yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·To your knowledge, what was the outcome

·4 after administering antivenom?

·5· · · A.· ·All patients survived, and their wounds

·6 around the site of the bite, some required some

·7 local wound specialty care.· I believe one of them

·8 required a wound graft.· All survived.

·9· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren, I

10 just want to clarify for the record because it

11 wasn't exactly clear to me.· You asked if he

12 administered antivenom to his patients.· I want to

13 clarify that your question meant to convey whether

14 he administered antivenom to each of those seven

15 patients, so all of patients.

16· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Correct.· Yes.· I should

17 have specified.· I'm talking about the seven

18 patients that Dr. Glissmeyer mentioned.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Dr. Glissmeyer,

20 was my understanding correct, that it was all the

21 patients that administer to?

22· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you for that

23 clarification.

24· · · · · ·Yes, these seven patients all received

25 antivenom.
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·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

·2· · · · · ·I'm sorry, Mr. Shogren.· Go ahead.

·3· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No problem.

·4 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·5· · · Q.· ·Moving on here, were you provided with

·6 materials by the Board in your review of this

·7 matter?

·8· · · A.· ·Materials from the case, case records,

·9 yes.

10· · · Q.· ·Do you remember what was included in those

11 materials?

12· · · A.· ·Yeah.· Generally, they included

13 information from the Emergency Medical Services

14 transferring the patient to Humboldt General

15 Hospital.· Records from Humboldt General Hospital,

16 and records from the hospital to which the patient

17 was transferred from Humboldt.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And were you asked at the time the

19 materials were provided to review them and make an

20 objective determination whether, in your

21 professional opinion, there was any departure from

22 the proper standards of medical care by Dr. Lasry?

23· · · A.· ·Yes, that was what I was asked to do.

24· · · Q.· ·Did you come to a determination?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And what was your opinion?

·2· · · A.· ·My opinion was that the care of the

·3 patient by Dr. Lasry did not meet appropriate

·4 medical standards, and per the Nevada Board

·5 definition, met the definition of malpractice.

·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·7· · · · · ·And now I'd like to discuss how you

·8 arrived as this determination.· And might be easiest

·9 to go through the records that you've previously

10 been provided.· I'm going to ask you some more

11 specific questions regarding the facts of this case.

12· · · · · ·So, if you could, could you turn to what's

13 been premarked as Board's Exhibit 6?

14· · · A.· ·I'm there.

15· · · Q.· ·And do you recognize this document?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Are these the records from Humboldt

18 General Hospital that you were asked to review?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Also just as a sort of a

21 preliminary or an aside matter, I'm going to refer

22 to the patient as "Patient A," or otherwise as the

23 "patient," and I would ask that you do so as well,

24 so we can keep the transcript free of confidential

25 information about the patient.
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·1· · · · · ·First, I just wanted to establish a

·2 timeline here.· If you can turn to what's been --

·3 the Bates stamp number s pages 21 through --

·4 actually not 21 -- 83 through -- I'm sorry.  I

·5 apologize.· I was correct the first time.· I was

·6 looking at the wrong ones.· I apologize for any

·7 confusion.

·8· · · · · ·Pages starting at Bates number 21.

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.

10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so pages 21 through 24, what is

11 this document here?

12· · · A.· ·This is a patient care record of the -- of

13 Patient A, that is from Emergency Medical Services,

14 responded to the patient in the field or out in the

15 community, and transported them to the hospital.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· I have a couple of questions here.

17 We're going to jump back to this at a later point,

18 but just for right now, what is date of this

19 document?

20· · · A.· ·It is dated May 9, 2020.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And when did Emergency Medical

22 Services arrive on the scene?

23· · · A.· ·They documented that -- give me just a

24 moment.· I want to make sure that I state it

25 correctly.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.

·2· · · A.· ·They -- I'm sorry.· Can you restate your

·3 question, Mr. Shogren?

·4· · · Q.· ·I asked:· When did EMS arrive on the scene

·5 on May 9th?

·6· · · A.· ·That's documented on page 23, that they

·7 arrived on scene at 15:56 hours on May 9.

·8· · · Q.· ·When did they depart the scene?

·9· · · A.· ·At 16:07 hours.

10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And just quickly here, what --

11 based on these records for the EMS, what was the

12 impression of the patient?

13· · · A.· ·The impression was that the patient was

14 bitten by a rattlesnake on the left knee, about an

15 hour before EMS arrived.· And that the patient had

16 vomited, had been incontinent of urine.· And that

17 was calm and talking normally, and they drew around

18 the wound to monitor for changes around the wound.

19· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

20· · · · · ·Now if you could turn to page number --

21 starting at page 30 of Exhibit 6?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·And what is this document titled here?

24· · · A.· ·This is the Humboldt General Hospital

25 emergency documentation or ED clinical summary.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And who was the attending physician at

·2 Humboldt for the patient?

·3· · · A.· ·Jason Lasry.

·4· · · Q.· ·What was the admit date?

·5· · · A.· ·May 9, 2020.

·6· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·7· · · · · ·When did the patient arrive at Humboldt

·8 General Hospital?

·9· · · A.· ·Arrived May 9, 2020, at 16:16 hours.

10· · · Q.· ·If you turn to page number 32, when was

11 Dr. Lasry assigned to this patient?

12· · · A.· ·At 16:24 hours on May 9.

13· · · Q.· ·Now turning to pages 34 and 35 of

14 Exhibit 6.· If you could read, what is Dr. Lasry's

15 assessment at the bottom of page 34?

16· · · A.· ·That the patient is a three year old with

17 rattlesnake envenomization, or bites, to the left

18 knee.· That the patient had increasing edema and

19 swelling.· And there's about 25 percent more

20 swelling in the radius of the circle and swelling

21 has increased in size from when she first presented.

22 She's noted as doing well, watching a movie, awake

23 and talking.· And no abnormalities in the

24 coagulation tests.

25· · · Q.· ·And based on this record, what medication
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·1 was administered to the patient?

·2· · · A.· ·The patient received IV fluid, along with

·3 potassium chloride.

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, towards the bottom of page 34,

·5 there's that section entitled "Procedure," what does

·6 this section state?

·7· · · A.· ·This is states that Dr. Lasry delivered

·8 critical care to this patient for 35 minutes or

·9 more, for multiple reassessments, medical

10 decision-making, and consultation.

11· · · Q.· ·Just based off your experience and

12 knowledge, what is critical care time?

13· · · A.· ·It is a documentation attestation that

14 emergency physicians and others make in their notes

15 to indicate the severity of a patient's illness

16 and/or the complexity of the care provided.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now if you could turn to page 27.

18 What is this document?

19· · · A.· ·This is the Authorization of Transfer for

20 the patient from Humboldt General Hospital to the

21 Renown Hospital.

22· · · Q.· ·When was the transfer approved?

23· · · A.· ·Let's see.· It's documented here that on

24 May 9, the Renown Hospital accepted the patient for

25 transfer at 17:56 hours.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And according to this document, on page

·2 27, what was the discharge time?

·3· · · A.· ·Patient was discharged at 18:24 hours.

·4 Rather -- sorry -- discharged vital signs timed at

·5 18:24.· Discharge time was 18:32.

·6· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·7· · · · · ·Can we just quickly -- we're going to come

·8 back to this, but if you could turn to

·9 pages starting at 83, what's been Bates stamped as

10 83, Board's Exhibit 6?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·What is this document?

13· · · A.· ·This is, again, an Emergency Medical

14 Services' documentation of the patient's care and

15 assessment by them when they picked up the patient

16 from Humboldt to transfer them to Renown.

17· · · Q.· ·If you could turn to page 86 specifically

18 here.· When did the EMS depart Humboldt?

19· · · A.· ·They departed Humboldt at 18:52 hours.

20· · · Q.· ·When did they arrive at Renown Hospital in

21 Reno?

22· · · A.· ·At 21:29 hours.

23· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

24· · · · · ·For now, if you could go to what's been

25 premarked and admitted as Exhibit 8.· Do you
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·1 recognize these records?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·Are these records from Renown that you

·4 were asked to review?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· I just want to focus on when the

·7 patient arrived at Renown, was she given antivenom?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·And do you know when she was given

10 antivenom?

11· · · A.· ·It was that same evening of arrival.  I

12 need a moment to look for the exact place that the

13 time is documented.

14· · · Q.· ·I think that answers my question.· We can

15 move on to the next one.

16· · · · · ·Could you turn to pages that's been

17 premarked as 98 and 99?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Specifically on what's marked as -- of

20 what's labeled as "Death Certification Note."

21· · · A.· ·Um-hum.

22· · · Q.· ·And according to this, on pages 98 and 99,

23 when was the patient pronounced dead?

24· · · A.· ·May 13, 5:27 P.M.

25· · · Q.· ·And what's listed as the cause of death?
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·1· · · A.· ·Permanent cessation of cardiac function,

·2 secondary to MODS, secondary to cardiac arrest,

·3 secondary to rattlesnake bite.

·4· · · Q.· ·And what does MODS stand for?

·5· · · A.· ·In my experience, it stands for multiple

·6 organ dysfunction syndrome.

·7· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·8· · · · · ·Okay.· Now we're going to step back a

·9 little bit.· I'm going to ask you about treatment of

10 snakebites in general, now that we've established a

11 timeline here for the patient's care.

12· · · · · ·In your experience, you to your knowledge,

13 how are snakebite patients initially assessed?

14· · · A.· ·The initial assessment includes

15 measurement of patient's vital signs, examination of

16 the bite area, and then ensuing, a period of

17 observation to determine if the patient's clinical

18 status, as measured by vital signs and symptoms, is

19 remaining stable or changing or any abnormalities,

20 and monitoring the bite site for any progression of

21 swelling, development of or progression of swelling.

22· · · Q.· ·And when you say "vital signs," what vital

23 signs are typically measured?

24· · · A.· ·Vital signs measured in this situation and

25 in any emergency situation include temperature,
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·1 heart rate, respiratory rate, blood pressure

·2 measurement, oxygen saturation measurement.

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And based on your experience and

·4 knowledge, and you said you've seven patient that

·5 have been bitten by snakes, what are typical signs

·6 of envenomization from a snakebite?

·7· · · A.· ·Early, typical signs include swelling at

·8 the bite site and pain.· After time begins to go by

·9 and about an hour or two hours goes by from the time

10 of injury, if there was venom injected, swelling

11 tends to continue to increase around the bite site.

12· · · · · ·Changes -- visible changes, other than

13 swelling, such as redness or bruising are really

14 variable, and may take multiple hours to develop.

15· · · · · ·Monitoring of those vital signs, I

16 described, is critical also determine if the patient

17 is experiencing systemic or whole body affects from

18 venom.

19· · · Q.· ·And what are common systemic symptoms?

20· · · A.· ·Fast heart rate.· And as the body

21 initially starts to respond to venom, and if there

22 is a significant amount of venom injected, the body

23 may enter various stages of shock, including a

24 persistence of an elevated heart rate, and/or low

25 blood pressure.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Based on your experience and knowledge,

·2 when should patients receive antivenom?

·3· · · A.· ·Once they're is any criteria met to

·4 receive antivenom, and that would include that the

·5 patient's vital signs are out of range and persist

·6 out of range.· That would include that the patient

·7 has development of progression of swelling at a bite

·8 site.· That would also include signs of laboratory

·9 abnormalities that could occur over time.

10· · · Q.· ·And in what setting should antivenom

11 usually be administered?

12· · · A.· ·As soon as possible.· So that could

13 include settings -- if the patient is far from

14 medical care, and it's something, even outside of a

15 hospital, can be directed by a physician.· Certainly

16 in emergency departments, emergency centers, as well

17 as within hospitals.

18· · · Q.· ·In your experience, how are emergency

19 departments typically equipped to deal with any

20 adverse affects to antivenom?

21· · · A.· ·They are probably to best place for a

22 patient to be treated for adverse affects of

23 antivenom that could occur.· They're well equipped

24 to handle that by immediate physician and nurse

25 presence caring for the patients.· And with the
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·1 immediate availability of medications to be -- to

·2 include, but not limited to, IV fluids, agents to

·3 increase blood pressure or epinephrine medications

·4 if an allergic reaction were to occur.

·5· · · Q.· ·What are the contraindications for using

·6 antivenom on a patient?

·7· · · A.· ·There are no absolute contraindications to

·8 using antivenom on a patient.

·9· · · · · ·The relative contraindications or things

10 that could be considered to not use antivenom, but

11 are not an absolute no, are that if a patient has

12 received antivenom before and had a severe allergic

13 reaction.

14· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

15· · · · · ·And what resources are there, to your

16 knowledge, for consultation in snakebite cases?

17· · · A.· ·There is generally available resources to

18 physicians in various articles and clinical practice

19 statements available online.· But what's most

20 immediately available to emergency physicians, and

21 really any physician, is contact with a poison

22 control center.· The same phone number is available

23 anywhere in the United States.

24· · · Q.· ·And in snakebite cases, how are pediatric

25 patients different than adult patients?
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·1· · · A.· ·They are not.

·2· · · Q.· ·And how is the patient's weight considered

·3 in treating snakebite cases?

·4· · · A.· ·As with most medications in children,

·5 there is a weight-based dosing to give a smaller

·6 human an appropriate amount of medication.· After a

·7 certain weight, that is irrelevant, and they receive

·8 the adult dose.

·9· · · Q.· ·And then, to your knowledge, what --

10 dealing with snakebites, what's the possibility that

11 the snake delivered a dry bite?

12· · · A.· ·That's a possibility.· It's been reported

13 through the literature that a certain number of

14 snakebites are dry bites or where venom is not

15 injected.

16· · · · · ·And either systemic, whole body changes I

17 described in vital signs or changes in the skin,

18 such as swelling at site or the laboratory changes I

19 mentioned, don't occur, where none of those occur

20 under a period of observation, and that's what could

21 constitute a dry bite.· Yeah.

22· · · · · ·There's a variability in reporting of how

23 many snakebites are dry.· Numbers that I have seen

24 reported in the literature are anywhere between

25 15 percent and 25 percent of bites that are not
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·1 venom injected.· I, personally, never seen such a

·2 one where there was no venom injected.

·3· · · Q.· ·And backing up here, I'm moving back to a

·4 previous topic here, but I forgot to ask here.· What

·5 are the risks of antivenom usage?

·6· · · A.· ·They're small.· Really, any medication has

·7 the risk of allergic reaction.· There are multiple

·8 different types of antivenom available to hospitals,

·9 and they generally stock one or the other; one

10 called "CroFab," and one called "ANAVIP," are two

11 common types.

12· · · · · ·And from my recollection, they have,

13 maybe, somewhere between a ten percent and a less

14 than five percent, respectively, rate of severe

15 allergic reaction when administered.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

17· · · · · ·Now, just addressing what's been premarked

18 as Board's Exhibit 10, starting there.· Actually,

19 I'm just going to address Exhibits 10 through 13,

20 which have all been previously admitted.· Have you

21 seen these documents before?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·And what are these documents?

24· · · A.· ·They are literature documents I provided

25 in review of this case.



Page 61
·1· · · · · ·Document 10 is a study of what normal

·2 vital signs ranges are in children.

·3· · · · · ·Document 11 is from the Journal of

·4 Emergency Medicine, statement on managing pit viper

·5 or crotalid envenomization in emergency departments.

·6· · · · · ·Document 12 is another clinical practice

·7 statement from Wilderness Medical Society on

·8 treatment of pit viper envenomizations.

·9· · · · · ·And document 13 is a summary document from

10 the UpToDate organization on management --

11 evaluation and management of patients with

12 Crotalinae pit viper bites.

13· · · Q.· ·In your opinion, do these articles

14 articulate that standard of care that would have

15 been in effect as of May 9th, 2020, when Dr. Lasry

16 saw the patient in this case?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·And noticed -- so Exhibit 10 was published

19 in 2011.· Exhibit 11 was published in 2020 and

20 updated in 2021.· Exhibit 12 was published in 2015.

21 And Exhibit 13 was published in 2022.

22· · · · · ·So, some of those were published after

23 May 9th, 2020, but are the standards identified in

24 these articles different than what they would have

25 been on May 9th, 2020?
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·1· · · A.· ·No.· The last document -- no.· No, they're

·2 not.· No substantive change in the standard of care

·3 in that time.

·4· · · Q.· ·And were these articles peer reviewed, all

·5 of them?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes, these are all peer-reviewed articles.

·7· · · Q.· ·And why did you rely on these articles?

·8· · · A.· ·These articles are from the kind of places

·9 that might look when looking for guidance in

10 managing snakebite envenomizations.

11· · · Q.· ·Okay.

12· · · A.· ·And I guess to be more clear, Exhibit 10,

13 it just established what normal vital sign ranges

14 are for children.

15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Just briefly, if we could turn to

16 Exhibit -- what's been premarked as Exhibit 12,

17 starting on page 132.· Specifically, what is this

18 document?

19· · · A.· ·This is from the Wilderness Medical

20 Society on practice guidelines for treatment of pit

21 viper bites in the United States and Canada.

22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And this is a document relied on

23 -- correct? -- in forming your opinion.

24· · · A.· ·One of them.

25· · · Q.· ·If you could just turn to page 138 here.
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·1 If you could just, perhaps, briefly summarize what's

·2 titled "Section 4," subsection "initial patient

·3 assessment."

·4· · · A.· ·This is just details routine assessment

·5 that should occur of the patient, including vital

·6 signs, specifically included blood pressure, as

·7 initial assessment of the patient.

·8· · · · · ·And then history of the circumstances of

·9 the bite, and then removing anything that swelling

10 could then lead to problem with, such as jewelry or

11 clothing on the body.

12· · · · · ·It talks about monitoring the patient

13 repeatedly.

14· · · Q.· ·What is recommendation for after a patient

15 is placed on initial assessment and vital signs?

16· · · A.· ·Repeat it every 15 to 30 minutes until

17 local tissue effects have stabilized, which means

18 until there's no further progression of the

19 patient's local tissue affects.

20· · · Q.· ·And if you could turn to page 140.· If you

21 could just read the first sentence of the first

22 paragraph there?

23· · · A.· ·This is indication for antivenom section,

24 and it says "Patients with progressive local tissue

25 finings or any systemic toxicity, such as signs,
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·1 symptoms, or acute laboratory abnormalities, should

·2 receive antivenom."

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· In this section, what is described

·4 as common systemic symptoms.

·5· · · A.· ·Hypotension or low blood pressure,

·6 systemic bleeding or neurotoxicity.

·7· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sorry.· Can you

·9 repeat that for me, please?· You said "low blood

10 pressure, neurotoxicity."

11· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Hypotension, systemic

12 bleeding, or neurotoxicity.

13 BY MR. SHOGREN:

14· · · Q.· ·In your experience and knowledge, what is

15 defined as neurotoxicity?

16· · · A.· ·So that can be any number of signs or

17 symptoms of weakness, particularly.· It could also

18 include abnormal muscle functions, such as something

19 termed as "muscle fasciculation," which is kind of

20 uncontrollable writhing movements of muscles as

21 driven by nerves that aren't working right.

22· · · · · ·But the one in any sort of envenomization

23 from any venom-containing animal of neurotoxicity

24 that is most concerning is -- or that one of the

25 most concerning things is weakness in your breathing
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·1 and ability to effectively breathe.

·2· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·3· · · · · ·Now if we can turn to exhibit -- what's

·4 been premarked as Exhibit 13, previously admitted.

·5 Dr. Glissmeyer, what is this Exhibit?

·6· · · A.· ·This is the UpToDate article on snakebite

·7 envenomizations.

·8· · · Q.· ·Just to be clear, what are Crotalinae

·9 snakes?

10· · · A.· ·Crotalinae snakes are pit vipers, which

11 are venomous snakes.

12· · · Q.· ·And rattlesnakes fall under this category?

13· · · A.· ·Correct.

14· · · Q.· ·If you could turn to page 149 of this

15 article of this exhibit.· If you could just describe

16 here at bottom, antivenom therapy, what's the

17 recommended initial treatment?

18· · · A.· ·Consultation with a medical toxicologist

19 or other physician with expertise or prior

20 experience treating venomous snakebites is

21 encouraged before giving antivenom.

22· · · · · ·And describes this phone number that's the

23 same throughout the United States, that has been

24 for -- I know for a fact it's been that case at

25 least since 2014 -- I'm sorry -- since 2011, there
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·1 were emergency consultation with a medical

·2 toxicologist is always available.

·3· · · Q.· ·And then going on to the next page,

·4 page 150, what does the top paragraph there

·5 describe?

·6· · · A.· ·Recommends when antivenom therapy should

·7 be given, and says "For patients with Crotalinae

·8 snakebites and progressive swelling or signs of

·9 systemic toxicity."

10· · · Q.· ·And what's recommended for those patients?

11· · · A.· ·That if there is progressive swelling or

12 signs of systemic toxicity, that antivenom should be

13 administered as soon as possible once any of those

14 manifestations are evident.· And that is done both

15 to treat the effects that are already happening, and

16 to prevent progression of venom affects.

17· · · Q.· ·And if you go down to the section entitled

18 "Dose and Administration," on page 150, the second

19 paragraph, what does that state?

20· · · A.· ·That antivenom therapy can be associated

21 with potentially severe allergic reactions, but it

22 appears -- the risk appears to be low, less than

23 one percent.

24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And to your knowledge, what are --

25 what is FabAV?
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·1· · · A.· ·The FabAV is the CroFab, and Fab2AV is the

·2 ANAVIP.· Both of those are pit viper antivenom.

·3· · · Q.· ·And if you go down to the next section

·4 titled "Treatment of Acute Antivenom Reactions," on

·5 page 150, what does the first sentence state there?

·6· · · A.· ·That on -- based on a comparative trial

·7 between FabAV and Fab2AV, the rate of acute serum

·8 reaction and serum sickness for patients receiving

·9 either of those is approximately two to

10 three percent.

11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And moving on to page 153, on the

12 last section of page 153, which is titled

13 "Supportive Care," what does that state?

14· · · A.· ·That antivenom administration is the

15 mainstay or the most important piece of treatment

16 for envenomization by North American Crotalidae

17 snakes.· And other treatments, such as pain control

18 and monitoring for hypotension or low blood

19 pressure, bleeding, rhabdomyolysis, elevated tissue

20 or other compartment pressures, and, rarely,

21 respiratory failure could occur after administration

22 of antivenom.

23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now we're going to move on to

24 Patient A's medical records.· We kind of touched

25 upon them initially, but now we're going to back to
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·1 them in more detail.

·2· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Excuse me.· I'm sorry to

·3 interrupt, but when it's convenient for everybody,

·4 could be take a comfort break?

·5· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yeah.

·6· · · · · ·I was going to ask, Mr. Shogren, how much

·7 longer do you think you have to go?

·8· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Probably another

·9 thirty minutes or so.· We can take break now,

10 though.

11· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· It's

12 10:21.· Do you all want to -- let's be back by

13 10:35.· Is that going to work for everyone?

14· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yes.· Thank you.

15· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank

16 you, everyone.

17· · · · · ·(Recess from 10:21 A.M. to 10:35 A.M.)

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're on the

19 record and remain on the record in matter number

20 23-29251-1, In the Matter of the Charges and

21 Complaint Against Jason Howard Lasry, M.D.· We took

22 a break amongst the direct of Dr. Glissmeyer, who is

23 testifying on behalf of the IC.

24· · · · · ·Dr. Glissmeyer, I remind you that you're

25 under oath.
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·1· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, you may continue with your

·2 direction examination.

·3· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Thank you.

·4 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·5· · · Q.· ·Dr. Glissmeyer, I was now going to focus

·6 of Patient A's medical records.· If you could turn

·7 back to Exhibit 6, and let's start with page 34 of

·8 Exhibit 6.· Dr. Glissmeyer, again, what is this

·9 section?

10· · · A.· ·This is the Dr. Lasry's emergency record

11 of the patient.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And we went over this a little bit

13 before, but just to refresh here, what is the

14 initial assessment?

15· · · A.· ·That since the patient was bit on the left

16 knee, has developed increasing edema and swelling at

17 the site, and about 25 percent more swelling in the

18 circle drawn and the swelling has increased in size

19 from when she first presented.· That the patient was

20 doing well.· Noted no coagulation abnormalities.

21· · · Q.· ·What do these notes say about the

22 patient's heart rate?

23· · · A.· ·I don't think the note says anything about

24 the patient's heart rate, other than the number.

25· · · Q.· ·And what is the heart rate number listed?
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·1· · · A.· ·149.

·2· · · Q.· ·And what's the normal heart rate range for

·3 a three year old?

·4· · · A.· ·Less than 140.

·5· · · Q.· ·So what does a heart rate of 149 indicate?

·6· · · A.· ·In this situation, it indicates to me

·7 concern for significant envenomization and systemic

·8 toxicity.

·9· · · Q.· ·And from what you can see here, how did

10 Dr. Lasry address the heart rate?

11· · · A.· ·He did not.

12· · · Q.· ·And I'd like to turn now to page --

13 starting at page 171 -- sorry -- 71 one Exhibit 6.

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·Under the section starting -- actually,

16 it's on 171 and 172, starting under the section

17 "Vital Signs," and what is this section here?

18· · · A.· ·These are vital signs recorded zeroly or

19 repeatedly at Humboldt General Hospital.

20· · · Q.· ·And what vital signs are recorded here?

21· · · A.· ·The patient's temperature, pulse rate or

22 heart rate, and respiratory rate.

23· · · Q.· ·And what's the time range of these vital

24 signs?

25· · · A.· ·From 18:24 hours -- I guess they move
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·1 backward here, so from 16:30 hours to 18:24 hours.

·2· · · Q.· ·And what are the heart rate measurements,

·3 what's the range recorded here?

·4· · · A.· ·Between 149 and 155.

·5· · · Q.· ·If you go on page 72.

·6· · · A.· ·Thank you.· So, yeah, there's two columns

·7 of data here.· And the earliest is from 16:17, the

·8 latest 18:24, the range being 146 to 156.

·9· · · Q.· ·And I notice all of these heart rate

10 measurements have a little "h" next to them.· What

11 was that "h" stand for?

12· · · A.· ·That's a marker from the electronic

13 medical record recognizing that these are out of

14 range for the patient's age, rather elevated or

15 high.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

17· · · · · ·And what does this section, the vitals

18 signs section, state about the patient's blood

19 pressure?

20· · · A.· ·Nothing.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now going back to Dr. Lasry's notes

22 starting on page 34.· I notice there's a section

23 titled "Physical Exam," what does it say about the

24 patient's cardiac status?

25· · · A.· ·Heart has regular rate on rhythm.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And is a heart rate of 149, is that a

·2 regular rate?

·3· · · A.· ·No.· That's tachycardic, or fast.

·4· · · Q.· ·In this section, what does Dr. Lasry state

·5 about the patient's blood pressure?

·6· · · A.· ·He doesn't state anything about it.

·7· · · Q.· ·Actually, if we could quickly go back to

·8 page 27.· What is this document again?

·9· · · A.· ·This is the certification of transfer

10 form, with the parent of the patient signing

11 permission, and document ing the patient's

12 acceptance of the Renown Hospital for transfer from

13 Humboldt Hospital.

14· · · Q.· ·And what are the discharge vital signs?

15· · · A.· ·Document ed at 18:24 hours, no blood

16 pressure document ed.· Pulse 150.· Respiratory rate

17 24.· Temperature 36.6.· Oxygen saturation

18 96 percent.

19· · · Q.· ·One second.· Now jumping back -- I

20 apologize for jumping back and forth here, but going

21 back to page 34 and 35, what does Dr. Lasry state --

22 I may have brought this up before, but just to

23 refresh, what does Dr. Lasry note about the

24 swelling?

25· · · A.· ·In the physical exam section, he notes no
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·1 significant edema, which is another word for

·2 swelling.· And then in the assessment on page 35,

·3 document s increasing edema and swelling.

·4· · · Q.· ·Um-hum.· If you could go to -- now to

·5 page 79 of Exhibit 6, under the section titled

·6 "Emergency document ation," what is this section?

·7· · · A.· ·This is the document ation by the patient

·8 care nurse and Humboldt General Hospital.

·9· · · Q.· ·What do the textual results state?

10· · · A.· ·On May 9 at 18:24, the nurse document ed

11 that Emergency Medical Services here with the

12 patient.· Patient care turned over to them.· Noted

13 left knee swelling continues to increase, and noted

14 mottling, which are color changes, around left knee

15 radiating up and down from the left knee.· M.D. or

16 physician aware.

17· · · Q.· ·What time was this note entered?

18· · · A.· ·18:24 hours.

19· · · Q.· ·Could you read the next note?

20· · · A.· ·So, that's going on backward in time at

21 17:29 hours, "Noted swelling to left knee increasing

22 more.· M.D. notified."

23· · · Q.· ·And then can you just read the last note

24 there?

25· · · A.· ·That's at 17:08 hours, "Noted left knee
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·1 swelling increased.· Also noted by M.D."

·2· · · Q.· ·And you can stop there.

·3· · · · · ·Okay.· I want to shift your attention now

·4 to page 83 starting there, of Exhibit 6, paged 83

·5 through 87.· We briefly touched on this section of

·6 Exhibit 6 before, but just to refresh, what is this

·7 section?

·8· · · A.· ·Is the Emergency Medical Services' record,

·9 who came to pick up the patient from Humboldt and

10 transfer them to Renown.

11· · · Q.· ·Could you briefly describe under "Vital

12 Signs," what this all this states?

13· · · A.· ·So, this vital signs section is a table of

14 vital signs taken from before they departed the

15 Humboldt General Hospital until they arrived at the

16 Renown Hospital.

17· · · Q.· ·What does it state under column labeled

18 "BP"?

19· · · A.· ·This is the blood pressure repeated

20 measurements.· At 18:49 hours, the blood pressure

21 was measured at 59 over 40.

22· · · Q.· ·And what's the time range for the blood

23 pressure measurements?

24· · · A.· ·Beginning at 18:49 hours until 21:28.

25· · · Q.· ·What does the blood pressure reading of 59



Page 75
·1 over 40, what does that indicate?

·2· · · A.· ·Hypotension, or low blood pressure.

·3· · · Q.· ·And what -- when does hypotension start?

·4 Under what range?

·5· · · A.· ·So blood pressure is normalized by age of

·6 patient.· A -- the systolic number, or the first

·7 number, is the most reliable and most important to

·8 use decision-making, as to whether a patient needs

·9 treatment for low blood pressure or high blood

10 pressure.

11· · · · · ·That is considered to be low for a

12 three- year-old child, because we use the algorithm

13 of 70 plus two times the age.· So a number less than

14 76 in that first number would be considered low.

15· · · Q.· ·What time range was the blood pressure

16 less than 76?

17· · · A.· ·The time range between 18:49 and 19:38.

18 So I guess between 18:49 and 19:23.· Then, again,

19 just before arrival at the Renown Hospital.

20· · · Q.· ·In your opinion in the context of these

21 facts, what would this hypotension indicate for the

22 patient?

23· · · A.· ·Systemic symptoms of envenomization and

24 severe toxicity from that.

25· · · Q.· ·Based on your review of all the records
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·1 here provided, is blood pressure mentioned anywhere

·2 else?

·3· · · A.· ·It is -- not outside of this record from

·4 Humboldt General Hospital until arrival at Renown.

·5· · · Q.· ·If we could just go now to page 84.

·6 Actually, I apologize.· Backing up.· Going back to

·7 page 83, under the section titled "ECG," what does

·8 this section indicate?

·9· · · A.· ·This is an interpretation of the

10 electrocardiogram electrode leads they had on the

11 patient's chest.· And it indicates that from before

12 they left Humboldt General Hospital until just

13 before arriving at Renown, the patient had sinus

14 tachycardia, which means a fast heart rate, with a

15 normal electrographic tracing.

16· · · Q.· ·Given, in your opinion and the context of

17 the facts here, what does the tachycardia indicates?

18· · · A.· ·It indicates systemic toxicity from

19 envenomization.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now moving to page 84, under

21 "Initial Assessment," can you read the section

22 titled "Extremities"?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · · · · · ·"Patient had two puncture marks on

25· · · · · · · ·the anterior left know.· A circle
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·1· · · · · · · ·was drawn on the area indicating

·2· · · · · · · ·initial swelling ecchymosis, or

·3· · · · · · · ·bruising, upon arrival to the ER.

·4· · · · · · · ·There was a small amount of

·5· · · · · · · ·ecchymosis around the wound, as

·6· · · · · · · ·well as extending past the circle

·7· · · · · · · ·approximately one inch.· Her

·8· · · · · · · ·swelling was extended to the

·9· · · · · · · ·entire extremity.· The patient's

10· · · · · · · ·upper leg was approximately three

11· · · · · · · ·times the size of the opposite

12· · · · · · · ·leg.· The knee had swollen to the

13· · · · · · · ·same extent.· Streaking was noted

14· · · · · · · ·on the medial thigh.· CMS was

15· · · · · · · ·noted on all extremities, although

16· · · · · · · ·the patient's left leg was weak,

17· · · · · · · ·and she was unable to move it

18· · · · · · · ·without assistance.· Providers

19· · · · · · · ·limited the movement of the

20· · · · · · · ·extremity."

21· · · Q.· ·In your opinion, what does the patient's

22 inability to move her leg, what does that indicate?

23· · · A.· ·That indicates a weakness.· It also could

24 indicate a pain from the swelling and the bite, but

25 it also could indicate a neuromuscular weakness.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Then moving to page 85, under the

·2 section "Narrative," can you just describe what this

·3 narrative states about the swelling of the leg?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.· One moment.

·5· · · · · ·I notes in the third paragraph ER RN noted

·6 the patient's leg had swollen to three times the

·7 size while in the ER.· The EMS asked about the

·8 administration of the antivenom and was informed

·9 that Dr. Lasry advised against the administration.

10· · · · · ·That's it.

11· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I don't know if it's just

12 me, but I can't hear Mr. Shogren now.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I think they

14 are working on it.· We'll give them a minute.

15· · · · · ·Okay.· It's eleven o'clock right now.

16 I'll check back in at -- well, I guess we will just

17 go until 11:10, and then we will reconvene.

18· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

19· · · · · ·(Recess 11:00 A.M. TO 11:11 A.M.)

20· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on

21 the record in case 23-29251-1, In the Matter of

22 Charges and Complaint Against Jason Howard Lasry,

23 M.D.· We stopped for some technical difficulties,

24 but we seem to back on track now.

25· · · · · ·We were still within the direct of
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·1 Dr. Glissmeyer, who remains under oath.

·2· · · · · ·Go ahead, Mr. Shogren.

·3 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Dr. Glissmeyer, in your opinion,

·5 what does the combination of the tachycardia and

·6 hypotension, what could that possibly indicate?

·7· · · A.· ·That indicates systemic toxicity from the

·8 venom.

·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Based on your reviews of records

10 here, what were the contraindications for using

11 antivenom in this case?

12· · · A.· ·None.

13· · · Q.· ·Would the patient's weight have had any

14 sort of consideration?· Would that have changed

15 anything?

16· · · A.· ·No.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Next, I want to go back to page 85.

18 Could you read that last entry there, the last

19 paragraph on page 35?

20· · · A.· ·Page 35; is that correct?

21· · · Q.· ·Yes, 35.

22· · · A.· ·Last entry here at 5:45 P.M.:

23· · · · · · · ·"I discussed the full history and

24· · · · · · · ·physical examination with

25· · · · · · · ·Dr. Gassen from the emergency room
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·1· · · · · · · ·at Renown Hospital, and he agrees

·2· · · · · · · ·to accept the patient to transfer

·3· · · · · · · ·to his facility and agrees that

·4· · · · · · · ·antivenom is not required or

·5· · · · · · · ·indicated at this time.· Patient

·6· · · · · · · ·will be transferred for a higher

·7· · · · · · · ·level of care and for close

·8· · · · · · · ·observation and possible later ICU

·9· · · · · · · ·admission, depending on

10· · · · · · · ·condition."

11· · · Q.· ·Next I wanted to play -- this is

12 respondent's exhibit, and this is Exhibit 7, which

13 is audio of transfer center call number two.· And

14 I'm going play this right now.

15· · · · · ·(Audio played.)

16 BY MR. SHOGREN:

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Just to make sure, Dr. Glissmeyer

18 did you hear that recording?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·And in preparation for this hearing, did

21 you previously hear that recording?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·Can you briefly summarize what Dr. Lasry

24 stated about the patient's condition?

25· · · A.· ·That the patient was bitten by a snake,
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·1 had some swelling on the left leg, that it was

·2 increasing, that he didn't think antivenom should be

·3 administered.

·4· · · Q.· ·And in your opinion, if you were given

·5 that call, what would you convey to the other

·6 doctor?

·7· · · A.· ·I would convey the patient's vital signs.

·8· · · Q.· ·Is there anything else you would convey?

·9· · · A.· ·Probably a little bit more about how the

10 patient was doing, how they had vomited.· But

11 that's, really, the critical things.

12· · · Q.· ·Based off what you heard here, can you

13 summarized what the other provider, Dr. Gassen, what

14 he said about the use of antivenom?

15· · · A.· ·I don't recall him saying anything about

16 it.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I have a

18 question:· Has this call been transcribed?

19· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Not to my knowledge.

20· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Hueth, have

21 you had the call transcribed?

22· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· No, I have not.

23 BY MR. SHOGREN:

24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Dr. Glissmeyer, I wanted to wrap up

25 here.
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·1· · · · · ·In your reasoned professional opinion,

·2 after reviewing all of the facts in this case, the

·3 medical records, in your own experience at the very

·4 last, what should Dr. Lasry have done after the

·5 patient presented to Humboldt General Hospital with

·6 a snakebite?

·7· · · A.· ·Obtain full vital signs, including blood

·8 pressure, recognize the elevated heart rate,

·9 recognize the progression of swelling.· And

10 because -- and for reason of either of those being

11 true, administer antivenom before transferring the

12 patient.

13· · · Q.· ·Also in your opinion, how should the

14 patient have been transferred?

15· · · A.· ·I think that -- I think that's less

16 important in this case in the care of the patient.

17· · · · · ·Any patient should be transferred using

18 the fastest mode possible, especially in a setting

19 of the patient's systemic symptoms of illness with

20 tachycardia that were not addressed and fixed.

21 That's my answer.

22· · · Q.· ·In your opinion, when should have the

23 antivenom been administered?

24· · · A.· ·I believe that the presentation -- so, in

25 short, at the Humboldt Hospital.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·2· · · · · ·And would you opine that Dr. Lasry

·3 committed malpractice?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·And what's your opinion about Dr. Lasry,

·6 his maintaining records regarding the patient's

·7 condition?

·8· · · A.· ·I have concerns about the accuracy of the

·9 physical exam stating a regular rate with the

10 patient having tachycardia.· And concern with not

11 measuring the blood pressure in the patient during

12 the entirety of their stay.

13· · · Q.· ·Would you opine that Dr. Lasry failed to

14 properly consult with another physician regarding

15 the patient's condition?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Thank you, Dr. Glissmeyer.· No further

18 questions.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

20· · · · · ·So I'll pass to Ms. Hueth, but I have a

21 couple follow-up questions, and I don't want to step

22 on anybody's toes, but there are things we covered,

23 and I don't them to get skipped.

24· · · · · ·Since the call is not transcribed and I

25 had trouble hearing parts of it and we're asking
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·1 Dr. Glissmeyer about it, I thought I heard that

·2 transport was addressed.· I didn't hear if the mode

·3 of transport was addressed.

·4· · · · · ·Can someone clarify that for me?

·5· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· It says -- I think Dr. Gassen

·6 says, "How is she going to be transferred?"

·7· · · · · ·And Dr. Lasry says, "Via ground."

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank

·9 you.

10· · · · · ·And then what was the basis for concluding

11 that there was a failure to consult regarding the

12 patient's condition?· There was a conclusion, but

13 there was no basis stated for that.

14· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Well, I had elicited through

15 Dr. Glissmeyer's testimony that based on records,

16 the audio call, there's no mention of patient's

17 vital signs.

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· I would

19 like Dr. Glissmeyer to respond.

20· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I apologize.

21· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you, Ms. Halstead.

22 Can you repeat the question?

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· There was a

24 conclusion that Dr. Lasry failed to properly consult

25 regarding the patient's condition, and I wanted to
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·1 know what your basis for that conclusion was.

·2· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· The basis is failure to

·3 provide the vital signs of the patient.· As in the

·4 transcript, there is mention of this increasing

·5 swelling.· But no -- and a declaration that he

·6 didn't think that antivenom should be administered.

·7· · · · · ·But I didn't think that the phone call to

·8 the Renown Hospital physician, through their

·9 transfer center, was really one of consulting and a

10 back and forth discussion about should we administer

11 antivenom to this patient, but rather a handoff or

12 statement of what was done.

13· · · · · ·And I don't think that the referring

14 physician was really specifically asked the

15 question:· Would you recommend administering

16 antivenom to this patient?

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

18· · · · · ·Go ahead, Ms. Hueth, you can commence your

19 cross-examination.

20· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

21· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION

22 BY MS. HUETH:

23· · · Q.· ·Good morning, Dr. Glissmeyer.

24· · · A.· ·Good morning.

25· · · Q.· ·I have in my notes -- please correct me if



Page 86
·1 I'm wrong -- that you currently practice at Primary

·2 Children's Hospital in Salt Lake City?

·3· · · A.· ·Correct.

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And is that a rural critical access

·5 hospital?

·6· · · A.· ·Could you define what you mean by "rural

·7 critical access hospital"?

·8· · · Q.· ·Are you familiar with the JCo definition

·9 for accreditation of a rural critical access

10 hospital?

11· · · A.· ·Not specifically, no.

12· · · Q.· ·Where is Primary Children's Hospital

13 located?

14· · · A.· ·In Salt Lake City.

15· · · Q.· ·How many beds is your emergency

16 department?

17· · · A.· ·It's 33.

18· · · Q.· ·Just in the ED?

19· · · A.· ·Correct.

20· · · Q.· ·And do you know how many beds there are in

21 total at Primary Children's Hospital?

22· · · A.· ·I believe over 300.· In the low 300s.

23· · · Q.· ·At Primary Children's Hospital, as an ER

24 provider, do you have on-call specialists?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And typically what sorts of on-call

·2 specialists do you have?

·3· · · A.· ·We have the full array of medical and

·4 surgical specialties.

·5· · · Q.· ·Were you working at Primary Children's

·6 Hospital in Salt Lake City in May of 2020?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·And according to your CV, from 2021 to

·9 2023, you were also working on your MBA; is that

10 right?

11· · · A.· ·Correct.

12· · · Q.· ·In October of 2020, you became

13 board-certified in preventive medicine?

14· · · A.· ·No.· That's in clinical informatics

15 through the board of -- the American Board of

16 Preventive Medicine.

17· · · Q.· ·Did you have to take an exam to receive

18 that certification?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·When did you take that exam?

21· · · A.· ·I took that exam in the fall of 2020.

22· · · Q.· ·You testified earlier that the most-recent

23 patient that you treated as a result of a snakebite

24 was 18 months ago; is that right?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·So prior to May 9, 2020, how many patients

·2 had you personally administered antivenom to?

·3· · · A.· ·Approximately six before that patient.

·4· · · Q.· ·The patients that you administered

·5 antivenom to, were they ultimately admitted to the

·6 hospital?

·7· · · A.· ·All of them, yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·To what department in the hospital?

·9· · · A.· ·Some to the inpatient, regular medical

10 surgical floor.· And I believe at least one of those

11 total seven was admitted to the intensive care unit.

12· · · Q.· ·One of those patients, you testified,

13 required a skin graft; is that right?

14· · · A.· ·That's right.

15· · · Q.· ·Were there any other of those seven

16 patients that required, whether surgery or

17 additional intervention beyond the antivenom?

18· · · A.· ·Not surgery, no.

19· · · Q.· ·But some other intervention?

20· · · A.· ·Additional doses of antivenom after the

21 initial ones were required by most of the patients.

22· · · Q.· ·Those additional doses, did you provide

23 those in the ER?

24· · · A.· ·No.

25· · · Q.· ·They were provided to the patient after



Page 89
·1 the patient's admitted either to the ICU or the

·2 general medicine floor?

·3· · · A.· ·Correct.

·4· · · Q.· ·Earlier you were testifying regarding the

·5 two types of antivenom, and you testify that most

·6 hospitals will stock one of two antivenoms, either

·7 CroFab or ANAVIP; is that right?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·And when you were explaining that, were

10 you talking generally, or were you taking

11 specifically about Humboldt General Hospital?

12· · · A.· ·I was talking generally.· Yet in my review

13 of the records for this case, I requested

14 information as whether on the date of patient's

15 presentation, antivenom was available in the

16 hospital.

17· · · Q.· ·And did you see that information contained

18 within the Exhibit s presented by the Investigative

19 Committee?

20· · · A.· ·I would need reread all of them to be

21 absolutely sure.· I don't know.

22· · · Q.· ·Do you recall Mr. Shogren bringing that

23 information to your attention when he was asking you

24 questions?

25· · · A.· ·Not today, no.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· When you received the materials for

·2 this case, did you receive the records from Humboldt

·3 and the records from Renown?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·When you initially received the materials

·6 for this case, what else did you get?

·7· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I object to that.· I believe

·8 that's confidential.

·9· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Hueth, do

10 you have a response?

11· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I'll rephrase it.

12 BY MS. HUETH:

13· · · Q.· ·When you initially received materials

14 related to this case, you received records from

15 Humboldt General Hospital; is that right?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Renown?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Did you receive the death certificate?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· When you first received the

22 materials, you knew that this is patient passed;

23 true?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·When hindsight bias?
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·1· · · A.· ·It is the outcome after an event changing

·2 the -- one's perception of the circumstances of an

·3 event.

·4· · · Q.· ·If you can turn, please, to Exhibit 9,

·5 which are the medical records from Humboldt General

·6 Hospital, and specifically page -- Bates stamp page

·7 23?

·8· · · A.· ·Which Exhibit number?

·9· · · Q.· ·Nine.· Do you have that in front of you?

10· · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· What do I have in front of me?

11· · · Q.· ·Exhibit 6, page 23?

12· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And just to be

13 clear, there's two Exhibit 6 because one is

14 respondent's and is the IC's, and so the reference

15 is to the IC's Exhibit 6.

16· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Okay.· And for, I think, all

17 of my questions, but if not, they're from the

18 Investigative Committee's Exhibit s.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

20· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.· I should have

21 clarified.

22· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I have Exhibit 6.· Which

23 page?

24 BY MS. HUETH:

25· · · Q.· ·Bates stamp NSBME 023?
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·1· · · A.· ·I have it.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And according to this document, the

·3 paramedics got to the patient at 15:57; correct?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·That's 3:57?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·And the parents -- the patient's parents

·8 reported that the patient was bit about an hour ago;

·9 true?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·So around 2:57?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·The paramedics also document that the

14 patient's vitals were obtained and monitored during

15 transport to Humboldt General Hospital; correct?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Is there any document ation of the blood

18 pressure taken by the paramedics on route to

19 Humboldt General Hospital?

20· · · A.· ·No.

21· · · Q.· ·However, the paramedics do document that

22 the patient's condition upon arrival to the

23 emergency department was improved; correct?

24· · · A.· ·I'm reading.

25· · · Q.· ·Sure.· And it's in the middle -- still on
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·1 page 23, in the middle of the page, there's a box

·2 entitled "Condition at Destination."

·3· · · A.· ·Yes, I see that.

·4· · · Q.· ·And it says "improved"?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·If you can turn to page 76, please, still

·7 within that same Exhibit?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·The nurse's triage assessment, which, by

10 the way, what is a triage?

11· · · A.· ·That's an initial assessment of the

12 patient upon arrival to a setting of care, intended

13 to identify problems and address them in a fashion

14 expedited appropriate for the patient's illness.

15· · · Q.· ·And the nurse's triage assessment states

16 that the patient's skin color is normal for

17 ethnicity; true?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·It says that the temperature is warm;

20 correct?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·If you go to page 78.· There's the a

23 pediatric coma assessment, do you see that?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·And then above that, there's a
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·1 neurological assessment, do you see that?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·The patient is noted to be alert?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Earlier, you testified that you

·6 provided a number of articles to the Investigative

·7 Committee in support of your opinions in this case;

·8 is that true?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.

10· · · Q.· ·And if you turn to Exhibit 11, is this one

11 of those article that you provided?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·And you testified earlier, did you not,

14 that this article establishes the standard of care?

15· · · A.· ·It is an article that addresses the

16 standard of care, not the only.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And this article was published

18 September 14, 2020; is that right?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· But you testified earlier, did you

21 not, that it's your belief that earlier versions

22 were essentially identical to this one?

23· · · A.· ·In the major ways that affects this

24 patient's treatment, yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Then why didn't you provide a copy
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·1 of the article that would have been applicable at

·2 the time of this patient's treatment?

·3· · · A.· ·I did through the Wilderness Medical

·4 Society article published in 2015.

·5· · · Q.· ·We're not taking about that article,

·6 Doctor.· We're on Exhibit 11, which is a clinical

·7 practice statement.

·8· · · A.· ·I don't have an article -- I don't have a

·9 previous version of this article, nor do I know if a

10 previous version of this article was published prior

11 to the -- May 9 of 2020.

12· · · Q.· ·Well, do you know if a previous version

13 was published before September 14, 2020?

14· · · A.· ·I don't know that.

15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Then how do you know that -- wait,

16 let me take a step back.

17· · · · · ·You don't even know if there was a prior

18 version; true?

19· · · A.· ·That's correct.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· But in any event, number one, under

21 the executive summary entitled "How should patients

22 with potential snake envenomation be assessed?"· Do

23 you see that?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·And it goes on to say "All patients with
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·1 possible snakebite envenomization should have the

·2 following laboratory tests performed."· Do you see

·3 that?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·The first one is a complete blood count;

·6 is that right?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry ordered a complete blood count,

·9 didn't he?

10· · · A.· ·I'm going to look back at his notes and

11 make sure I answer your question accurately.

12· · · · · ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· It also says "A basic metabolic

14 profile," and on page 55, Dr. Lasry actually ordered

15 a comprehensive metabolic panel; true?

16· · · A.· ·True.

17· · · Q.· ·So just more tests than would be done in a

18 base metabolic profile; is that right?

19· · · A.· ·That's right.

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· The next test that should be

21 ordered is the PT, the prothrombin time, and

22 Dr. Lasry ordered that, did he not?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·The next one fibrinogen.· Dr. Lasry

25 ordered a fibrinogen; true?
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·1· · · A.· ·I don't see it document ed in his note.

·2 I'm looking through other records right now to see

·3 if it's was drawn but just not document ed in his

·4 physician note.

·5· · · Q.· ·Sure.· Why don't you turn to page 53,

·6 which is the orders.

·7· · · A.· ·Yeah, that was drawn.

·8· · · Q.· ·So a fibrinogen was ordered and drawn;

·9 true?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·And then creatin kinase, CK --

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·-- that was also ordered and drawn; true?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·So Dr. Lasry ordered the appropriate labs,

16 at least according to this article; correct?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Another article that you produced, and

19 it's in Exhibit 10, and you talked a little bit

20 about this earlier, entitled "Normal Ranges of Heart

21 Rate and Respiratory Rate in Children from Birth to

22 18 years.· A Systemic Review of Observational

23 Studies"; true?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And at least according to this
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·1 article, the mean respiratory rate of a child of the

·2 same age Patient A, so three years old, the mean

·3 respiratory rate is about 26; is that right?

·4· · · A.· ·I'm looking.

·5· · · · · ·Yes, that's right.

·6· · · Q.· ·And --

·7· · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· "Median" not the "mean."

·8· · · Q.· ·Thank you.· The median.· I apologize.

·9· · · · · ·Median being the middle, the fiftieth

10 percentile?

11· · · A.· ·Correct.

12· · · Q.· ·And there's a number of vital signs

13 document ed within the patient's medical records, in

14 which her respiratory rate is between 24 to 26;

15 true?

16· · · A.· ·I believe that's true, but I'm not looking

17 at that Exhibit we were looking at earlier right now

18 that had the various respiratory rates document ed,

19 but I believe that is accurate.

20· · · Q.· ·Sounds about right.

21· · · · · ·It still with this article, a heart rate

22 of 150 in a patient that is three years old would be

23 in what percentile?

24· · · A.· ·Greater than the ninety-ninth percentile.

25· · · Q.· ·Do you have the table in front of you?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yeah.· That's referencing -- let's see

·2 here, figure 4 on page 127 of Exhibit 10.

·3· · · Q.· ·When you provided this article to the

·4 Investigative Committee, was it your goal -- or did

·5 you feel like the article was helpful in

·6 establishing a normal range of heart rate,

·7 respiratory rate and other vitals of a patient of

·8 three years old?

·9· · · A.· ·My intent was to establish what is normal

10 and what is outside normal range for heart rate in

11 proving this article.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· For a patient such as the patient

13 we're talking about in this case, Patient A?

14· · · A.· ·Correct.

15· · · Q.· ·On page -- the same article, if you can

16 turn to page 122?

17· · · A.· ·Um-hum.

18· · · Q.· ·And excluded from this study, though, were

19 measurements taken at elevation greater than 1,000

20 meters above sea level; true?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·How many meters above sea level is

23 Winnemucca where Humboldt General Hospital is

24 located?

25· · · A.· ·I don't know.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Would you have any reason to dispute that

·2 it's over 1,300 meters above sea level?

·3· · · A.· ·No.

·4· · · Q.· ·And at least based upon this criteria, if

·5 I'm correct that Winnemucca is situated at more than

·6 1,300 meters above sea level, a patient would be

·7 excluded, at least under this study?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·Do you find it to be surprising that a

10 child who is in the emergency department after a

11 stressful event has an elevated heart rate?

12· · · A.· ·No.

13· · · Q.· ·Am I understanding your criticisms

14 correctly that one of your criticism is that

15 Dr. Lasry did not document that the heart rate was

16 tachycardic?

17· · · A.· ·One of them.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· But it is documented -- is it not?

19 -- in the medical records that the heart rate was

20 tachycardic.

21· · · A.· ·Not in his physician note.

22· · · Q.· ·That wasn't my question.

23· · · · · ·My question was:· Is it document ed in

24 patient's medical records from Humboldt General

25 Hospital emergency department that the heart rate
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·1 was tachycardic?

·2· · · A.· ·I would have to review them entirely to

·3 see if there is a Humboldt nurse or other assessment

·4 that made such a distinction.

·5· · · Q.· ·Sure.· Turn to page 74.

·6· · · A.· ·Page 74.· Tachycardia under the general

·7 subjective vital signs, document ed by Cristal

·8 Fimbre Espinosa.

·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So you see that it's document ed in

10 tachycardia?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·If you can turn back to page 72, which you

13 were discussing with Mr. Shogren?· Let me know when

14 you're at that page.

15· · · A.· ·I'm at that page.

16· · · Q.· ·Next to the peripheral pulse rate and the

17 BPM, there's a reference range.· Do you see that?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·The reference range is 70 to 100.· Do you

20 see that?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sorry.· Can you

23 redirect to that page again, please.

24· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yep.· 72.

25· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.
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·1 BY MS. HUETH:

·2· · · Q.· ·And the reference range is 70 to 100.· Do

·3 you see that?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·But, based upon your testimony for a

·6 three year old, the, I guess, reference range goes

·7 up to 140; is that true?

·8· · · A.· ·Reference range and percentiles are not

·9 the same thing.

10· · · Q.· ·Do you have any information to indicate

11 that this reference range if for a pediatric patient

12 and not an adult patient?

13· · · A.· ·I don't have any information on that

14 either way.

15· · · Q.· ·When you told Mr. Shogren that the little

16 h was indicating that this pulse rate was high for a

17 patient of this age, do you have any information to

18 indicate that high is actually adjusted for a

19 pediatric patient?

20· · · A.· ·No.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.

22· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· Ma'am.· I'm so sorry to

23 interrupt.· I just got a prompt that says I am now

24 the host.· And I -- yeah.· I'm not sure if something

25 -- I didn't touch anything, but apparently I'm the
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·1 host now.· And the investigator wants to be let in.

·2· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· You better let

·3 her in and see what happens.

·4· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· Okay.

·5· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Maybe she'll

·6 take it back from you.· We may have to log out and

·7 log back in.

·8· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, just let us know when that's

·9 resolved, please.

10· · · · · ·While we're waiting, Ms. Hueth, I'll just

11 note that it's your cross-examination, and so I will

12 let you direct the flow that works for you.· It's

13 nearly lunchtime, and I don't want to direct that on

14 your behalf, so you let us know when a good time

15 would be to break.

16· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I mean, I'm happy to break any

17 time.· The only thing is -- I don't know if the

18 doctor has time limitations that he needs to be done

19 by a certain time.· Otherwise, I'm happy to defer to

20 the group about when to take a break.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well, and

22 Mr. Shogren, I don't know if you're planning to

23 retain Dr. Glissmeyer for potential rebuttal and not

24 release him.· I don't know what all your

25 considerations are.
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·1· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I can just speak for myself

·2 and say that I do not any obligations on the rest of

·3 this working day today.

·4· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.· And I just want to say

·5 it looks like the technical difficult is fixed.

·6· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So,

·7 Ms. Hueth, again, I'm going to defer you because I

·8 don't want you to stop in a spot that works for you,

·9 given you're in the middle of your cross.

10· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· We've had a brief break, and

11 this is good as a time as any, if everyone is ready

12 for a lunch break, I'm happy to do so now.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· If you had to

14 go to another break point, how long do you think you

15 would be?

16· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Maybe 30 minutes.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Dr. Glissmeyer,

18 would you be fine going another 30 minutes.

19· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.

20· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And

21 Ms. Court Reporter?

22· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· Yes.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· I just

24 want to get as much under our belt as possible.

25 It's still -- it's not quite noon.· And then we
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·1 didn't start at 8:30, and we started later than

·2 that.

·3· · · · · ·So with that, Ms. Court Reporter, could

·4 you please read the last question and answer and we

·5 will go from there.

·6· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· I was afraid you were going

·7 to ask me that.· I was distracted by all the

·8 prompts.· So what I am going to do is play them for

·9 you.· If you could just stand by one second.

10· · · · · ·(Audio played.)

11· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Go ahead, Ms.

12 Hueth.

13· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

14 BY MS. HUETH:

15· · · Q.· ·Dr. Glissmeyer, turning now to Dr. Lasry's

16 documented physician exam, which is on Bates stamp

17 NSBME 034.

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry did perform a physician exam of

20 the patient; true?

21· · · A.· ·It's document ed.

22· · · Q.· ·And at least according to his

23 document ation of time of his examination, the

24 patient did not appear to be in distress, and she

25 was asking for juice?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry also documented his examination

·3 of left knee; true?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·And it was noted that there was no

·6 significant edema, no streaking, no skin necrosis,

·7 no peripheral edema, and then goes on to describe

·8 other negative findings; true?

·9· · · A.· ·At that time, yes.

10· · · Q.· ·Did you see anything in the medical

11 records to indicate that upon arrival to the

12 emergency department at Humboldt General Hospital

13 that the patient had muscle weakness?

14· · · A.· ·No.

15· · · Q.· ·Did you see anything in the medical

16 records to indicate that upon arrival to Humboldt

17 General Hospital that the patient was unable to move

18 her left leg?

19· · · A.· ·No.

20· · · Q.· ·Do you feel like the records were legible?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·At any time while the patient was in the

23 emergency department at Humboldt General Hospital is

24 it documented that she had muscle weakness?

25· · · A.· ·No.
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·1· · · · · ·It's also not document ed that did not,

·2 such as any measurement of her negative inspiratory

·3 force or assessment of her strength.

·4· · · Q.· ·And that's true of the documentation by

·5 the nurses as well?

·6· · · A.· ·I don't -- I'm looking right now.· I don't

·7 recall if the document ation about the patient's leg

·8 movement was by nurses or by other providers, such

·9 as the EMS providers later or someone else.

10· · · Q.· ·While the patient was in the emergency

11 department at Humboldt General Hospital, did you see

12 any document ation by anyone that the patient was

13 unable to move the leg?

14· · · A.· ·I don't think so, no.

15· · · Q.· ·In a patient with systemic envenomization,

16 would you expect to see low platelets?

17· · · A.· ·It is all depends when the labs were

18 drawn.· It's a time-dependent thing.

19· · · Q.· ·Can we please turn to Exhibit 11, which is

20 another one of the articles you provided.

21 Specifically, Bates stamp page 130?

22· · · A.· ·I'm there.

23· · · Q.· ·And under --

24· · · A.· ·-- clarifying question?

25· · · Q.· ·Excuse me?
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·1· · · A.· ·Can I just ask a clarifying question?

·2· · · Q.· ·Sure.

·3· · · A.· ·You're referring to this exhibit, yet

·4 earlier, you pointed out that document was written

·5 after the evaluation by Dr. Lasry.

·6· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I imagine she

·7 will put that in context in her question.

·8 Otherwise, can be an argument as to weight that

·9 Mr. Shogren can raise.

10· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Okay.· Thank you.

11· · · · · ·Go ahead.

12 BY MS. HUETH:

13· · · Q.· ·And, Doctor, let me try and ask a

14 clarifying question:· Was this an article that you

15 found and you provided to the Investigative

16 Committee?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·And why did you do that?

19· · · A.· ·To support my recommendation

20 that antivenom should have been administered.

21· · · Q.· ·All right.· So you felt like this article

22 and the opinions contained therein support your

23 opinions with respect to this patient's care; true?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so it's says "Administer
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·1 antivenom for any of the following," and then the

·2 third bullet point says "Significant or progressive

·3 hematologic toxicity, abnormalities that are

·4 particularly worrisome, include fibrinogen of less

·5 than 50 milligrams or platelets less than 50,000."

·6 Did I read that correctly?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·And this patient's platelets were normal;

·9 true?

10· · · A.· ·True.

11· · · Q.· ·Her creatinine level was also normal?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·And her CK, which was another one of the

14 labs, the creatin kinase, that was also normal?

15· · · A.· ·Yes.

16· · · Q.· ·There was no evidence rhabdomyolysis?

17· · · A.· ·Not at that time of the lab, no.

18· · · Q.· ·When it has the lab sample collected?

19· · · A.· ·Let's see.· The creatin kinase was

20 collected -- I know it was ordered at 16:31 hours on

21 May 9.· It's not entirely clear to me exactly when

22 it was collected, but sometime after that order.

23· · · Q.· ·If you turn to Exhibit 6, page 68, Bates

24 stamp page 68.

25· · · A.· ·Thank you.
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·1· · · · · ·So, yeah, so all these labs, the CBC, the

·2 comprehensive metabolic panel, the coagulation test,

·3 PTINR, PTT, collected at 17:00.

·4· · · Q.· ·So five o'clock?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Several hours after the snakebite; true?

·7· · · A.· ·I wouldn't say several.· The snakebite --

·8 let's see.· 3:56 was when the EMS providers arrived

·9 on the scene.· 2:56 was the time estimated the

10 patient was bit.· So between 2:56 and 5:00 P.M., so

11 two hours and four minutes.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And going back to Exhibit 11, the

13 article that you provided because you felt it

14 supported you opinions, on page 130.· If you can let

15 me know when you have that in front of you.

16· · · A.· ·I have it.

17· · · Q.· ·Under what I just read, it goes on to say

18 "Minimal hematologic" -- excuse me.· "Lab

19 abnormalities, e.g., isolated fibrinogen levels

20 between 100 and 150, in an otherwise well-appearing

21 patient, warrant serial testing, but not treatment

22 with antivenom."· Did I read that correctly?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·If we can turn, please, to Exhibit 12?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Is that an article that you also provided

·2 to the Investigative Committee?

·3· · · A.· ·Yes.

·4· · · Q.· ·Did you provide this article because you

·5 felt like it supported your opinions in this case?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·The Wilderness Medical Society practice

·8 guidelines, do they establish the standard of care

·9 for an emergency medicine doctor, in your opinion?

10· · · A.· ·They are one of the resources that

11 establish the standard of care.

12· · · Q.· ·Within this document, on page 139, there

13 is the table, table 3 is entitled "Laboratory and

14 Diagnostic Testing for Snakebite Evaluation."· Do

15 you see that?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·And it says "Fibrinogen most specific for

18 coagulopathy.· Important to obtain measured, but not

19 calculated level."· Did I read that correctly?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·What's coagulopathy?

22· · · A.· ·That's the blood either not clotting or

23 clotting too readily.

24· · · Q.· ·And what is the significance of that when

25 evaluating a patient after a snakebite?
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·1· · · A.· ·Oh, it's one of many ways in which their

·2 body systems can be deranged?

·3· · · Q.· ·And what significance, if any, does

·4 whether or not a patient has signs of coagulopathy

·5 have after a snakebite?

·6· · · A.· ·Whether they have it or not doesn't mean

·7 they were bitten or not bitten.

·8· · · Q.· ·Does it give you any information as to

·9 whether there's systemic envenomization occurring?

10· · · A.· ·Could be one of the indications, but it's

11 not the only indication of systemic envenomization?

12· · · Q.· ·Sure.· Did you think I was asking if it

13 was the only indication of systemic envenomization?

14· · · A.· ·I wanted to be clear of what my answer

15 was.

16· · · Q.· ·This patient's fibrinogen level was

17 normal; was it not?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Right above that, with respect to

20 the PTINR, PTT is says "Evaluate for coagulopathy

21 (INR is most useful)."· Did I read that correctly?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·And this patient's INR was also normal;

24 true?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Just before, maybe, we break for lunch, if

·2 you turn to the next page, which is NSBME 140, and

·3 on the right side of that page, the right column,

·4 maybe about half way down in this article that you

·5 provided because you felt it was helpful, it says

·6 "All patients receiving antivenom should be admitted

·7 to the hospital for further observation, maintenance

·8 antivenom dosing, and repeat laboratory testing

·9 until abnormalities resolved"; true?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·"Manufacturer recommended maintenance

12 dosing includes two vials of antivenom every

13 six hours for three consecutive doses"; true?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·So that would be over the course of

16 18 hours; true?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.

19· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· For me, this is a good time to

20 break.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Is

22 everyone fine with that?

23· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.

24· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And how

25 long would everyone like to break?· At least an
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·1 hour?· Do you need more?

·2· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I don't need more, but I was

·3 going to request that I can -- my client and I can

·4 rejoin the Zoom, but from my office.· I'm just

·5 having a little trouble hearing with the laptop here

·6 that the Board generously set up for us.

·7· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I want to make

·8 sure that you get lunch, that you get refreshed, and

·9 that you have travel time.· So what works for you

10 for a time to reconvene?

11· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· No more than an hour and a

12 half would be needed more me.· And I could even do

13 less, if that's everyone's preference.

14· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· So right now

15 an hour would be -- a little more than an hour would

16 be 1:15.· Would 1:30 be more helpful?

17· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· It would for me, as long as

18 it's okay with everybody.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· I see

20 it's good with Dr. Glissmeyer.

21· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren?

22· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· That's fine.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

24· · · · · ·Ms. Smith?

25· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· Just tell me when to be
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·1 back, and I'll be here.

·2· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· We'll

·3 back at 1:30, everyone.· Thank you.

·4· · · · · ·(Lunch recess from 12:08 P.M. to 1:30

·5· · · · · ·P.M.)

·6· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're going

·7 back on the record.· This is case number 23-29251-1,

·8 In the Matter of Charges and Complaint Against Jason

·9 Howard Lasry, M.D.· We have left off with the

10 cross-examination of Dr. Glissmeyer, who is present

11 and remains under oath.· All parties are present.

12 We've had a lunch break.· It is now 1:31, and we

13 will the proceedings.

14· · · · · ·Ms. Heuth, you may continue.

15· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

16 BY MS. HUETH:

17· · · Q.· ·Doctor, over the lunch break, did you have

18 an opportunity to speak with Mr. Shogren regarding

19 your testimony?

20· · · A.· ·I have not had any communication with him.

21· · · Q.· ·If we can turn back to Exhibit 6, which is

22 the Humboldt General Hospital medical records, and

23 specifically page 35, please.· Let me know when

24 you're there.

25· · · A.· ·I'm there.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry, you would agree, assessed the

·2 patient on multiple occasions, at least as far as

·3 his document ation; true?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·And when he reassessed the patient, he

·6 noted that there was increasing edema and swelling

·7 at the site of her envenomization, and there's

·8 approximately 25 percent more edema in the radius of

·9 circle of swelling; true?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·The patient remained -- excuse me.· Let me

12 take a step back.

13· · · · · ·Dr. Lasry notes that the patient is doing

14 well, she's watching a movie, she is awake and

15 talking; true?

16· · · A.· ·That's what's stated.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You're not aware of any information

18 to suggestion that that's false, are you?

19· · · A.· ·No.

20· · · Q.· ·On the same page, it's document ed that

21 Dr. Lasry had a conversation with Dr. Thorp

22 regarding admitting the patient; true?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·And that Dr. Thorp was not comfortable

25 accepting admission and preferred that the patient
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·1 be transferred to a facility with a higher level of

·2 care; true?

·3· · · A.· ·Yes.

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You're not of the opinion -- are

·5 you? -- that Dr. Lasry didn't think this patient

·6 would ever need antivenom.

·7· · · A.· ·No.

·8· · · Q.· ·Because Dr. Lasry document that, while he

·9 did not think antivenom indicated at that time, it

10 may be required or indicated at a future time;

11 correct?

12· · · A.· ·Correct.

13· · · Q.· ·Ultimately, it's Dr. Thorp's decision

14 whether or not to accept admission of this patient;

15 true?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·Once Dr. Thorp declines the admission,

18 Dr. Lasry then calls the emergency department

19 physician a Renown; correct?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·And we heard the recording earlier, and

22 Dr. Lasry told the ER physician at Renown that he

23 was on the fence regarding the administration of

24 antivenom.· Do you recall that?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·But that he did not think the

·2 administration of antivenom was an emergency at that

·3 time; true?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·And during that conversation between what

·6 we heard via the audio recording and what's

·7 document ed at least, the ER physician at Renown did

·8 not battery express any concern or suggest that

·9 antivenom be started before the patient's transfer;

10 true?

11· · · A.· ·With the information that physician was

12 presented, true.

13· · · Q.· ·Well, did you hear in that recording the

14 physician ask for more information?

15· · · A.· ·No.

16· · · Q.· ·Did the ER physician at Renown ask for the

17 patient's vital signs?

18· · · A.· ·No.

19· · · Q.· ·Did the ER physician at Renown express

20 concern about transferring the patient via ground

21 ambulance as opposed to air?

22· · · A.· ·No.

23· · · Q.· ·So, at least based upon the document ation

24 as well as what we've heard, there's evidence that

25 Dr. Lasry spoke with two other physicians regarding
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·1 this patient while she was in the emergency

·2 department at Humboldt General Hospital; true?

·3· · · A.· ·True.

·4· · · Q.· ·Ultimately, consent to transfer the

·5 patient via air belonged to the patient's mother,

·6 given her age; is that true?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·If you can please turn to page 27.· Let me

·9 know when you're there.

10· · · A.· ·Yes, I'm there.

11· · · Q.· ·This is the Physician's Certification and

12 Patient Transfer Form; correct?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·And on the left side, maybe a third of the

15 way down, do you see the box where it says "Family

16 notified"?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·And then below that, it says "Family

19 going," and "Y" is circled.· Do you see that?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Does that indicate to you that the family

22 was going to go in the ambulance with the patient

23 during transfer?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·The box underneath, that the first line is
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·1 "allergies."· Do you see that?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·And then at the bottom of the box, it's

·4 signed by a nurse; true?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Would this indicate to you that the nurse

·7 fills out at least this portion of the form?

·8· · · A.· ·I don't know about filling it out.

·9 Responsible for its content, I would say yes.

10· · · Q.· ·That the nurse is responsible for the

11 content of this box of the form?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And there's no blood pressure

14 noted?

15· · · A.· ·Yes, there's not.

16· · · Q.· ·Temperature, 36.6, is that normal?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Her oxygen saturation of 96 percent,

19 normal?

20· · · A.· ·Yes, normal.

21· · · Q.· ·And what was that patient's pain scale?

22· · · A.· ·Zero.

23· · · Q.· ·On a scale of zero to ten, ten being the

24 highest?

25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·If you can turn to Exhibit 12, page 139,

·2 and let me when you're there.

·3· · · A.· ·I am there.

·4· · · Q.· ·On the left column of that page at the

·5 bottom, the last sentence in the paragraph states

·6 "From minor envenomization, patients should be

·7 observed for 12 to 24 hours, and have repeat

·8 laboratory studies every four to six hours."· Did I

·9 read that correctly?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·Then it goes on to state "Patients with

12 moderate to severe envenomization should receive

13 antivenom, be admitted to the hospital, and have

14 repeat laboratory studies within four hours hours of

15 the initial set."· Did I read that correctly?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.

17· · · Q.· ·But at the time -- and the reason that the

18 patient had to be transferred, in part at least, was

19 because Dr. Thorp did not accept admission of

20 patient; true?

21· · · A.· ·I think that's part of the reason, yes.

22· · · Q.· ·Well, and at least according to what we

23 just read, even if Dr. Lasry felt antivenom was

24 indicated, the patient would need to be admitted;

25 true?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Do you have an understanding or any

·3 information to suggest that Humboldt General

·4 Hospital had the capability or the resources to keep

·5 this patient in the emergency department for

·6 24 hours to monitor her and re-dose antivenom, if

·7 necessary?

·8· · · A.· ·No.

·9· · · Q.· ·And, Doctor, you're not offering the

10 opinion that if a toxicologist was consulted, it

11 would have led to a different result in this case,

12 are you?

13· · · A.· ·I am offering that opinion.

14· · · Q.· ·And what do you base that on?

15· · · A.· ·Based on the criteria to give antivenom in

16 patients with evidence of systemic toxicity and

17 local swelling.

18· · · Q.· ·And earlier you, in answering questions by

19 Mr. Shogren, testified that the evidence of systemic

20 envenomization in this case was the tachycardia; is

21 that right?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·The hypotension?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·And the progression of the swelling?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· While the patient was in the

·3 emergency department at Humboldt General Hospital,

·4 there's no evidence of airway swelling, was there?

·5· · · A.· ·No.

·6· · · Q.· ·No evidence of respiratory depression?

·7· · · A.· ·No.

·8· · · Q.· ·No evidence of respiratory compromise?

·9· · · A.· ·No.

10· · · Q.· ·No evidence of weakness in breathing?

11· · · A.· ·It was not tested.

12· · · Q.· ·And the test for that was called what,

13 again?

14· · · A.· ·Negative inspiratory force.

15· · · Q.· ·And how's that tested?

16· · · A.· ·With a simple hand-held device that you

17 suck in while putting your mouth around.· And if you

18 can suck in about 20 centimeters of water, you have

19 normal strength of inspiration.

20· · · Q.· ·Do you have any information to suggest

21 whether or not in the emergency department at

22 Humboldt General Hospital on May 9th, 2020, that

23 they had the device to test the negative inspiratory

24 force?

25· · · A.· ·No.
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·1· · · Q.· ·No document ation that the patient was

·2 having to use her accessory muscles to breathe, is

·3 there?

·4· · · A.· ·No.

·5· · · · · ·I will point out that patients with

·6 respiratory weakness don't have evidence of working

·7 hard to breathe.

·8· · · Q.· ·In the medical records from the emergency

·9 department at Humboldt General Hospital, there's no

10 evidence that the swelling progressed past the

11 patient's ankle, is there?

12· · · A.· ·So it progressed on to the thigh and lower

13 leg.· I'm not sure what you mean by past their

14 ankle.· Do you mean on to their foot?

15· · · Q.· ·Going down past that ankle?

16· · · A.· ·No.· No, I don't think there is.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Earlier you testified -- correct me

18 if I'm wrong -- that the development of redness or

19 bruising can vary among patients?

20· · · A.· ·Correct.

21· · · Q.· ·And it can take hours after a snakebite

22 for that bruising to develop?

23· · · A.· ·Correct.

24· · · Q.· ·And earlier you testified that mottling is

25 color changes to the skin; true?
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·1· · · A.· ·Correct.

·2· · · Q.· ·Turning back to the medical records

·3 contained within Exhibit 6, and specifically

·4 page 79.

·5· · · A.· ·Okay.

·6· · · Q.· ·According to this note, the patient's care

·7 was turned over to paramedics at 18:24; true?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·And if you go to page 84.· Are you there?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

12· · · · · ·The paramedics document that the patient

13 was alert and acting normal for her age; correct?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·That she was speed to her mother with

16 clear sentences, with no signs of respiratory

17 distress; true?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·The skin assessment, it says "skin," and

20 there's a negative sign.· Do you see that?

21· · · A.· ·Yes, I see that.

22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you understand that to mean that

23 there was no signs, with respect to the skin

24 assessment, that it was cold or cyanotic?

25· · · A.· ·So, that indicates to me that, except for
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·1 what is document ed in the extremities, that is

·2 true.

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Well, the subcategory specifically

·4 relates to skin; true?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·And then there's a negative sign, and then

·7 it goes on to say "negative, hot, jaundice,

·8 lividity, mottled, pale"; correct?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes, that's what it says.

10· · · Q.· ·Earlier you testified that hypotension in

11 a patient of this age, three years old, looking at

12 top number is when the top number is below 70; is

13 that right?

14· · · A.· ·In a child this age, below 76.

15· · · Q.· ·Below 76.

16· · · · · ·At least according to paramedics, the

17 potassium was discontinued due to hypotension; true?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·And then on page 83,three we see in the

20 blood pressure goes up at 19:38.· Do you see that?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·Now the top number is above 76, so it's no

23 longer hypotensive; true?

24· · · A.· ·That's right.

25· · · Q.· ·And remains above 76 for almost two hours
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·1 until 21:17; true?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You mentioned that your

·4 interpretation at least of the paramedics' skin

·5 assessment is it's negative, except for what's

·6 document ed in the extremities portion; is that

·7 right?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you read this into the record

10 earlier, but in the extremities, it starts with

11 "Patient had two puncture marks on the anterior left

12 knee."· Do you see that?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then it goes on, skipping a few

15 sentences ahead, to say "Currently, swelling was

16 extended to the entire extremity.· The patient's

17 upper leg was approximately three times the size of

18 opposite leg."· Did I read that correctly?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·The fact that the upper leg was

21 document ed as being three times the size of the

22 opposite leg by the paramedics, did you see anything

23 document ed by the nurses at Humboldt General

24 Hospital that reflected that?

25· · · A.· ·I saw it document ed by the nurses --
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·1 well, increasing swelling.· Nothing specifically by

·2 the nurses as three times the size of the opposite

·3 leg, but increasing swelling is document ed by the

·4 nurses.· As also by Dr. Lasry's note.

·5· · · Q.· ·On the next page, page 85, you were asked

·6 to read into the record, in the third paragraph

·7 under the narrative, "ER RN noted that the patient's

·8 leg had swollen to three times the size while in the

·9 ER."· Do you recall reading that into the record?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.· This is from the EMS note.

11· · · Q.· ·Right.· And as we just discussed, there's

12 nowhere where an ER nurse document s that leg had

13 swollen to three times the size; true?

14· · · A.· ·In those words, true.

15· · · Q.· ·Would you agree that the standard of care

16 is what a reasonable physician would do in similar

17 circumstances?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Would you agree that whether or not a

20 doctor complied with the standard of care is

21 determined prospectively, not retrospectively?

22· · · A.· ·That question doesn't make sense to me

23 because you can't determine what someone's actions

24 were before those actions happen.

25· · · Q.· ·That's fair enough.
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·1· · · · · ·Would you right agree that the standard of

·2 care should be determined without using hindsight?

·3· · · A.· ·I think that the actions of a physician

·4 should be judged independent of the final outcome.

·5· · · Q.· ·And the actions of the physician should be

·6 judged based upon the information that the physician

·7 had available to him or her at the time of their

·8 care?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.· Yes, with a caveat, if I could add

10 that caveat, that you actually obtain the

11 information you should on a patient you care for.

12· · · Q.· ·Sure.· My point, though, is that the fact

13 that this patient had a terrible result, that the

14 patient -- it was devastating, we'd all agree, that

15 the patient died, that the fact that the patient

16 died, alone, does establish that Dr. Lasry breached

17 the standard of care; would you agree with that?

18· · · A.· ·Absolutely.

19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· If you could turn to Exhibit 12?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·This is the article you provided from

22 Wilderness Medical Society; correct?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·And this was published in 2015; correct?

25· · · A.· ·Correct.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Has there been any updates or revisions to

·2 this since 2015?

·3· · · A.· ·There wasn't at the time that I looked

·4 when reviewing this case.· I don't know about since

·5 then.· So, not at least through 2021, I think, or

·6 2022.

·7· · · Q.· ·Had you ever seen this article before you

·8 were working on this case?

·9· · · A.· ·I had, yeah.· This is one of the articles

10 reviewed in some teaching that I did, just informal

11 teaching with our fellows about pit viper

12 envenomization in our emergency department.

13· · · Q.· ·Are you member of the Wilderness Medical

14 Society?

15· · · A.· ·No.

16· · · Q.· ·On page 132, under the introduction, about

17 half way through, it states "These guidelines should

18 assist in clinical decision-making, but a cookbook

19 approach is often insufficient, as each patient is

20 unique and may respond differently to therapeutics."

21 Do you agree with that?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·It goes on to say "Physicians must use

24 their experience and frequently clinical assessments

25 to apply these recommendations to their individual
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·1 patients."· Did I read that correctly?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·If you can please turn to Exhibit 8, and

·4 specifically page 100.· Let me know when you're

·5 there.

·6· · · A.· ·I'm there.

·7· · · Q.· ·The second to last full paragraph on that

·8 page states: "In the ambulance, her mental status

·9 worsened.· She became obtended and was snoring,

10 which is unusual for her."· Did I read that

11 correctly?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Did you see anywhere in the paramedics'

14 records reflecting that the patient was snoring?

15· · · A.· ·Not in those words, specifically, but in

16 patients who are snoring when there's a possibility

17 of them having ineffective breathing, ineffective

18 breathing is an example of snoring breathing, or

19 rather snoring breathing is an example of

20 ineffective breathing.

21· · · · · ·And that's document ed on page 85 of

22 Exhibit 6, in the EMS records.· So the exact same

23 word isn't used, but I think that's an immaterial

24 differentiator.· Yeah.

25· · · Q.· ·So -- do I understand you correctly? --
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·1 what you're saying is that snoring is a type of

·2 effect ineffective breathing.

·3· · · A.· ·Yes.

·4· · · Q.· ·And --

·5· · · A.· ·-- talking about -- to be really clear,

·6 almost everyone snores -- right? -- and they snore

·7 when they sleep.

·8· · · · · ·That's -- when you're talking about a

·9 patient become obtended and was snoring, that's not

10 talking about a sleeping patient that can be

11 aroused.· Obtended is unarousable, not any level of

12 restorable consciousness through stimulation.

13· · · · · ·So, it's imprecise language here, but this

14 is not referring to normal sleeping snoring.· And,

15 therefore, that's why I'm concluding that.· But I --

16 yeah.· Enough said.

17· · · Q.· ·The next sentence "Transport team

18 initiated bag-mask ventilation for the last few

19 minutes" -- which is in quotation marks -- "of

20 transport."· Do you see that?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·Do you have any reason to dispute that?

23· · · A.· ·No.

24· · · Q.· ·You were asked a bit about Exhibit 9,

25 which is the Certificate of Death?
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·1· · · A.· ·When we referred to it earlier, we weren't

·2 referring to Exhibit 9; we were referring to the

·3 transcript of it in the Renown record in Exhibit 8,

·4 but go ahead.

·5· · · Q.· ·Well, did I understand you correctly when

·6 you testified earlier that this was one of the

·7 documents that you reviewed when you received

·8 materials for this case?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes.

10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And on the bottom right, box

11 number 26, do you see that?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·It says "autopsy, yes"; correct?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·And then the next box "Was case referred

16 to coroner," it says "yes"; correct?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· The autopsy report, that is not

19 contained within any of the Exhibit s in front of

20 you, is it?

21· · · A.· ·No.

22· · · Q.· ·Can you please turn the Exhibit 13, page

23 153, and let me know when you're there?

24· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can you repeat

25 that again, please.
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·1· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Sure.· Exhibit 13, page 153.

·2· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

·3· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I am there now.

·4 BY MS. HUETH:

·5· · · Q.· ·And this is another one of the articles

·6 that you provided because you felt like it supported

·7 your opinions?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·This particular article by UpToDate

10 indicates the literature review was current through

11 October of 2022; is that right?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·And this topic was last updated August 1,

14 2022; true?

15· · · A.· ·Yes.

16· · · Q.· ·So it was updated two years after

17 Patient A's care; correct?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·But on page 153, it maybe the second to

20 last full paragraph, starts with "Additional

21 observation experience suggests that untreated

22 Crotalinae envenomization is rarely fatal in regions

23 where cooperhead bites predominate, but can be life

24 or limb threatening," and this it goes on to say

25 "For example, an observational study of 81 adult and
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·1 pediatric patients who were managed without

·2 antivenom therapy after snakebite, 45 copperhead, 12

·3 water moccasin, 10 rattlesnake, and 14 unknown,

·4 reported no fatalities or long term morbidity";

·5 correct?

·6· · · A.· ·I -- that is what it says.

·7· · · Q.· ·And, again, this was an article that you

·8 provided because you felt like it was helpful and

·9 supported you opinions?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.· The region where this occurred is

11 not a region where copperhead snakebites

12 predominate.

13· · · Q.· ·Sure.· And I wasn't trying to suggest that

14 it was, but that observational study at least

15 included ten rattlesnake bits, and the patient's

16 were managed without antivenom and none of them

17 died; correct?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.· In that study, that's representing

19 about 15 percent or so percent of all the snakes,

20 but yes.

21· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Just one moment.· Those are

22 all the questions I have for now.· Thank you.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren,

24 redirect?

25· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes, just a couple follow-up
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·1 questions.

·2· · · · · · · · ·REDIRECT EXAMINATION

·3 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·4· · · Q.· ·Dr. Glissmeyer, your experience and

·5 knowledge, when should antivenom be administered to

·6 snakebite victims?

·7· · · A.· ·As early as the patient demonstrates one

·8 of three things: evidence of systemic toxicity as

·9 defined by abnormalities in vital signs that

10 persist, evidence of --

11· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Just go slowly

12 because I want to -- it's hard for me to write all

13 these medical terms quickly.

14· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I can stop and wait.

15· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So,

16 you're saying antivenom should be administered --

17· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· As soon as possible.

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· As soon

19 as possible when there are signs of?

20· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Of one of three things.· The

21 first being signs of systemic toxicity as evidence

22 by vital -- persistent vital sign abnormalities.

23 Number two -- this is any one of these three.

24 Number two, signs of progressive swelling as it

25 monitored progressively in the patient or over time.
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·1· · · · · ·Four, the laboratory abnormalities that

·2 we've discussed, particularly the things like the

·3 low platelets, elevated INR, abnormal fibrinogen

·4 level.· There's others too.

·5 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·6· · · Q.· ·And why should antivenom be administered

·7 as soon as possible if one of those three things

·8 presents itself?

·9· · · A.· ·To prevent local tissue damage and

10 mortality.

11· · · Q.· ·And just to be clear, could you turn to

12 page 153, which is Exhibit 13 of the Board's

13 Exhibit s here?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·First, could you read the very last

16 sentence of -- on page 153?· This is the article

17 that you relied on; correct?

18· · · A.· ·One of them.

19· · · Q.· ·Yes.

20· · · A.· ·In addition, the clinician should provide

21 pain control and monitor for and be ready to manage

22 hypotension, bleeding, rhabdomyolysis, elevated

23 tissue, and/or compartment pressures, and, rarely,

24 respiratory failure.

25· · · Q.· ·In your opinion, why should the clinician
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·1 monitor for hypotension?

·2· · · A.· ·It's one of the cardinal vital signs that

·3 all patients should have monitored in the emergency

·4 department, measured at least once.· Low blood

·5 pressure, especially in this setting, is a sign of

·6 shock and a sign of systemic toxicity.

·7· · · Q.· ·Just in general, in your experience, what

·8 are some signs of shock or symptoms of shock?

·9· · · A.· ·So the earliest and most sensitive or the

10 ones that appear most early are elevated heart rate.

11 A later vital sign that becomes abnormal more later

12 is a low blood pressure.

13· · · · · ·Other clinical signs or examination

14 finding signs of shock include poor profusion, which

15 is measured multiple ways, including by how strong a

16 patient's pulses are.· If they're weak, that's

17 concerning for poor profusion.· Or their capillary

18 refill, which is a physical exam measurement of how

19 quickly the normal skin color returns after using

20 the examiner's finger or thumb to push on the skin,

21 have it turn a little lighter color because you're

22 pushing the blood out of the skin, and then watching

23 that come back.· If that is prolonged longer than

24 three or so seconds, that's concerning for poor

25 profusion.
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·1· · · · · ·And then other findings, such as -- would

·2 be caused by poor blood flow through the body, such

·3 as a patient being confused or sleepy.· Such as a

·4 patient having poor urine output and other findings

·5 that would be found later on over monitoring of a

·6 longer period of time than is usually done in the

·7 emergency department.

·8· · · · · ·And then other laboratory findings too

·9 that are not usually abnormal at first, but become

10 more abnormal with time in settings of shock, like

11 the ones we reviewed in this case, like signs of

12 liver damage with liver enzyme elevations and many

13 other laboratory abnormalities that can only really

14 present over time.

15· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

16· · · · · ·During the cross-examination there, there

17 was mention of -- I think it was called "hindsight

18 bias," which was discussed.· In your own personal

19 experience, your had mentioned previously during the

20 direct examination you had administered antivenom to

21 to multiple patients.· When did you administer it --

22 or how soon after from being bitten did you

23 administer it?

24· · · A.· ·That's fairly variable because some of

25 these patients came to me within an hour of being
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·1 bit, some it was multiple hours, but it was always

·2 within about an hour of the arrival at the emergency

·3 department in my care.

·4· · · Q.· ·And in your own experience, to what extent

·5 do, I guess, the setup of the emergency department,

·6 how does that play into your consideration to

·7 administer antivenom?

·8· · · A.· ·Antivenom can be administered in the most

·9 rural critical access hospital, as well as it can in

10 a cursorary referral or botany referral medical

11 center like the one I practice in.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And just to be clear, based on your

13 review of the records, while at Humboldt, who was

14 the patient's physician?

15· · · A.· ·Jason Lasry.

16· · · Q.· ·Is there any mention of any other

17 attending physicians?

18· · · A.· ·I don't believe so.

19· · · Q.· ·And what -- in your view of the records

20 here, what mention is there of the availability of

21 antivenom?

22· · · A.· ·I don't believe that's mentioned in these

23 records here.

24· · · Q.· ·Based on your review of the records, how

25 is that -- sorry.· I take that back, the question.
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·1· · · · · ·And just to be clear, you touched on this

·2 before, but if you turn to page 79 of the Board's

·3 exhibits.

·4· · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· Which exhibit?

·5· · · Q.· ·Page 79.

·6· · · A.· ·In which exhibit number?· Sorry?

·7· · · Q.· ·I'm sorry.· This is Exhibit 6.

·8· · · A.· ·Thank you.

·9· · · · · ·I'm there.

10· · · Q.· ·Just in general, what are these notes

11 here?· These are --

12· · · A.· ·These are notes of the patient from the

13 emergency department at Humboldt General Hospital,

14 on the date of visit May 9, that were document ed on

15 this page here by the nurse.

16· · · Q.· ·What do these notes say about the

17 swelling?

18· · · A.· ·That it was increasing more and the

19 physician was notified of that.· On three occasions.

20· · · Q.· ·Um-hum.· And -- give me one second here.

21· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I have no further questions.

22· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I just have a few follow-up.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Go ahead,

24 Ms. Heuth.

25· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.
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·1· · · · · · · · ·RECROSS-EXAMINATION

·2 BY MS. HUETH:

·3· · · Q.· ·Doctor, you testified a few moments ago

·4 that a couple of the signs of shock or a sign of

·5 shock is poor profusion as demonstrated by how

·6 strong that pulses are as well as capillary refill;

·7 is that right?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.· Other ways profusion can be

·9 measured.

10· · · Q.· ·And with respect capillary refill, you

11 said "If it takes longer than three seconds, that

12 could suggest poor profusion"; is that right?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·And if you can turn to page 84?

15· · · A.· ·Um-hum.

16· · · Q.· ·And the capillary refill of left lower

17 extremity is document as less than two seconds;

18 correct?

19· · · A.· ·That's what's document ed in EMS notes,

20 yes.

21· · · Q.· ·And where and pulse is document ed as

22 brachial two plus normal, and brachial is where?

23· · · A.· ·I'm just looking to see where that's

24 document ed.· Is that on that same page?

25· · · Q.· ·Yep, right above it.
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·1· · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· Is that in the chest row, or

·2 what row is that in?

·3· · · Q.· ·Right above to capillary refill we were

·4 just looking at.

·5· · · A.· ·Thank you.

·6· · · · · ·Yeah, brachial the upper arm.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay "pedal" refers to where?

·8· · · A.· ·The foot.

·9· · · Q.· ·And that pulse, it's documented "pedal,

10 two plus normal"; is that right?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·Would you agree that the standard of care

13 is objective not subjective?

14· · · A.· ·For signs of systemic toxicity for vital

15 signs abnormalities, it's objective.

16· · · Q.· ·When you were testifying in response to

17 Mr. Shogren's questions about what you've done at

18 your facility, were you intending to suggest that

19 what you do establishes the standard of care?

20· · · A.· ·I do my best to follow published standards

21 of care.· I don't think that my testimony of what I

22 individually do is the standard of care.

23· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· That's all I have.· Thank you.

24· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

25· · · · · ·I have some follow-up questions.



Page 144
·1· · · · · EXAMINATION BY THE HEARING OFFICER

·2 BY HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:

·3· · · Q.· ·Of the three things you mentioned for the

·4 basis for the administration of the antivenom -- and

·5 I just want to clear what your testimony is -- are

·6 you relying on persistent vital signs abnormalities?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·And are you relying on signs of

·9 progressive swelling as monitored?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·And are you replying upon laboratory

12 abnormalities?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·And then who -- you touched upon this

15 earlier.· I believe Ms. Heuth asked you this, and

16 you said that it was the parent's decision, ultimate

17 decision about transport?

18· · · A.· ·It's what was document ed in the transfer

19 form signing release -- or rather, parental consent

20 for transfer.

21· · · · · ·How the patient is transferred regardless

22 of what parents want is what -- is in the

23 decision-making ability of the physician.· So

24 whether the patient transferred by ambulance or

25 ground ambulance or air is not the parents'
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·1 decision, but rather the physician's ultimate

·2 responsibility to determine what's best for the

·3 patient.

·4· · · · · ·All physicians, including myself, do take

·5 into account parent wishes, yet we must, and are

·6 obligated to, do what's best for the patient,

·7 regardless of what parents' wishes are about mode of

·8 transport to another facility.

·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And I don't know that this was

10 specifically touched upon, but can you expand to me

11 on the timing of administration of antivenom?

12· · · · · ·I know there's a window and heard -- it

13 eluded to that the administration was not precluded,

14 but obviously it was not given sooner rather than

15 potentially later.

16· · · · · ·And what is the impact of waiting to

17 administer antivenom?

18· · · A.· ·The longer venom in the body and is not

19 neutralized by antivenom, the more damage it does.

20 And so once there are one of criteria met, systemic

21 symptoms, progress swelling, laboratory

22 abnormalities, antivenom should be administered as

23 soon as one of three criteria are met.

24· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Did my

25 questions prompt any questions from counsel?
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·1· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, I'll start with you?

·2· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No questions.

·3· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Heuth, do

·4 you want to follow-up.

·5· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yeah.

·6· · · · · · · · FOLLOW-UP EXAMINATION

·7 BY MS. HUETH:

·8· · · Q.· ·I just wanted to clarify, Doctor, are you

·9 saying that a physician can transfer a minor without

10 the patient consent?

11· · · A.· ·Absolutely.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I do have

14 another question.· I'm sorry.· I wanted to follow-up

15 on this too.· I think I was -- and it was, perhaps,

16 the questioning and not so much the answers that --

17 I'm sure it will get flushed out.

18· · · · · ·It's implied that there was antivenom

19 available, although no one seems to have said that

20 specifically.· Correct me if I'm wrong.

21· · · · · ·And then also I don't hear -- I heard that

22 a patient would have to be admitted to administer

23 the antivenom, but then I heard that the antivenom

24 could be administered in any rural facility

25 without -- I mean, do you see what I'm getting at?
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·1 Can you clarify that for me, please.

·2· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I think the first question

·3 is not one I should be speaking to.

·4· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Fair

·5 enough.· But that is a concern, so I'm hoping that

·6 will get flushed out.

·7· · · · · ·And then what about the location of

·8 administration and the need to be admitted into a

·9 hospital setting for administration of the

10 antivenom?

11· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· The emergency department is

12 a perfectly appropriate place to administer

13 antivenom.· Patients should be observed and

14 admitted.· That can happen in a variety of settings.

15 Perfectly appropriate to admit them into the

16 hospital, to the regular floor for continued

17 monitoring, but they should be continued to be

18 monitored in some setting after administration of

19 antivenom.

20· · · · · ·But they should not wait to receive

21 antivenom until they are admitted to a hospital.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Does anyone

23 want to follow-up on that?

24· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No questions on my end.

25· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Nothing from me.
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·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

·2 Mr. Shogren, do you want to dismiss Dr. Glissmeyer,

·3 or do you want to have him remain for potential

·4 rebuttal?

·5· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I'm okay with having him

·6 dismissed now.· Well, actually, I believe

·7 Dr. Glissmeyer stated he's set aside today, so he

·8 can, I guess, remain still, just in case to reserve

·9 him.

10· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I would much rather remain

11 available this evening -- this afternoon and early

12 evening here than be called back for some reason

13 tomorrow.

14· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· As a practical matter, I'm not

15 going to be able to finish mine today.· My expert is

16 planning on appearing first thing tomorrow morning.

17 Not that I anticipate that we even get to him today.

18 That's all I would have to, I guess, add, but,

19 obviously, it's up to Mr. Shogren Dr. Glissmeyer

20 whether he wants to stick around on the Zoom.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· All right.

22 Dr. Glissmeyer, you have not been released, so

23 you're subject to being recalled.· You can either

24 stay and continue to watch the proceedings, or you

25 can choose not to.· We will leave that Mr. Shogren
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·1 as to how he wishes to direct you, because I don't

·2 know if he wants you to hear the other testimony so

·3 that you can respond appropriately to it.

·4· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'll do what I'm asked to

·5 do.

·6· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you,

·7 Dr. Glissmeyer.· We appreciate your time.

·8· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren, do you have another witness?

·9· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· No further witnesses.

10· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Are you resting

11 you case?

12· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· So,

14 Ms. Hueth, it's your turn to present your case.· Do

15 you have a witness you can call or a certain order

16 you were going to do it and it's disrupted by the IC

17 resting?

18· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· No disruption.· I am happy to

19 call Dr. Lasry.· Would it be possible to take

20 five minutes to get organize and then proceed?

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yes.· It is

22 2:22 right now, we'll come back at 2:30.

23· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

24· · · · · ·(Recess from 2:22 P.M. to 2:31 P.M.)

25· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on
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·1 the record in case number 23-29251-1, In the Matter

·2 of the Charges and Complaint Against Jason Howard

·3 Lasry, M.D.

·4· · · · · ·We ended with Mr. Shogren closing his case

·5 on behalf of IC, subject to rebuttal, and so it's

·6 respondent's opportunity to put his case.· And when

·7 we went off the record, Ms. Hueth said she was going

·8 to call Dr. Lasry.

·9· · · · · ·So if that remain it is case, Dr. Lasry,

10 I'll have you raise your right hand to be sworn.

11· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Ms. Halstead, sorry to

12 interrupt.· There is one housekeeping matter I want

13 to address.· I apologize for interjecting now.

14· · · · · ·After further review, we could dismiss

15 Dr. Glissmeyer.· I don't think he needs to be here

16 for the remainder of today.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank

18 you.

19· · · · · ·Dr. Glissmeyer, you are excused.· Thank

20 you, again, for time your time and your testimony.

21· · · · · ·DR. GLISSMEYER:· Thank you.

22· · · · · ·Can someone tell me what time the

23 proceedings start in the morning, and if I should be

24 on, and, I guess, essentially, what time I should be

25 on?
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·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well,

·2 Mr. Shogren, my understanding was you're releasing

·3 him.· Are you just releasing him for the day, or are

·4 you releasing him as a witness?

·5· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I'm releasing him as a

·6 witness.

·7· · · · · ·So, Dr. Glissmeyer, you don't have to

·8 appear tomorrow.

·9· · · · · ·DR. GLISSMEYER:· Okay.· That's fine.

10 Thank you.· If that were to change, you know how to

11 reach me.

12· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Thank you.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

14· · · · · ·Okay are we good to go back to Ms. Hueth

15 and Dr. Lasry?

16· · · · · ·DR. LASRY:· Yes.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

18 Dr. Lasry, please raise your right hand.

19· · · · · ·(The oath was administered.)

20· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, I do.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I didn't have

22 him state his name and spell his name for the

23 record, but because he's the respondent, I believe

24 we have that information.

25· · · · · ·With that, go ahead, Ms. Hueth.



Page 152
·1· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

·2· · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

·3 BY MS. HUETH:

·4· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry, when did you decide that you

·5 wanted to go to medical school?

·6· · · A.· ·I think that was 1993 or so, around that

·7 time.

·8· · · Q.· ·And why did you want to go to medical

·9 school?

10· · · A.· ·I enjoyed the art of helping people.  I

11 have a younger brother who had entered medical

12 school before me, and he told me about his

13 experiences and how much he was enjoying it, and

14 that also helped prompt me to go medical school.

15 Lastly, I was always most interested in the

16 biological sciences, that was my specialty for my

17 undergraduate.

18· · · · · ·So, those are the things that motivated me

19 to go to medical school.

20· · · Q.· ·Where did you medical school?

21· · · A.· ·Sackler School of Medicine, in Tel Aviv

22 University.

23· · · Q.· ·When tell you graduate?

24· · · A.· ·2000.· May 2000.

25· · · Q.· ·After medical school, what did you do next
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·1 in terms of medical education or training?

·2· · · A.· ·I did my undergraduate, or my residency in

·3 emergency medicine at the Orlando Regional Medical

·4 Center in Orlando.

·5· · · Q.· ·And how long was the emergency medicine

·6 residency?

·7· · · A.· ·Three years.

·8· · · Q.· ·Are you board-certified?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes, I am.

10· · · Q.· ·When did you first become board-certified?

11· · · A.· ·2004.

12· · · Q.· ·Have you had to recertify since then?

13· · · A.· ·Yes, I have.

14· · · Q.· ·How frequently do you have to recertify?

15· · · A.· ·It was every ten years.· I believe now

16 it's every five years.

17· · · Q.· ·When did you first become licensed to

18 practice medicine in Nevada?

19· · · A.· ·I believe I originally got my license at

20 the end of 2004.

21· · · Q.· ·And what brought you to Nevada?

22· · · A.· ·I had been living in California, in

23 Pasadena.· I was just -- I had just graduated

24 residency, and the cost of living there was

25 extremely expensive and traffic was a big pain, and
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·1 I heard about an opportunity in Las Vegas.· We came

·2 up for an interview, we visited the city, we enjoyed

·3 it, and we decided to give it a try.

·4· · · Q.· ·When you say "we" --

·5· · · A.· ·Oh, me and my wife.

·6· · · Q.· ·If your wife in the medical field?

·7· · · A.· ·She is.

·8· · · Q.· ·Are you member of any professional

·9 organizations?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.

11· · · Q.· ·Which ones?

12· · · A.· ·The American Academy of Emergency

13 Medicine, and Physicians for Human Rights.

14· · · Q.· ·What is the American Academy of Emergency

15 Medicine?

16· · · A.· ·It is an organization that works for

17 supporting the rights of emergency physicians, as

18 well as supporting outreach programs to improve the

19 care of emergency patients.

20· · · Q.· ·In May of 2020, were you working at

21 Humboldt General Hospital?

22· · · A.· ·Yes, I was.

23· · · Q.· ·And what type of hospital is Humboldt

24 General?

25· · · A.· ·It's considered a critical access
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·1 hospital.

·2· · · Q.· ·Humboldt General Hospital, where is that

·3 located?

·4· · · A.· ·In the town of Winnemucca.

·5· · · Q.· ·And in your experience, is Humboldt

·6 General Hospital a rural hospital?

·7· · · A.· ·Yes, it is.

·8· · · Q.· ·Prior to May of 2020, had you had occasion

·9 to treat a patient who suffered a snakebite?

10· · · A.· ·Yes, I had.

11· · · Q.· ·Can you estimate on how many occasions

12 prior to May 9, 2020, you had treated a patient

13 after a snakebite?

14· · · A.· ·Approximately 20, 15 to 20 patients.

15· · · Q.· ·Prior to May 9, 2020, of the patients you

16 treated after a snakebite, had you had occasion to

17 administer antivenom?

18· · · A.· ·Yes, I have.

19· · · Q.· ·And on approximately how many occasions?

20· · · A.· ·The majority of them, perhaps two-thirds.

21· · · Q.· ·Do you believe that your care of Patient A

22 complied with the standard of care?

23· · · A.· ·Yes, I do.

24· · · Q.· ·Do you believe that your care was

25 reasonable?
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·1· · · A.· ·Absolutely.

·2· · · Q.· ·Now, I want to talk specifically about

·3 your care of Patient A.· And if you need to refer to

·4 the records, please do.· It's contained within

·5 Exhibit 6.

·6· · · · · ·Turning to Exhibit 6, page 34.

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·Is this your document ation?

·9· · · A.· ·Yes, it is.

10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· When you first evaluated the

11 patient, did you get a history or what brought her

12 emergency department?

13· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

14· · · Q.· ·And from whom?

15· · · A.· ·I think the history was obtained from

16 multiple sources.· There was likely an EMS call that

17 announced that the patient was coming to the ER.

18 There was the reports that I would have obtained

19 from the EMS providers, who gave us additional

20 history.· There's the history that I obtained from

21 the mother.

22· · · · · ·And so I, most likely, gathered the

23 history from multiple sources, whatever was

24 available.

25· · · Q.· ·And on May 9th, 2020, 9th, 2020, was there
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·1 any limitation at Humboldt General Hospital

·2 emergency department of how many people could be in

·3 the ER with a patient?

·4· · · A.· ·So this was COVID time, I believe.· This

·5 was the beginning of COVID, and so we had to -- we

·6 did have limitations on visitors being allowed into

·7 the patient rooms.

·8· · · Q.· ·What were where you told about the history

·9 prior to your evaluation of the patient?

10· · · A.· ·A --

11· · · Q.· ·And I think -- let me back up.· That did

12 not come out articulately.

13· · · · · ·What were you told about the events that

14 took place leading up to the patient's presentation

15 to the emergency department?

16· · · A.· ·That the father had taken Patient A out to

17 somewhere in the wilderness or the desert for an

18 outing.· He had -- he was carrying the patient, he

19 had tried or attempted to put down his daughter, the

20 daughter was bitten on her left knee by the snake.

21 Following that, the father tried to suck out some

22 venom from the wound on his own.· And then I imagine

23 he tried to reach a medical facility.

24· · · · · ·But we were told there was an hour up to

25 an hour and a half between the time of the bite and
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·1 the time of EMS arrival.

·2· · · Q.· ·The History Of Present Illness section of

·3 your document ation, is that a correct recitation of

·4 the information that you obtained from EMS and from

·5 the mom?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·Did you, at the time of your initial

·8 evaluation of the patient, either obtain yourself or

·9 review the patient's vital signs?

10· · · A.· ·Of course.

11· · · Q.· ·Typically in the emergency department, who

12 obtains the patient's vital signs?

13· · · A.· ·The nurses obtain the vital signs.

14 Always.

15· · · Q.· ·At Humboldt General Hospital in the

16 emergency department, were patients put on

17 continuous monitoring?

18· · · A.· ·While often, they were.· In patients that

19 are potentially critically ill, they would usually

20 continuously be monitored throughout the stay.· The

21 majority of patients do get continuous monitoring

22 once we figure out their stay.· Not always because

23 they're critical, but sometimes just for the ease of

24 document ing.

25· · · · · ·For example, if the nurse needs to
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·1 document vital signs every hour, it's easier for her

·2 to just leave a patient on the monitor, and just

·3 look at the monitor to see what the vital signs,

·4 rather than removing all of the leads to determine

·5 the vital signs, rather than replying the leads

·6 every hour to repeat the vital signs.

·7· · · Q.· ·The continuous monitoring, what exactly

·8 would it be monitoring?

·9· · · A.· ·So continuous monitoring would include

10 heart rates, blood pressure, respirations, and

11 oxygen saturation.

12· · · Q.· ·Do you believe that Patient A was on a

13 continuous monitor when she was in the emergency

14 department at Humboldt General?

15· · · A.· ·Yes, I do.· I know she was.

16· · · Q.· ·When you first evaluated the patient, was

17 she tachycardic?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·And what was her heart rate at the time of

20 your initial evaluation?

21· · · A.· ·In my note, it's 149 beats per minute.

22· · · Q.· ·Now did you, on page 34 in your note,

23 document specifically the word "tachycardia" or

24 "tachycardic"?

25· · · A.· ·I don't believe so.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Why not?

·2· · · A.· ·It's obvious.· I mean, if the heart rate's

·3 fast, it's tachycardic.· It's not some special

·4 interpretation that needs to be made.· It's

·5 something that's just simple and obvious at its

·6 face.

·7· · · Q.· ·In your experience, what is a normal heart

·8 rate for a three year old?

·9· · · A.· ·Oh, in the range of about 110 to 130, or

10 as Dr. Glissmeyer said, 140 beats per minute.

11· · · Q.· ·Does this page 34 also contain your

12 Physician Exam of the patient?

13· · · A.· ·Yes, it does.

14· · · Q.· ·Under the Cardiac section, you documented:

15 Heart has a regular rate and rhythm.

16· · · · · ·Why did you document that the heart has a

17 regular rate if she was tachycardic?

18· · · A.· ·Because tachycardia does not talk about if

19 the rate is regular or irregular.

20· · · · · ·Regular means that there's regular

21 intervals.· It does not mean that it's below 100 or

22 below 140.· It just means that there's regular

23 intervals, and it's not irregular.

24· · · Q.· ·Intervals of what?

25· · · A.· ·Intervals, beat-to-beat intervals, from
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·1 one beat to another.

·2· · · · · ·If it -- do you want me to explain?

·3· · · Q.· ·Sure.

·4· · · A.· ·If you have an irregular heartbeat, the

·5 beat-to-beat variation varies.· Meaning there may

·6 be -- for example, somebody with an irregular

·7 heartbeat may have a beat and then a three-second

·8 pause, and then a beat and then a one-second pause,

·9 and then a beat and then a five-second pause, and

10 then a beat.

11· · · · · ·Whereas somebody with a regular rate will

12 have a regular -- or will have the same interval

13 between each beat.· So, every one second or every

14 two seconds, they'll have a beat.

15· · · Q.· ·Regardless of how fast the beat is?

16· · · A.· ·Regardless of how fast.

17· · · Q.· ·The fact that the patient's heart rate was

18 149, was that surprising to you?

19· · · A.· ·Not in this setting.

20· · · Q.· ·What do you mean by that?

21· · · A.· ·Well, there's a lot of things that can

22 cause a heart rate to be artificially evaluated.

23 And conditions like pain or fear or worry or anxiety

24 are all things that can make you fearful or worried

25 to make the heart rate elevated.
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·1· · · · · ·Other things that I can think of would be,

·2 you know, she's a three-year-old girl, she's being

·3 put in an ambulance, she was just bitten by a snake,

·4 she had a painful and fearful experience, and now

·5 she's in an ambulance and there's all these adults

·6 around and they're drawing blood and taking her

·7 vital signs, then she's brought to the ER with

·8 unpleasant lighting and no privacy and a bunch of

·9 nurses approaching her to get her vital signs.

10· · · · · ·So I can understand why a three year old

11 would be fearful or tachycardic in this situation.

12· · · Q.· ·Did you see anywhere in the document ation

13 where the patient's blood pressure was noted?

14· · · A.· ·No.

15· · · Q.· ·But did you obtain the patient's blood

16 work?

17· · · A.· ·The nurses did.

18· · · Q.· ·Why this not recorded?

19· · · A.· ·I can't speak that.· The nurses are

20 responsible for obtaining the vital signs and

21 document ing them.

22· · · Q.· ·Was knowing the patient's blood pressure

23 important to you?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Why is that?
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·1· · · A.· ·It's a cardio vital sign, just as

·2 Dr. Glissmeyer said.· It's something that is

·3 important and can reveal if a patient -- or how ill

·4 a patient is.

·5· · · Q.· ·Was the patient hypotensive while she was

·6 in the emergency department at Humboldt General?

·7· · · A.· ·No, she was not.

·8· · · Q.· ·How do you know that?

·9· · · A.· ·Because we would have addressed it, and we

10 would have documented it, and it would have changed

11 our management.

12· · · Q.· ·In what way?

13· · · A.· ·If we thought or if she was hypotensive,

14 it would change our calculation.· And we talked

15 about earlier, there are several factors that we

16 look at when deciding to treat a rattlesnake

17 envenomization patient.· Like, we look at the vital

18 signs, and we look at the coagulation studies, and

19 we look at the progression of the swelling of the

20 wound.

21· · · · · ·And so --

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I'm, Doctor.

23 You look at the vital signs, and the what?

24· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Coagulation factors.

25· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· And what was
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·1 the third one?

·2· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Progression of wound

·3 swelling.

·4· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

·5 BY MS. HUETH:

·6· · · Q.· ·At the time that you evaluated the

·7 patient, was her respiratory rate normal?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·And for a patient of this age, three years

10 old, what is generally considered to a normal

11 respiratory rate?

12· · · A.· ·Somewhere between 18 and 26 or 28.

13· · · Q.· ·And what was her oxygen saturation?

14· · · A.· ·There was normal.· The exact number was

15 96 percent.

16· · · Q.· ·Was that on -- was she receiving any

17 supplemental oxygen?

18· · · A.· ·She didn't need any, but the nurses

19 applied it anyway.

20· · · Q.· ·When you first evaluated the patient, what

21 was her demeanor?

22· · · A.· ·So, she was well-appearing, in general.

23 She had good color.· She had good profusion.· She

24 did not seem like she was in any pain or distress or

25 discomfort.· She was not sweaty, she was not
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·1 restless, and she did not appear to be suffering in

·2 any way.· She actually was quite calm and well

·3 appearing, especially with all the drama that was

·4 going on around her.

·5· · · · · ·And I say that because when a potentially

·6 critically patient arrives, they get, in a way,

·7 attacked by the staff.· Everybody jumps on her

·8 remove her clothing, put them in a gown, start an

·9 IV, get the leads put on, take vital signs, obtain a

10 history.· So there's a lot going when a person first

11 arrives in the emergency department, and it could be

12 daunting and scary.

13· · · Q.· ·Did you perform a physical examination of

14 the patient?

15· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

16· · · Q.· ·Earlier you testify that the patient came

17 in with a snakebite to the knee, can you describe

18 for us where on the knee the bite was?

19· · · A.· ·Yes.

20· · · Q.· ·And where was that?

21· · · A.· ·Directly over the left patella.

22· · · Q.· ·Is that the front of the knee?

23· · · A.· ·That's the front of the knee.

24· · · Q.· ·Is it sometimes referred to as the

25 kneecap?
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·1· · · A.· ·Exactly right.

·2· · · Q.· ·Can you describe your examination findings

·3 of the patient's left knee?

·4· · · A.· ·Absolutely.· From -- would you prefer that

·5 I read from the record or give my own description of

·6 it?

·7· · · Q.· ·Well, and specifically I'm asking about

·8 your first evaluation of the patient.· And you're

·9 welcome to either read from the record, although we

10 all have it, or just describe your first evaluation

11 of the patient's left knee.

12· · · A.· ·Yeah.· Let me read what I wrote so I can

13 expand upon it.

14· · · · · ·"On the anterior left knee, there were two

15 puncture wounds, which are likely the site of

16 envenomization, and there is just a small amount" --

17· · · · · ·THE REPORTER:· I'm so sorry once again,

18 Ms. Hearing Officer.

19· · · · · ·I'm having a really hard time keep up with

20 you, Doctor.· Could you slow down just a little bit.

21 Thank you so much.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yeah.· Just as

23 a point of procedure, always, usually when you read

24 on a record, you tend to read fast.

25· · · · · ·So just when you read, make sure you slow
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·1 it down.· It's common.· It's just what happens when

·2 you're recording testimony when people read it.

·3· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· No problem.

·4· · · · · ·"On the anterior left knee, there are two

·5 puncture wounds, which are likely the sites of

·6 envenomization, and there is just a small amount of

·7 ecchymosis noted in that generalized area.· No

·8 significant edema, no streaking, no skin necrosis,

·9 no peripheral edema, no petechiae, no vesicles,

10 ulcers or pustules."

11· · · Q.· ·And what is ecchymosis?

12· · · A.· ·Bruising.· The swelling that you would see

13 when a bruise develops.

14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

15· · · · · ·Was there a swelling at the time of your

16 initial evaluation?

17· · · A.· ·Yes, there was.

18· · · Q.· ·Were you surprised to see some swelling at

19 that time?

20· · · A.· ·No.

21· · · Q.· ·And why not?

22· · · A.· ·Any injury, if it was a puncture wound

23 from a pen or if you got stabbed with a knife, or if

24 you got smashed really hard with a first, you would

25 develop a bruise in the area of the injury.· That's
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·1 a normal body reaction.· That's how to body

·2 responds, and that's how the body repairs itself.

·3· · · · · ·The reason why you get swelling is the

·4 blood vessels become leaky in that area, and that

·5 allows the white blood cells to migrate to the area

·6 of injury, and it allows them to do the repair.

·7· · · · · ·So swelling, localized swelling right at

·8 the site of the injury is common, normal, and

·9 expected.

10· · · Q.· ·Can you describe -- because this will

11 ultimately be transferred to a written form, can you

12 describe the size of the swelling or quantify it in

13 any way as it existed at the time of your initial

14 evaluation?

15· · · A.· ·Sure.· The way I described it in my note

16 is it increased in size from -- about 25 percent.

17 And that 25 percent, I'm not sure how lay people see

18 that, but that's a really minuscule amount of

19 increase of swelling.

20· · · · · ·The way I've told people previously, and I

21 believe in deposition that I did before, was

22 swelling increased in size from the size of a

23 quarter to the size of a silver dollar.· And so that

24 is the amount of increase of swelling that we're

25 discussing.· Well circumscribed, circular, directly
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·1 over the kneecap.· If I could just demonstrate,

·2 other my kneecap, going to the size of a quarter to

·3 the size silver dollar (indicating.)· That is the

·4 edema that we're talking about in this particular

·5 case.

·6· · · Q.· ·And sticking with your initial exam --

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I'm sorry.

·9 Over what period of time from the quarter to the

10 silver dollar?

11· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· From the time of arrival

12 until she departed the emergency department.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

14 BY MS. HUETH:

15· · · Q.· ·At the time of your initial exam, was the

16 patient having any muscle weakness in the left leg?

17· · · A.· ·Not at all.

18· · · Q.· ·Was she unable to move the left leg?

19· · · A.· ·No.

20· · · Q.· ·At any point while she was in the

21 emergency department did she develop muscle weakness

22 in the left leg?

23· · · A.· ·No.

24· · · Q.· ·At any point while the patient was in the

25 emergency department did she become unable to move
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·1 her left leg?

·2· · · A.· ·No.

·3· · · Q.· ·Did you order any labs for this patient?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

·5· · · Q.· ·Why?

·6· · · A.· ·It's part of the workup of this snakebite

·7 envenomization.

·8· · · Q.· ·I want to go through those lab results

·9 with you.· And specifically if you can turn to

10 page 67.

11· · · A.· ·Yes.

12· · · Q.· ·The prothrombin time, my first question is

13 what is prothrombin time?

14· · · A.· ·Prothrombin time is a laboratory value

15 that we obtain to look at the clotting cascade.

16 When the body forms a clot, it goes through numerous

17 chemical reactions in order for the clot to form.

18 And so we require multiple factors and proteins that

19 help that clot form.

20· · · · · ·When we check for PT and PTT, we're

21 looking at two different clotting cascades to see if

22 there's a problem with them; either a problem where

23 they clot too easily or they don't clot well enough.

24· · · Q.· ·What is INR?

25· · · A.· ·The prothrombin time, the PT, is always
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·1 converted into an INR.· The reason that is done is

·2 so -- the INR is a number that will be consistent

·3 throughout different laboratories.· Because if they

·4 draw prothrombin time, the laboratory value in one

·5 hospital may not be the exact same in another

·6 hospital.

·7· · · · · ·So, universally, everyone uses the INR

·8 because that value will remain the same regardless

·9 of the laboratory where it's being drawn, and that's

10 the number that's actually use to determine whether

11 or not there is coagulopathy, or whether or not the

12 patient requires any kind of treatment.

13· · · Q.· ·And was her INR normal?

14· · · A.· ·It was normal.

15· · · Q.· ·And you mentioned coagulopathy, what is

16 that?

17· · · A.· ·That's a problem of the clotting cascade.

18 It can go either way.· It can either cause a problem

19 where the body forms too many clots, or it can be a

20 problem where the body does not form clots, and this

21 causes you to bleed more than you should.

22· · · Q.· ·Was there any indication at any time the

23 patient was in the emergency department Humboldt

24 General that she was having ongoing bleeding?

25· · · A.· ·Not at all.
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·1· · · Q.· ·The fact that the patient's INR was

·2 normal, was did that signify to you, if anything?

·3· · · A.· ·It's a laboratory value that was done at

·4 one moment in time.· At the moment, it was

·5 reassuring that the patient had a less serious

·6 envenomization.· With a more serious envenomization,

·7 you would expect more laboratory abnormalities, such

·8 elevation of the INR, elevation of the PTT, a drop

·9 in platelets or a drop of fibrinogen.· She didn't

10 have any of those changes.

11· · · · · ·So, it doesn't give us the whole story.

12 It doesn't -- you can't just decide the entire

13 management of the patient based on the one

14 laboratory value.· But taken in combination with the

15 other factors, it was reassuring that it was a minor

16 type of an issue.

17· · · Q.· ·In a patient who has been bitten by a

18 snake and your concern for systemic envenomization,

19 would you expect to see decreased or evaluated

20 platelets?

21· · · A.· ·Decreased platelets.

22· · · Q.· ·And what were this patient's platelets?

23· · · A.· ·240,000.

24· · · Q.· ·And is that normal?

25· · · A.· ·That is totally normal.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Is the platelets part of -- this is my

·2 term, not yours, but one piece of the puzzle that

·3 you were just describing?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes.· They are important for clotting or

·5 essential for clotting.

·6· · · Q.· ·Did the patient have any significant lab

·7 abnormalities?

·8· · · A.· ·Not really.· The only thing that was

·9 significantly abnormal was the potassium level of

10 2.7.

11· · · Q.· ·What did you do in response to that

12 abnormal potassium level?

13· · · A.· ·We replaced it intravenously.

14· · · Q.· ·And why did you order a fibrinogen level?

15· · · A.· ·That is also a factor that we look at to

16 determine their ability to form clots.· If the

17 number was very low, it would indicate that she was

18 prone to bleeding, and that could indicate a more

19 systemic envenomization.

20· · · · · ·Her value was normal.

21· · · Q.· ·Well, if you can turn to page 42?

22· · · A.· ·Yes.

23· · · Q.· ·Does this appear to be the fibrinogen

24 result?

25· · · A.· ·Yes, it does.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now it's says it was collected

·2 May 9, 2020 9, 2020, do you see that?

·3· · · A.· ·I do.

·4· · · Q.· ·But not reported until May 12, 2020.· Do

·5 you understand that to mean that's when the

·6 fibrinogen lab results were available?

·7· · · A.· ·Correct.

·8· · · Q.· ·So this lab wasn't available to you while

·9 the patient was in the emergency department?

10· · · A.· ·Correct.

11· · · Q.· ·However, after the fact, you have had an

12 opportunity the look at this, and do you say her

13 fibrinogen level was normal?

14· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

15· · · Q.· ·The fact that the patient's INR was normal

16 and platelets were normal, did that give you any

17 clue as to whether you would expect a normal

18 fibrinogen?

19· · · A.· ·Not necessarily.· We just -- I check all.

20 I don't know -- I don't necessarily expect one or

21 the other.· We test to see if there are any

22 coagulation defects, and then we decide what to do

23 from there.

24· · · · · ·I didn't have -- I don't recall having any

25 expectations of there being normal or high.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Did you assess the patient on more than

·2 one occasion?

·3· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· After your initial assessment --

·5 you've already described for us a little bit about

·6 the change in swelling, where there any other

·7 changes to your evaluation after your initial

·8 assessment?

·9· · · A.· ·No.· The only change that is the change

10 that we talked about with the limited, localized,

11 circular swelling that was limited to the kneecap

12 area only.· Otherwise, her condition was really

13 good.· She was awake, she was alert, she was

14 talking.· She didn't seem to be in any distress.

15 She didn't seem like she was suffering or in agony

16 or complaining, and she appeared well.

17· · · Q.· ·If you turn to page 35.

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·And it says "assessment," do you see that?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Does this document ation contain

22 information regarding your reassessment of the

23 patient?

24· · · A.· ·Yes, it does.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And upon you reassessment, was the



Page 176
·1 patient awake?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.· Absolutely.

·3· · · Q.· ·Was she alert?

·4· · · A.· ·She was.

·5· · · Q.· ·And how was she acting?

·6· · · A.· ·She seemed very comfortable.· She seemed

·7 well appearing.· She did not seem to be in any

·8 distress.

·9· · · Q.· ·Did you have a conversation with the

10 patient's mother regarding the potassium level?

11· · · A.· ·I certainly did.

12· · · Q.· ·And what do you recall about that

13 discussion?

14· · · A.· ·That conversation actually came up in the

15 telephone call I had with Dr. Gassen.  I

16 mentioned -- well, on one of my reevaluations of the

17 patient, I -- whenever I went for a reevaluation, I

18 spoke to mother because mother was with her, with

19 Patient A at the bedside.· And so I was always

20 updating the mother as to what was happening, what

21 the findings were, what our plan of action was going

22 to be.

23· · · · · ·When I informed Patient A's mother about

24 the low potassium level, she informed me that there

25 was a strong family history of hypokalemia, which is
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·1 a low potassium level, where mother had that problem

·2 and other family members in her family suffered from

·3 that problem.

·4· · · · · ·And so I gathered that it's likely a

·5 genetic abnormality that causes her family to suffer

·6 low potassium levels.

·7· · · Q.· ·And did the low potassium level cause any

·8 alarm to you that the patient was having a systemic

·9 envenomization?

10· · · A.· ·No, not at all.· That potassium -- the

11 potassium -- you wouldn't expect the potassium to

12 change as a result of the envenomization.

13· · · Q.· ·Did you discuss this patient with any

14 other physicians?

15· · · A.· ·I discussed the patient with Dr. Thorp and

16 with Dr. Gassen.

17· · · Q.· ·Why did you contact Dr. Thorp?

18· · · A.· ·Being a critical access hospital, our

19 resources were limited, and so the hospital -- the

20 hospital recommended or preferred that I consult

21 with the hospital in-patient doctors prior to

22 transferring any patients to be sure that we were

23 not able to care for them at our -- at that

24 facility.· The facility's desire was to keep as many

25 of the patients as possible.



Page 178
·1· · · · · ·And so I contacted Dr. Thorp, going

·2 through the process, and to see if she was

·3 comfortable with taking care of the rattlesnake

·4 patient.

·5· · · Q.· ·From a medical standpoint, why did you

·6 contact Dr. Thorp as opposed to discharging the

·7 patient?

·8· · · A.· ·Well, it was clear that the patient should

·9 not be discharged.· It was clear and obvious to me

10 that the patient needed a longer period of

11 monitoring and needed to have a period of

12 observation to look at all the parameters we spoke

13 of: the swelling, coagulation defects, and vital

14 sign abnormalities.

15· · · · · ·And so hospital admission was indicated,

16 regardless of our decision to give antivenom or not.

17· · · Q.· ·The closer monitoring that you just

18 described, is that something that you thought could

19 be performed in the emergency department over a

20 prolonged period of time?

21· · · A.· ·No.· That's not the function of the

22 emergency department.

23· · · Q.· ·And what do you mean by that?

24· · · A.· ·The emergency department isn't designed to

25 take care of patients for longer terms.· We're
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·1 designed to take care of patients that are acutely

·2 ill, stabilize them, and then transfer them out or

·3 admit them for the appropriate level of care.

·4· · · · · ·We're not designed to provide meals and to

·5 provide regular medicine intervals and to do some of

·6 the regular things that a floor nurse or ICU nurse

·7 would do.· Our nurses are limited in that they're

·8 able to care emergency patients, and they're not

·9 very good at taking care of in patient.

10· · · · · ·The other thing is that we limited

11 resources.· We can't afford -- usually I'll work,

12 like there will one doctor and two nurses working.

13 And one nurse has to do triage, and other nurse has

14 to monitor all the other patients.· If there was a

15 critical patient that stayed with us for 24 hours,

16 that would really take up that nurse, and it would

17 be incredibly difficult to run the emergency

18 department with the additional needs to care for

19 that critical patient.

20· · · Q.· ·So when you said "we can't afford," were

21 you referring to money or resources?

22· · · A.· ·I'm talking about resources.· It has

23 nothing to do with actual dollars.· We have limited

24 resources at the hospital.· I am the only -- or

25 there is only one emergency doctor that is working
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·1 at a time, and there is only two nurses that are on

·2 during at time.

·3· · · · · ·And one nurse needs to be available to

·4 take care of whoever walks through the door.· And

·5 the other nurse is there to help or to provide

·6 medications or to give the other patients the care

·7 they need.

·8· · · Q.· ·Approximately how many beds did the

·9 Humboldt General Hospital ER have on May 9, 2020?

10· · · A.· ·Five.

11· · · Q.· ·And you were present for Dr. Glissmeyer's

12 testimony.· Did you hear when he described how many

13 beds were in the ER that he works at?

14· · · A.· ·I believe he counted about 34.

15· · · Q.· ·And did Dr. Glissmeyer's ER, as he

16 described it, sound comparable as far as resources

17 go as Humboldt General Hospital ER?

18· · · A.· ·They sounds like very different

19 facilities.· His facility is way bigger than ours.

20 I think he said there was 350 beds at his facility,

21 whereas ours probably had ten to 15 beds.

22· · · · · ·We don't have consultants for every

23 specialty for vascular or for a lot of specialties

24 such as nephralgy, neurology, urology.· We would

25 have one surgeon one, one orthopaedic doctor, and
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·1 one -- either a pediatrician or a nurse-practitioner

·2 that took care of pediatric patients.· And then

·3 there was usually also a gynecologist for

·4 obstetrical emergencies.

·5· · · Q.· ·Was Dr. Thorp willing to accept admission

·6 of this patient?

·7· · · A.· ·No, she was not.

·8· · · Q.· ·What was your understanding of why not?

·9· · · A.· ·She wasn't comfortable with it, and she

10 didn't have experience with taking care of snakebite

11 patients.

12· · · Q.· ·And did you document in the medical

13 records a summary of your conversation with

14 Dr. Thorp?

15· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

16· · · Q.· ·Can you please read that into the record?

17· · · A.· ·Sure.

18· · · · · · · ·"At 5:30 P.M., I discussed the

19· · · · · · · ·full history and physical exam

20· · · · · · · ·with Dr. Thorp, and she explains

21· · · · · · · ·that she has never cared for a

22· · · · · · · ·patient with a rattlesnake

23· · · · · · · ·envenomization, and thus would not

24· · · · · · · ·be comfortable with this patient

25· · · · · · · ·being admitted at this facility.
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·1· · · · · · · ·And prefers that we transfer this

·2· · · · · · · ·patient to another facility with a

·3· · · · · · · ·higher level of care."

·4· · · Q.· ·At Humboldt General Hospital in May of

·5 2020, did you have admitting privileges?

·6· · · A.· ·No.

·7· · · Q.· ·Does that mean you couldn't admit the

·8 patient, it had to be another doctor who accepts

·9 admission?

10· · · A.· ·That is correct.

11· · · Q.· ·Once Dr. Thorp indicated she was not

12 comfortable accepting admission, did you contact any

13 other doctors?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·And who did you contact?

16· · · A.· ·Dr. Gassen at the Renown emergency

17 department.

18· · · Q.· ·Did you hear earlier Dr. Glissmeyer's

19 testimony wherein he said your conversation with

20 Dr. Gassen was just a handoff?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·And do you agree with that?

23· · · A.· ·No.

24· · · Q.· ·And what -- and why not?

25· · · A.· ·Well, having worked in rural ERs, I have
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·1 had to transfer many patients.· Since Dr. Glissmeyer

·2 works at a tertiary or quaternary higher-level

·3 facility where he has all the resources available,

·4 he doesn't commonly transfer patients.· So I am very

·5 familiar with the calls that we make to receiving

·6 hospitals.

·7· · · · · ·Oftentimes when I transfer a patient, the

·8 receiving physician will ask me questions, and

·9 sometimes ask me to do additional tests or

10 additional imaging prior to transferring the patient

11 to satisfy what they think is necessary.

12· · · · · ·Dr. Gassen -- I had a conversation with

13 Dr. Gassen, where believe I gave him a good and

14 complete report of the patient's presentation,

15 laboratory results, evaluation of the wound, and

16 progress through her ER stay.· And he agree that

17 antivenom wasn't indicated at this moment, but we

18 were considering it.

19· · · Q.· ·Well, and let me clarify, because we all

20 heard the audio recording, and at no time did

21 Dr. Gassen say the words "I agree, antivenom is not

22 indicated at this time"; right?

23· · · A.· ·Correct.· But he had the opportunity and

24 he knows it's within his rights or ability to ask me

25 to do something if he thinks it's indicated.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Did you take his silence with respect to

·2 not administering antivenom to be an agreement with

·3 that?

·4· · · A.· ·My understanding was that he was in

·5 agreement with our care, because he was happy to

·6 receive the patient, given the story that I provided

·7 him with.

·8· · · Q.· ·Did you call Poison Control at any time

·9 while the patient was in the ER?

10· · · A.· ·I did not.

11· · · Q.· ·Why?

12· · · A.· ·I did not think it would affect the care

13 of the patient.· I -- I am experienced in treating

14 rattlesnake victims.· I've been educated.· I've

15 followed up.· I've done CME units.· I think I'm

16 knowledgeable about treating rattlesnake patients,

17 and I didn't think it was going impact our care of

18 the patient.

19· · · Q.· ·Did Humboldt General Hospital have an

20 on-call toxicologist?

21· · · A.· ·No.

22· · · Q.· ·Did you initially consider transferring

23 the patient via air ambulance?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.· We originally made plans to go via

25 helicopter.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And earlier, did you hear Dr. Glissmeyer

·2 testify that you don't need a minor patient's

·3 parents' consent to transfer a patient?

·4· · · A.· ·I heard what he said, yes.

·5· · · Q.· ·Do you agree with that?

·6· · · A.· ·I totally disagree.· I cannot understand

·7 how anybody can take a child away from a parent and

·8 send them wherever they want without the parents'

·9 consent.· That makes no sense to me whatsoever.

10· · · Q.· ·Now, did you have a discussion with the

11 patient's mom about transferring the patient via air

12 ambulance versus ground ambulance?

13· · · A.· ·I did.· And I -- I mean, I regret that

14 it's not in medical records.· I didn't think at the

15 time this was important to document.· But we

16 originally -- let me go back a step.

17· · · · · ·From Huntington or HGH has its own

18 ambulance helicopter.· So there is usually a crew

19 available to help us with transfers most of the time

20 when weather permitted.

21· · · · · ·We did originally make plans for patient

22 to be flown by helicopter.· Mother, turns out, she

23 is morbidly obese.· I'm talking in the ballpark of

24 300 pounds.· The helicopter could not accommodate

25 her weight.· When mother was told that she would not
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·1 be able to fly with her daughter to go to the

·2 receiving hospital, she refused transport by

·3 helicopter.

·4· · · · · ·And for that reason, we decided to go by

·5 ground because of mother's insistence that she

·6 needed to be transported with her daughter.

·7· · · Q.· ·Well, did you think it was, from a medical

·8 standpoint, safe to send the patient via ground

·9 transport?

10· · · A.· ·I thought it was okay.· She was stable.

11 She -- vital signs did not change.· There was

12 minimal progression of the wound.· She was not in

13 pain.· She had excellent color and excellent

14 profusion.· She looked really well.· I thought that

15 she was stable, and I didn't think it was a big deal

16 that she would go by ground in that moment.

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So you're not trying to suggest

18 that the patient's mother was dictating or forcing

19 you to make unsafe medical decisions?

20· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Objection.· I believe that's

21 a leading question.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Ms. Hueth, do

23 you want to respond?

24· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Sure.· I'm just happy to

25 rephrase it.
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·1 BY MS. HUETH:

·2· · · Q.· ·Did you -- was your medical

·3 decision-making -- let me take a step back.

·4· · · · · ·Who was making the medical decisions for

·5 the patient, you or the patient's mom?

·6· · · A.· ·Me.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· If you had felt it unsafe for the

·8 patient to be transferred via ground ambulance,

·9 would you have discussed that with the patient's

10 mother?

11· · · A.· ·Absolutely.· If it was -- if I thought

12 that that decision between helicopter or ambulance

13 was going to make a critical difference in the

14 patient's outcome, I would have insisted that she go

15 by helicopter with or without the mother, and we

16 would have had a different conversation about it.

17 And I would have tried to convince her more

18 forcefully that transfer by air ambulance was

19 important rather than going by ground.

20· · · · · ·But I really did think that difference in

21 time savings wouldn't make much of a difference in

22 her care, especially given how stable she was for

23 the last four hours that she was -- last four hours

24 since the envenomization.

25· · · Q.· ·Can you turn, please, to Exhibit 11.
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·1 We've been discussing this document over the course

·2 of today.

·3· · · · · ·My question is, on this document, it

·4 indicates the initial dosing of CroFab is four to 12

·5 vials.· Is that consist with your understanding?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes, it is.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you have an estimate of how long

·8 it would take for that initial dose to be

·9 administered?

10· · · A.· ·So, the actual medication, I think it

11 comes frozen.· It needs to be thawed, and it's

12 extremely viscous, meaning it's a very thick, thick

13 substance.· So it takes awhile to prepare it, it

14 takes awhile to thaw, it takes awhile to mix it with

15 saline before it can be administered in the patient

16 intravenously.· And then it's given in over about a

17 period of about an hour or two hours, depending on

18 the patient and if they're having any reactions to

19 it.

20· · · · · ·So it's typically hours.

21· · · Q.· ·And are you familiar with maintenance

22 dosing?

23· · · A.· ·Yes.

24· · · Q.· ·What is that?

25· · · A.· ·Sometimes if the patient still has signs
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·1 of systemic toxicity or laboratory abnormalities

·2 after the initial dose of antivenom was provided,

·3 then we can re-dose the antivenom to further address

·4 the patient's needs.

·5· · · Q.· ·This document that Dr. Glissmeyer provided

·6 indicates that maintenance dosing consisting of two

·7 vials of every six hours for three doses is

·8 recommended starting six hours after the initial

·9 dose.· Is that consistent with your understanding?

10· · · A.· ·That sounds about right, yes.

11· · · Q.· ·So at least according to this and your

12 experience, the first dose of a maintenance dose is

13 given how long after you start antivenom?

14· · · A.· ·You know, so with this one, it's really

15 going to depend.· Every patient is going to depend

16 because even with the vial dosing, some patients

17 will end up just receiving four vials.· Some

18 patients may end up receiving 20 vials.· It really

19 just depends on their response to treatment and how

20 bad or how toxic they are from the envenomization.

21 And everyone is different.

22· · · · · ·And so it's hard to say because there's no

23 set protocol where it has to be one way or another,

24 just like we discussed earlier, it's not a cookbook

25 practice or approach that we're taking to treatment
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·1 of a patient.· We're tailoring each patient's

·2 treatment to their toxicity or the signs that they

·3 develop, and deciding to give additional doses

·4 whether or not they need it based on if they are

·5 still appearing toxic, if they're still having

·6 worsening edema, or if they still are developing

·7 coagulopathy.

·8· · · Q.· ·And in deciding not to give the antivenom

·9 before the patient left the ER, was part of your

10 decision-making process the length of time in which

11 the patient needs to be monitored or receive

12 maintenance dosing?

13· · · A.· ·Absolutely.· It would be safer for the

14 patient to receive the antivenom while in the

15 hospital setting.· I don't think this has come up

16 yet, but there is a significant risk of adverse

17 reactions with antivenom envenomization.

18· · · · · ·I read in one of the articles -- should I

19 find the page?

20· · · Q.· ·Well, --

21· · · A.· ·Well, I read there could be as high as

22 20 percent adverse reactions.· Some serum sickness,

23 some hypersensitivity reactions, and these are not

24 mild or benign reactions; these are potentially

25 life-threatening anaphylactic reactions that have to



Page 191
·1 be treated with adrenaline, Benadryl, steroids, and

·2 fluids.

·3· · · · · ·And we have to balance the risks

·4 associated with giving the medicine as well as the

·5 risks of not treating the patient.· And we have to

·6 balance.· And each patient is going different, and

·7 each patient will have different needs based on a

·8 whole variety of factors: their presentation, how

·9 sick they appear, their coagulation studies, how old

10 they are, their comorbidity.

11· · · · · ·So, there are numerous factors that we

12 take into account.

13· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I apologize.· I know it's only

14 been about an hour since our last break, but I have

15 been drinking way too much water.· Would it be okay

16 if we took a very quick confront bake?

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Yeah.· Why

18 don't we come back at 3:30.

19· · · · · ·(Recess from 3:22 P.M to 3:30 P.M.)

20· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· We're back on

21 the record in case number 23-29251-1, In the Matter

22 of the Charges and Complaint Against Jason Howard

23 Lasry, M.D.· We were proceeding with Dr. Lasry's

24 testimony, he remains under oath, and we're on the

25 direct by his counsel, Ms. Hueth.
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·1· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Thank you.

·2 BY MS. HUETH:

·3· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry, did you make a determination as

·4 to whether or not the patient needed antivenom while

·5 she was at Humboldt?

·6· · · A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·And what was your determination?

·8· · · A.· ·It was my determination that this was a

·9 minor envenomization on the scale of

10 envenomizations, and that, for the time being, the

11 envenomization was mild enough that we could

12 withhold antivenom.

13· · · · · ·However, she still needed to be admitted

14 so that she could be watched in case her condition

15 deteriorated, and there was anticipation that she

16 may require antivenom in the future.

17· · · Q.· ·While the patient --

18· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Before you're

19 asking that -- just hold on before ask another one.

20· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Of course.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

22· · · · · ·Okay.· Thank you.

23 BY MS. HUETH:

24· · · Q.· ·You mentioned that you wanted her admitted

25 for close monitoring in case she deteriorated.· Did
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·1 you anticipate, or did you expect that patient was

·2 going to deteriorate?

·3· · · A.· ·I don't think I had an expectation that

·4 she was going to deteriorate, but it was a

·5 possibility.

·6· · · Q.· ·While the patient was in the emergency

·7 department at Humboldt General, did you observe her

·8 to have mottling to the left leg?

·9· · · A.· ·No.· Never.

10· · · Q.· ·What is mottling?

11· · · A.· ·Mottling is a marble-like appearance of

12 the skin that gives the skin a bluish/purplish

13 discoloration pattern.

14· · · Q.· ·While the patient was in the emergency

15 department at Humboldt General, did her swelling

16 from the snakebite ever extend past her ankle?

17· · · A.· ·It never extended past her knee.· It never

18 extended beyond the size of a silver dollar.

19· · · Q.· ·Was her left leg, while she was in the

20 emergency department at Humboldt General, swollen to

21 three times the size of the other leg?

22· · · A.· ·Absolutely not.

23· · · Q.· ·And the swelling on the knee although it

24 increased; is that fair?

25· · · A.· ·The knee swelling increased, there's no
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·1 doubt about it, I do agree with that, but by a

·2 minuscule amount.

·3· · · · · ·Typically, when we see envenomizations, we

·4 can watch the edema progressing in front of our eyes

·5 as it slowly creeps up the leg.· It will start

·6 usually in the feet or in the tips of the extremity,

·7 and the edema will develop centrally, it will come

·8 towards the core, and we mark it at different

·9 intervals to show the progression of the swelling.

10· · · · · ·In this case, the swelling was circular,

11 it was not circumferential around the extremity, and

12 it was minimal increase in the few hours or so that

13 she was in our care.

14· · · Q.· ·Was her left knee ever swollen to

15 three times the size of her right knee?

16· · · A.· ·Absolutely not.

17· · · Q.· ·While the patient in the emergency at

18 Humboldt, was she ever hypotensive?

19· · · A.· ·No.

20· · · Q.· ·And we've talked about the fact that there

21 is no blood pressure document ed, are there other

22 clinical signs to suggest whether or not a patient

23 is hypotensive?

24· · · A.· ·Certainly.

25· · · Q.· ·And can give us an example of some of
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·1 those?

·2· · · A.· ·Certainly.· Hypotensive patients are

·3 typically -- the patients that we would see in the

·4 ER that sometimes pass out or have syncope.· So, the

·5 symptoms would be weakness, being lightheaded, being

·6 dizzy, having trouble staying awake, and, perhaps,

·7 looking ill or pale.

·8· · · Q.· ·And did Patient A, while she was in the

·9 emergency department at Humboldt General, ever show

10 any of those signs or symptoms of hypotension?

11· · · A.· ·Not at all.

12· · · Q.· ·At the time of the patient's transfer when

13 she's leaving Humboldt to go to Renown, did you feel

14 like she was stable?

15· · · A.· ·Yes.

16· · · Q.· ·And what do you base that on?

17· · · A.· ·On multiple factors.· She looked really

18 well.· She didn't complain of pain.· She had minimal

19 swelling of her bite site.· She had a pulse that was

20 a little bit elevated, but it was stable, it was

21 staying between 150 and, let's say, 160 beats

22 per minute, and that's how I gauge stability.· There

23 was no coagulation abnormalities.

24· · · · · ·And we did the medical screening exam

25 sufficiently to determine the antivenom wasn't
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·1 indicated at this time.

·2· · · Q.· ·If the patient appeared to you unstable,

·3 would you have transferred her?

·4· · · A.· ·Yes, I still would have transferred her.

·5 She still needed to be admitted to a fatality with a

·6 higher level of care where she could be admitted and

·7 closely monitored.· That wouldn't change.

·8· · · Q.· ·Would it potentially change the method of

·9 transport, assuming mom agreed?

10· · · A.· ·If it was a more severe envenomization,

11 that we would categorize as moderate or severe, yes,

12 then I would insist that she go by a faster means of

13 transport.

14· · · Q.· ·Did you see anything in the medical

15 records that document ed that the patient was stable

16 at the time of transfer?

17· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.

18· · · Q.· ·What did you see?

19· · · A.· ·Nurse's notes.· I will have to flip

20 through.· But the nurse's note at the time of

21 transfer, she document ed the patient's condition,

22 and let's see, on page 81, one there's a shape

23 that's title "Admit Transfer Discharge Information,"

24 at 18:32, Nurse Espinosa, she documents:· "Patient's

25 condition for transfer, stable."
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·1· · · · · ·And that is about in the first paragraph

·2 of the page .

·3· · · Q.· ·While the patient was at the emergency

·4 department at Humboldt General, do you believe that

·5 she showed signs or symptoms of systemic

·6 envenomization?

·7· · · A.· ·No.

·8· · · Q.· ·And why not?

·9· · · A.· ·She was stable from the vital signs

10 standpoint, she did not have any coagulation defects

11 on her laboratory testing, and the progression of

12 wound swelling was quite minimal.

13· · · Q.· ·We've talked throughout the day regarding

14 various articles that Dr. Glissmeyer provided to the

15 Investigative Committee.· My question is is there

16 any one article that establishes the standard of

17 care for an emergency medicine physician?

18· · · A.· ·No, there is not.

19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· In making the decision to not give

20 the patient antivenom, did you use your medical

21 judgment?

22· · · A.· ·Absolutely.

23· · · Q.· ·As we were looking through these articles

24 over to course of day, did you see indication in any

25 of them where, if the swelling progresses minimally,
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·1 you should still give antivenom?

·2· · · A.· ·No, I did not see it.

·3· · · Q.· ·Did you see anything to the converse of

·4 that, that if the swelling progressed minimally, you

·5 don't need to necessarily give antivenom?

·6· · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· There's too many negatives.

·7 Can you please --

·8· · · Q.· ·Yeah. I'm sorry.· It's becoming late in

·9 the day and my questions are deteriorating.

10· · · · · ·In the articles that have been provided by

11 Dr. Glissmeyer, did you see anything that supported

12 your opinion that minimal progression of swelling

13 does not necessarily warrant antivenom?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.

15· · · Q.· ·And are there any examples you can give

16 us?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.

18· · · Q.· ·Just tell us what exhibit you're looking

19 at.

20· · · A.· ·On Exhibit 12, page 132, the first column,

21 about half way through, it starts with "these

22 guidelines."· Should I read it out loud?

23· · · Q.· ·Is this the section that was read when I

24 was talking to Dr. Glissmeyer?

25· · · A.· ·Yes, it is.· And there are other ones.· Do
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·1 you want me to read that?

·2· · · Q.· ·It's okay.· I think we read into the

·3 record.

·4· · · A.· ·The other one, this one is also section

·5 12, page 139.· Let's see.· At bottom of the second

·6 column, in the last paragraph, where it starts with

·7 "Patients with dry bite or who have not been bitten

·8 by a pit viper should not receive antivenom."

·9· · · · · ·And then it reads "Patients with minor

10 envenomization, defined as swelling and localized

11 pain at the envenomization site, should be closely

12 observed and not be given antivenom unless local

13 tissue affects progress."

14· · · Q.· ·Did this patient at any time while she was

15 in the emergency department at Humboldt General have

16 hemorrhagic bleb?

17· · · A.· ·No.

18· · · Q.· ·And what is that?

19· · · A.· ·It's a blood-filled blister.

20· · · Q.· ·While patient was in the emergency

21 department at Humboldt General, did she demonstrate

22 any airway swelling?

23· · · A.· ·Not at all.

24· · · Q.· ·Did she demonstrate anything to suggest to

25 you that she was having difficulty breathing?
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·1· · · A.· ·Not at all.

·2· · · Q.· ·Earlier, Dr. Glissmeyer described a test,

·3 the negative inspiratory force.· Do you recall that

·4 testimony?

·5· · · A.· ·I do.

·6· · · Q.· ·Is that a test that you routinely perform

·7 in the emergency department?

·8· · · A.· ·I have never performed it in the emergency

·9 department.· It is not a common ER procedure.

10· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Can you repeat

11 the name of that procedure, please?

12· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· The negative inspiratory,

13 I-N-S-P-I-R-A-T-O-R-Y, force.

14· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

15· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I would also add something,

16 just that I wouldn't see a good reason to do that

17 test if there was no breathing abnormalities.· She

18 wasn't hypoxic, she wasn't in respiratory distress,

19 she wasn't -- her breathing wasn't labored, and she

20 was speaking freely.· So, it just didn't seem like

21 there was any indication to do such a test.

22 BY MS. HUETH:

23· · · Q.· ·We also have talked about today the

24 patient's vitals while she was on route to Renown.

25 And if you can turn to page 83.
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·And is there a period of time during which

·3 the patient was not hypotensive while she's on route

·4 to Renown?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·And approximately how long?

·7· · · A.· ·Between 19:38 and to 21:17, so that's

·8 about an hour and a half.· So, an hour and

·9 45 minutes that she was normal tensive, not

10 hypotensive.

11· · · Q.· ·And, Doctor, do you have an opinion, to a

12 reasonable degree medical probability, whether you

13 complied with the applicable standard of care of

14 while you were taking care of this patient?

15· · · A.· ·I definitely feel that I met the standard

16 of care.

17· · · Q.· ·The patient's ultimate outcome, you're

18 aware that the patient ultimately passed; is that

19 right?

20· · · A.· ·Yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Do you have opinion of whether that

22 outcome was predictable?

23· · · A.· ·On my side, it was completely unexpected.

24 I expected that she had been stable during her ER

25 stay, she seemed quite well, she had zero pain, she
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·1 had minimal swelling, she had no coagulation

·2 deficits, and she had been stable for the three or

·3 four hours since the envenomization had occurred.

·4· · · · · ·So, I believed that she would be perfectly

·5 safe for the one- or two- hour trip that it would

·6 take to get to Renown.· I really didn't expect her

·7 to decline or deteriorate as quickly as she did.

·8· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Those are all my questions.

·9 Thank you.

10· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.

11· · · · · ·Mr. Shogren?

12· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Yes.· Thank you.

13· · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION

14 BY MR. SHOGREN:

15· · · Q.· ·Good afternoon, Dr. Lasry.

16· · · A.· ·Good afternoon.

17· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

18· · · · · ·First off, you had mentioned that you had

19 treated previous snakebite patients.· Did you treat

20 any at Humboldt General Hospital with snakebites?

21· · · A.· ·I don't believe so.· Other patients, other

22 than Patient A, no, I can't recall.

23· · · Q.· ·How long did you work at Humboldt General

24 Hospital for?

25· · · A.· ·One or two years.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you mentioned that you had

·2 administered antivenom in with two-thirds of

·3 patients that you treated with that issue.· When --

·4 at what point after the snakebite did you normally

·5 administer the antivenom?

·6· · · A.· ·So as we discussed, it's going to vary.

·7 Some people, they come in so systemically ill,

·8 they'll present with low blood pressure or massive

·9 swelling of their extremities or some other

10 abnormality that we decide, from the time that they

11 stepped through the ER doors, that patient warrants

12 antivenom.

13· · · · · ·Other patients, we need a workup.· We need

14 to watch them period of time, we need to see how the

15 swelling is progressing, we need to monitor their

16 vital signs, we need to check for coagulation

17 deficits, and then we decide.

18· · · · · ·So, it's really a case-by-case.· It is not

19 cookbook treatment of patients, just as described in

20 the article.

21· · · Q.· ·But did you administer antivenom there in

22 the emergency department?

23· · · A.· ·In Humboldt General, I don't recall if I

24 did.· I don't think I did.

25· · · Q.· ·How about in other hospitals settings?
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·1· · · A.· ·Other hospitals, yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·And do you recall, what's the youngest

·3 patient you've treated with an envenomization?

·4· · · A.· ·I think it was a five year old.

·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So mentioned that Patient A's blood

·6 pressure was monitored while at Humboldt on May 9th?

·7· · · A.· ·Correct.

·8· · · Q.· ·And is there any reference of it in any of

·9 the Humboldt General Hospital records we've

10 reviewed?

11· · · A.· ·No.

12· · · Q.· ·So how do you know that it was measured?

13· · · A.· ·I know this because it's our normal

14 practice that we do with every patient that comes to

15 through the emergency doors.· New patients has leads

16 put on them, every patient has a pulse oximeter put

17 on them, every patient has EKG leads put on them,

18 every patient has a blood pressure cuff put on them.

19· · · · · ·All off of those recording devices are

20 connected to the bedside monitor, which can

21 interpret and show those vital signs to us.

22· · · Q.· ·So why wasn't it included in, like say,

23 the vitals section?

24· · · A.· ·I can't speak to that.· It's the nurses

25 who obtain the vital signs and document the vital
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·1 signs.· And I don't have control over that part of

·2 the patient care.

·3· · · Q.· ·And why wasn't it mentioned on your notes

·4 regarding the patient?

·5· · · A.· ·Because the blood pressure was normal, so

·6 it didn't need to be addressed.

·7· · · Q.· ·And moving on to page 83 of Exhibit 6.

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.

·9· · · Q.· ·So the vital signs are listed here.· What

10 are the first three blood pressure readings?

11· · · A.· ·There are recorded -- you're talking about

12 where it starts at time 18:49?

13· · · Q.· ·Yes.

14· · · A.· ·Yes.· The first three readings are 59 over

15 40, and then 58 over 42, and then 59 over 41.

16· · · Q.· ·Does that indicate hypotension?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.· Those numbers are slightly low.

18· · · Q.· ·What is the threshold for a young child, a

19 three year old, for hypotension?

20· · · A.· ·So there's a formula that we use to

21 determine what makes that normal blood pressure to

22 be for a certain age when we're talking about

23 pediatrics.· The formula is two times the patient's

24 age, plus the number 65.

25· · · · · ·And so for her, an expected blood pressure
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·1 would be about 70.· And so, you know, 60 is not too

·2 far from 72, but it is lower.· So she does --

·3 according to these values, she does demonstrate

·4 hypotension on the first three reads.

·5· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Dr. Lasry, can

·6 you correct me if I'm wrong, I'm just trying to keep

·7 everyone's testimony, compare apples to apples.

·8· · · · · ·I think you said two times the patient's

·9 age, plus 65.· Is that what Dr. Glissmeyer said, or

10 did he say plus 70, I thought?

11· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· He said plus 70.· But my

12 Google search showed plus 65.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank

14 you.· I just wanted to make sure I understood that

15 correctly.

16· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Sure.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sorry,

18 Mr. Shogren.

19· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· That's fine.· Thank you.

20 BY MR. SHOGREN:

21· · · Q.· ·And there on page 83, when was the

22 patient's blood pressure first measured?

23· · · A.· ·At 18:49.· That's when they first

24 documented it.

25· · · Q.· ·And when did the patient depart Humboldt?
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·1· · · A.· ·I would have to check specifically.  I

·2 would say it's hard to tell.· Somewhere between

·3 18:30 and 18:50.

·4· · · Q.· ·So you said the patient did not exhibit --

·5 or did not have hypotension during her stay at

·6 Humboldt?

·7· · · A.· ·Correct.

·8· · · Q.· ·How would you explain that dip in the

·9 blood pressure there at --

10· · · A.· ·These are -- I don't know how to explain

11 it.· These are numbers that the EMS crew obtained.

12 They did not inform me about these about

13 abnormalities, because I only saw normal blood

14 pressures while the patient was in the ER.

15· · · · · ·And so I do not know why those numbers are

16 low.· As we can clearly see, they normalized soon

17 afterwards.

18· · · Q.· ·And you mentioned the blood pressure for

19 patients is normally document ed in the patient

20 records?

21· · · A.· ·Yes.

22· · · Q.· ·Do you look at the patient records, such

23 as vital signs, before seeing a patient or during?

24· · · A.· ·Well, the care in the ER is really --

25 we'll go in and out.· Sometimes I'll see the patient
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·1 before they have vital signs taken.· Sometimes I'll

·2 see them a half hour after they've been there, and

·3 the vital signs are already available.

·4· · · · · ·It just varies depending on how sick an

·5 individual patient is or how busy we are.

·6· · · Q.· ·You looked at this patient's vital signs

·7 during her stay there; correct?

·8· · · A.· ·Correct.

·9· · · Q.· ·And did you note the lack of any record of

10 blood pressure?

11· · · A.· ·So, when I look at the vital signs, I look

12 at the monitor.· I don't have to flip through a

13 chart to see what the vital signs are.· They're just

14 available visually for me on the monitor.

15· · · · · ·So if I see the results or if I see the

16 vital signs on the monitor, I'm not really flipping

17 through the nurse's note to see what she document ed

18 or whether or not she document ed it.· In fact, I

19 leave that alone.· It's -- the nurse's

20 document ation is separate from the physician's

21 document ation.

22· · · Q.· ·So you're going off the signs you saw

23 there at the time.· How do you remember what her

24 signs -- this was -- what? -- three years ago.  I

25 mean, is this how --
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·1· · · A.· ·This was a critically ill patient.  I

·2 don't see hundreds of snakebite patients.· This one

·3 was a young child, and this one died.· So my memory

·4 of this patient's case has stayed with me.

·5· · · Q.· ·So despite the lack of any record of the

·6 blood pressure in the notes provided from Humboldt,

·7 you remember what her blood pressure was from

·8 three years ago?

·9· · · A.· ·I don't remember an exact number, but I

10 remember her blood pressure was in the normal range.

11· · · Q.· ·And you mentioned that there is record of

12 the patient having tachycardia; correct?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.

14· · · Q.· ·And I believe you said in your direct that

15 it possibly was because the patient was fearful or

16 excited, given the circumstances.· That is your

17 reason why the patient's heart rate was elevated?

18· · · A.· ·I gave that as a possible reason.· It's

19 not really meant to be the sole reason.· A lot of

20 times, I don't know why a patient's vital signs are

21 abnormal, but those are contributing factors that

22 could have possible contributed to her having

23 tachycardia.

24· · · Q.· ·So, the vital signs are abnormal, you

25 said?
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·1· · · A.· ·The heart rate was elevated, yes.

·2· · · Q.· ·What is another -- what could be another

·3 realistic reason for the tachycardia?

·4· · · A.· ·Dehydration, low volume, the

·5 envenomization, of course.

·6· · · Q.· ·The envenomization.· Okay.

·7· · · · · ·And in your experiences, is the

·8 combination of low blood pressure and heart rate,

·9 high elevated heart rate is that cause for concern?

10· · · A.· ·Absolutely.

11· · · Q.· ·And that combination, what could be the

12 reason for that?

13· · · A.· ·Again, there is many possible causes, but

14 during the ER stay, the patient had mildly elevated

15 heart rate and had a normal blood pressure.

16· · · Q.· ·And during your testimony, you said

17 hypotension or low blood pressure, that is one of

18 the cardinal signs of severe envenomization?

19· · · A.· ·Yes, it could be.

20· · · Q.· ·Is that, in itself, a serious sign?

21· · · A.· ·We take the whole picture.· Low blood

22 pressure is a serious sign, for sure.

23· · · · · ·So, we look whole picture of the patient's

24 presentation, and how they appear and other vital

25 signs and other parameters.
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·1· · · Q.· ·But you don't need multiple signs to

·2 determine if there's been severe envenomization?

·3· · · A.· ·So, I think my answer goes back to what we

·4 talked about earlier.· It's not cookbook medicine.

·5 It's not whereas we have one vital signs that's

·6 abnormal, and we decide that person needs to be

·7 treated.· It's not like we have one lab abnormality

·8 and for sure that patient has to be treated.

·9· · · · · ·We look at the patient as a whole.· It's

10 can't be a cookbook.· We're going to take into

11 account their age, their comorbidity, the event,

12 where the envenomization occurred, the progression

13 of the swelling, the coagulation deficits that

14 occur, how the patient appears, and the vital signs.

15· · · · · ·So I'm sorry, but it's not just one simple

16 parameter that you could look at where you make the

17 decision to treat or not treat.· We look at the

18 whole picture.

19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so you talked about in your

20 testimony about swelling of the patient's knee area.

21 Just to be clear, there was increased swelling?

22· · · A.· ·No doubt, there was increased swelling.

23· · · Q.· ·Was there any mottling around the left

24 knee?

25· · · A.· ·I did not see any mottling.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Can you turn to page 79?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.

·3· · · Q.· ·Can you focus on the section titled

·4 "Emergency document ation" here?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·There's these textual results listed.

·7 What are these?

·8· · · A.· ·These are the nurse's progress notes, is

·9 what they look like.

10· · · Q.· ·So on the note dated May 9th, 2020, it's

11 6:24 P.M., does it say that there was noted mottling

12 around left knee?

13· · · A.· ·It sure does.· Yes, it does.

14· · · Q.· ·And does it say M.D. and where?

15· · · A.· ·Yes, it does.

16· · · Q.· ·And is that M.D., is that referring to

17 you?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·So just to be clear, you were the

20 admitting physician?

21· · · A.· ·I was the treating physician.

22· · · Q.· ·The treating physician.· Was the

23 responsibility of the patient's care in your hands?

24· · · A.· ·Yes.

25· · · Q.· ·Was it any other physician's
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·1 responsibility to take of the patient at Humboldt?

·2· · · A.· ·No.

·3· · · Q.· ·Thank you.

·4· · · · · ·Did you -- so you mentioned that you

·5 talked to a Dr. Thorp at Humboldt?

·6· · · A.· ·Correct.

·7· · · Q.· ·What was Dr. Thorp's position?

·8· · · A.· ·She is a pediatrician.

·9· · · Q.· ·And was she responsible for the care of

10 the patient here?

11· · · A.· ·She was not responsible for Patient A.

12 She would be responsible for patients that I

13 admitted to her service.

14· · · Q.· ·Would she be the one to determine if

15 antivenom was necessary?

16· · · A.· ·She couldn't be because she wasn't

17 comfortable with it and wasn't experienced with it.

18· · · Q.· ·But you were ultimately the one that

19 decided whether or not to administer antivenom?

20· · · A.· ·That's right.

21· · · Q.· ·Did you make that determination before you

22 spoke with Dr. Thorp?

23· · · A.· ·I can't recall for sure.· I believe so.  I

24 can't be sure, but I believe so.· I believe that I

25 spoke to the consulting physicians once I had most
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·1 of the results back from testing.

·2· · · Q.· ·And then you note, and you've testified,

·3 it says in your notes at 5:45 P.M. you spoke with a

·4 Dr. Gaffen, it says here in the notes.· And just for

·5 the record, was it Gassen or Gaffen?

·6· · · A.· ·Gassen.· SS like Sam.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· When you spoke with Dr. Gassen, was

·8 he responsible for the care of the patient at that

·9 time?

10· · · A.· ·No.· I was responsible care of the patient

11 while she was in our emergency department.

12· · · Q.· ·And when you spoke with him -- well, first

13 of all, were you present when there was -- we played

14 respondent's Exhibit number 7, which was an audio

15 recording?

16· · · A.· ·What's the question?

17· · · Q.· ·Were you present and did you hear the

18 audio recording that was played earlier?

19· · · A.· ·Yes, I was.

20· · · Q.· ·Do you recall the contents of that

21 conversation?

22· · · A.· ·Yes, I do.

23· · · Q.· ·And that was a conversation between you

24 and Dr. Gassen?

25· · · A.· ·Correct.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Did you convey to Dr. Gassen the

·2 patient's vital signs?

·3· · · A.· ·I believe I told him the vital signs were

·4 stable.

·5· · · Q.· ·Did you convey to him the patient's blood

·6 pressure?

·7· · · A.· ·The blood pressure was normal, so I did

·8 not convey --

·9· · · Q.· ·So you didn't convey that to him?

10· · · A.· ·I didn't relay that specifically, no.

11· · · Q.· ·And did you convey the patient's heart

12 rate?

13· · · A.· ·I did not hear it on the conversation.

14· · · Q.· ·But you said the patient's heart rate was

15 abnormal?

16· · · A.· ·The patient's heart rate was fast, a

17 little bit fast, but it was also stable, meaning it

18 wasn't fluctuating, it wasn't going up and down.· So

19 there was stability with the heart rate.

20· · · Q.· ·You didn't think it was necessary to

21 explain to this Dr. Gassen the tachycardia of the

22 patient?

23· · · A.· ·You know, when I give a report, I gave the

24 information that I thought was most relevant at the

25 time.· If I forgot to give the exact number of the
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·1 heart rate, it's my mistake, but I try to convey as

·2 well as possible the correct and -- the correct

·3 story of how the patient presented, how she

·4 appeared, how her workup went, and how she

·5 progressed during the ER stay.

·6· · · · · ·And if I left out some exact number, it's

·7 on me.· I apologize.· But I thought I have a very

·8 fair representation of the patient's ER evaluation

·9 and assessment on that date.

10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so do you believe that Humboldt

11 was not equipped to deal with adverse reactions to,

12 you know, if you were to administer antivenom?

13· · · A.· ·No.· We -- Humboldt General Hospital, I

14 believe, had the medications necessary to treat

15 severe allergic reactions.

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You got in -- do you recall, did

17 Humboldt have antivenom on hand on about May 9th,

18 2020?

19· · · A.· ·I cannot say for sure.

20· · · Q.· ·Do you recall, does Humboldt typically

21 have antivenom available?

22· · · A.· ·I don't know.· I'm not at all involved in

23 what the pharmacy stocks or what they keep or what's

24 available, so I really don't know.

25· · · Q.· ·Is it typical, in your experience, for
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·1 emergency departments to have antivenom on hand?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.· A majority of emergency departments

·3 will have.· However, some of the smaller, more rural

·4 hospitals won't because they can't afford it, and

·5 it's very expensive medication.

·6· · · Q.· ·Was the availability antivenom, was that a

·7 consideration into whether or not to administer it

·8 here?

·9· · · A.· ·Not really.· My main consideration was to

10 treat or not to treat.· To give the antivenom or not

11 to give the antivenom.

12· · · Q.· ·So you mentioned that antivenom has --

13 that administration of antivenom may have adverse

14 affects?

15· · · A.· ·Correct.

16· · · Q.· ·What would those adverse affects be,

17 typically?

18· · · A.· ·Well, the common and serious ones that we

19 typically see in about 20 percent of patients given

20 antivenom would be either hypersensitivity reaction

21 or serum sickness.· And both of those are allergic

22 type of reactions.

23· · · Q.· ·Could you turn to Exhibit 13, and page on

24 150.

25· · · A.· ·I'm there.
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·1· · · Q.· ·So if you go to the section titled "Dose

·2 and Administration," could you read the beginning of

·3 the second paragraph of that section, the first

·4 sentence?

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.· It starts with "Antivenom Therapy"?

·6· · · Q.· ·Yes.

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · · · · · ·"Antivenom therapy with FabAV or

·9· · · · · · · ·Fab2AV, can be associated with

10· · · · · · · ·potentially severe allergic

11· · · · · · · ·reactions, but the risk appears to

12· · · · · · · ·low.· Less than one percent.

13· · · · · · · ·Nevertheless, antivenom should

14· · · · · · · ·only be administered in a

15· · · · · · · ·continuously monitored emergency

16· · · · · · · ·or intensitive care unit setting."

17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.· Just the beginning

18 there.· Thank you.

19· · · · · ·And what is the second section here,

20 "Treatment of acute antivenom reactions."· What does

21 this section, the first paragraph, say about the

22 rate of acute serum reaction and sickness?

23· · · A.· ·I don't know.· Where do you want me to

24 read from?

25· · · Q.· ·Well, does this section say that patients
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·1 receiving either FabAV or Fab2AV is approximately

·2 two to three percent of the rate of acute serum

·3 reaction in sickness?

·4· · · A.· ·If you don't mind, I'll read it myself, if

·5 you want my interpretation.

·6· · · Q.· ·Yeah.· That makes it clear.

·7· · · A.· ·Yes, I see it says that the rate of

·8 reaction is two or three percent in previously

·9 treated patients.· Meaning patients that received

10 antivenom before, have a two to three percent.

11· · · · · ·However, there's another article that

12 shows completely different numbers.

13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· That was just my question just on

14 this here.

15· · · · · ·And you mentioned HGH at the time was

16 equipped to deal with reactions to antivenom?

17· · · A.· ·As we read in the paragraph you had me

18 read, the patient needs to be either in an ER or ICU

19 setting.

20· · · · · ·And the patient needed to be transferred

21 to a higher level of care.· It wasn't something we

22 want the patient to have while being transported

23 with EMS with limited resources, with limited

24 ability to care for adverse reactions.

25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so what was the risk, then, of
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·1 not administering antivenom in this situation?

·2· · · A.· ·The risk was of a severe life-threatening

·3 hypersensitivity reaction, to which could be as high

·4 as 20 percent.

·5· · · · · ·So, yes, if antivenom is indicated, we

·6 should give it and I would give it and I have given

·7 it.· But if it's a questionable case or if it's

·8 strongly indicated, then you have make the decision:

·9 Is the risk of severe hypersensitivity or allergic

10 reaction worth the chance taking?

11· · · · · ·And my first oath as a doctor was to cause

12 no harm.· So, if it was indicated, if it was

13 strongly indicated, I would give it.· If she was

14 more ill or ill appearing or had other parameters

15 that indicated that she needed to have antivenom, I

16 would give it.

17· · · · · ·But short of that, it is not a benign

18 medicine that you can just freely to anybody.· It's

19 not like tap water.· It is something that has --

20· · · Q.· ·Okay.

21· · · A.· ·-- a significant risk associated with it.

22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· But according to this article, I

23 decided the risk appears to be low for potentially

24 severe allergic reactions?

25· · · A.· ·That's true.· But another article that
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·1 Dr. Glissmeyer provided said that it was as high as

·2 20 percent.

·3· · · Q.· ·I'm referring to this article, and it

·4 appears to be a peer-reviewed article; correct?

·5· · · A.· ·Okay.

·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.

·7· · · A.· ·I thought they were all peer-reviewed

·8 articles.

·9· · · Q.· ·Correct.

10· · · · · ·And I just wanted to move here -- the

11 transfer -- the mode of transportation, whose

12 decision was that?

13· · · A.· ·Ultimately, it was mother's choice to go

14 by ground.

15· · · Q.· ·So you had no say in this?

16· · · A.· ·Again, mother has to consent to me

17 transferring the patient anywhere.· I cannot simply

18 take a child away from a parent and send them to

19 another hospital where the parent isn't allowing me

20 to send.

21· · · · · ·So your question is hard so answer because

22 I can't send a child anywhere without the mother's

23 consent.

24· · · · · ·And so since as the mother refused, yes, I

25 would prefer to go by air ambulance, yes, I would
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·1 have preferred the fastest means possible, but if

·2 she refused, I have to negotiate with mother.· And

·3 if mother was adamant that she wasn't willing to go

·4 as she was by -- to allow the child to go by

·5 helicopter, then I gave into her request.· And I

·6 thought it was okay to go by ground transport

·7 because I thought we had a period of time of safety

·8 and because the patient has been stable in our ER

·9 for the last three to four hours.· And all the other

10 issues I've already discussed.

11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And roughly how long did it take

12 for the patient to get from Humboldt General

13 Hospital to Renown in Reno?

14· · · A.· ·I think it's about two and a half hours.

15· · · Q.· ·Two and a half hours.

16· · · · · ·Would that time have been shorter if she

17 were to take air transport?

18· · · A.· ·Yes.

19· · · Q.· ·Do you know roughly how much shorter or

20 how much longer it would have taken?

21· · · A.· ·Oh, I think -- I think it would have been

22 just an hour by helicopter.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Do you know or

24 are you guessing?

25· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm approximating.· I'm
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·1 guessing.· I don't know the exact times.

·2 BY MR. SHOGREN:

·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Can you -- actually, going back to

·4 page 34, this is Exhibit 6.

·5· · · A.· ·Yes.

·6· · · Q.· ·Under the section "Procedure."

·7· · · A.· ·Yes.

·8· · · Q.· ·Was this patient listed under critical

·9 care?

10· · · A.· ·I document ed that I provided critical

11 care for this patient.

12· · · Q.· ·Did you bill for critical care of the

13 patient?

14· · · A.· ·Yes.· I don't actually billing myself.  I

15 just document my care.· So I didn't -- I don't get

16 any remuneration from any particular patient I've

17 seen.

18· · · Q.· ·Sure.

19· · · · · ·To your knowledge, was this patient billed

20 for critical care?

21· · · A.· ·It depends on the billing companies,

22 whether or not they billed for it.

23· · · Q.· ·And why was this critical care in this

24 instance?

25· · · A.· ·Snakebite envenomization are classified as
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·1 critical care cases.· And then there's also the care

·2 that I provided, multiple reassessments, the

·3 multiple reevaluations of the patient, the

·4 discussion with the consulting physicians, the

·5 medical decision-making time, all of those

·6 categories count towards critical care time.

·7· · · Q.· ·And despite this being critical care, you

·8 didn't think antivenom was necessary?

·9· · · A.· ·Critical -- you could have critical care

10 without a patient being critical.· So, patients can

11 be potentially critical care, critically ill, and we

12 could bill for critical care for them.· And they may

13 be able to walk home without having any critical

14 abnormalities.

15· · · · · ·So, critical care does not mean that the

16 patient was critically ill; it means they were

17 potentially critical.

18· · · Q.· ·You also mentioned in your testimony there

19 was a possibility of deterioration for the patient?

20· · · A.· ·Correct.

21· · · Q.· ·Can you elaborate on that?· What do you

22 mean by that?

23· · · A.· ·Well, with snake envenomizations, the

24 reason why we need to monitor and admit those

25 patients is to watch for signs of toxicity that
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·1 could develop over time.· Even if she didn't have

·2 signs of toxicity at the onset or after the first

·3 few hours, she, or any snakebite patient, may

·4 develop signs of toxicity 12, 24, even 72 hours

·5 after the envenomization.

·6· · · · · ·So that's why I could not predict -- I

·7 don't see the future, I wasn't certain if need meet,

·8 but that possibility did exist.· And the only way to

·9 know would be to continuously monitor her, watch the

10 progression of the swelling, repeat the coagulation

11 studies and the laboratory tests, and based on those

12 findings, you would determine if antivenom is

13 indicated at that time.

14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So do you believe you did

15 everything you could do at that time for the

16 patient?

17· · · A.· ·Yes.· I believe that I gave her very good

18 care, and I believe I treated her well and

19 appropriately and I followed the standard of care.

20 And I did my best to give her the best care

21 possible.

22· · · Q.· ·So why do you think she needed to be

23 transferred?

24· · · A.· ·Because we didn't have a physician that

25 could care for a rattlesnake patient at our
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·1 hospital.· I had to transfer her to a facility where

·2 they did have such specialists.

·3· · · Q.· ·And you mentioned that you've treated how

·4 many patients with --

·5· · · A.· ·Twenty.

·6· · · Q.· ·Twenty?

·7· · · A.· ·Fifteen to 20.

·8· · · Q.· ·So just to sum, what did you do for the

·9 patient?· What -- how did you benefit the patient?

10· · · A.· ·We did multiple things to help stabilize

11 this patient.· We started off with a medical

12 screening examination.· We obtained a history.  I

13 performed a physical exam.· I ordered laboratory

14 testing.· I provided her with IV fluids for

15 additional hydration.· I provided her with pain

16 medications.· I provided her with potassium

17 replacement because her potassium was extremely low.

18· · · · · ·I updated the mother with what was

19 happening, with our decision-making, our decision

20 not to treat now, but the fact that we may need to

21 treat in future.

22· · · · · ·And I consulted with admitting physicians

23 in order to get the patient to the appropriate level

24 of care where she could be watched and where

25 antivenom could be administered, if it was needed in
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·1 the future.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And just to be clear, is it

·3 possible to give the patient antivenom and then

·4 transfer her to another facility?

·5· · · A.· ·Everything is possible.· I mean, sure,

·6 that is within the realm of possibility.· Yes.

·7· · · Q.· ·But you didn't think that was necessary to

·8 give the antivenom and transfer her?

·9· · · A.· ·Well, there is a couple of points I'd like

10 to make.

11· · · · · ·One is I thought that we could withhold,

12 and I thought that we had some time before making

13 the decision to give antivenom.· The patient had a

14 period of being stable, she had no lab

15 abnormalities, she had minimal progression of the

16 swelling of the wound, she had no pain, and

17 everybody document ed that she was well profused and

18 had good color and looked well and was comfortable.

19· · · · · ·On top of that, I did not want the patient

20 receiving antivenom while being transported by EMS.

21 EMS is not very well suited to severe anaphylactic

22 reactions or to intubate a pediatric child.· If she

23 had lost her airway, if she had developed swelling

24 of airway over time or of her mouth or lips and she

25 needed a tube put in her airway, EMS wouldn't be
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·1 able to do for her.· So it wouldn't a safe transfer.

·2· · · · · ·Yes, it's within the realm of possibility,

·3 but it wasn't something I deemed to be safe.

·4· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· I have no further questions

·5 right now.· Thank you.

·6· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· I just have a brief follow-up.

·7· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Sure.

·8· · · · · · · · ·REDIRECT EXAMINATION

·9 BY MS. HUETH:

10· · · Q.· ·Can you turn, please, to Exhibit 1,

11 specifically page 3.

12· · · A.· ·Yes.

13· · · Q.· ·Paragraph 16, the one that starts with

14 "NAC 630.040 defines malpractice."· Can you read

15 what is in quotation marks as the definition of

16 malpractice?

17· · · A.· ·Certainly.

18· · · · · · · ·"The failure of a physician in

19· · · · · · · ·treating a patient to use the

20· · · · · · · ·reasonable care, skill, or

21· · · · · · · ·knowledge ordinarily used under

22· · · · · · · ·similar circumstances."

23· · · Q.· ·Does it define malpractice as not doing

24 everything you could?

25· · · A.· ·No, it does not.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.

·2· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· That's all I have.

·3· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Thank you.· Do

·4 you guys all mind if I ask a few questions?

·5· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Of course not.

·6· · · · · EXAMINATION BY THE HEARING OFFICER

·7 BY HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:

·8· · · Q.· ·Dr. Lasry, is it possible for a physician

·9 to go on the transfer with the patient?

10· · · A.· ·No, that's not possible.· There's only one

11 ER physician.· I work -- in those shifts, we did

12 24 hours.· There is no other physician that could

13 cover the emergency department.· There's no other

14 physician in the hospital that's skilled or trained

15 or credentialed or certified to do that duty.

16· · · · · ·So, no, it was not possible for me to

17 travel with the patient.

18· · · Q.· ·Based on staffing only?

19· · · A.· ·I think the answer is yes, based -- yes,

20 because there's nobody to -- there's nobody to cover

21 it.· There's nobody to cover the ER.· It would be

22 illegal for me to leave the ER without medical

23 coverage.

24· · · Q.· ·I guess -- I'm not asking -- I guess I'm

25 asking if there had been other coverage, is it ever
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·1 a situation where physicians travel with patients on

·2 transport?

·3· · · A.· ·They -- not in this country.· I've seen it

·4 happen in France, that's commonly done.· In some

·5 countries, it's common that the EMS system has

·6 physicians, but not in this country.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·8· · · · · ·I appreciate your indulgence because I'm a

·9 lawyer, I'm not a physician, so I might ask some

10 questions that you might find strange, but it's just

11 so I can understand.

12· · · A.· ·I'm happy to answer them.

13· · · Q.· ·Thank you.· I appreciate that.

14· · · · · ·How much lead time did you have to know

15 that you had a patient coming in with a snakebite?

16· · · A.· ·I can't recall exactly.· Maybe 15 or

17 30 minutes.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And did you think to check if there

19 was any --

20· · · A.· ·That's a guess.

21· · · Q.· ·You said maybe 15 or 20 minutes?

22· · · A.· ·Fifteen or 30 minutes, correct.

23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And did you think to check if there

24 was any antivenom available within that time,

25 knowing that there was someone coming in and you
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·1 wouldn't know their condition until they got there

·2 and there was preparation needed for the serum if it

·3 needed to be administered?

·4· · · A.· ·I didn't think in those terms.· In my mind

·5 at the time, I just assumed that we had it.· I did

·6 not check beforehand.

·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So you weren't worried about it not

·8 being available?

·9· · · A.· ·No.· And if it wasn't available, then we

10 would send the ambulance to go find some from

11 another ER.

12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· How -- okay.

13· · · · · ·Okay.· And then the other snakebites

14 you've treated, were those in this area, this area

15 being Northern Nevada, or were those in different

16 locations?

17· · · A.· ·Different locations.

18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So have you ever dealt with a

19 rattlesnake bite in particular?

20· · · A.· ·Of course, yes.

21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And how many of the bites that you

22 dealt with previously were rattlesnake bites?

23· · · A.· ·So, you know, we're talking about

24 Crotalidae, it's a genius of snakes.· And so I think

25 it encompasses rattlesnakes and water moccasins and
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·1 pit vipers, they're all of the same category.· And

·2 the antivenom is made from a combination of those

·3 snakes.

·4· · · · · ·Oftentimes, a person who is bitten by the

·5 snake doesn't know exactly what type of snake bit

·6 them.· They are not knowledgeable about the

·7 different types of snakes.· Sometimes they give us a

·8 description, sometimes not.

·9· · · · · ·So in reality, we don't worry too much

10 about the exact description of the type of snake

11 that bit the patient, but it seemed like it was of

12 the rattlesnake family, then we'll give the

13 antivenom that usually has the venom of a whole host

14 of the snakes.

15· · · Q.· ·That was helpful.· Thank you.

16· · · · · ·Where there any other medical

17 professionals there, nurses or physicians assistants

18 or anybody who tried to encourage you to give the

19 antivenom?

20· · · A.· ·They didn't encourage me.· They asked if

21 we should give it.· I wouldn't say they encouraged

22 me.

23· · · · · ·There was just the two nurses there I was

24 working with.· So, Cristal was one.· I don't recall

25 the name of the other nurse.· But it was just me and
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·1 two nurses that were caring for all of the patients

·2 coming through the emergency department.

·3· · · Q.· ·And when you said that they talked to you

·4 about that antivenom, what was the nature of their

·5 inquiry to you?

·6· · · A.· ·They asked if they thought we should give

·7 it.· They asked if we thought it was indicated.· And

·8 I was the one making the medical decision-making,

·9 and I had come to the judgment that I didn't believe

10 that it was indicated at this time.

11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Did both nurses inquire of you or

12 just one?

13· · · A.· ·I only recall one asking.

14· · · Q.· ·And which one was that?

15· · · A.· ·Cristal.

16· · · Q.· ·And then just because I'm not familiar

17 with how -- I've heard talk about how you checked

18 the vital and why and the indication of the vitals,

19 but I don't have an understanding of how a snakebite

20 impacts a person's system, and so what you would

21 look for to see that bite.

22· · · · · ·Can you explain that to me, please?

23· · · A.· ·For sure.· So we talked about the swelling

24 that develops.· What happens is -- maybe I'll just

25 give you just a brief rundown of snakebites, of what
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·1 they are.

·2· · · · · ·Basically, when you get bitten by a snake

·3 or envenomated by a snake, you're getting a soup of

·4 different toxins, lots of different proteins and

·5 peptides, it's organic materials, some metals, but

·6 it's a whole soup.· It's a concoction of different

·7 things that are toxic to us.

·8· · · · · ·The effects on the body are various

·9 because there's so many different toxins within the

10 venom.· There are toxins that make the blood vessels

11 leaky, and by making them leaky, that can make the

12 blood pressure drop, and that's what causes the

13 swelling to develop.· So when you have swelling,

14 it's because the blood vessels are leaky, and the

15 fluid or blood within them is leaking out of the

16 blood vessels causing the edema to form.

17· · · · · ·There are other symptoms that develop like

18 metallic taste in the mouth, or we talked about

19 abnormal muscle movement or muscle weakness or

20 respiratory failure or changes in mental status or

21 pain, you know, shooting pains, pains, pain is

22 usually one of the hallmark symptoms of a snakebite.

23· · · · · ·Usually when patients comes with a snake

24 envenomization, usually they're in severe pain.

25 Usually they're suffering.· Usually they're crying
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·1 and screaming and complaining of pain, and usually

·2 we're giving them morphine or some kind of narcotic

·3 to treat the pain.

·4· · · · · ·If you don't mind, can you go back and ask

·5 me again.· I know I was talking about the

·6 snakebites, but you wanted to know details about why

·7 or why --

·8· · · Q.· ·I'm trying -- and you were answering me.

·9· · · · · ·I was just wondering -- no one's explained

10 to me how the venom -- I know what you look for, but

11 I don't know why you look for it because I don't

12 know how the venom works.

13· · · · · ·So when you were explaining it to me with

14 regard to the leaky vessels, that's sort of the

15 inquiry I was looking at.

16· · · A.· ·And that's just one of the factors.

17 Because it also will effect the coagulation profile

18 that makes you bleed more easily.· And then it

19 depends -- of course, if you imagine that your blood

20 vessels are very leaky and you're developing a lot

21 of swelling or edema in your leg, that's fluid that

22 was in your vascular system that's not no longer in

23 the vascular system, and that's what will make you

24 tachycardic, hypotensive, or having signs of shock,

25 which Patient A did not demonstrate.
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·1· · · Q.· ·So, for instance, her death certificate

·2 says she died by a snakebite.· And I believe it's,

·3 you know, it says "rattlesnake bite."· And then it

·4 says "complications of toxic envenomization."

·5· · · · · ·And I guess what I'm hearing from you is

·6 that could be various things.· I guess -- I guess

·7 I'm wondering:· How does it get to you?· Does it get

·8 to respiratory failure, does it get organ shutdown,

·9 or could it be a combination of things because of

10 all the different toxins?

11· · · A.· ·It's more of a combination.· And you can't

12 predict what a single envenomization is going to do

13 to a particular person.· We don't know if it's going

14 to cause airway problems.· We don't know if it's

15 going to cause fistulation.· We don't know -- it

16 could be any combination of them because every

17 patient is different.

18· · · · · ·Different snakes have different soups in

19 their venom or soups of toxins in their venom.· We

20 don't know how much venom the patient received.· We

21 don't know if the venom was injected, let's say,

22 into a blood vessel, which would make it extremely

23 toxic and much more fatal or much more critical.

24 There's a lot of parameters we don't know.· We don't

25 know if it's a dry bite.· We don't know if it's a



Page 237
·1 toxic bite.

·2· · · · · ·So we can't know much about the bite,

·3 other than there's been a bite.· And that's why we

·4 have to look at all those other parameters to help

·5 us figure out whether or not we thought this was a

·6 toxic bite, indicating antivenom, or if it's a minor

·7 or a more-minor envenomization or a dry bite that

·8 doesn't require any antivenom.

·9· · · Q.· ·And did you read from the report from when

10 she was brought into EMS how the father had reported

11 that he set her down, and then the mother screamed

12 when he picked her back up that the snake was still

13 attached to her leg, and that they then got it off?

14· · · A.· ·I read that.

15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so was it impactful for you --

16 I mean, I obviously haven't seen this child, but I

17 know she was three and I know that's little -- if

18 you have a snake, and I don't know how old the snake

19 was or how big the snake was, but was the impactful

20 that she was a tiny child and she had a snake

21 latching on to her for, you know, not just a strike,

22 but based on the snake attaching and the size of

23 child, I guess is what I'm getting at, if that was a

24 factor to you?

25· · · A.· ·All those things are factors.· Yes, I
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·1 would take that into consideration.

·2· · · · · ·However, there's a couple of things that I

·3 would say regarding that.· Just as we talked about

·4 earlier, when it comes to dosing the antivenom, we

·5 don't chose different doses for pediatric patients

·6 or for small patients because we have no way of

·7 knowing exactly how much venom the patient was

·8 envenomated with.· That's why we give the standard

·9 dose to everybody, adults or pediatric.

10· · · · · ·On top of that, this particular

11 envenomization was right over her kneecap.· What is

12 right under the skin of her kneecap?· It's bone.

13· · · · · ·Furthermore, the swelling that she had was

14 perfectly circular.· It was limited to a very small

15 area, the size of a coin.· This was not a big, fat

16 edema that was progressing quickly.· This was not

17 circumferential swelling of the leg.· There was none

18 of the blebs, blisters, that were formed.

19· · · · · ·So there was a lot of features of her

20 presentation that told us that this was a more minor

21 envenomization, rather than a more serious

22 envenomization.

23· · · · · ·Could the fact that the snake hung on for

24 a period of time mean that she got more venom?· For

25 sure.· It's possible.· There's no way for me to know
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·1 this.

·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.

·3· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· I just want to

·4 make sure that I got all my questions answered, and

·5 then I'll turn it back over counsel to follow up on

·6 what I asked.

·7· · · · · ·I think that's all that I had.

·8· · · · · ·Ms. Hueth, did you want to follow up on

·9 any of my questions or ask questions to clarify

10 anything I may have asked?

11· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· No.· I don't have anything

12 further.· Thank you.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Mr. Shogren?

14· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Nothing further.

15· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

16 Ms. Hueth, do you have other witnesses that you're

17 able to call today?

18· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Not today, no.

19· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And who

20 are your witnesses for tomorrow?

21· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Tomorrow, I have my expert,

22 Dr. Levin.

23· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Any other

24 witnesses?

25· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Nope.· That's it.
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·1· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And how

·2 long do you anticipate that testimony will last?

·3· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Obviously I can only speak for

·4 my questioning, so I anticipate an hour and a

·5 half-ish.

·6· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· All right.· Any

·7 other housekeeping matters that we need to address

·8 today?

·9· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Actually there is one.  I

10 forgot to mention, I don't know if it's too late,

11 but earlier in the hearing today, there was an audio

12 recording played, respondent's Exhibit 7, and as I

13 recall, there was mention in that audio record of

14 the patient's name, specifically.· I don't know if

15 there's a way that that could be redacted.

16· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well, I mean,

17 the patient's name is all over the medical records.

18 Her name hasn't been redacted from any of them.

19· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Right.· But I'm just talking

20 specifically about the transcript that it would

21 generally appear.

22· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Well, I don't

23 think that that that was transcribed.· That call has

24 not been transcribed.· So the court reporter didn't

25 transcribe that call.· That would have to be
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·1 separately transcribed and submitted as an exhibit

·2 as a transcription of the call.

·3· · · · · ·MR. SHOGREN:· Okay.· I just wanted to make

·4 sure that the patient's name wouldn't be in the

·5 transcription.· That does not seem to be the case,

·6 so okay.

·7· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Anything else

·8 anyone would like to address today before we

·9 adjourn?

10· · · · · ·Ms. Hueth, will your expert be available

11 by 8:30, the start time tomorrow?

12· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yep.

13· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· And

14 everyone will be appearing from the locations

15 they're appearing from this afternoon?

16· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Yes.

17· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.

18· · · · · ·MS. HUETH:· Well, obviously, except my

19 expert will be appearing remotely from a different

20 location.

21· · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:· Okay.· Thank

22 you.· If there's nothing further, we'll adjourn for

23 the day, and we will reconvene tomorrow at 8:30 in

24 the morning.

25· · · · · ·(Hearing adjourned at 4:40 P.M.)
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·1 STATE OF NEVADA· · ·)
· · · · · · · · · · · ·)· ss.
·2 COUNTY OF WASHOE· · )

·3
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·1· · · HEALTH INFORMATION PRIVACY & SECURITY: CAUTIONARY NOTICE

·2· Litigation Services is committed to compliance with applicable federal

·3· and state laws and regulations (“Privacy Laws”) governing the

·4· protection andsecurity of patient health information.Notice is

·5· herebygiven to all parties that transcripts of depositions and legal

·6· proceedings, and transcript exhibits, may contain patient health

·7· information that is protected from unauthorized access, use and

·8· disclosure by Privacy Laws. Litigation Services requires that access,

·9· maintenance, use, and disclosure (including but not limited to

10· electronic database maintenance and access, storage, distribution/

11· dissemination and communication) of transcripts/exhibits containing
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13· No transcript or exhibit containing protected patient health

14· information may be further disclosed except as permitted by Privacy

15· Laws. Litigation Services expects that all parties, parties’
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17· make every reasonable effort to protect and secure patient health
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20· disclosure (sharing) of transcripts and transcript exhibits, and

21· applying “minimum necessary” standards where appropriate. It is
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directing configuration of an in-EHR handoff process that replaced legacy
functionality developed in-house. This new functionality is used by physicians and
advance practice providers throughout Intermountain Healthcare. Advocated for a
third-party application that would eventually replace this in-house configuration.
Identifying and directing means of active notification of teams that patients of
interest have emergency, in-hospital, or ambulatory encounters. Deemed
"query-based notification lists" was a novel use of EHR functionality and presented
at Cerner's Pediatric Leadership Council in 2018. Identifying and directing the
workflow analysis, configuration, build, and training for the launch of electronic
orders for infusion encounters at Primary Children's Hospital. Previous to October
2017, the electronic ordering process for infusions of medications to be delivered
in Intermountain facilities had not gone well, and nearly all sites had reverted to
paper. I partnered with Continuous Improvement specialists to perform in-depth
analysis of current state and thorough future-state planning and change
management activities. We successfully delivered electronic-order-only infusions
at Primary Children's Hospital Rapid Treatment Unit from day 1 of go-live.  

2015 - 2017 Primary Children's Hospital Provider Adoption Lead for iCentra Implementation
2015 - 2017 Member, Cerner Emergency Medicine Strategic Board
2014 - 2017 Intermountain Healthcare iCentra EHR ED Development Team (EDDT) and

Transitions sub-team Lead. This group meets every 2 weeks to design and optimize
the Emergency Department software used at all 20 Intermountain Healthcare
emergency departments.

2013 - 2014 PEM fellow scheduling
2013 PCH ED culture log followup

PROFESSIONAL COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES
2020 - Present Stake Presidency 2nd Counselor, The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints,

..
2019 Director & Teacher, The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, First Aid

Merit Badge course for Boy Scouts aged 11-14. Taught 6 scouts First Aid and
organized a course with 2 other instructors. Instruction on burns, injury avoidance,
bleeding, fractures, CPR and other life-saving and injury stabilization skills

2018 Educator, The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, I prepared and
presented an interactive discussion and handout on emergency preparedness:
"medications, storage, and hygeine in the time of an emergency to 35 persons as
part of an hour-long emergency preparedness fair.

2018 Camp Physician, The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, The Church of
Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, This is the weeklong young women's camp of
the Bountiful East Stake, attended by 160 girls 12-18 years.

2016 Camp Physician, The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, This is the
weeklong young women's camp of the Bountiful East Stake, attended by 160 girls
12-18 years.
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2015 Medical Chairperson, The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, Chaired a
comittee of four medical professions to provide on-site medical support and
expertise for the Bountiful East Stakes' 2015 youth pioneer trek, consisting of 150
youth and 30 leaders. An overland hiking and camping effort covering 34 miles in
4 days with children of all abilities.

2014 Alumnus Mentor, Westminster College, Take a Griffin to lunch mentoring
program: Camrin Rivera. Facilitate connections with student career interests.

2014 - 2015 Cubmaster, Boy Scouts of America, Organize monthly pack meetings, track rank
advancement, serve as mentor to 8-11 year old boys and assist them if developing
habits of service to family and community, citizenship, lifelong learning and
physical fitness.

2013 Volunteer, Camp Hobe, Provided medical and leadership support at a weeklong
camp for children with cancer and their siblings, assisting in fundraising and
planning for future camps

2008 Educator, Salt Lake City School District, Eye Safety, Taught intermediate
school-age children about eye injury prevention through didactic and hands-on
activities in an effort to reduce incidence of preventable eye injury

2005 - 2008 Coach, Boy Scouts of America, Varisty Scouts, Provided first aid and backcountry
medicine certification training, mentoring, community awareness and outdoor
skills education to boys in the metro Salt Lake City area and supervised their
large-scale youth-led service projects

UNIVERSITY COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES
University of Utah Health
2016 - Present Advisory Committee Member, University of Utah Hospitals and Clinics,

University of Utah CIO, CMIO, and IT meet with PCH EHR leadership including
myself in my role as director of medical informatics to track the development of
data interfaces between Intermountain iCentra and University Utah electronic data
warehouses. Challenges and tasks include establishing data primacy and data
transfer protocols.

2005 Student Representative, Health Professions Education Building, Selected by school
of medicine leadership to help plan and emcee opening ceremony for the health
professions education builiding

College Level
2014 - 2015 Faculty Interviewer, School of Medicine Admissions Interview Committee,

Interview prospective medical studentis in one-on-one and group interview settings
2013 Evaluator, School of Medicine, MS-II OSCE, physical exam standardized patient

examination
2011 - 2016 Member, School of Medicine, Innovations in Undergraduate Medical Education

Advisory Committee
2011 - 2014 Member, School of Medicine Curriculum Implementation Committee
2007 - 2008 Member, School of Medicine Curriculum Committee
2007 - 2008 Member, School of Medicine Admissions Interview Committee, Interviewed

prospective medical students applying for admission
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2004 - 2005 Class President, School of Medicine, First Year Medical School, Served as liaison
for class disputes, curriculum redesign and social activities

Department Level
2017 - 2018 Faculty Liaison, Pediatrics, University of Utah Faculty Liaison to Care

Transformation Services. Set strategy, track and communicate progress, and help
Intermountain deliver operational data, reports and improvements to Deparment of
Pediatrics clinics scheduling processes and documentation driving cliniical revenue

2016 - Present Advisory Committee Member, Pediatrics, Ambulatory and Surgery Division
Chiefs meeting: This regular meeting of academic divisions in the Department of
Pediatrics invites me to present on iCentra-relation go-live preparedness, training
expectations, timeline of go-live, and post go-live enhancements

2016 - Present Advisory Committee Member, Pediatrics, EMR committee meeting: invited in
advisory role for administrative implications of the new EHR on clinical operations

2015 - Present Advisory Committee Member, Pediatrics, Communications Committee: invited
member for iCentra EHR related communications srategy with referring and
primary care providers and families.

2013 - Present Member, Pediatrics, Pediatric residency QI curriculum committee. Assisted in
development of Quality Improvement curriculum for pediatric residents of the
University of Utah, including use of Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI)
educational modules for didactic training.

2013 - Present Faculty Interviewer, Pediatrics, Review and interview candidates for the Pediatric
residency program at the University of Utah, Pediatric Education Enterprise

Division Level
2014 - Present Member, Pediatric Emergency Medicine, EMR IT committee. Worked to prepare

Primary Children's Hospital ER and PEM group for iCentra electronic medical
record, including particular efforts on care transitions including discharge,
admission, inter-facility transfering of patients, prescription writing, quick orders,
decision support tools and order sets.

2011 - Present Applicant Interviewer, Pediatric Emergency Medicine, Interview pediatric
emergency medicine fellow candidates

SERVICE AT AFFILIATED INSTITUTIONS
2016 - Present Advisory Committee Member, Intermountain Healthcare, Standing invitee to

Medical Executive Committee to report on iCentra implementation development
and progress, set expectations for PCH, and address concerns and questions.

2016 - 2018 Advisory Committee Member, Intermountain Healthcare, The Resident training
committe was formed to address the needs of physician trainees for go-live and
post-go-live training and re-training. I advise as well as develop computer based
training for residents.

2016 - 2018 Advisory Committee Member, Intermountain Healthcare, Physician training
committee meets every 2 weeks to plan for next phase physician training for the
new Intermountain EHR. Strategy affects the entire Intermountain enterprise
before and after EHR go-live.
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2011 - 2019 Committee Member, Intermountain Healthcare, Intermountain Pediatric
Emergency Collaborative, Development of a guideline to standardize the
diagnostic workup of pediatric appendicitis

SERVICE AT PREVIOUS INSTITUTIONS
2010 - 2011 Member, Boston Medical Center/Boston Children's Hospital, QI Curriculum

Committee

CURRENT MEMBERSHIPS IN PROFESSIONAL SOCIETIES
Academic Pediatric Association
American Academy of Pediatrics
American Academy of Pediatrics, Council on Clinical Information Technology
College of Healthcare Information Management Executives

FUNDING
Past Grants
01/01/17 - 10/28/19 Glissmeyer Biosig Ii Jan 2017

Principal Investigator(s): Eric W. Glissmeyer
Direct Costs: $296,177 Total Costs: $440,079
University Of Michigan
Role: Principal Investigator

08/21/15 - 12/31/16 Glissmeyer Biosig II Sept 2014
Principal Investigator(s): Eric W. Glissmeyer
Direct Costs: $195,846 Total Costs: $291,810
Wayne State University
Role: Principal Investigator

07/01/10 - 06/30/11 Validation of a pediatric Quality Improvement Curriculum - Measuring the ability
of the QI curriculum being implemented during the 2010-2011 BCRP academic
year to improve residents’ applied QI knowledge. Children’s Hospital Program for
Patient Safety and Quality (PPSQ) and Fred Lovejoy House-staff Research and
Education Grant.
Principal Investigator(s): Eric W. Glissmeyer
Boston Children's Hospital
Role: Principal Investigator

05/01/05 - 09/01/05 Investigated expression of key genes responsible for the vascular changes in
Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. Made initial observations of novel mechanisms
of post-transcriptional regulation of the vasoconstricor peptide endothelin-1. Eccles
Institute of Human Genetics, University of Utah School of Medicine
Principal Investigator(s): Eric W. Glissmeyer
National Institutes of Health
Role: Principal Investigator

RESEARCH EXPERIENCE
2012 - Present Fellow-Institute for Healthcare Delivery Research – Intermountain Health Care.

Leadership of projects within the Intermountain Pediatric Clinical Program,
including appendicitis, diagnosis of UTI in febrile infants
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2009 - 2011 Children’s Hospital Boston, Department of Cardiology, Mary P. Mullen, MD
PhD
Description of Emergency Department Visits in Patients with Pulmonary
Hypertension
- Chart review of the clinical presentation of and care delivered to patients with
pulmonary hypertension in the Children’s Hospital Emergency Department

2007 - 2008 Primary Children’s Medical Center and University of Utah School of
Medicine, Carrie L. Byington, MD
Missed Serious Bacterial Infection in Febrile Infants Managed as Outpatients
- Demonstrated that missed cases of infection were linked to inappropriate
variability in management of febrile infants

2002 - 2008 LDS Hospital, Department of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, C.
Gregory Elliott, MD
Database and Translational Research in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension (PAH)
- Developed the Utah Pulmonary Hypertension Database and investigated
genotype-phenotype relationships in a nationwide cohort of patients with PAH,
leading to publication of manuscript in Circulation.

1997 - 1999 LDS Hospital, Department of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Robert
O. Crapo, MD
Validation of spirometric devices and research in standard spirometric equations
and DLCO accuracy testing.
- Managed the pulmonary spirometry research laboratory

TEACHING RESPONSIBILITIES/ASSIGNMENTS
Course and Curriculum Development
2012 - 2013 Pediatric residency Quality Improvement Curriculum. Assisted in design a

longitudinal quality improvement curriculum for University of Utah pediatric
residents. Serve as mentor to residents for QI projects.

Course Lectures
2014 Instructor, MD ID: Final MOSPE/OSCE, Office of the Dean/Medicine, : MS2016

M+R - Final MOSPE/OSCE
2013 Instructor, OSCE/Multi-station Clinical Exam, : MS2015 SMBJ -

OSCE/Multi-station Clinical Exam
2013 Instructor, OSCE/Multi-station Clinical Exam, : MS2015 SMBJ -

OSCE/Multi-station Clinical Exam
2012 Instructor, Bioinformatics Small Group Discussion, : MS2013 Acute Care Track -

Bioinformatics Small Group Discussion
2008 Teaching Assistant, Physical Diagnosis, 4 students, University of Utah School of

Medicine, 1 week course, 40 teaching hours

Clinical Teaching
2021 New Intern Pediatric Critical Care evaluation and treatment. With PALS

certification on-hold at PCH in early 2021, I helped teach new interns PALS
material outside of the PALS course, including assessment of critically ill patients,
shared mental models of cardiac, respiratory, and shock scenarios.
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2021 Case Simulation for Transition to Internship Course: spent 2 hours with 4th year
medical students on simulation of pediatric assessment of patients in respiratory
distress/asthma. Discussed team based care, shared mental models, and importance
of roles and communication.

2021 - Present Clinical Student Rounds: a 2-hour session in the emergency department with
undergraduate pre-medical students, focused on teaching them inital clinical
assessment of a sick infant and child. Discussed forming a differential diagnosis,
demonstrated bedside ultrasound use, and obtaining a medical history and focused
physical examination.

2015 Suturing Workshop for Pediatric Residents. 20 trainees present, taught in a small
group of 3-4.

2014 - Present Supervision of medical students, residents, and pediatric emegency medicine
fellows in the emergency department and rapid treatment inpatient unit of Primary
Children's Hospital

2012 - Present Suturing technique instruction to pre-medical students enrolled in the University of
Utah Academic Associates program. Once yearly.

Small Group Teaching
2018 Instructor, BLS and PALS new provider course for Primary Children's Hospital

housestaff
2018 BLS and PALS renewal course for PCH anesthesia staff
2017 Instructor, BLS and PALS renewal course for PCH Anesthesia physician staff
2016 PALS instructor: group of 6 PCH faculty and staff.
2016 iCentra reach - tutorial on how to view documents, MAR, and vital signs in

patients seen at Intermountain facilities already on iCentra.
2016 University of Utah Emergency Medicine residency presentation on

pseudoappendicits syndrome and workup of infectious gastroenteritis
2015 University of Utah Emergency Medicine residency lecture on pediatric inborn

errors of metabolism
2015 University of Utah Emergency medicine Stump the Chumps presentation on

Macrophage Activiation Syndrome
2015 Instructor, PALS renewal course, group of 6 nurses/staff.
2015 Instructor, PALS recertification course for PCH anesthesiology staff
2015 Invited presentation: Chair lift injuries and falls. PCH Trauma Morbidity and

Mortality conference
2015 Logan Regional Hospital iCentra Physician training: instruction on use of

launchpoint and ED-specific workflow
2014 Instructor, BLS and PALS new provider course for Primary Children's Hospital

housestaff
2014 Case Presenter, University of Utah Emergency Medicine Residency, "Stump The

Chumps" discussion on Aspirin overdose case
2014 Lecturer: Anaphylaxis. Primary Children's Hospital Advanced Shock Workshop,

30 trainees.
2014 Invited Panel Member: Bronchiolitis diagnosis and management. University of

Utah Emergency Medicine Residency. 25 trainees.
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2013 Instructor PALS renewal course for Primary Children's Hospital faculty/staff
2012 - 2013 Presenter at Division of Pediatric Emergency Medicine Morbidity and Mortality

monthly conference. Case preparation and discussion preparation and lead.
2012 Instructor, PALS renewal course
2011 Small Group Discussion Facilitator, MS4 course in longitudinal preparation for

internship, University of Utah School of Medicine
2011 - Present Journal Club: alternating coverage of PEM-related articles supervising fellows in

review of pertinent articles in JAMA, NEJM, Pediatrics, Journal of Pediatrics,
Academic Emergency Medicine, American Journal of Emergency Medicine,
Archives of Disease of Childhood, Pediatric Emergency Care, and other journals.

2010 - 2011 Senior Rounds presenter, Boston Children’s Hospital, 5 conferences, 10-20 senior
faculty and senior residents, in a case-based teaching format, and led discussion on
evidence-based management and current research

Mentoring/Advising
Fellow
2014 - Present Supervisor, University of Utah, Supervision of clinical care delivered by fellows in

the emergency department of Primary Children's hospital, including supervision of
invasive procedures, bedside ultrasound examination, and medical control of
emergent transfer of patients by air ambulance service.

2014 - 2016 Advisor/Mentor, Julia Rawlings, University of Utah, Mentor and advise fellow's
progress through meeting fellowship educational and research milestones and
career development.
Trainee's Current Career Activities: Pediatric Emergency Medicine Faculty

Resident
2011 - Present Supervisor, University of Utah, Supervise care of patients in the emergency

department of Primary Children's Hospital, including suturing, abscess drainage,
admission and discharge decisions, and family centered care.

Didactic Lectures
2020 Upper and Lower Gastrointestinal bleeding lecture to PEM colleagues, fellows,

students.
2018 Noon conference on Discharge Instructions and Orders. Followed by similar

presentations with Hospitalist staff. Total 50 attendees
2017 Computerized Provider Order Entry: preparing for iCentra. Lecutre to residents and

trainees
2016 - Present Lecture to Academic Associate students in Pediatric Research courses: Fever in

infants 0-60 days and Biosignatures II study
2016 University of Utah Pediatric Emergency Medicine lecture: Pediatric Rashes in the

ED. Given to University of Utah Emergency medicine residents, 30 attendees.
2016 University of Utah Pediatric Emergency Medicine Lecture: The Febrile Infant.

Given to Emergency Medicine residents of the University of Utah (30 attendees)
AND Academic Associates program (25 attendees).
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2016 University of Utah Pediatric Emergency Medicine lecture: Metabolic emergencies
in Children in the ED. To emergency medicine residents, 30 attendees.

2015 University of Utah Pediatric Emergency Medicine Lecture: Pediatric Surgical
Emergencies seen in the ED. Lecture of University of Utah Emergency Medicine
residents, 30 attendees.

2014 University of Utah Pediatric Emergency Medicine lecutre: Congenital Heart
Disease, Arrhythmias, Resuscitation in the ED. Given to University of Utah
Emergency Medicine residents, 30 attendees.

2013 University of Utah Pediatric Emergency Medicine Lecture: Fratures of the Elbow.
Given to emergency medicine resident of the University of Utah, 30 attendees.

2013 University of Utah Pediatric Emergency Medicine lecture: Pediatric Nephrology
Sampler: Glomerulunephritis, Nephrotic Syndrome and HUS. To University of
Utah Emergency Medicine residents, 30 attendees.

2012 University of Utah Pediatric Emergency Medicine Lecture: Urine Drug Screens:
pitfalls and shortcomings. To University of Utah emergency medicine residents
and University of Utah Pediatric medicine resdients. 30 attendees each lecutre.

2011 University of Utah Emergency Medicine Residency Lecturer. Fractures of the
Elbow. Lecture given to St. Marks Hospital (SLC, UT) Residency program
residents. 8 attendees.

2011 Case of The Week. Accidental head trauma in the newborn nursery, including risk
factors for neonatal accidental falls, literature review, patient safety perspectives.
Boston Medical Center, 40 facutly, 15 residents

2010 - 2011 Quality Improvement Curriculum Instructor. Assisted in teaching QI principles to
PL2 pediatric residents as part of didactic sessions on topics based upon knowledge
domains in Problem Based Learning and Improvement (PBLI) as outlined by the
IHI, such as health care as a process and system, variation and measurement, and
leading, following, and making changes in health care

Internal Teaching Experience
2017 DOPEM EBM lecture: becoming agents for change by choosing resilience
2016 Division of Pediatric Emergency Medicine Lecture: Computerized Physician Order

Entry
2015 Division of Pediatric Emergency Medicine Lecture. iCentra: An ED provider view
2015 - 2017 iCentra Implementation knowledge sharing lecture. Given to PCH hospital IT

committee, physician leadership, Univeristy of Utah leadership, Division of
Pediatric Emergency Medicine. Main objective is communication of expectations
around new EHR implementation. For administrators, frontline providers, IT
leadership, and division/department chiefs.

2014 Division of Pediatric Emergency Medicine career development lecture: Biomedical
Informatics. Audience is DOPEM faculty and staff. 15 attendees.

2013 Research in Progress: Performance of screening tests for urinary tract infection in
febrile infants. Presented update on my research. Research meeting for all
department of pediatrics faculty and staff, University of Utah School of Medicine.
25 attendees.

2012 Research in Progress: Performance of screening tests for urinary tract infection in
febrile infants. Research meeting for all department of pediatrics faculty and staff,
University of Utah School of Medicine. 25 attendees.

Glissmeyer, Page 11

NSBME 190



2012 Interesting Case Conference presentation: Division of Pediatric Emergency
Medicine, University of Utah School of Medicine

2008 - 2009 Lecturer, Continuity Clinic Resident Core Conference, Children’s Hospital
Primary Care Clinic, 2 conferences, 10-14 faculty and residents

Additional Teaching Contribution
2017 Intermountain Leadership Conference, attended by invitation in my role as Director

of Medical Informatics for the Primary Children's region.
2016 University of Utah Health Sciences Leadership Seminar I: Foundations of

Leadership
2013 University of Utah School of Biomedical Informatics: courses in fundamentals of

biomedical informatics (3 hours) and implementation of systems (3 hours)
2013 Data and Research Series Courses, Database design and querying, Oracle SQL

training, Salt Lake City, UT
2008 Advanced Training Program in Health Care Delivery Improvement, Intermountain

Healthcare, Salt Lake City, UT
2007 - 2008 Mentored Program in Pediatric Research, University of Utah School of Medicine,

Salt Lake City, UT

CE Courses Developed
2016 - 2017 FirstNet emergency physician training course for iCentra EHR (Intermountain

Healthcare). This course has been taught to hundreds of emergency physicians
since January 2015 across Utah and Idaho. Course is taught approximately 25
times per year, 5-10 attendees per class. In-classroom trining has been converted to
computer-based training modules now in use.

2016 - Present FirstNet Computer-Based training. Intended for residents and physicians needing
re-training or addiional training. My role is in strategic design, course formatting,
delivery, and review of content, incuding feedback and reformatting. Intermountain
Healthcare. Initial deployment was June 2017. Audience is approximately 75
residents per academic year.

2017 - Present This page contains video instructions on how to create and manage iCentra typed
text macros called Auto-Text. For use by physicians and APCs throughout
Intermoiuntain Healthcare.
https://m.intermountain.net/knowledge/wiki-sites/icentra/ambulatoryproviderguide/
pages/create-and-manage-auto-text-training-video.aspx

2017 - Present This page contains video instructions on how to create and use Care Team Lists in
iCentra. These are critical to organizing admitted patients to PCH and this training
is ued by attending physicians, advance practice clincians, fellows, and residents at
Primary Children's Hospital
https://m.intermountain.net/knowledge/wiki-sites/icentra/acuteproviderguide/pages
/creating-and-using-care-team-lists.aspx

CE Courses Taught
2014 - 2017 Thoracostomy tube placement simulation, pericardiocentesis simulation, needle

thoracostomy simulation as part of the recurring Critical Procedures Course for
members of the Division of Pediatric Emergency Medicine and housestaff
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2017 Teach FirstNet, CPOE and Launchpoint to ED physicians. For physicians and
APCs working in Intermountain EDs. Taught x1 to start off the Central Region
teaching of EM physicans, effort in conjunction with training team. Class with 8
EM physicians, ultimately the course has been taught to >250 emergency
physcians and APCs.

2017 FirstNet to EM residents, 30 attendees, coodinated with EM residency program. I
have converted this course from in-person training to a computer based training
course.

PEER-REVIEWED JOURNAL ARTICLES
1. Ryan S, Dudley NC, Schunk JE, Weng C, Skarda DE, Glissmeyer EW (2023). Reduced Computed

Tomography for Appendicitis in Children after Implementation of Next-day Surgery Clinic
Follow-up. Pediatr Qual Saf, 8(2), e641.

2. Majan P, VanBuren JM, Tzimenatos L, Cruz A, Vitale M, Powell EC, Leetch AN, Pickett ML,
Brayer A, Nigrovic LE, Dayan P, Atabaki SM, Ruddy RM, Rogers AJ, Greenberg R, Alpern ER,
Tunik MG, Saunders M, Muenzer J, Levine DA, Hoyle JD, Grisanti Lillis K, Gatttu J, EF, Borgialli
D, Bonsu B, Blumberg S, Anders J, Roosevelt G, Browne LR, Schnadower D, Park G, Mistry RD,
Glissmeyer EW, Cator A, Bogie A, Quayle KS, Ellison A, Balamuth F, Richards R, Ramilo O,
Kupperman N (2022). Serious Bacterial Infections in Young Febrile Infants With Positive
Urinalysis Results. Pediatrics, 150(4).

3. Glissmeyer EW, Ryan S, Dudley N, Schunk JE, Nielsen J, Weng C, Skarda D. (2020). An
Administrative Data-based Surrogate Definition Identifies Children Evaluated Beyond Physical
Examination for Suspected Appendicitis. Pediatr Qual Saf, 5(6), e343.

4. Glissmeyer EW, Ryan S, Dudley NC, Schunk JE, Nielsen J, Weng C, Skarda DE (2020). An
Administrative Data-based Surrogate Definition Identifies Children Evaluated Beyond Physical
Examination for Suspected Appendicitis. Pediatr Qual Saf, 5(6), e343.

5. Glissmeyer EW, Metzger RR, Bolte R (2018). Chair Lift Falls and Injuries in Children. Pediatr
Emerg Care, 34(2), 106-108.

6. Doupnik SK, Ziniel SI, Glissmeyer EW, Moses JM (2017). Validity and Reliability of a Tool to
Assess Quality Improvement Knowledge and Skills in Pediatrics Residents. J Grad Med Educ, 9(1),
79-84.

7. Curfman AL, Glissmeyer EW, Ahmad FA, Korgenski EK, Blaschke AJ, Byington CL, Miller AS
(2016). Initial Presentation of Neonatal Herpes Simplex Virus Infection. J Pediatr, 172, 121-126.e1.

8. Glissmeyer EW, Ziniel S, Moses, J (2014). When is a change an improvement? Use of the Quality
Improvement Knowledge Application Tool (QIKAT) in assessing pediatric resident QI education. J
Grad Med Educ, 6(2), 284-291.

9. Glissmeyer EW, E. Kent Korgenski, Jacob Wilkes, Jeff E. Schunk, Xiaoming Sheng, Anne J.
Blaschke and Carrie L. Byington (April 28, 2014). Dipstick Screening for Urinary Tract Infection in
Febrile Infants. Pediatrics.

10. Elliott CG, Glissmeyer EW, Havlena GT, Carlquist J, McKinney JT, Rich S, McGoon MD,
Scholand MB, Kim M, Jensen RL, Schmidt JW, Ward K (2006). Relationship of BMPR2 mutations
to vasoreactivity in pulmonary arterial hypertension. Circulation, 113(21), 2509-15.

11. Machado RD, Koehler R, Glissmeyer E, Veal C, Suntharalingam J, Kim M, Carlquist J, Town M,
Elliott CG, Hoeper M, Fijalkowska A, Kurzyna M, Thomson JR, Gibbs SR, Wilkins MR, Seeger
W, Morrell NW, Gruenig E, Trembath RC, Janssen B (2006). Genetic association of the serotonin
transporter in pulmonary arterial hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 173(7), 793-7.

12. White J, Hopkins RO, Glissmeyer EW, Kitterman N, Elliott CG (2006). Cognitive, emotional, and
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quality of life outcomes in patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension. Respir Res, 7(1), 55.
13. Machado RD, Aldred MA, James V, Harrison RE, Patel B, Schwalbe EC, Gruenig E, Janssen B,

Koehler R, Seeger W, Eickelberg O, Olschewski H, Elliott CG, Glissmeyer E, Carlquist J, Kim M,
Torbicki A, Fijalkowska A, Szewczyk G, Parma J, Abramowicz MJ, Galie N, Morisaki H, Kyotani
S, Nakanishi N, Morisaki T, Humbert M, Simonneau G, Sitbon O, Soubrier F, Coulet F, Morrell
NW, Trembath RC (2006). Mutations of the TGF-beta type II receptor BMPR2 in pulmonary
arterial hypertension. Hum Mutat, 27(2), 121-32.

14. White J, Hopkins RO, Glissmeyer EW, Kitterman N, Elliott CG (2006). Cognitive, emotional, and
quality of life outcomes in patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension. Respir Res, 7, 55.

BOOK CHAPTERS
1. Glissmeyer EW, Nelson DS (2015). Coma and Altered Level of Conciousness. In Bachur, Shaw,

Chamberlain, Lavelle Nagler, Shook (Eds.), Textbook of Pediatric Emergency Medicine (7e, pp.
99-108). Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.

ADDITIONAL PUBLICATIONS
Commentary
1. Boggs W, Glissmeyer EW, Schroeder A, Roberts KB (May 27, 2015). Urinalysis contributes to

urinary tract infection diagnosis in young infants..

Case Reports
1. Macak, R; Glissmeyer, EW (2021). Stuck at the top of his Mouth: Hard palate foreign body

removal in the pediatric population http://epmonthly.com/article/stuck-at-the-top-of-his-mouth/..
2. Ferros M, Steimle M, Glissmeyer EW (2020). Not So Soft: A case report of pediatric rubber bullet

injury Also featured on HIPPO education at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=POeAUTHrtm0..

Multimedia
1. Glissmeyer EW (October 1, 2016). ED FirstNet Overview: This video provides a high-level

overview of the functionality of FirstNet, LaunchPoint, and the ED Workflow for providers. [Web],
Salt Lake City, UT: Intermountain Healthcare. Available:
https://ebu.intermountainhealthcare.org/video/vod/default.aspx?f=http://mediaflash.intermountain.n
et:1935/ivodcache/_definst_/path01/vod/smil:Ambulatory_ED_FirstNet_Overview_20160621.smil/
playlist.m3u8&t=ED%20FirstNet%20Overview.

2. Glissmeyer EW, Porter J (October 1, 2016). Ambulatory overview: This is a brief introduction to
the layout and interface of iCentra use in an Ambulatory setting. [Video], Salt Lake City, UT:
Intermountain Healthcare. Available:
https://ebu.intermountainhealthcare.org/video/vod/default.aspx?f=http://mediaflash.intermountain.n
et:1935/ivodcache/_definst_/path01/vod/smil:Ambulatory_Overview_20160621.smil/playlist.m3u8
&t=Ambulatory%20Overview.

3. Glissmeyer EW (October 1, 2016). mPages Overview: ​This video briefly summarizes new features
and functionality that have been added to Workflow pages with the mPages 6.0 update. [Web], Salt
Lake City, UT: Intermountain Healthcare. Available:
https://ebu.intermountainhealthcare.org/video/vod/default.aspx?f=http://mediaflash.intermountain.n
et:1935/ivodcache/_definst_/path01/vod/smil:mPages_Overview_20160622.smil/playlist.m3u8&t=
mPages%20Overview.
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4. Glissmeyer EW, Sandweiss D (October 1, 2016). Quick Visits: ​This video discusses QuickVisits,
which streamline the discharge process for providers of patients with common, uncomplicated
medical conditions. [Web], Salt Lake City, UT: Intermountain Healthcare. Available:
https://ebu.intermountainhealthcare.org/video/vod/default.aspx?f=http://mediaflash.intermountain.n
et:1935/ivodcache/_definst_/path01/vod/smil:QuickVisits.smil/playlist.m3u8&t=Quick%20Visits.

5. Boggs W (April 30, 2014). Dipstick may be adequate screen for urinary tract infection in febrile
infants [Web], New York: Reuters Health. Available:
http://www.pediatricsconsultant360.com/story/dipstick-may-be-adequate-screen-urinary-tract-infect
ion-febrile-infants.

POSTER PRESENTATIONS
2023 Improving Same-Day Access in Pediatric Primary Care. Poster on achievement of

improved fill rates in pediatric same-day clinic in general pediatric setting staffed
by pediatric emergency medicine providers.

2019 Not Just Papercuts - Removing Unnecessary Alerts Saves Real Caregiver Time
2016 Glissmeyer EW, Ryan, Wang, Sheng, Schunk J, Dudley N, Skarda. Next-Day

Surgery Clinic Followup and ED Resource Utilization in Patients Evaluated for
Appendicits. Poster session presented at Pediatric Academic Societies, Baltimore,
MD.

2016 Glissmeyer EW, Ryan, Wang, Sheng, Schunk JE, Dudley N, Skarda. Decreasing
CT Utilization Without Increasing Ultrasond Utilization in Evaluating Appendicitis
. Poster session presented at Pedatric Academic Societies, Baltimore, MD.

2005 Glissmeyer EW, Martinez M, Zimmerman G. Endothelial Cells (EC) Alter the
Expression of Key Genes Responsible for the Vascular Changes in Pulmonary
Arterial Hypertension (PAH). Poster session presented at Medical Student
Research Program Meeting, University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake
City, UT.

2004 Glissmeyer EW, Havlena GT, Schmidt JW, Carlquist J, Baxter B, Elliott CG.
Genetic and Clinical Characteristics of 103 Patients With Primary Pulmonary
Hypertension. Poster session presented at Westminster College Undergraduate
Research Fair, Salt Lake City, UT.

ORAL PRESENTATIONS
Meeting Presentations
International
2020 September 2020 Online presentation during COVID-19 pandemic with the

American Academy of Pediatrics' conference. Presentation on removing
unneccessary EHR dosing weight and allergies alert and savings in physician,
nurse and other healthcare personnell time.

2020 Success Story: Resident Submit Note Workflow at Intermountain Healthcare.
Shared with worldwide Cerner clients how we have streamlined resident
documentation and avoided failures in notes being sent to attending MDs to sign.

2019 Cerner Pediatric Leadership Council meeting presentation
2019 Demonstration to worldwide Cerner pediatric hospital clients of how to use

Query-Based Notification lists for alerting of key personnell of patient use of their
facilities.
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2018 Cerner Heath Conference 2018: Pediatric patients aren't small adults: how
Intermountain supports subspecialties  

2018 QuickVisits - a tool to enhance discharge efficiency. Collaborated with David
Sandweiss MD on development of the tool and presentation of the content.

2013 Comparison of Urine Dipstick to Dipstick Plus Microscopy for Identification of
Urinary Tract Infection In Febrile Infants

National
2019 Invited presentation to Cerner Academic Council: Submit Note Workflow to

improve resident documentation 
2014 Chair Lift Related Ski and Snowboarding Related Injuries - retrospective study

from the trauma registry of the Utah Pediatric Trauma Database. Platform
presentation at the Western Pediatric Trauma Conference, San Diego, CA.

2013 Comparison of Urine Dipstick to Dipstick Plus Microscopy for Identification of
Urinary Tract Infection In Febrile Infants. Pediatric Academic Societies’ Research
Meeting, Washington DC

2008 Missed Serious Bacterial Infection in Febrile Infants Managed as Outpatients.
Pediatric Academic Societies’ Research Meeting, Honolulu, HI

2006 The Relationship of BMPR2 Mutations to Vasoreactivity in Pulmonary Arterial
Hypertension. Pulmonary Hypertension Association Bi-annual meeting,
Minneapolis, Minnesota

1999 Comparison of NHANES III Spirometry Reference Equations With Four Previous
Spirometry Reference Studies. Western Student Medical Research Forum, Carmel,
California

Invited/Visiting Professor Presentations

National
2014 Webinar presentation on Mulitidisciplinary experience with an appenidcitis

diagnostic guideline using the Pediatric Appendicitis Score at Primary Children's
Hospital. Webinar presentation to 150 online and 150 offline participants from 30
freestanding children's hospitals with the Children's Hospital Association
Appendicitis Collaborative.

Grand Rounds Presentations
2017 Preparing for the iCentra implementation: focused on helping providers have a

smooth transition. Objectives were to identify benefits and challenges of EMR
implementation, review training and go-live support plan, use ZeroHarm safety
principles to navigate change, identify local physician advocates, and describe how
frontline providers can contribute to improving the system.

Outreach Presentations
2016 Health Educator, The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, Taught Basic

Life Support Skills to young women ages 12-18 in preparation for a summer camp
2015 Health Educator, The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, Taught basic

life support skills to the young women as part of their personal progress program.
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2015 Speaker & Discussion Facilitator, Primary Children's Hospital, Speaker &
Discussion Facilitator, Primary Children's Hospital, Moderator, Primary Children's
Hospital, Intermountain Moms facebook page discussion moderator. Lead online
discussion on Head Injuries, concussions and prevention. Addressing sports, play,
and motor vehicle crashes, on scheduled chat using facebook with page with >52K
likes. Generated 11 comments, 6 likes.

2014 Speaker & Discussion Facilitator, Primary Children's Hospital, Intermountain
Moms facebook page discussion moderator. Lead online discussion on Summer
safety: prevention of submersion injury, sun safety, and ride-on vehicle safety, on
scheduled chat using facebook with page with >52K likes. Generated 14
comments, 29 likes.

2013 Speaker & Discussion Facilitator, Primary Children's Hospital, Moderator, Primary
Children's Hospital, Intermountain Moms facebook page discussion moderator.
Lead online discussion on Immunizations, addressing common myths and
misinformation, on scheduled chat using facebook with page with >52K likes.
Generated 64 comments, 6 likes.

OTHER SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES
Additional Research/Scholarship Contributions
2018 - Present Following on successes with WIN32 scheduling softare and workflow

improvements from early 2017, I am leading similar work beginning September
2018 for all other Department of Pediatrics and University of Utah clinics using
Cerner Practice Management (CPM) scheduling software. This will be a significant
effort but anticipated to improve workflows for office staff in >80 clinics at PCH,
and hundereds of clinics outside PCH at Intermountain. Major areas of focus
include queue loading times, block appointment scheduling (multiple appointment
types in 1 day at 1 time) and enhanced appointment filtering and suggesting ability
for schedulers.

2018 - Present Cerner Referral Management Software optimization:
The Department of Pediatrics clinics chose to utilize an integrated software
approach for incoming referrals, but after iCentra implementation have struggled
with slow loading times of the software. Beginning September 2018, I am working
with Cerner and Intermountain leadership to escalate these needed changes to
executive leadership, describe the changes needed, and deliver the needed
improvements or, alternatively, evaluate other options.
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2018 Incomplete physician notes and orders.
With the implementation of a new EMR, PCH has struggled to complete physician
notes in a timely fashion and this has had a deleterious impact on billing and chart
completion rates. There are financial as well as compliance implications to this.
While the compliance implications are managed by PCH HIM, with reminders to
physicians, previous to May 2018 we did not have adequate reports of these
problems. I worked with University Medical Billing and Intermountain EDW data
experts to build a report that is divisible by physician division and document type,
allowing division and department leadership to have visbiilty into missing notes
and therefore lost revenue opportunities. I continue to work with the medical
director for medical affairs and PCH HIM to improve these deficient chart rates.
These efforts have impact beyond the deparmtntent of pediatrics at a
University-wide level and for physicians outside the University, such as private
pediatric specialists, and pediatric primary care providers who admit patients to
PCH.

2017 - Present Important Patient Notifications
A component by this name exists in nearly every workflow Mpage viewed by
physicians and nurses. But prior to July 2018, there has been poor standardization
of this component across specialties and it had hundreds of different
configurations, thus we could not rely that highly important information shown
there would be seen by caregivers.
I led a team to standardize the configuration of this component, including which
high risk problems and diagnoses would show, for how many years, a
compromised documents alert, critical documents list, Accountable care
organization designation alert, and patient demographics and contact information.
We are optimizing this component over time but July 2018 the main
standardization effort went into effect

2017 - 2018 Department of Pediatrics Cardiology Scheduling Optimization. After iCentra
implementation, it was determined that fundamental changes in software and
changes to staffing of schedulers and scheduler workflow was required to improve
patient access to Department of Pediatrics clinics to improve patient access, reduce
call waiting time, and improve patient experience. Pre-work call abandonment rate
(% of time inbound calls hung up while waiting to be answered) exceeded 50%.
This work focused principally on those clinics using WIN32 Cerner scheduling
software. I worked wth Cerner and Intermountain leadership to deliver software
changes and Departmen of Pediatrics leadership to deliver workflow changes that
resulted in significant measurable improvements in inbound call abandonment rates
to <5%, and template fill percentage for pediatric specialty outpatient clinics. Some
of these changes had positive spillover effect to other clinics, resuting in call
abandonment rates that were lower than pre-iCentra implementation rates.
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2017 Anticoagulation alert
Prior to iCentra implementation we had regular but infrequent preventable bleeding
events during surgical procedures, which happened when a patient was taken to the
OR from an inpatient bed, on medications known to cause bleeding risk, but the
surgical teams did not recognize that risk or acknowledge those medications as
being received by the patient. I begain work in 2017 with a multidiciplinary team
including pharmacy, surgical services, and surgeon representation to develop an
alert that fires when a patient receiving an anticoagulant/antiplatelet agent from a
defined list of agents is about to have a PEDSURG powerplan ordered on that
patient. This provides the ordering provider and alert that the patient is on xyz
anticoagulant and when its last dose was. This provides real-time decision support
to ordering providers to help avoid patient harm. This alert fires across all sites for
all patients having PEDSURG powerplans ordered on them, so has impact outside
PCH, the University, and across Intermountain's 22 hospitals.

2016 - 2017 Pediatric weight-based dosing enhancements.
Prior to iCentra go-live at PCH, I outlined a plan to have the top 100 most
frequently ordered inpatient medications and outpatient prescriptions built as
common order sentences, allowing for easier, and safer medication dosing in the
inpatient setting and in outpatient prescribing. While these dosing sentences are
valuable to clinicians, this work on optimizing weight-based medication ordering is
ongoing.

2016 - Present Infusion optimization.
Delivery of infusion medications is a high-complexity, frequent, and high-cost
operation. Before Primary Children's this workflow proved to be one of the most
difficult challenges in implementation of iCentra, between the scheduling,
medication preparation, communication, and care delivery changes that a new
EMR brought with it. Once we decided to utilize Day of Treatment powerplans for
this care delivery instead of a paper process used in much of Intermountain, work
began in earnest to standardize workflows and orders. I engaged subject matter
experts from genetics, rheumatology and other disciplines and helped outline
workflows for the complex workflows between scheduling, pharmacy, ordering
providers, prior authorization, nurses, and physicians.Ultimately, we have
successfully delivered thousands of infusions, made changes where necessary to
the workflows, and are expanding the "Primary Children's way" of infusions to
Riverton and Utah Valley Hospitals for pediatric patients.

2016 - Present Common Powerplans as Quickorders
One challenge presesented by Computerized Physician Order Entry includes
knowing the right orders to select. Health unit coordinators (HUCs) and clerks
often provided this translation for us in a pre-iCentra hand-written or paper-witten
order world. To make it easier for providers to select the msot common powerplans
they will use, we have worked with medical and surgical specialties to provide a
list of most commonly used powerplans on their QuickOrders pages to make the
selection of appropriate powerplans more reliable. This contributes to utilization of
best practices and consensus driven care processes. This work has been completed
for all medical and surgical specialties and recent optimization efforts have revised
those listings for Pediatric Hematology/Oncoloyg, for Pediatric Hospitalists,
Pedaitric Critical Care, Pediatric Urology, Pediatric Orthopedics, and Pediatric
Endocrinology, with more to follow.
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2016 - 2017 Orderset conversion to powerplans.
Over 150 ordersets were converted to powerplans in perparation for iCentra go-live
at PCH. Some are simple, others complex, but all represent practice standards,
expert consensus, best evidence, and local preference/workflow adaptations. I
formed a physician review committee, and regularly tracked the progress of the
build of these plans, including determining the resourcing needed for pharmacy
and clinical workflow expertise. While there was an initial uplift of effort requird
for EMR go-live, we have continued this effort and built an additional 7
powerplans since go-live as needs arise. These powerplans represent best practice
guidelines and are available to physicians outside PCH, and outside the Univesity
across Intermountain's hospitals and clinics.

2016 - Present Encouranging best practices in computerized physician order entry (CPOE)
By carefully designing the options presented to physicians during computerized
order entry, we can encourage best practices in diagnostic test ordering. This is an
ongoing effort, and examples to date of where we have designed CPOE to "make it
easy to do the right thing" inclues Clostridium difficile testing (3/18), and
insurance-based outpatient prescription tiered coverage display (2/17). My
particular involvement in these examples include physician input on design,
prioritizatin of the technical build effort, and acceptance testing (validation that the
change achieves the desired effect and does not add burden to the physician).

2014 - 2015 .er common list
I led a months-long optimziation project with Intermounain pharmacy leadershp to
provide all 20 emergency departments throughout Intermountain (soon to be 21)
with a standardized most frequent prescription list. Such lists were utilized, in
various forms as shared favorite lists in the Intermountain legacy electronic
medical record HELP2. We examined prescribing data from Intermountain
emergency departments, and pharmacy and emergency physician leadership to
develop a list of >1000 order sentences, including pediatric weight-based
sentences, that are automatically and immediately filtered for the use of th
emergency physician, improving accuracy in prescriping and reducing
prescription-writing errors. These have also included considerations of liquid
medication volume dosing, with built-in rounding rules that make the prescription
reasonably deliverable by non-healthcare professionals (like parents of our pedatric
patients). This work continues now with intermittent optimizations.
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2014 - Present Support of Adademic missions of the University and Department of Pediatrics -
financial.
Optimization electronic medical record is part of any healthcre enterprise business
and care delivery system. I have advocated for an arranged for Intellectual Service
Agreements for approximately 70 University of Utah physicians and about 5
advance practice clinicians, including 59 from the Department of Pediatrics. The
hourly rate of $100 does not compensate physician time entirely to relieve them
from equivalent time in clinical activity, but this administrative work is important
to our operational efficiency and business and we benefit thereby as well. I
arranged for configuration meetings by specialty, track configuration design of all
medical and surgical specialties, and continue to engage a diverse body of
physician advocates for EMR optimization. These are the number of hours
reimbursed for physician engagement in EMR work over the last 4 years:
2014: 1057
2015: 1817
2016: 4303
2017: 6350
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